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Foreword

On April 3, 2014, the Scnate Select Committee on Intelligence voted to send the
Findings and Conclusions and the Executive Summary of its final Study on the
CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program to the President for declassification
and subsequent public release. e

This action marked the culmination of a monumental effort that officially began
with the Committee’s decision to initiate the Study in March 2009, but which had
its roots in an investigation into the CIA’s destruction of videotapes of CIA
detainee interrogations that began in December 2007.

‘The full Committee Study, which totals more than 6,700 pages, remains classified
but is now an official Senate report. The full report has been provided to the White
House, the CIA, the Department of Justice, the Department of Defense, the
Department of State, and the Office of the Director of National Intelligence in the
hopes that it will prevent future coercive interrogation practices and inform the
management of other covert action programs.

As the Chairman of the Committee since 2009, I write to offer some additional
views, context, and history.

I began my service on the Senate Inteiligence Committee in January 2001. 1
remember testimony that summer from George Tenet, the Director of Central
Intelligence, that warned of a possible major terrorist event against the United
States, but without specifics on the time, location, or method of attack. On
September 11, 2001, the world learned the answers to those questions that had
consumed the CIA and other parts of the U.S. Intelligence Community.'

I recall vividly watching the horror of that day, to include the television footage of
innocent men and women jumping out of the World Trade Center towers to escape
the fire. The images, and the sounds as their bodies hit the pavement far below,
will remain with e for the rest of my life.

It is against that backdrop ~ the largest attack against the American homeland in
our history — that the events described in this report were undertaken,

! For information on the events at the CIA prior to September 11, 2001, see the Final Report of the National
Commission on Terrorist Attacks upon the United States (9/11 Commission) and Office of the Inspector General
Report on CIA Accountability With Respect to the 9/11 Autacks.
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Nearly 13 years later, the Executive Summary and Findings and Conclusions of
this report are being released. They are highly critical of the C1A’s actions, and
rightfully so. Reading them, it is easy to forget the context in which the program
began — not that the context should serve as an excuse, but rather as a warning for
the future.

1t is worth rerembering the pervasive fear in late 2001 and how immediate the
threat felt. Just a week after the September 11 attacks, powdered anthrax was sent
to various news organizations and to two U.S. Senators. The American public was
shocked by news of new terrorist plots and elevations of the color-coded threat
level of the Homeland Security Advisory System. We expected further attacks
against the nation.

I have attempted throughout to remember the impact on the nation and to the CIA
workforce from the attacks of September 11, 2001. I can understand the Cl1A’s
impulse to consider the use of every possible tool to gather intelligence and remove
terrorists from the battlefield,” and CIA was encouraged by political leaders and
the public to do whatever it could to prevent another attack.

The Intelligence Committee as well often pushes intelligence agencies to act
quickly in response to threats and world events.

Nevertheless, such pressure, fear, and expectation of further terrorist plots do not
justify, temper, or excuse improper actions taken by individuals or organizations in
the name of national security. The major lesson of this report is that regardless of
the pressures and the need to act, the Intelligence Community’s actions must
always reflect who we are as a nation, and adhere to our laws and standards. It is
precisely at these times of national crisis that our government must be guided by
the lessons of our history and subject decisions to internal and external review.

Instead, C1A personnel, aided by two outside contractors, decided to initiate a
program of indefinite secret detention and the use of brutal interrogation
techniques in violation of U.S. law, treaty obligations, and our values.

This Committee Study documents the abuses and countless mistakes made
between late 2001 and early 2009. The Executive Summary of the Study provides

? 1t is worth repeating that the covert action authorities approved by the President in September 2001 did not provide
any authorization or contemplate coercive interrogations.
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a significant amount of new information, based on CIA and other documents, to
what has already been made public by the Bush and Obama Administrations, as
well as non-governmental organizations and the press.

The Committee’s full Study is more than ten times the length of the Executive
Summary and includes comprehensive and excruciating detail. The Study
describes the history of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program from its
inception to its termination, including a review of each of the 119 known
individuals who were held in CIA custody.

The full Committee Study also provides substantially more detail than what is
included in the Executive Summary on the CIA’s justification and defense of its
interrogation program on the basis that it was necessary and critical to the
disruption of specific terrorist plots and the capture of specific terrorists. While the
Executive Summary provides sufficient detail to demonstrate the inaccuracies of
each of these claims, the information in the full Committee Study is far more
extensive.

I'chose not to seek declassification of the full Committee Study at this time. I
believe that the Executive Summary includes enough information to adequately
describe the C1A’s Detention and Interrogation Program, and the Committee’s
Findings and Conclusions cover the entirety of the program. Seeking
declassification of the more than six thousand page report would have significantly
delayed the release of the Executive Summary. Decisions will be made later on the
declassification and release of the full 6,700 page Study.

In 2009, when this effort began, I stated (in a press release co-authored with the
Vice Chairman of the Committee, Senator Kit Bond) that “the purpose is o review
the program and to shape detention and interrogation policies in the future.” The
review is now done. It is my sincere and deep hope that through the release of
these Findings and Conclusions and Executive Summary that U.S. policy will
never again allow for secret indefinite detention and the use of coercive
interrogatious. As the Study describes, prior to the attacks of September 2001, the
ClA itself determined from its own experience with coercive interrogations, that
such techniques *“do not produce intelligence,” “will probably result in false
answers,” and had historically proven to be ineffective. Yet these conclusions
were ignored. We cannot again allow history to be forgotten and grievous past
mistakes to be repeated.
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President Obama signed Executive Order 13491 in January 2009 to prohibit the
CIA from holding detainees other than on a “short-term, transitory basis” and to
limit interrogation techniques to those included in the Army Field Manual.
However, these limitations are not part of U.S. law and could be overturned by a
future president with the stroke of a pen. They should be enshrined in legislation.

Even so, existing U.S. law and treaty obligations should have prevented many of
the abuses and mistakes made during this program. While the Office of Legal
Counsel found otherwise between 2002 and 2007, it is my personal conclusion
that, under any common meaning of the term, CIA detainees were tortured. I also
believe that the conditions of confinement and the use of authorized and
unauthorized interrogation and eonditioning techniques were cruel, inhuman, and
degrading. Ibelieve the evidence of this is overwhelming and incontrovertible.

While the Committee did not make specific recommendations, several emerge
from the Committee’s review. The CIA, in its June 2013 response to the
Committee’s Study from December 2012, has also already made and begun to
implement its own recommendations. Iintend to work with Senate colieagues to
produce recommendations and to solicit views from the readers of the Committee
Study.

I would also like to take this opportunity to describe the process of this study.

As noted previously, the Committee approved the Terms of Reference for the
Study in March 2009 and began requesting information from the CIA and other
federal departments. The Committee, through its staff, had already reviewed in
2008 thousands of CIA cables describing the interrogations of the CIA detainees
Abu Zubaydah and ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri, whose interrogations were the
subject of videotapes that were destroyed by the CIA in 2005.

The 2008 rcview was complicated by the existence of a Department of Justicc
investigation, opened by Attorney General Michael Mukasey, into the destruction
of the videotapes and expanded by Attomey General Holder in August 2009. In
particular, CIA employees and contractors who would otherwise have been
interviewed by the Committee staff were under potential legal jeopardy, and
therefore the CIA would not compel its workforce to appear before the Committee.
This constraint lasted until the Committee’s research and documentary review
were completcd and the Committee Study had largely been finalized.
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Furthermore, given the volume and internal nature of relevant CIA documents, the
CIA insisted that the Committee enter into an arrangement where our staff would

review documents and conduct research at a CIA-leased facility
B :2hicx than at the Committee’s offices on Capitol Hill.

From early 2009 to late 2012, a small group of Committee staff reviewed the more
than six million pages of CIA materials, to include operational cables, intelligence
reports, intemal memoranda and emails, briefing materials, interview transcripts,
contracts, and other records. Draft sections of the Study were prepared and
distributed to the full Committee membership beginning in October 2011 and this
process continued through to the Committee’s vote to approve the full Committee
Study on December 13, 2012. .

The breadth of documentary material on which the Study relied and which the
Committee Study cites is unprecedented. While the Committee did not interview
(1A officials in the context of the Committee Study, it had access to and drew
from the interviews of numerous CIA officials conducted by the CIA’s Inspector
General and the CIA Oral History program on subjects that lie at the heart of the
Committee Study, as well as past testimony to the Committee.

Following the December 2012 vote, the Committee Study was sent to the President
and appropriate parts of the Executive Branch for comments by February 15, 2013.
The CIA responded in late June 2013 with extensive comments on the Findings
and Conclusions, based in part on the responscs of CIA officials involved in the
program. At my direction, the Committee staff met with CIA representatives in
order to fully understand the CIA’s comments, and then incorporated suggested
edits or comments as appropriate.

The Committee Study, including the now-declassified Executive Summary and
Findings and Conclusions, as updated is now final and represents the official views
of the Committee. This and future Administrations should use this Study to guide
future programs, correct past mistakes, increase oversight of CIA representations
to policymakers, and ensure coercive interrogation practices are not used by our
govemment again.

Finally, T want to recognize the members of the staff who have endured years of
long hours poring through the difficult details of one of the lowest points in our
nation’s history. They have produced the most significant and comprehensive
oversight report in the Committee’s history, and perhaps in that of the U.S. Senate,
and their contributions should be recognized and praised.
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Daniel Jones has managed and led the Committee’s review effort from its .
inception. Dan has devoted more than six years to this effort, has personally

written thousands of its pages, and has been integrally involved in every Study

decision. Evan Gottesman, Chad Tanner, and Alissa Starzak have also played

integral roles in the Committee Study and have spent considerable years

researching and drafting specific sections of the Committee Study.

Other Committee staff members have also assisted in the review and provided
valuable contributions at the direction of our Committee Members. They include,
among others, Jennifer Barrett, Nick Basciano, Michael Buchwald, Jim Catella,
Eric Chapman, John Dickas, Lorenzo Goco, Andrew Grotto, Tressa Guenov, Clete
Johnson, Michael Noblet, Michael Pevzner, Tommy Ross, Caroline Tess, and

- James Wolfe. The Committee’s Staff Director throughout the review, David
Grannis, has played a central role in assisting me and guiding the Committee
through this entire process. Without the expertise, patience, and work ethic of our
able staff, our Members would not have been ahle to complete this most important
work.

Dianne Feinstein
Chairman
Senate Select Committee on Intelligence
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The Committee makes the following findings and conclusions:

#1: The CIA’s use of its enhanced inferrogation techniques was not an effective means of
acquiring intelligence or gaining cooperation from detainees.

The Committee finds, based on a review of CIA interrogation records, that the use of the CIA's
enhanced interrogation techniques was not an effective means of obtaining accurate information
or gaining detainee cooperation,

For example, according to CIA records, seven of the 39 CIA detainees known to have been
subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques produced no intelligence while in CIA
custody.! CIA detainees who were subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques
were usually subjected to the techniques immediately after being rendered to CIA custody.
Other detainees provided significant accurate intelligence prior to, or without having been
subjected to these techniques.

While being subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques and afterwards, multiple
CIA detainees fabricated information, resulting in faulty intelligence. Detainees provided
fabricated information on critical intelligence issues, including the terrorist threats which the
CIA identified as its highest priorities.

At numerous times throughout the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program, CIA personnel
assessed that the most effective method for acquiring intelligence from detainees, including from
detainees the CIA considered to be the most “high-value,” was to confront the detainees with
information already acquired by the Intelligence Community. CIA officers regularly called into
question whether the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques were effective, assessing that the
usc of the techniques failed to elicit detainee cooperation or produce accurate intelligence.

#2: The CIA’s justification for the use of its enhanced interrogation techniques rested on
inaccurate claims of their effectiveness.

The CiA represented to the White House, the National Security Council, the Department of
Justice, the CIA Office of Inspector General, the Congress, and the public that the best measure
of effectiveness of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques was examples of specific
terrorist plots “thwarted” and specific terrorists captured as a resuit of the use of the techriques.
The CIA used these examples to claim that its enhanced interrogation techniques were not only
cffective, but also necessary to acquire “otherwise unavailable” actionable intelligence that
“saved Lives.”

‘The Committee reviewed 20 of the most frequent and prominent examples of purported
counterterrorism successes that the CIA has attributed to the use of its enhanced interrogation
techniques, and found them to be wrong in fundamental respects. In some cases, there was no
relationship between the cited counterterrorism success and any information provided by
detainees during or after the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. In the
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remaining cases, the CIA inaccurately claimed that specific, othcrwise unavailable information
was acquired from a CIA detainee *as a result” of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques,
when in fact the information was either: (1) corroborative of information aiready available to the
CIA or other elements of the U.S. Intelligence Community from sources other than the CIA
detainee, and was therefore not “otherwise unavailable™, or (2) acquired from the CIA detainee
prior to the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. The examples provided by the
CIA included numerous factual inaccuracies.

In providing the “effectiveness” examples to policymakers, the Department of Justice, and
others, the CIA consistently omitted the significant amount of relevant intelligence obtained
from sources other than CIA detainecs who had been subjected to the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques—Ileaving the false impression the CIA was acquiring unique
information from the use of the techniques.

Some of the plots that the CIA claimed to have “disrupted” as a result of the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques were assessed by intelligence and law enforcement officials as being
infeasible or ideas that were never operationalized.

#3: The interrogations of CIA detainees were brutal and far worse than the CIA
represented to policymakers and others.

Beginning with the CIA’s first detainee, Abu Zubaydah, and continuing with numerous others,
the CIA applied its enhanced interrogation techniques with significant repetition for days or
weeks at a time, Interrogation techniques such as slaps and “wallings” {(slamming detainees
against a wall) were used in combination, frequently concurrent with sicep deprivation and
nudity. Records do not support CIA representations that the CIA initially used an “an open, non-
threatening approach,” or that interrogations began with the “least coercive technique possible’™
and escalated to more coercive techniques only as necessary,

The waterboarding technique was physically harmful, inducing convulsions and vomiting. Abu
Zubaydah, for example, became “completely unresponsive, with bubbles rising through his open,
full mouth.”* Internal CIA records describe the waterboarding of Khalid Shaykh Mohammad as
evolving into a “series of ncar drownings.”

Sleep deprivation involved keeping detainees awake for up to 180 hours, usually standing or in
stress positions, at times with their hands shackled above their heads. At least five detainees
experienced disturbing hallucinations during prolonged sleep deprivation and, in at least two of
those cases, the CIA nonetheless continued the sleep deprivation.

Contrary to CIA representations to the Department of Justice, the CIA instructed personnel that
the interrogation of Abu Zubaydah would take “precedence” over his medical care,’ resulting in
the deterioration of a bullet wound Abu Zubaydah incurred during his capture. In at least two
other cases, the CIA used its enhanced interrogation techniques despite warnings from CIA
medical personnel that the techniques could exacerbate physical injuries. CIA medical personnel
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treated at least one detainec for swclling in order to allow the continued use of standing sleep
deprivation.

At least five CIA detainees were subjected to “rectal rehydration” or rectal feeding without
documented medical nccessity. The ClA placed detainees in ice water “baths.” The ClA led
several detainees 10 believe they would never be allowed to leave CIA custody alive, suggesting
10 one detainee that he would only leave in a coffin-shaped box.” One interrogator told another
detainee that he would never go to court, because “we can never let the world know what 1 have
done to you.”® CIA officers also threatened at least three detainees with harm to their families—
to include threats to harm the children of a detainee, threats to sexually abuse the mother of a
detainee, and a threat to “cut [a detainee’s] mother’s throat.”

#4: The conditions of confinement for CIA detainees were harsher than the CIA had
represented to policymakers and others.

Conditions at CIA detention sites were poor, and were especially bicak early in the program.
ClA dctainees at the COBALT detention facility were kept in complete darkness and constantly
shackled in isolated cells with loud noise or music and only a bucket to use for human waste.!°
Lack of heat at the facility likely contributed to the death of a detainee. Thc chief of
interrogations described COBALT as a “dungeon.”'! Another senior CTA officer stated that
COBALT was itself an enhanced interrogation technique.'*

At times, the detainees at COBALT were walked around naked or were shackled with their
hands above their heads for extended periods of time. Other times, the detainees at COBALT
were subjected to what was described as a “rough takedown,” in which approximately five CIA
officers would scream at a detainee, drag him outside of his cell, cut his clothes off, and secure
him with Mylar tape. The detainee would then be hooded and dragged up and down a long
corridor while being slapped and punched.

Even after the conditions of confinement improved with the construction of rew detention
facilities, detainees were held in total isolation except when being intcrrogated or debriefed by
CIA personnel,

Throughout the program, multipie CIA detainces who were subjected to the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques and extended isolation cxhibited psychological and behavioral issues,
including hallucinations, paranoia, insomnia, and attempts at self-harm and scif-mutilation.
Multiple psychologists identified the lack of human contact experienced by detainees as a cause
of psychiatric problems,

#5: The CIA repeatedly provided inaccurate information to the Department of Justice,
impeding a proper legal analysis of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.

From 2002 to 2007, the Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) within the Department of Justice relied
on CIA representations regarding: (1) the conditions of confinement for detainees, {2) the
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application of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, (3} the physical effects of the
techniques on detainees, and (4) the effectiveness of the techniques. Those representations were
inaccurate in material respects.

The Department of Justice did not conduct independent analysis or verification of the
information it received from the CIA. The department warned, however, that if the facts
provided by the CIA were to cbange, its legal conclusions might not apply. When the CIA
determined that information it had provided to the Department of Justice was incorrect, the C1A
rarely informed the department.

Prior to the initiation of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program and throughout the life
of the program, the legal justifications for thc CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques relied on
the CIA’s claim that the techniques were necessary to save lives. In late 2001 and early 2002,
senior attorneys at the CIA Office of General Counsel first examined the legal implications of
using coercive interrogation techniques. CIA attorneys stated that “a novel application of the
necessity defense™ could be used “to avoid prosecution of U.S. officials who tortured to obtain
information that saved many lives.”!?

Having reviewed information provided by the CIA, tbe OLC included the “necessity defense” in
its August I, 2002, memorandum to the White House counsel on Standards of Conduct for
Interrogation. The OLC determined that “under the current circumstances, necessity or self-
defense may justify interrogation methods that might violate” the criminal prohibition against
torture,

On the same day, a second OLC opinion approved, for the first time, the use of 10 specific
coercive interrogation techniques against Abu Zubaydah-—subsequently referred to as the CIA’s
“enhanced interrogation techniques.” The OLC relied on inaccurate CIA representations about
Abu Zubaydab’s status in al-Qa’ida and the interrogation team’s “certainfty]” that Abu
Zubaydah was withholding information about planned terrorist attacks. The CIA's
representations to the OLC about the techniques were also inconsistent with how the techniques
would later be applied.

In March 2005, the CIA submitted to the Department of Justice various examples of the
“effectiveness” of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques that were inaccurate. OLC
memoranda signed on May 30, 2005, and July 20, 2007, relied on these representations,
determining that the tcchniques were legal in part because they produced “specific, actionable
intelligence” and “substantial quantities of otherwise unavailable intelligence” that saved lives.!*

#6: The CIA has actively avoided or impeded congressional oversight of the program.

The CIA did not brief the leadership of the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence on the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques until September 2002, after the techniques had been
approved and used. The CIA did not respond to Chairman Bob Graham’s requests for additional
information in 2002, noting in its own internal communications that he would be leaving the
Committee in January 2003. The CIA subsequently resisted efforts by Vice Chairman John D.
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Rockefcller 1V, to investigate the program, including by refusing in 2006 to provide requested
documents to the full Committee.

The CIA restricted access to information about the program from members of the Committee
beyond the chairman and vicc chairman until September 6, 2006, the day the president publicly
acknowledged the program, by which time 117 of the 119 known detainees had already entered
CIA custody. Until then, the CIA had declined to answer qucstions from other Committee
members that related to CIA interrogation activities.!

Prior to September 6, 2006, the CIA provided inaccurate information to the leadersbip of the
Committee, Briefings to the full Commitiee beginning on September 6, 2006, also contained
RUIMErous inaccuracies, including inaccurate descriptions of how interrogation technigues were
applied and what information was obtained from CIA detainees. The CIA misrepresented the
views of members of Congress on a numher of occasions. After multiple senators had been
critical of the program and written letters expressing concerns to CIA Director Michael Hayden,
Director Hayden nonetheless told a meeting of foreign ambassadors to the United States that
every Committee member was *“fully briefed,” and that “[t}his is not CIA’s program, This is not
the President’s program. This is America’s program.”® The CIA also provided inaccurate
information describing the views of U.S. senators about the program to the Department of
Justice.

A year after being briefed on the program, the House and Senate Conference Committee
considering the Fiscal Year 2008 Intelligence Authorization bill voted to limit the CIA to using
only interrogation techniques authorized by the Army Field Manual. That legisiation was
approved by the Senate and the House of Representatives in Fcbruary 2008, and was vetoed by
President Bush on March §, 2008.

#7: The CIA impeded effective White House oversight and decision-making.

The CIA provided extensive amounts of inaccurate and incomplete information relatcd to the
operation and effectiveness of the C1A’s Detention and Interrogation Program to the White
House, the National Security Council principals, and their staffs. This prevented an accurate and
complete understanding of the program by Executivc Brancb officials, thereby impeding
oversight and decision-making.

According to CIA records, no CIA officer, up to and including CIA Directors George Tenet and
Porter Goss, briefed the president on the specific CIA enhanced interrogation techniques before
April 2006. By that time, 38 of the 39 detainees identified as having been subjected to the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques had already been subjected to the techniques.!” The CIA did
not inform tbe president or vice president of the location of CIA detention facilities othcr than
Country |8

At the direction of the White House, the secretaries of state and defense — both principals on the
National Security Council — were not briefed on program specifics until September 2003. An
internal CIA email from July 2003 noted that ... the WH [White [House] is extremely concerned
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[Secretary] Powell would blow his stack if he were to be briefed on what’s been going on.”?

Deputy Secretary of State Armitage complained that he and Secretary Powell were “cut out” of
the National Security Council coordination process.”

The CIA repeatedly provided incomplete and inaccurate information to White House personnel
regarding the operation and effectiveness of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.
This includes the provision of inaccurate statements similar to those provided to other elements
of the U.S. Government and later to the public, as well as instances in which specific questions
from White House officials were not answered truthfully or fully. In briefings for the National
Security Council principals and White House officials, the CIA advocated for the continued use
of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, warning that “[tjermination of this program will
result in loss of life, possibly extensive.”*: '

#8: The CIA’s operation and management of the program complicated, and in some cases
impeded, the national security missions of other Executive Branch agencies.

The CIA, in the conduct of its Detention and Interrogation Program, complicated, and in some
cases impeded, the national security missions of other Executive Branch agencies, including the
Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), the State Department, and the Office of the Director of
National Intelligence (ODNI). The CIA withheld or restricted information relevant to these
agencies’ missions and responsibilities, denied access to detainees, and provided inaccurate
information on the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program to these agencies.

The use of coercive interrogation techniques and covert detention facilities that did not meet
traditional U.S. standards resulted in the FBI and the Department of Defense limiting their
involvement in CIA interrogation and detention activities. This reduced the ability of the U.S.
Government to deploy available resources and expert personnel to interrogate detainees and
operate detention facilities. The CIA denied specific requests from FBI Director Robert Mueller
TH for FBI1 access to CIA detainees that the FBI believed was necessary to understand CIA
detainee reporting on threats to tbe U.S. Homeland. Information obtained from CIA detainees
was restricted within the Intelligence Community, leading to concerns among senior CIA
officers that limitations on sharing information undermined government-wide counterterrorism
analysis.

The CIA blocked State Department leadership from access to information crucial to foreign
policy decision-making and diplomatic activities. The CIA did not inform two secretaries of
state of locations of CIA detention facilities, despite the significant foreign policy implications
related to the hosting of clandestine C1A detention sites and the fact that the political leaders of
host countries were generally informed of their existence. Moreover, CIA officers told U.S.
ambassadors not to discuss the CIA program with State Department officials, preventing the
ambassadors from seeking guidance on the policy implications of establishing CIA detention
facilities in the countrics in which they served.

In two countries, U.S, ambassadors were informed of plans to establish a CIA detention site in
the countries where they were serving after the CIA had already entered into agreemenis with the
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countries to host tbe detention sites. In two other countries where negotiations on hosting acw
CIA detention facilities were taking place,?? the CIA told local government officials not to
inform the U.S. ambassadors.”

The ODNI was provided with inaccurate and incomplete information about the program,
preventing the director of national intelligence from effectively carrying out the director’s
statutory responsibility to serve as the principal advisor to the president on intelligence matters.
The inaccurate information provided to the ODNI by the CIA resuited in the ODNI releasing
inaccurate information to the public in September 2006.

#9: The CIA impeded oversight by the CIA’s Office of Inspector General.

The CIA avoided, resisted, and otherwise impeded oversight of the CIA’s Detention and
Interrogation Program by the CIA’s Office of Inspector General (OIG). The CIA did not brief
the OIG on the program until after the death of a detainee, by which time the CIA bad held at
least 22 detainees at two different CIA detention sites. Once notified, the OIG reviewed the
CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program and issued severat reports, including an important
May 2004 “Special Review” of the program that identified significant concerns and dcficiencies.

During the OIG reviews, CIA personnel provided OIG with inaccurate information on the
operation and management of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program, as well as on the
effectiveness of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. The inaccurate information was
included in the final May 2004 Special Review, which was later declassified and released
publicly, and remains uncorrected.

in 2003, CIA Director Goss requested in writing that the inspector general not initiate further
reviews of the CIA’s Dctention and Interrogation Program until reviews already underway were
completed. In 2007, Director Hayden ordered an unprecedented review of the OIG itself in
response to the OIG’s inquiries into the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.

#10: The CIA coordinated the release of classified information to the media, including
inaccurate information concerning the effectiveness of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques.

The CIA’s Office of Public Affairs and senior CIA officials coordinated to share classified
information on the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program to select members of the media to
counter public criticism, shape public opinion, and avoid potential congressional action to restrict
the CIA’s detention and interrogation authorities and budget. These disclosures occurred when
the program was a classified covert action program, and before the CIA had briefed the full
Committee membership on the program.

The deputy director of the CIA’s Counterterrorism Center wroie to a colleague in 2005, shortly
before being interviewed by a media outlet, that “we either get out and sell, or we get hammered,
which has implications beyond the media. [Clongress reads it, cuts our authorities, messes up
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our budget... we either put out our story or we get eaten. {TThere is no middle ground.” The
same CIA officer cxplained to a colleague that “wben the { Washington Postj/{New York Tlimes
quotes ‘senior intelligence official,” it’s us... authorized and directed by opa [CIA’s Office of
Public Affairs].”®

Much of the information the CIA provided to the media on the operation of the CIA’s Detention
and Interrogation Program and the effectiveness of its enhanced interrogation techniques was
inaccurate and was similar to the inaccurate information provided by the CIA to the Congress,
the Department of Justice, and the White House.

#11: The CIA was unprepared as it began operating its Detention and Interrogation
Program more than six months after being granted detention authorities.

On September 17, 2001, the President signed a covert action Memorandum of Notifieation
{MON) granting the CIA unpreeedented counterterrorism authorities, including the autbority to
covertly capture and detain individuals “posing a continuing, serious tbreat of violence or death
to U.S. persons and interests or planning terrorist activities.” The MON made no reference to
interrogations or coercive interrogation techniques.

The CIA was not prepared to take custody of its first detainee. In the fall of 2001, the CIA
explored the possibility of establishing clandestine detention facilities in several countries. The
CIA’s review identified risks associated with clandestine detention that led it to conclude that
U.S. military bases were the best option for the CIA to detain individuals under the MON
authorities. In late March 2002, the imminent capture of Abu Zubaydah prompted the CIA to
again consider various detention options. In part to avoid declaring Abu Zubaydah to the
International Committee of the Red Cross, which would be required if he were detained ata U.S.
military base, the CIA decided to seek authorization o clandestinely detain Abu Zubaydah ata
facility in Country [}—a eountry that had not previously been considered as a potential host for a
CIA detention site. A senior CIA officer indicated that the CIA “will have to acknowledge
certain gaps in our planning/preparations,”® but stated that this plan would be presented to the
president. At a Presidential Daily Briefing session that day, the president approved CIA’s
proposal to detain Abu Zubaydah in Country .

The CIA lacked a plan for the eventual disposition of its detainees. After taking custody of Abu
Zubaydah, CIA officers concluded that he “should remain incommunicado for the remainder of
his life,” which “may preclude [Abu Zubaydah] from being turned over to another country.™’

The CIA did not review its past experienee with coercive interrogations, or its ptevious statcment
to Congress that “inhumane physical or psychological technigues are counterproductive because
they do not produce intelligence and will probably result in false answers.”*® The CIA also did
not contact other elements of the U.S. Government with interrogation expertise.

In July 2002, on the basis of consultations witb contract psychologists, and with very limited
internal deliberation, the CIA requested approval from the Department of Justice to use a set of
goercive interrogation techniques. The techniques were adapted from the training of U.S.
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military personnel at the U.S. Air Force Survival, Evasion, Resistance and Escape (SERE)
school, which was designed to prepare U.S. military personnel for the conditions and treatment
to which they might be subjected if taken prisoner by countries that do not adhere to the Geneva
Conventions.

As it began detention and interrogation operations, the CIA deploycd personnel who lacked
relevant training and experience. The CIA began interrogation training more than seven months
after taking custody of Abu Zubaydah, and more than three months after the CIA began using its
“enhanced interrogation techniques.” CIA Director George Tenet issued formal guidelines for
interrogations and conditions of confinement at detention sites in January 2003, by which time
40 of the 119 known detainces had been detained by the CIA.

#12: The CIA’s management and operation of its Detention and Interrogation Program
was deeply flawed throughout the program’s duration, particularly so in 2002 and early
2003,

The CIA’s COBALT detention facility in Country [f began operations in September 2002 and
ultimately housed more than half of the 119 CIA detainees identified in this Study. The CIA
kept few formal records of the detainces in its custody at COBALT. Untrained CIA officers at
the facility conducted frequent, unauthorized, and unsupervised interrogations of detainees using
harsh physical interrogation techniques that were not—and never became-—part of the CIA's
formal “enhanced” interrogation program. The CIA placed a junior officer with no relevant
experience in charge of COBALT. On November i, 2002, a detainee who had been held
partially nude and chained to a concrete floor died from suspected hypothermia at the facility.
At the time, no single unit at CIA Headquarters had clear responsibility for CIA detention and
interrogation operations. In interviews conducted in 2003 with the Office of Inspector General,
CIA’s leadership and senior attorneys acknowledged that they had little or no awareness of
operations at COBALT, and some believed that enhanced interrogation techniques were not used
there.

Although CIA Director Tenet in January 2003 issved guidance for detention and interrogation
activities, serious management problems persisted. For example, in December 2003, C1A
personne] reported that they had made the “unsettling discovery™ that the CIA had been “holding
a number of detainees about whom” the CIA knew “very little” at multiple detention sites in
Country |2

Divergent lines of authority for interrogation activities persisted through at least 2003. Tensions
among interrogators extended to complaints about the safety and effectiveness of each other’s
interrogation practices.

The CIA placed individuals with no applicable experience or training in senior detention and
interrogation roles, and provided inadequate linguistic and analytical support to conduct effective
questioning of CIA detainees, resulting in diminished intelligence. The lack of CIA personnel
available to question detainees, which the CIA inspector general referred to as “an ongoing
problem,”*® persisted throughout the program.
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In 2005, the chief of the CIA’s BLACK detention site, where many of the detainees the CIA
assessed as “high-value” were held, complained that CIA Headquarters “managers seem to be
selecting either problem, underperforming officers, new, totally inexperienced officers or
whomever seems to be willing and able to deploy at any given time,” resulting in “the production
of mediocre or, 1 dare say, useless intelligence....”*

Numerous CIA officers had serious documented personal and professional problems—including
histories of violence and records of abusive treatment of others—that should have called into
question their suitability to participate in the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program, their
employment with the CIA, and their continued access to classified information. In nearly all
cases, these problems were known to the CIA prior to the assignment of these officers to
detention and interrogation positions.

#13: Two contract psychologists devised the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques and
played a central role in the operation, assessments, and management of the CIA’s
Detention and Interrogation Program. By 2005, the CIA had overwhelmingly outsourced
eperations related to the program.

The CIA contracted with two psychologists to develop, operate, and assess its interrogation
operations. The psychologists’ prior experience was at the U.S. Air Force Survival, Evasion,
Resistance and Escape (SERE) school. Neither psychologist had any experience as an
interrogator, nor did either have specialized knowledge of al-Qa’ida, a background in
counterterrorism, or any relevant cultural or linguistic expertise.

On the CIA’s behalf, the contract psychologists developed theories of inferrogation based on
“learned helplessness,”*? and developed the list of enhanced interrogation techniques that was
approved for use against Abu Zubaydah and subsequent CIA detainees. The psychologists
personally conducted interrogations of some of the CIA’s most significant detainees using these
techniques. They also evaluated whether detainees’ psychological state allowed for the
continued use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, including some detainees whom
they were themselves interrogating or had interrogated. The psychologists carried out inherently
governmental functions, such as acting as liaison between the CIA and foreign intelligence
services, assessing the effectiveness of the interrogation program, and participating in the
interrogation of detainees in held in foreign government custody.

In 2005, the psychologists formed a company specifically for the purpose of conducting their
work with the CIA. Shortly thereafter, the CIA outsourced virtually all aspects of the program.

In 2006, the value of the CIA’s base contract with the company formed by the psychologists with
all options exercised was in excess of $180 million; the contractors rcceived $81 million prior to
the contract’s termination in 2009. In 2007, the CIA provided a multi-year indemnification
agreement to protect the company and its employees from legal liability arising out of the
program. The CIA has since paid out more than $1 million pursuant to the agreement.

rorsEcRET/IIINGTEEEEN -0 rorN

Page 11 of 19
UNCLASSIFIED



UNCLASSIFIED

In 2008, the CIA’s Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation Group, the lcad unit for detention and
interrogation operations at the CIA, had a total of positions, which were filled with . CIA
staff officers and ] contractors, meaning that contractors made up 85% of the workforce for
detention and interrogation operations.

#14: CIA detainees were subjected to coercive interrogation techniques that had not been
approved by the Department of Justice or had not been authorized by CIA Headquarters.

Prior to mid-2004, the CIA routinely subjected detainees to nudity and dietary manipulation.
The CIA also used abdominal slaps and cold water dousing on several detainees during that
period. None of these techniques had been approved by the Department of Justice.

At feast 17 detainees were subjected to CIA enhanced interrogation techniques without
authorization from CIA Headquarters. Additionally, multiple detainees were subjected to
techniques that were applied in ways that diverged from the specific authorization, or were
subjected to enhanced interrogation techniques by interrogators who had not been authorized to
use them. Although these incidents were recorded in CIA cables and, in at least some cases were
dentified at the timc by supervisors at CIA Headquarters as being inappropriate, corrective
action was rarely taken against the interrogators involved.

#15: The CIA did not conduct a comprehensive or accurate accounting of the number of
individuals it detained, and held individuals who did not meet the legal standard for
detention. The CIA’s claims about the number of detainees held and subjected to its
enhanced interrogation techniques were inaccurate,

The CIA never conducted a comprehensive audit or developed a complete and accurate list of the
individuals it had detained or subjected to its enhanced interrogation techniques. CIA statements
to the Committee and later to the public that the CIA detained fewer than 100 individuals, and
that less than a third of those 100 detainees were subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques, were inaccurate, The Committee’s review of C1A records determined tbat the CIA
detained at least 119 individuals, of whom at lcast 39 were subjected to the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation technigues.

Of the 119 known detainees, at least 26 were wrongfully held and did not meet the detention
standard in the Scptember 2001 Memorandum of Notification (MON). These included an
“intellectually challenged™ man whose CIA detention was used solely as leverage to get a family
member to provide information, two individuals who were intelligence sources for foreign
liaison services and were former CIA sources, and two individuals whom the CIA assessed to be
connected to al-Qa’ida based solely on information fabricated by a CIA detainee subjected to the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. Detainees oftcn remained in custody for months after
the CIA determined that they did not meet the MON standard. CIA records provide insufficient
information to justify the detention of many other detainees.

rorsEcrET/ N /0 ORN

Page 12 of 19
UNCLASSIFIED




UNCLASSIFIED

CIA Headquarters instructed that at least four CIA detainees be placed in host country detention
facilities because the individuals did not meet the MON standard for CIA detention. The host
country had no independent reason to hold the detainees.

A full accounting of CIA detentions and interrogations may be impossible, as records in some
cases are non-existent, and, in many other cases, are sparse and insufficient. There were almost
no detailed records of the detentions and interrogations at the CIA’s COBALT detention facility
in 2002, and almost no such records for the CIA's GRAY detention site, also in Country | At
CIA detention facilities outside of Country . the C1A kept increasingly less-detailed records of
its interrogation activities over the course of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.

#16: The CIA failed fo adequately evaluate the effectiveness of its enhanced interrogation
techniques.

The CIA never conducted a credible, comprehensive analysis of the effectiveness of 1ts enhanced
interrogation techniques, despite a recommendation by the CIA inspector general and similar
requests by the national security advisor and the leadership of the Senate Select Committee on
Intelligence.

Internal assessments of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program were conducted by CIA
personnel who participated in the development and management of the program, as well as by
CIA contractors who had a financial interest in its continuation and expansion. An “informal
operational assessment” of the program, led by two senior CIA officers who were not part of the
CIA’s Counterterrorism Center, determined that it would not be possible to assess the
effectiveness of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques without violating “Federal Policy
for the Protection of Human Subjects” regarding human experimentation. The CIA officers,
whose review relied on briefings with ClA officers and contractors running the program,
concluded only that the “CIA Detainee Program” was a “success” without addressing the
effectivencss of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.™

In 2003, in response to the recommendation by tbe inspector general for a review of the
effectiveness of each of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, the CIA asked two
individuals not employed by the CIA to conduct a broader review of “the entirety of” the
“rendition, detention and interrogation program.”* According to one individual, the review was
“heavily reliant on the willingness of {CIA Counterterrorism Center] staff to provide us with the
factual material that forms the basis of our conclusions.” That individual acknowledged lacking
the requisite expertise to review the effectiveness of the C1A’s enhanced interrogation
techniques, and concluded only that “the program,” meaning all CIA detainee reporting
regardless of whether it was connected to the use of the C1A’s enhanced interrogation
techniques, was a “‘great success.” The second reviewer concluded that “there is no objective
way to answer the question of efficacy” of the techniques.

There are no CIA records to indicate that any of the reviews independently validated tbe
“effectiveness” claims presented by the CIA, to include basic confirmation that the intelligence
cited by the CIA was acquired from CIA detainees during or after the use of the CIA’s enhanced
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interrogation techniques. Nor did the reviews seek to confirm whether the intelligence cited by
the CIA as being obtained “as a result” of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques was
unique and “otherwise unavailable,” as claimed by the CIA, and not previously obtained from
other sources.

#17: The CIA rarely reprimanded or held personnel accountable for serious and
significant violations, inappropriate activities, and systemic and individual management

failures.

ClA officers and CIA contractors who were found to have violated CIA policies or performed
poorly were rarely held accountable or removed from positions of responsibility.

Significant events, to include the death and injury of CIA detainees, the detention of individuals
who did not meet the legal standard to be held, the use of unauthorized interrogation techniques
against C1A detainees, and the provision of inaccurate information on the CIA program did not
result in appropriate, effective, or in many cascs, any corrective actions. CIA managers who
were aware of failings and shortcomings in the program but did not intervene, or who failed to
provide proper leadership and management, were also not held to account.

On two occasions in which the CIA inspector general identified wrongdoing, accountability
recommendations were overruled by senior CIA leadership. In one instance, involving the death
of a CIA detainec at COBALT, CIA Headquarters decided not to take disciplinary action against
an officer involved because, at the time, CIA Headquarters had been “motivated to extract any
and all operational information” from the detainee.” In another instance related to a wrongful
detention, no action was taken against a CIA officer because, “{tlhe Director strongly believes
that mistakes should be expected in a business filled with uncertainty,” and “the Director
believes the scale tips decisively in favor of accepting mistakes that over connect the dots against
those that under connect them.”*® In neither case was administrative action taken against CIA
management personnel,

#18: The CIA marginalized and ignored numerous internal critiques, criticisms, and
objections concerning the operation and management of the CIA’s Detention and
Interrogation Program.

Critiques, criticisms, and objections were expressed by numerous CIA officcrs, including senior
personnel oversecing and managing the program, as well as analysts, interrogators, and mcdical
officers involved in or supporting CIA detention and interrogation operations.

Examples of these concerns include CIA officers questioning the effectiveness of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation technigues, interrogators disagreeing with the use of such techniques
against dctainees whom they determined were not withholding information, psychologists
recommending less isolated conditions, and Office of Medical Services personnel questioning
both the effectiveness and safety of the techniques. These concerns were regularly overridden by
CIA management, and the CIA made few corrective changes to its policies governing the
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program. At times, CIA officers were instructed by supervisors not to put their concerns or
observations in written communications.

In several instances, CIA officers identificd inaccuracies in CIA representations about the
program and its effectiveness to the Office of Inspector General, the White House, the
Department of Justice, the Congress, and the American public. The CIA nonetheless failed to
take action to correct these representations, and allowed inaccurate information to remain as the
CIA’s official position.

The CIA was also resistant to, and highly critical of more formatl critiques. The deputy director
for operations stated that the CIA inspector general’s draft Special Review should have come to
the “conclusion that our efforts have thwarted attacks and saved lives,”* while the CIA general
counsel accused the inspector general of presenting “an imbalanced and inaccurate picture” of
the program.* A February 2007 report from the International Committee of the Red Cross
(ICRC), which the CIA acting general counsel initially stated “actually does not sound that far
removed from the reality,”* was also criticized. CIA officers prepared documents indicating
that “critical portions of the Report are patently false or misleading, especially certain key factual
claims....”* CIA Director Hayden testified to the Committee that “numerons false allegations of
physical and threatened abuse and faulty legal assumptions and analysis in the [ICRC] report
undermine its overall credibility.”**

#19: The CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program was inherently unsustainable and
had effectively ended by 2006 due to unauthorized press disclosures, reduced cooperation
from other nations, and legal and oversight concerns.

The CIA required secrecy and cooperation from other nations in order to operate clandestine
detention facilities, and both had eroded significantly before President Bush publicly disclosed
the program on September 6, 2006. From the beginning of the program, the CIA faced
significant challenges in finding nations willing to host CIA clandestine detention sites. These
challenges became increasingly difficult over time. With the exception of Country B e cia
was forced to relocate detainees out of every country in which it established a detention facility
because of pressure from the host government or public revelations about the program.
Beginning in carly 2005, the CIA sought unsuccessfully to convince the U.S. Department of
Defense to allow the transfer of numerous CIA detainees to U.S. military custody. By 2006, the
ClA admitted in its own talking points for CIA Director Porter Goss that, absent an
Administration decision on an “endgame” for detainees, the CIA was “stymied” and “the
program could collapse of its own weight.”*

Lack of access to adequate medical care for detainees in countries hosting the CIA’s detention
facilities caused recurring problems. The refusal of one host country to admit a severely ill
detainee into a local bospital due to security concerns contributed to the closing of the CIA’s
detention facility in that country. The U.S. Department of Defense also declined to provide
medical care to detainees upon CIA request.
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In mid-2003, a statement by the president for the United Nations International Day in Support of
Victims of Torture and a public statement by the White House that prisoners in U.S. custody are
treated “humanely” caused the CIA to question whether there was continued policy support for
the program and seek reauthorization from the White House. In mid-2004, the CIA temporarily
suspended the use of its enhanced interrogation techniques after the CIA inspector general
recommended that the C1A seek an updated legal opinion from the Office of Legal Counsel. In
early 2004, the U.S. Supreme Court decision to grant certiorari in the case of Rasul v. Bush
prompted the CIA to move detainees out of a CIA detention facility at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba.
In late 2005 and in 2006, the Detainee Treatment Act and then the U.S. Supreme Court decision
in Hamdan v. Rumsfeld caused the CIA 10 again temporarily suspend the use of its enhanced
interrogation techniques.

By 2006, press disclosures, the unwillingness of other countries to host existing or new detention
sites, and legal and oversight concerns had largely ended the C1A’s ability to operate clandestine
detention facilities.

After detaining at least 113 individuals through 2004, the CIA brought only six additional
detainees into its custody: four in 2005, one in 2006, and one in 2007. By March 2006, the
program was operating in only one country. The CIA last used its enhanced interrogation
techniques on November 8, 2007. The CIA did not hold any detainees after April 2008.

#20: The CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program damaged the United States’
standing in the world, and resulted in other significant monetary and non-monetary costs.

The CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program created tensions with U.S. partners and allies,
leading to formal demarches to the United States, and damaging and complicating bilateral
inteiligence relationships.

in one example, in June 2004, the secretary of state ordered the U.S. ambassador in Country ' to
deliver a demarche to Country J& “in essence demanding [Country J] Government] provide full
access to all {Country Jj detainees” to the International Committee of the Red
Cross. At the time, however, the detainces Country J] was holding included detainees being held
in secret at the CIA’s behest.”

More broadly, the program caused immeasurable damage to the United States’ public standing,
as well as to the United States’ longstanding global leadership on human rights in general and the
prevention of torture in particular.

CIA records indicate that the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program cost well over $300
million in non-personnel costs. This included funding for the CIA to construct and maintain
detention facilities, including two facilities costing nearly $. million that were never used, in
part due to host country political concerns,

To encourage governments to clandestinely host CIA detention sites, or to increase support for
existing sites, the CIA provided millions of doliars in cash payments to foreign government
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financial assistance fo| . Tentities of foreign governments], and to
“think big” in terms of that assistance.*®
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' As measured by the number of disseminated inteiligence reports. Therefore, zero intelligence Feporis were
disseminated based on information provided by seven of the 39 detainees known to have been subjected to the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues,

? May 30, 2005, Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency,
from Steven G. Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, Department of
Justice, re: Application of United States Obligations Under Article 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain
Technigues that May Be Used in the Interrogation of High Value al Qaeda Detainees.

* Transcript of Senate Select Committee on Intelligence briefing, September 6, 2006,

* This episode was not described in CIA cables, but was described in internal emails sent by personnel in the CIA
Office of Medical Services and the C1A Office of General Counsel. A review of the videotapes of the interrogations
of Abu Zubaydah by the CIA Office of Inspector General (OIG) did not note the incident. A review of the catalog
of videotapes, however, found that recordings of a 21-hour period, which included two waterboarding sessions, were
missing.

* April 10,2003, emeil from [ NEENG_ o I - D - o
Throughout the Committee Study, last names in all capitatized letters are pseudonyms,

¢ ALEC [ (1823212 101 02)

7 At the timne, confining a detainee in a box with the dimensions of a coffin was an approved CIA enhanced
bderrogation technique,

Y IREDACTED] 1324 (1617507 SEP 03), referring to Hambali.

* Interview of [N, by IREDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, Jane 17,
2003

' In one case, interrogators informed a detainee that he could earn a bucket if he cooperated.

" Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogations for Counterterrorism Purposes, | NGNGB 2011 7.
2003, p. 12,

2 Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogations for Counterterrorism Purposes, || NEGNGN. M=y 8.
2003, p. 9.

1 November 26, 2001, Draft of Legal Appendix, Paragraph 5, “Hostile Interrogations: Legal Considerations for CIA
Officers,” at 1.

* May 30, 2005, Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency,
from Steven G. Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney Geveral, Office of Legal Counsel, Department of
Justice, re: Application of United States Obligations Under Article 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain
Techniques that May Be Used in the Interrogation of High Value al Qaeda Detainees. July 20, 2007, Memorandum
for John A. Rizzo, Acting General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G. Bradbury, Principal
Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, Department of Justice, re: Application of War Crimnes
Act, the Detainee Treatment Act, and Common Article 3 of the Geneva Convestions to Certain Technigues that May
be Used by the CIA in the Interrogation of High Value al Qaeda Detainees.

¥ The CIA’s June 27, 2013, Response to the Committee Study of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program
states that these limitations were dictated by the White House. The CIA’s June 2013 Response then acknowledges
that the CIA was “comfortable” with this decision.

5 DIRECTOR [ (1522272 MAR 07)

7 The Committee’s conclusion is based on CIA records, including statements from CIA Directors George Tenet and
Porter Goss to the CIA inspector general, that the directors had not briefed the president on the CIA's interrogation
program. According to ClA records, when briefed in April 2006, the president expressed discomfort with the
“image of a detainee, chained to the ceiling, clothed in a diaper, and forced to go fo the bathroom on himself” The
CIA’s June 2013 Response does not dispute the CIA records, but states that “{w]hile Agency records on the subject
are admittedly incomplete, former President Bush has stated in his autobiography that he discussed the program,
nciuding the use of enhanced techniques, with then-DCIA Tenet in 2002, prior to application of the technigues on
Abu Zubaydah, and personatly approved the technigues.” A memoir by former Acting CIA General Counsel John
Rizzo dispuies this account.

'8 CIA records indicate that the CIA had not informed polcymakers of the presence of CIA detention facilities ip
Countries L JE W and | 1t is less clear whether policymakers were aware of the detention facilities in Country

and at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba. The CIA requested that country names and information directly or indirectly
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identifying countries be redacted. The Study therefore lists the countries by letter. The Study uses the same

designations consistently, so “Country J,” for exampile, refers to the same country throughout the Study.

¥ fuly 31, 2003, email from John Rizzo to* re Rump PC on interrogations.

0| otus Notes message from Chief of the CIA Station in Country i to D/CTC, COPS; copied in: email from

to [REDACTED], [REDACTEDY, ce: [REDACTEDY, “ I

subj: ADC] Talking Points for Call to DepSer Armitage, date 9/23/2004, at 7:.40:43 PM

N Briefing slides, CIA Interrogation Program, July 29, 2003

2 No CIA detention facilities were established in these {two countries,

BU.S. law (22 U.S.C. § 3927) requires that chiefs of mission “shall be kept fully and cuirently informed with

respect to all activities and operations of the Government within that country,” including the activities and

operations of the CIA.

2 Sametime communication, between Johin P. Mudd and , April 13, 2005.
¥ Sametime communication, between John P. Mudd and , Apri] 13, 2005.
% March 29, 2002, email from |GGG o , te A-Z Interrogation Plan,

7 ALEC [ (823212 JUL 02)
¥ Jannary 8, 1989, Letter from John L. Helgerson, Director of Congressional Affairs, to Vice Chairman William §.
Cohen, Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, re: $8CI Questions on , ot 7-8.
P {REDACTED] 1528 (1919032 DEC 03)
3¢ Report of Audit, CIA-controlled Detention Facilities Operated Under the 17 September 2001 Memorandum of
Natifieation, Report No. 2005-0017-AS, June 14, 2006.
3t April 1S, 2005, email from [REDACTED] (Chief of Base of DETENTION SITE BLACK), 1o [EGEGK

re General Commnents,
32 “] earned hciplessness in this context was the theory that detainees might become passive and depressed in
response to adverse or uncontrollable events, and would thus cooperate and provide information. Memo from
Grayson SWIGERT, Ph.D., February 1, 2003, “Qualifications to provide special mission interrogation conseltation.”
32 They also concluded that the C1A “shouid not be in the business of running prisons ot ‘temporary detention
facilities.”” May 12, 2004, Memorandum for Deputy Director for Operations from ﬂ Chief,
information Operations Center, and Henry Crumpton, Chief, National Resources Division via Associate Deputy
Director for Operations, with the subject line, “Operational Review of C1A Detainee Program.”
3 March 21, 2005, Memorandum for Deputy Director for Operations from Robert L. Grenier, Director DCI
Counterterrorisnt Center, re Proposal for Full-Scope Independent Study of the CTC Rendition, Detention, and
Interrogation Programs.
3 September 2, 2005, Memorandum from |l o Director Porter Goss, CIA, “Assessment of EITs
Effectiveness.”
3 September 23, 2005, Memorandum from [ o The Honorable Porter Goss, Director, Central
Intefligence Agency, “Response to request from Director for Assessment of BIT effectiveness.”
37 February 10, 2006, Memorandum for |GG C:A OFFICER 13, CounterTerrorist Center, National
Clandestine Service, from Executive Director re: Accouniability Deeision.
8 Congressional notification, CIA Response to OIG Investigation Regarding the Rendition and Detention of
German Citiren Khalid ai-Masri, October 9, 2007,
¥ Memorandum for Inspector General; from: James Pavitt, Deputy Director for Operations; subject: re Cominents to
Draft IG Special Review, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Program” (2003-7123-1G); date: Febmary
27, 2004; attactunent: February 24, 2004, Memorandum re Successes of C1A’s Counterterrorism Detention and
Interrogation Activities.
40 February 24, 2004, Memorandum from Scoit W. Muller, General Counsel, to Inspector General re Interrogation
Program Special Review (2003-7123-1G),.
Y November 9, 2006, email from John A. Rizzo, to Michael V. Hayden, Stephen R. Kappes. ce: Michael Morell,
Subject: Fw: 5 December 2006 Meeting with ICRC Rep.
VLCIA Commenzs on the February 2007 ICRC Report on the Treatment of Fourteen “High Value Detainees™ in CIA
Custody.”
3 Senate Select Committee on Inteiligence hearing transcript for Apnil 12, 2007,
4 DCIA Talking Points for 12 January 2006 Meeting with the President, re: Way Forwaed on Counterterrorist
Rendition, Detention and Intetrogation Program.

B HEADQUARTERS Q717427 JUN 04)
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L. Backgreund en the Committee Study

{tJ} On December 11, 2007, the Senate Sclect Committee on Inteliigence (“the Commmnittee™)
initiated a review of the destruction of videotapes related to the interrogations of CIA detainces
Abu Zubaydab and ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri after receiving a briefing that day on the matter by
CIA Director Michael Hayden. At that briefing, Director Hayden stated that contemporaneous
CIA operational cables were “a more than adequate representation of the tapes,” and he agreed to
provide the Committee with limited access to these cables at CIA Headquarters.

(U) On February 11, 2009, after the Committec was presented with a staff-prepared summary of
the operational cables detailing the interrogations of Abu Zubaydah and al-Nashiri, the
Committee began considering a broader review of the CIA’s detention and interrogation
practices. On March 5, 2009, in a vote of 14 to I, the Committee approved Terms of Reference
for a study of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.!

(U) The Committee Study of the CIA's Detention and Interrogation Program is a Iengthy, highly
detailed report exceeding 6,700 pages, including approximately 38,000 footnotes. If is divided
into threc volumes:

1. History and Operation of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. This
volume is divided chronologically into sections addressing the establisbment,
development, and evolution of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. It
includes an addendum on CIA Clandestine Detention Sites and the Arrangements Made
with Foreign Entities in Relation to the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.

1. Intelligence Acquired and CIA Representations on the Effectiveness of the CIA’s
Enhanced Interrogation Technigques. This volume addresses the intclligence the CIA
attributed to CIA detainecs and the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques,
specifically focusing on CIA representations regarding the effectiveness of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques, as well as how the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation
Program was operated and managed. It includes sections on CIA representations to the
media, the Department of Justice, and the Congress.

II1.  Detention and Interrogation of CIA Detainees. This volume addresses the detention
and interrogation of 119 ClA detainees, from the program’s authorization on September
17, 2001, to its official end on Jamuary 22, 2009, to include information on their capture,
detention, interrogation, and conditions of confinement. It also includes extensive
information on the CIA’s management, oversight, and day-to-day operation of its
Detention and Interrogation Program,

{U) On Deccember 13, 2012, the Scnate Seleet Committee on Intelligence approved the
Committee Study of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program ("Committee Study”) by a
bipartisan vote of 9-6. The Committee Study included 20 findings and conclusions, The

! See Appendix 1: “Terms of Reference, Senate Select Committee on Intelligence Study of the Central Inteliigence
Agency’s Detention and Interrogation Progeant.”
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Committee requested that specific executive branch agencies review and provide comment on
the Committee Study prior to Committee action to seek declassification and public release of the
Committec Study. On June 27, 2013, the CIA provided a written response, which was folowed
by a series of meetings between the CIA and the Committee that concluded in September 2013.
Following these meetings and the receipt of Minority vicws, the Committee revised the findings
and conclusions and updated the Committce Study, On April 3, 2014, by a bipartisan vote of 11-
3, the Committec agreed to send the revised findings and conclusions, and the updated Executive
Summary of the Committee Study, to the president for declassification and public releasc.

(U) The Committee’s Study is the most comprehensive review ever conducted of the CIA’s
Detention and Interrogation Program. The CIA has informed the Committee that it has provided
the Committec with all CIA records related to the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.?
The document production phase lasted more than three years, produced more than six million
pages of material, and was completed in July 2012, The Committee Study is based primarily on
a review of these documents,’ which include C1A operational cables, reports, memoranda,
intelligence products, and numerous intervicws conducted of CIA personnel by various entitics
within the CIA, in particular the CIA’s Office of Inspector General and the CIA’s Oral History
Program, as well as internal email* and other communications.”

{U) The Executive Summary is divided into two parts. The first describes the establishment,
development, operation, and evolution of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. The
second part provides information on the effectiveness of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation
Program, to include information acquired from CIA dctainecs, before, during, and after the use
of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques; as well as CIA representationis on the
effectiveness and operation of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program to the mcdta, the
Department of Justice, and the Congress. The Executive Summary does not include a

2 The Committee did not have access (0 approximately 9,400 CIA documents related to the CIA’s Detention and
Interrogation Program that were withheld by the White House pending a determination and claim of executive
privilege. The Committee requested access to these documents over several years, including in writing on January
3, 2013, May 22, 2013, and December 19, 2013. The Committee received no response from the White House.

3 From January 2, 2008, to August 30, 2012, the Departinent of Justice conducted a separate investigation into
various aspects of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Frogram, with the possthility of criminal prosecutions of
Cl1A personnel and contractors. On October 9, 2009, the CIA informed the Committee that it would not compel CIA
personnel to participate in interviews with the Committee due to concerns related to the pending Departiment of
Justice investigations. (See DTS #2009-4064.) While the Committee did not conduct interviews with CIA
personnel during the course of this review, the Committee utilized previous interview reports of CIA personnel und
CIA contractors conducted by the CIA's Office of the Inspector General and the CIA’s Oral History Progrum. In
addition to CIA materiuls, the Committee reviewed a much smalier quantity of documents from the Bepartment of
Justice, the Department of Defense, and the Department of State, as well as documents that had separately been
provided to the Committee outside of this review. Inconsistent speliings found within the Committee Study reflect
the inconsistencies fonnd in the underlying documents reviewed.

* The CIA informed the Committee that due to ClA record retention policies, the CIA could not produce ull CIA
emai] communications requested by the Committee. As a result, in a few cases, the text of un email cited in the
Study was not avaiable in its original format, but was embedded in a larger email chain. For this reason, the
Committee, in some Hnited cases, cites to an email ¢hain that contains the original enail, rather than the original
emuil itself,

% The report does not review CIA renditions for individuals who were not uitimately detained by the CIA, CIA
interrogation of detainees in U.S. military custody, or the trentment of detuinees in the custody of foreign
governments, as these topics were not included in the Committee’s Terrus of Reference.
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description of the detention and interrogations of alt 119 known CIA detainees. Details on each
of these detainees are included in Volume 111

(U) Throughout this summary and the entire teport, non-supervisory CIA personncl have been
listed hy pseudonym. The pscudonyms for these officers are used throughout the report. To
distinguish CIA officers in pseudonym from those in true name, pseudonyrms in this report are
denoted by last numes in upper case letters. Additionally, the CIA requested that the names of
countries that hosted CIA detention sites, or with which the CIA negotiated the hosting of sites,
as well as information directly or indirectly identifying such countries, be redacted from the
classified version provided to Committec membhers. The report therefore lists these countries by
letter. The report uses the same designations consistently, so “Country 1,” for example, refers to
the same country throughout the Committee Study. Further, the CIA requested that the
Commitice replace the original code names for CIA detention sites with new identifiers.’

¢ On April 7, 2014, the Executive Summary of the Committee Study of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation
Program was provided to the executive branch for declassification and public release. On August 1, 2014, the CIA
returned to the Committee the Executive Summary with its proposed redactions, Over the ensuing months, the
Committee engaged in defiberations with the CIA and the White House to ensure that the Committee’s narrative—
and support for the Committee’s findings and conclusions—remained intact. Significunt alterations huve been made
to the Execntive Summary in order to reach agreement on a publicly releasuble version of the document. For
example, the CIA requested that in select passuges, the Committee replace specific dates with more general time
frames. The Committee also replaced the true numes of some senior non-undercover CIA officials with
pseudonyms. The executive branch then redacted all psendonyms for CIA personnel, and in some cases the titles of
positions heid by the CIA personnel. Further, while the classified Executive Summury and full Committee Study
lists specific countries by letter (for example “Country 17}, and uses the same letter to designate the specific country

throughout the Committee Study, the letters huve been redacted bi the execufive branch for this public release.
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II. Overall History and Operation of the CIA’s Detention and
Interrogation Program

A. September 17, 2001, Memorandum of Notiftcation (MON) Autborizes the CIA to
Capture and Detain a Specific Category of Individuals

1. After Considering Various Clandestine Detention Locations, the CIA Determines That a
U.S. Military Base Is the "Best Option”; the CIA Delegates “Blanket” Detention
Approvals to CIA Officers in h

&S/ =) On September 17, 2001, six days after the terrorist attaeks of
September 11, 2001, President George W. Bush signed a covert action Memorandum of
Notification (MON) to authortze the director of central intelligenee (DCI) to *“undertake
operations designed to eapture and detain persons who pose a conttnutng, sertous threat of
violenee or death to U.S. persons and interests or who are planning terrorist activities.””
Although the CIA had previously been provided limited authorities to detatn specific, named
individuals pending the issuanee of formal eriminat eharges, the MON provided unprecedented
authorities, granting the CIA significant discretion tn determining whom to detain, the factual
basis for the detention, and the length of the detention.® The MON made no referenee to
{nterrogations or interrogation technigues.”

(M} On September 14, 2001, three days before the issuanee of the

MON, the ehief of operations of the CIA’s || ] ] JJJJEIE bascd on an urgent requirement from
the chief of the Counterterrorism Center (CTC), sent an email to CIA Stattons in secking
input on appropriate loeations for potential CIA detention facilities.’® Over the eourse of the
next month, CIA officers considered at least four countries in - and one in — as
possible hosts for detention facilities and JJJJi 2t least three proposed site loeations. ™

S/ %) On Scptember 26, 2001, senior CTC personnel met to discuss the

capture and detain authorities in the MON. On September 28, 2001, | RCTC Legal,
_ sent an ematl describing the meeting and a number of poliey deeistons. The

T September 17, 2001, Memoranduin of Notification, for Members of the National Security Council, re.

(DTS #2002-0371), at paragraph 4.

¥ Attachment 5 to May 14, 2002, letter from Stantey Moskowitz, ClA Office of Congressional Affairs, to Al
Cumming, Staff Divector, Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, transmitting the Memorenda of Notification
(DTS #2002-2175). :

? September 17, 2001, Memorandum of Notification, for Members of the National Security Council, re.

(DTS #2002-0371), at paragraph 4.
U DIRECTOR . email frony: [REDACTED]; to: [REDACTEDY]; subject; Cable re
Country l; date: January 29, 2009,
1" Memerandam for DCI from J. Cofer Black, Director of Counterterrorism, via Deputy Director of Central

Intefligence, General Counsel, Executive Director, Deputy Director for Operations and Associate Director of Central

Intetiigence/Military Support, entitled, “Apirova! to Establish a Detention Fuacility for Terrorists.™
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email stated that covert facilities would be operated “in a manner consistent with, but not
pursuant to, the formal provision of appropriately comparable Federal instructions for the
operation of prison facilities and the incarceration of inmates held under the maximum lawful
security mechanisms.” —’s email recognized the CIA’s lack of experience in running
detention facilities, and stated that the CIA would consider acquiring cleared personnel from the
Department of Defense or the Burecau of Prisons with specialized expertise to assist the CIA in
operating the facilities.'”? On September 27, 2001, CIA Headquarters informed CIA Stations that
any future CIA detention facility would have to meet “U.S. POW Standards,”**

S/ %) 10 carly November 2001, CIA Headguarters further determined

that any future CIA detention facility would have to meet U S, prison standards and that CIA
detention and interrogation operations should be tailored to “meet the requirements of U.S. law
and the federal rules of criminal procedure,” adding that “{s]pecific methods of interrogation
wiould] be permissible so long as they generally comport with comnionly accepted practices
deemcd lawful by U.S. courts.”** The CIA’s search for detention site locations was then put on
hold and an internal memorandum from senior CIA officials explained that detention at a U.S.
military base outside of the United States was the “hest option.”"® The memorandum thus urged
the DCI to “[plress DOD and the US military, at bighest levels, to have the US Military agree to
host a long-term facility, and have them identify an agrecable location,” specifically requesting
that the DCI “{s]eck to have the US Naval Base at Guantanamo Bay designated as a long-term
detention facility.”'®

S/ 2% Addressing the risks associated with the CIA maintaining a

detention facility, tbe CIA memorandum warned that “[als captured terrorists may be held days,
months, or years, the likelihood of exposure will grow over time,” and that “[m]edia exposure
could inflame public opinion against a host government and the U.S,, thercby threatening the
continued operation of the facility,” The memorandum also anticipated that, “{i]n a foreign
country, closc cooperation with the host govetnment will entail intensive negotiations,”!” The
CIA memorandum warned that “any foreign country poses uncontrollable risks that could create
incidents, vulnerability to the security of the facility, bilateral problems, and uncertainty over
maintaining the facility.”*® The memorandum recommended the establishment of a “short-term”
facility in which the C1A’s role would be limited to “oversight, funding and responsibility.” The

12 ginail from: s to: [REDACTEDY; sebject: EYES ONLY - Capture and Detention; dute:
September 28, 2001, at 09:29:24 AM.

2 DIRECTOR [ (2721192 SEP O1)

" November 7, 2001, Draft of Legal Appendix, “Handling Interrogation.” See afse Volume 1.

% Memorandum for DCI from J. Cofer Black, Director of Counterterrorism, via Deputy Director of Central
Intetligence, General Counsel, Executive Director, Deputy Director for Operations and Associate Director of Central
Intetligence/Military Support, entitled, “Approval to Establish a Detention Facility for Terrorists.”

* Memorandum for DCI from J. Cofer Black, Director of Counterterrorism, via Deputy Director of Central
Intelligence, General Counsel, Executive Director, Deputy Director for Operations and Associate Director of Central
Inteliigence/Military Support, entitled, “Approval to Establish a Detention Facility for Terrorists.”

7 Memorandum for DCI from J. Cofer Black, Director of Counterterrorism, via Deputy Director of Central
Intelligence, General Counsel, Executive Director, Deputy Director for Operations and Associate Director of Central
Intelligence/Military Support, entitled, “Approval to Establish a Detention Faeility for Terrorists.”

¥ Memorandum for DCI from 1. Cofer Black, Director of Connterterrorism, via Deputy Director of Central
Inteliigence, General Counsel, Executive Director, Deputy Director for Operations and Associate Director of Central

Intelligence/Military Support, entitied, “Aimvai to Establish a Detention Facility for Terrorists.”
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CIA would “contract out all other requirements to other US Government organizations,
commercial comparnies, and, as appropriate, foreign governments.”*?

&S/ ~F) On October 8, 2001, DCI George Tenct delegated the management

and oversight of the capture and detention authorities provided by the MON to the CIA’s deputy
director for operations (DDO), James Pavitt, and the CIA’s chief of the Counterterrorism Center,
Cofer Black.?® The DCI also directed that all requests and approvals for capture and detention be
documented tn writing. On December 17, 2001, however, the DDO rescinded these
requircments and tssucd via a CIA cable “blanket approval” for CIA officers tn — to
“determtne {who poses] the requtstte ‘continuing sertous threat of vtolence or death to US
persons and interests or who arc planning terrorist activities.””* By March 2002, CIA
Headquarters had expanded the authority beyond the language of the MON and instructed CIA
personnel that it would be appropriate to detain individuals who might not be htgh-value targets
in theit own right, but could provide informatton on high-value targets.”

s/ ~F) On Apxit 7, 2003, INEEECTC Lozl NG

sent a cable to CIA Stations and Bases stating that “at this stage in the war [we] believe there is
sufficient opportunity in advance to document the key aspects of many, tf not most, of our
capture and detain operations.”? —’s cable also provided guidance as to who could
be detatned under the MON, stating:

“there must be an atticulable basis on which to conclude that the actions of a
specific person whom we propose to capture and/or detain pose a ‘continuing
serious threat” of violence or death to U.S. persons or tnterests o that the person
is plantiing a terrorist acttvity.

... We are not permitted o detain someone merely upon a suspicion that he or
she has valuable tnformation about terrorists or planned acts of terrorism....
Similarly, the mere membership in a particular group, or the mere existence of a
particular familtal tie, docs not nceessarily connote that the threshold of
‘continuing, serjous threat’” has been satisfied.”*

¥ Memorsndum for DCE from J. Cofer Black, Director of Counterterrorism, via Deputy Director of Central
Intelligence, General Counsel, Executive Director, Deputy Director for Operations and Associate Director of Central
InteHigence/Military Support, entitled, “Approval to Estublish a Detention Facility for Terrorists.”

% Memorandum from George Tenet, Divector of Central Intelligence, to Deputy Director for Operations, October 8,
2001, Subject: (U) Delegations of Authorities.

 DIRECTOR 1714102 DEC 01)
? WASHINGTON (2720404 MAR 02)
2 DIRECTOR (0722164 APR 03)

2 DIRECTOR (0722162 APR 03). In 5 later meeting with Committee staff, N CTC Legat.
_ stated that the prospect that the CIA “could hold [detainees] forever” was “terrifying,” adding, “{njo
one wants {o be in a position of being called back from retirement in however many years to go figure out what do
you do with so and so who still poses a threat.” See November 13, 2001, Transcript of Staff Briefing on Covert
Action Legal Issues (DTS #2002-0629).
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2. The CIA Holds at Least 21 More Detainees Than It Has Represented; At Least 26 CIA
Detainees Wrongly Detained

CFS#;_#NF) Whilc the CIA has represented in public and classificd scttings that

it detained “fewer than one hundred” individuals, the Committee’s review of CIA records
indicates that the total number of C1A detainees waus at Ieast 119.*® Internal CIA documents
indicate that inadequate record keeping made it impossible for the CIA to determine how many
individuals it had detained. Tn December 2003, a CIA Station overseeing C1A detention
operations in Country [finformed C1A Headquarters that it had madc the “unsettling discovery”
that the C1A was “holding a number of detainees about whom™ it knew “very little,”*” Nearly
five years later, in late 2008, the CIA attempted to determine how many individuals the CIA had
detained. At the completion of the review, CIA leaders, including C1A Director Michael
Hayden, were informed that the review found that the C1A had detained at least 112 individuals,
and possibly more.”® According to an email summarizing thc meeting, C1A Director Hayden

» CIA Director Hayden typically described the program as holding “fewer than a hundred” detainees. For example.
in testimony before the Committee on February 4, 2008, in response to 2 question from Chairinan Rockefeller
during up open hearing, Hayden stated, "[i]n the life of the CIA detention program we have held fewer than a
hendred people.” (See DTS #2008-1140.) Specific references to "98” detainees were included in a May 5, 2006,
House Permunent Select Committee on Intelligence {HPSCI) report on Renditions, Detentions and Interrogations.
See also Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Acting General Counsel, Central InteHigence Agency, from Steven G.
Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, July 20, 2007, Re: Application of
the War Crimes Act, the Detainee Treatment Act, and Articie 3 of the Geneva Conventions to Certain Techniques
that Muy Be Used by the CIA in the Interrogation of High Value al Queda Detainees. Other examples of this CIA
representation include a statement by CTC officer to the HPSCI on February 15, 2006, und a
statement by JJJlCTC Lega to the SSCLon June 10, 2008. See DTS #2008-2698.
% The Committee’s accounting of the number of CIA detainees is conservative and only includes individuals for
whorn there is ¢lear evidence of detention in CIA custedy. The Comumittee thus did not count, among the 119
detainees, six of the 31 individuals fisted in a memo entitted *Updated List of Detainees In

,'" attached to a March 2003 emai! sent by DETENTION SITE COBALT site manager

[CiA OFFICER 1}, because they were not explicitly described as CIA detainees and because they did not otherwise
appear in CIA records. {See email from: CIA OFFICER 1}, md me
E and subject: DETAINEES; dute: March 13, 2003.) An

additional individual is the subject of CIA cables describing a planned transfer from U.S. military to CIA custody at
DETENTION SITE COBALT. He was likewise not included umong the 119 CIA detainees because of a tack of
CIA records confirming either his trunsfer to, or his presence at, DETENTION SITE COBALT. As detailed in this
summary, in December 2008, the CIA attempted to identify the total number of C1A detainees. In a graph prepared
for CIA leadership, the CIA represented the number of CIA detainees as “112+ 77 See 12417
(1017192 OCT 02), ALEC ﬁ (2320562 0CT 02); IR 190159 2405082 OCT 02); and ALEC R
(3012267 OCT 02).
7

1528

2 As of June 27, 2013, when the CIA provided its Response to the Committee Study of the CIA’s Detention and
Interrogation Program (hereinafter, the “C1A’s fune 2013 Response™), the C1A had not yet made an independent
determination of the number of individuals it had detained. The CIA’s June 2013 Response does not address the
number of detainees determined by the Commnittee to be held by the CIA, other than to assert that the discrepancy
between pust CIA representations, that there were fewer than 100 detainees, and the Committee’s determination of
there being at least | 19 CIA detainees, was not “substantively meaningful.” The CIA's June 2013 Response states
that the discrepancy “does not hmpact the previously known scale of the program,” and that “[ilt remains true that
approximutely 100 detainees were part of the program; not 10 and not 200, The CIA’s June 2013 Response also
states that, "{tthe Study leaves unarticulated what impact the relatively smafl discrepancy might have had on
policymakers or Congressional overseers.” The CiA’s June 2013 Response further asserts that, at the time Director

Hayden was representing there hud been fewer than 100 detainees i2007—2009), the CIA’s internul research
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instructed a CIA officer to devise a way to keep the number of CIA detainces at the same number
the CIA had previously briefed to Congress. The email, which the briefer sent only to himself,
stated:

“ briefed the additional CIA detainees that could be included in RDI®
numbers. DCIA instructed me to keep the detainee number at 98 -- pick

whatever date 1 [sic] needed to make that happen but the number is 98 "0

@S/ 2% Whilc the CIA acknowledged to the House Permanent Sclect

Committee on Intelligence (HPSCI) in February 2006 that it had wrongly detained five
individuals throughout the course of its detention program, ' a review of CIA records indicates

“indicaieid] e total number of detainees could have been as figh as 112, and that “uncectainty existed within C1A
abouni whether a group of additional detainees were actaally part of the program, partially because some of them had
passed throngh [DETENTION S¥TE COBALT] prior fo the formal establishment of the program under CTC
auspices on 3 December 2002 (emphasis added). This June 27, 2013, CIA statement is inaccurate: the CIA’s
determination af ihe time was that {lsere had been af leasr 112 CIA detainees and that the inclusion of detainees held
prior to December 3, 2002, wosld make that nnmber higher. On December 20, 2008, a CTC officer informed the
chief of CTC that “112 were detained by CIA since September 11, 2001, noting “{tihese revised siatistics do not
include uny detainees at [DETENTION SITE COBALT] (other than Gul Rahman} who departed {DETENTION

SITE COBALT] prior to RDG assuming authority of [DETENTION SITE COBALT] as of (03 December 2002.”
See ' numbers brief.doe,” attached to email from: ; fon —
REDACTED], NG , sabject: Revised Renditien and Detention

Statistics,; date: December 20, 2008.) By December 23, 2008, C¥C had created a graph that identified the {otal
mumbey of CIA detainees, excluding Gul Rateman, “Post 12/3/02" as 111. The graph identified the fotal munber
inclading Gul Rahman, but excluding other detainees "pre-12/3/02" as “ 112+ 2.” (See ClA-produced PowerPoint
Slide, RDG Numbers, dated December 23, 2008.) With regard to the Commnittee’s inclusion of defainees held af
DETENTION SETE COBALT prior to December 3, 2002, the CIA does not dispute that they were held by the CIA
pursnani o the same MON anthorities as detainees held after that date. Moreover, the C1A has regularly counted
umong its detuinees a namber of individuals who were held solely at DETENTION STTE COBALT prior to
December 3, 2002, us well as several who were held exclusively at Country | =< tities on behalf of
the CIA. In discussing the role of DETENTION SITE COBALT in the C1A’s Defention and Interrogation Progeam,
then Deputy Director of Qperations Jumes Pavitt told the CIA Office of Inspector General in August 2003 that
"there ure those who say thut [DETENTION SITE COBALT] is not a CIA fucility, but that is "bullshit.’” (See
Interview Repori, 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogations for Countertertorism Purposes, James Pavitt, August 21,
2003.)

¥ The “Renditions and Interrogations Group,” is ulso referred fo as the “Renditions Group,” the “Rendition,

Detention, und Inferrogation Group,” “RDL” and “RDG in C1A records.
3 Email from: Htu: —{Himself}; subject: Meeting with DCIA; date: January 5,

2009. According to the CIA's June 2013 Response, "“Hayden did not view the discrepancy, if it existed, as
particufarly significant given that, if true, it would increase the fotat number by just over 10 percent.”

3! They include Sayed Habib, who was detained due fo fabrications made by KSM while KSM was being subjecied
to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues 1281 (1308042 JUN 04);
3031 ;

3015 2817

b Ali Sueed Awadh, the subject of mistaken identit
2022 . Modin Nik

Muhummed, whom the CIA defermined had been pur, osefully misidentified by a source due to a blood feud
43701 “pirecTor I I I
52893 y, Khalid 4l-Masri, whose “prolenged detention” was determined by the CIA

inspector General to be “unjustified” (C1A Office of Inspector General, Report of Investigation, The Rendition and
Detention of German Citizen Khalid al-Masei (2004-7601-1G), July 16, 2007, at 83); and Zarmein, who was one of
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that at least 21 additional individuals, or a total of 26 of the 119 (22 percent) CIA detaineces
identified in this Study, did not meet the MON standard for detention.” This is a conservative
calculation and includes only CIA detaineces whom the CIA itself determined did not meet the
standard for detention. It does not include individuals about whom there was internal
disagreement within the CIA over whether the detainee met the standard or not, or the numerous
detainees who, following their detention and interrogation, were found not to “pose a continuing
threat of violence or death to U.S. persons and interests™ or to be “planning terrorist activities” as
required by the September 17, 2001, MON.** With one known exception, there are no CIA

“a number of detainees about whom™ the CIA knew “very little” ([ [ [ | A (52

2 They include Abu Hudhaifa, who was subjected to ice water baths and 66 hours of standing sleep deprivation
before being released because the CIA discovered he was likely not the person he was believed to be
(WASHINGTON - B 03 h); Muhammad Khan, who, like
Zarmein, was among detainees about whom the CIA acknowledged knowing “very little " l_

). Gul Rahman, another case of mistaken identity (HEADQUARTERS -
): Shaistah Habibullah Khan, who, like his brother, Sayed Habib, was the subject of fabrications

by KSM (HEADQUARTERS ): Haji Ghalgi, who was detained as “‘useful leverage”
33678 _); Nazar Ali, an “intellectually

challen

against a family member (
red” individual whose taped crying was used as leverage against his family member (
13065 . i

: 13147
): Juma Gul, who was released with a

b ' 1508227
h 33693 33265 :

33693 atullah Haggani, whom the CIA determined “may have been in the
wrong place at the wrong time" ( 33322 ); Ali Jan, who was detained
for using a satellite phone, traces on which “revealed no derogatory information™ ( 1542
. tvo individuals Mohammad al-Shomaila and Salah Nasir Salim Ali—on
whom derogatory information was “speculative™ (email from: IRED/\(.‘.TEDI: to: [REDACTED], [REDACTED],

and [REDACTED]: subject: Backgrounders; date: April 19, 2006; 17411 [
A= —: undated document titled, “Talking Points for HPSCI about Former CIA Detainees");

two individuals who were discovered to be foreign government sources prior to being rendered to CIA custody, and
later determined to be former CIA sources ( 2185 ([REDACTED]); ALEC
(I[REDACTED|); HEADQUARTERS ([REDACTEDY])); seven individuals
thought to be travelling to Iraq to join al-Qa’ida who were detained based on claims that were “thin but cannot be
ignored” (email from: [REDACTED]; to: [REDACTED]; ce: [REDACTED], [REDACTED |, | N N AR

. [IREDACTED]. . [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED]:

subject: Request Chief/CTC Approval to Apprehend and Detain Individuals Departing Imminently for Iraq to Fight
Against US Forces; date: September 16, 2003); and Bismullah, who was mistakenly arrested

and later released with '}1- and told not to speak about his experience ( 46620
)

* For example, the Committee did not include among the 26 individuals wrongfully detained: Dr. Hikmat Nafi
Shaukat, even though it was determined that he was not involved in CBRN efforts and his involvement with al-

a'ida members was limited to personal relationships with former neighbors ([ GG 0/ 1+
hz DIRECTOR -*): Karim, aka Asat Sar Jan, about whom questions
were raised within the CIA about whether he may have been slandered by a rival tribal faction {*
I 7o I (::DACTED] Memo, * SUBIECT: getting a handle on
detainees); Arsala Khan, who suffered disturbing hallucinations after 56 hours of standing sleep deprivation, after
which the CIA determined that he “does not appear to be the subject involved in... current plans or activities against
U.S. personnel or facilities” 4* 1393 (201006Z OCT 03); HEADQUARTERS
1_): and Janat Gul, who also suffered “frightful” hallucinations following sleep deprivation and

about whom the chief of the detention facility wrote, “[t|here simply is no ‘smoking gun’ that we can refer to that
would justify our continued holding of [Janat Gul] at a site such as [DETENTION SITE BLACK]” (

[other currency] (
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records to indicate that the CIA held personnel accountable for the detention of individuals the
CIA itscif determined were wrongfully detained.

(_JNF) On at icast four oceasions, the CIA used host country detention
sites in Country Jj to detain individuals on behalf of the C1A who did not meet the MON
standard for capturc and detention. ALEC Station officers at CIA Headquarters explicitly
acknowledged that these detainees did not meet the MON standard for detention, and
recommended placing the individuals in host eountry detention facilities because they did not
meet the standard. The host country had no independent reason to detain thesc individuals and

held them solely at the behest of the CIA.®

B. The Detention of Abu Zubaydah and the Development and Authorization of the CIA’s
Enhanced Interrogation Techniques

1. Past Experience Led the CIA to Assess that Coercive Interrogation Technigues Were
“Counterproductive” and “Ineffective”; After Issuance of the MON, CIA Attorneys
Research Possible Legal Defense for Using Technigues Considered Torture; the CIA
Conducts No Research on Effective Interrogations, Relies on Contractors with No
Relevant Experience

S/ ) At the time of the issuance of the September 17, 2001, MON—

which, as noted, did not reference interrogation technigues—the CIA had in place long-standing
formal standards for conducting interrogations. The CIA had shared thesc standards with the

1530 [ o+, I 537 I o). 1542 04); email
from: {RHDACTEDi iCOB [DETENTION SITE BLACK]); to: s ce: N

subject: re NN < Apri 30, 2005).
* The CIA’s June 2013 Response “acknowledgefs] that there were cases in which errors were made,” but points
only to the case of Khalid al-Masti, whose wrongful detention was the subject of an Inspector General review. The
CIA’s June 2013 Response does not quantify the number of wrongfully detained individuals, other than to assert that
it was “far fewer” than the 26 documented by the Committee, The CIA’s June 2013 Response acknowledges that
“the Agency freguently moved too slowly to release detainees,” and that “{olf the 26 cases cited by the Stady, we
adjudicated only three cases in less than 31 days. Most took three to six months. CIA should have acted sooner.”
As detailed in the Study, there was no accountability for personnel responsible for the extended detention of

individuals determined by the CIA to have been wrongfully detained.
- o I R o o SN N oo N N
M ALEC . Despite the CIA's conclusion that these individuals did not meet the
stundard for detention, these individuals were inctuded in the list of 26 wrongfully detained if they were released,
but not if they were transferred to the custody of another country. The list thus does not include Hamid Aich,
although CIA Heudguarters recognized that Aich did not meet the threshold for unilateral CIA custody, and sought
to place him in Conntry ‘ custody where the CIA could still dehrief him, (See DIRECTOR
. Hamid Aich was trassferred to Country custody on April il 2003, and
another country’s] custody more than a month later, (See 36682
: ). The list also does not include
Mohammad Dtnshah despite a determination prior to his capture that the CIA “does not view Dinshah as meelmg
the *continuing serious threat’ threshold required for this operation to be conducted pursuant to {CIA} authority,”
and a determination, after his capture, that “he does not meet the strict standards required to go to [DETENTION
SITE COBALT].” {See HRECTOR s HEADQUARTERS
Dinshals was transferred to

trunsferred to
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Committee. In January 1989, the CIA informed the Committce that “inhumane physical or
psychological techniques arc counterproductive because they do not produce intelligenee and
will probably result in falsc answers.™*® Testimony of the CTA deputy director of operations in
1988 denounced coercive interrogation techniques, stating, “fplhysical abuse or other degrading
treatment was rejected not only because it is wrong, but because it has historically proven to be
incffective.”™ By Octoher 2001, CIA policy was to comply with the Department of the Army
Field Manual “Intclligence Intcrrogation,” A CIA Directorate of Operations Handbook from
October 2001 states that the CIA does not engage in “human rights violations,” which it defined
as: “Torture, cruel, inhuman, degrading treatment or punishment, or prolonged detention without
charges or trial.” The handbook further stated that “{iJt is CIA policy to neither participate
directly in nor encourage interrogation which involves the use of forcc, mental or physical
torture, extremely demeaning indignities or exposure to inhumane treatment of any kind as an
aid to interrogation.”>®

{U) The CIA did, however, have historical experienee using eoercive forms of interrogation. In
1663, the CIA produced the KUBARK Counterintcligence Intcsrogation Manual, intended as a
manual for Cold War interrogations, which included the *principal coercive techniques of
interrogation: atrest, detention, deprivation of sensory stimuli through solitary confinement or
similar methods, threats and fear, debility, pain, heightened suggestibility and hypnosis, narcosis
and induced regression.”*® In 1978, DCI Stansfield Turner asked former CIA officer John
Limond Hart to investigatc the CIA interrogation of Soviet KGB officer Yuri Nosenko* using
the KUBARK methods—to include sensory deprivation techniques and forced standing.** In
Hart’s testimony before the House Selcet Committce on Assassinations on September 15, 1978,
he noted that in his 31 years of government scrvice:

“It has never fallen to my lot to be involved with any experience as unpleasant
in every possible way as, first, the investigation of this case, and, second, tbe
necessity of lecturing upon it and testifying. To me it is an abomination, and I

% January 8, 1989, Letter from John L. Helgerson, Director of Con gressional Affairs, to Vice Chairman William 8.
Cohen, Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, re: S5CI Questions on - at 7-8 {DTS #1989-0131),

% Senate Select Committee on InteHigence, Transcript of Richard Stolz, Deputy Director for Opetations, Central
Intelligence Agency (June 17, 1988), p. 15 (DTS #1988-2302).

3% Attachment to Memorandum entitled, “Approval to Estublish a Detention Facility for Tetrorists,” CTC:
1026(138)/01 from J. Cofer Black, Director of DCI Counterterrorist Center, 1o Director of Central Intelligence via
multiple parties, October 25, 2001; Draft of Legal Appendix, “Handling Interrogations.”

¥ Directorate of Operations Handbook, 50-2, Section XX(1)(a), updated October 9, 2001.

% KUBARK Counterinteltigence Interrogation, July 1963, at 85,

9 According to public records, in the mid-1960s, the CIA imprisoned and interrogated Yuri Nosenko, a Soviet KGB
officer who defected to the U.S. in early 1964, for three years {April 1964 to September 1967). Senior CIA officers
at the time did not believe Nosenko was an actual defector and ordered his imprisonment and interrogation.
"Nosenko was confined in a specially constructed “jail,” with nothing but a cot, and was subjected to a series of
sensory deprivation techniques and forced standing.

# Among other documents, see CIA “Family Jewels” Memorandurn, 16 May 1973, pp. 5, 23-24, available at

www. gwi.edu/~nsarchiviINSAEBBRB/NSAEBRR222 ffamily_jewels _full_ocr.pdf.
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am happy to say that... it is rot in my memory typical of what my colleagucs
and I did in the agency during the time 1 was connected with it

S/ 25 Notwithstanding the Hart investigation findings, just five years
later, in 1983, a CIA officer ineorporated significant portions of the KUB ARK manual into the
Human Resource Exploitation (HRE) Training Manual, which the samec officer used to provide

interrogation training in Latin America in the early 1980s, and which was used to provide
interrogation fraining to the “ n 198"‘4 CIA ofﬁcer_
was involved in the HRE training and conducted interrogations. The CIA inspector general later
recommended that he be orally admonished for inappropriate use of interrogation technigues.*®
In the fall of 2002, |l became the CIA’s chief of interrogations in the CIA’s Renditions
Group, the officer in charge of CIA interrogations.*’

(-’ESJ_#NF) Despite the CIA’s previous statcments that coercive physical and

psychological interrogation techniques “result in false answers™® and have *proven to be
ineffective,™? as well as the aforementioned early November 2001 determination that “[s]pecific
methods of interrogation wlould] be permissible so long as they generally comport with
commonly accepted practices deemed lawful by U.S. courts,”® by the end of November 2001,
CIA officers had begun researching potential legal defenses for using interrogation technigues
that were considered torture by foreign governments and a non-governmental organization. On
November 26, 2001, attorneys in the CIA’s Office of General Counscl circulated a draft legal
memorandum deseribing the criminal prohihition on torture and a potential “novel” legal defense
for CIA officers who engaged in torture. The memorandum stated that the “CIA could argue that
the torturc was necessary to prevent immincat, significant, physical harm to persons, where there
is no other availuble means to prevent the harm,” adding that “states may be very unwilling to
call the U.S. to task for torture when it resulted in saving thousands of lives.”® An August 1,

“ *“Investigation of the Assassination of President John F. Kennedy,” Hearings before the Select Committee on
Assassinations of U.8. House of Representatives, 95 Congress, Second Session, September 11-135, 1978,
Testimony of John Hart, pp. 487-536 {September 15, 1978) (DTS #Q04761).
 Transcript of Committee Hearing on _ Interrogation Manual, June 17, 1988, pp. 3-4 (DTS #1988-2362).
4 April 13, 1989, Memorandum from CIA Inspector General William F. Donnelly to Jim Currie and John Nelson,
SSC1 Staff, re: Answers to 88C1 Questions on , attachment M to Memorandum to Chairman and Vice
Chairman, re: Inquiry into Interrogation Training, July 10, 1989 (DTS # 1985-0675). See alsv

1984, Memo.ra‘nd.qg! for Inspector General from [REDACTED], Inspector, via Deputy Inspector General, re:

, G 4.

4 As noted, the Renditions Gronp was also known during the program s the “Renditions and Interrogations
Group,” as well as the “Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation Group,” and by the initials, “RDT” and “RDG.”
+ December 4, 2002, Training Report, Revised Version, High Value Target Interrogation und Exploitation (HVTIE)
Training Sewminar 12-18 Nov 02 (4} 1 was recently assigned to the CTC/RG to manage the HVT
Interrogation and Exploitation (HVTIE) mission, assuming the role us HVT interrogator/Team Chief.”).
# Junuary 8, 1989, Letter from John L. Helgerson, Director of Congressional Affairs to Vice Chairman William S,
Cohen, Senate Select Comsmittee on InteHigence re: SSCI Questions on [ 2t 7-8 (OTS #1989.0131).
¥ Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, Transcript of Richard Stolz, Deputy Director for Operations, Central
Intelligence Agency (June 17, 1988), at 15 (DTS #1988-2302).
% November 7, 2001, Deaft of Legal Appendix, *“Handling Interrogation.” See also Volume L
5t November 26, 2001, Druft of Legal Appendix, “Hostile Interrogations: Legal Considerations for CIA Officers.”
The draft memo cited the “Israeli example™ as a possible basis for arguing that “torture was necessary to prevent
imminent, significant, physical harm to persons, where there is no other available means to prevent the harm.”
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2002, OLC memorandum to the White House Counsel includes a similar analysis of the
“necessity defense” in response to potential charges of torture.”

(U) In January 2002, the National Security Council principals began to

debate whether to apply the protections of the Geneva Convention Relative to the Treatment of
Prisoners of War of August 12, 1949 (“Geneva”) to the conflict with al-Qa’ida and the Taliban.
A letter drafted for DC1 Tenet to the president urged that the C1A be exempt from any
application of these protections, arguing that application of Geneva would “significantly hamper
the ability of CIA to obtain critical threat information necessary to save American lives.”> On
February 1, 2002—approximately two months prior to the detention of the CIA’s first detaince—
a CIA attorney wrote that if C1A detainees were covered by Geneva there would be “few
alternatives to simply asking questions.” The attorney concluded that, if that were the case,
“then the optic becomes how legally defensible is a particular act that probably violates the
convention, but ultimately saves lives.”™

s/ 5) On February 7, 2002, President Bush issued a memorandum stating

that neither al-Qa’ida nor Taliban detainees qualified as prisoners of war under Geneva, and that
Common Article 3 of Geneva, requiring humane treatment of individuals in a conflict, did not
apply to al-Qa’ida or Taliban detainees,

@/SI A%) From the issuance of the MON to early 2002, there are no

indications in CIA records that the CIA conducted significant research to identify effective
interrogation practices, such as conferring with experienced U.S. military or law enforcement
interrogators, or with the intelligence, military, or law enforcement services of other countries
with experience in counterterrorism and the interrogation of terrorist suspects.®® Nor are tbere
CIA records referencing any review of the CIA’s past use of coercive interrogation techniques
and associated lessons learned. The only research documented in CIA records during this time
on the issue of interrogation was the preparation of a report on an al-Qa’ida manual that was

 Memorandum for Alberto R. Gonzales, Counsel to the President, re: Standards of Conduct for Interrogation under
18 U.S.C. §§ 2340-2340A. Like the November 26, 2001, draft memo, the OLC memorandure addressed the {staeli
example.

53 Email from: ; to: {REDACTED] ce: [REDACTED], {REDACTED], [REDACTED], Jose
Rodriguez, , [IREDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED],
[REDACTED]; subject: For OOB Wednesday — Draft Letter to the President; date: Jannary 29, 2002, No records
huve been identified to indicate that thig letter was or was not sent.

3 Email from: [REDACTEDY; to: | NN - [REDACTED]; subject: POW’s 1nd Questioning; date:
February 1, 2002, at 01:02:12 PM.

* February 7, 2002, Memorandum for the Vice President, the Secretary of State, the Secretary of Defense, the
Attorney General, chief of staff to the President, Director of Central ntelligence, Assistant to the President for
National Security Affairs, and Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, re. Humane Treatment of al Qaeda and Taliban
Detainees,

% After the CIA was unsuccessful in acquiring information from its last detainee, Muhammad Rahim, using the
ClA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, an after-action review in April 2008 suggested that the CIA conduct a
survey of interrogation techniques used by other U.S. government agencies and other countries in an effort to
develop effective intervogation techniques. See andated CIA Memorandum, titled - After-Action Review,
author [REDACTED], and undated CIA Memorandum, titled {Rahim] After Action Review: HV DI Assessment,
with attached addendum, {Rzhim} Lessons Learned Review Panel Recommendations Concerning the Modifieation

of Sleep Deprivation and Reinstatement of Wailinﬁ as an BIT. For additional information, see Volame L.
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initially assessed by the CIA to include strategies to resist interrogation, This report was
commissioned by the CIA’s Office of Technical Services (OTS) and drafted by two CIA
contractors, Dr. Grayson SWIGERT and Dr. Hammond DUNBAR.*

@S/ ~¢) Both SWIGERT and DUNBAR had been psychologists with the

U.S. Air Force Survival, Evasion, Resistance and Escape (SERE) school, which exposes select
U.S. military personnel to, among other things, coercive interrogation techniques that they might
be subjeeted to if taken prisoner by countrics tbat did not adhere to Geneva protections, Neither
psychologist had cxperience as an interrogator, nor did either have specialized knowledge of al-
Qa’ida, a background in terrorism, or any relevant regional, cultural, or linguistic expertise.
SWIGERT had reviewed rescarch on “learned helplessness,” in which individuals might hecome
passive and depressed in response to adverse or uncontroliable events.”® He theorized that
inducing such a state could encourage a detainee to cooperate and provide information, 9

2. The CIA Renders Abu Zubaydah to a Covert Facility, Obtains Presidential Approval
Without Inter-Agency Deliberation

(M} In fate March 2002, Pakistani government authorities, working

with the CIA, captured al-Qa’ida facilitator Abu Zubaydah in a raid during which Abu Zubaydah
suffered bullet wounds. At that time, Abu Zubaydah was assessed by CIA officers in ALEC
Station, the office within the CIA with specific responsibility for al-Qa’ida, to possess detailed
knowledge of al-Qa’ida terrorist attack plans. However, as is described in greater detail in the
full Committec Study, this assessment significantly overstated Abu Zubaydah’s rolc in al-Qa’ida
and the information he was likely to possess.*

3 Grayson SWIGERT and Hammond DUNBAR, Recognizing and Developing Countermeasures to Al Qaeda
Resistance to Interrogalion Techniques: A Resistance Training Perspeclive (undated). See also Memorandum for
the Record, November 15, 2007, S8CI Statf Briefing with Grayson SWIGERT und Haummond DUNBAR (DTS
#2009-0572).

58 See, for example, | TR e o from Grayson SWIGERT, subject, “Qualifications lo provide speciul

mission inlerrogalion consuilation”; Undated, unlitled memo slaling: “The following information was obtained by a
teieihone conversation with (REDACTED], I

, Interrogator Teaining, Lesson Plan, Tilte: A Scienlific Approach to Successful Inlerrogation; DIR
(031 227Z APR 02).

# See, for example, Memo from Gr ayson SWIGERT, _ subject: “Qualifications lo provide special
mission interrogalion consullation.”
® See detainee review of Abu Zubaydah in Volume 11 See also CIA Intelligence Assessmenl, Augusl 16, 2006,
“Counlering Misconceplions About Training Camps in Afghanistan, 1990-2001. The documenl stales: “Khaldan
Nol Affiliated With Al-Qa’ida. A common misperceplion in outside articles is that Khaldan camp was run by al-
Qa’ida. Pre-11 Seplember 2001 reporting miscas] Abu Zubaydah as a ‘senior al-Qa’ida lientenant,” which led to The
inference that the Khaldan camp he was adminislering was tied to Usama hin Laden. The group’s flagship camp, al-
Farug, reportedly was created in the late 1980s so thal bin Laden’s new organizalion could have a training
infrastructure independenl of ‘Abduliah Azzam’s Maklab al-Khidamat, the nongovernmental organization that
supported Khaldan. Al-Quz’ida rejected Abu Zabaydah's request in 1993 to join lhe group and Khaidan was nol
overseen by bin Laden’s organization. There were relalions between the ul-Qa’ida camps and Khaldan. Trainees,
particularly Sandis, who had finished basic training al Khaldan were referred 1o al-Qa’ida camps for advanced

courses, and Khaldan slaff observed al-Qa’ida trai nini. The two iouis, however, did not exchange trainers.”
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(M) On the day that Ahu Zubaydah was captured, CIA attorneys

discussed interpretations of the criminal prohibition on torture that might permit CIA officers to
engage in certain interrogation activities,® An attorney in CTC also sent an email with the
subject line “Torture Update” to JJJICTC Legal b listing, without
commentary, the restrictions on interrogation in the Geneva Conventions, the Convention
Against Torture, and the criminal prohibition on torture. %

(CFSI-#NF-) In late March 2002, anticipating its eventual custody of Abu

Zubaydah, the CIA began considering options for his transfer to CIA custody and detention
under the MON. The CIA rejected U.S. military custody —, in large part because of
the lack of security and the fact tbat Abu Zubaydah would have to be declared to the
Intcrnational Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC).** The CIA’s concerns about custody at
Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, included the general lack of secrecy and the “possible loss of control to
US military and/or FBL"%* Rendition to Country l was rejected because of the perception that
the results of that country’s recent interrogations had been disappointing, as well as the intense
interest in Abu Zubaydah from CIA leadership. As ALEC Station wrote, the CIA needed to
participate directly in the interrogation, “{n]ot because we believe necessarily we can improve on
{Country l} performance, but because the reasons for the lack of progress will be transparent
and reportable up the linc.®

( } Over the course of four days, the CIA settled on a detention site in
Country Jl because of that country’s h

and the lack of U.S. court jurisdiction. The only disadvantages identified by the CIA with
detention in Country [ were that it would not be a “USG-controlled facility” and that
“diplomatic/policy decisions” would be required.® As a March 28, 2002, CIA document
acknowledged, the proposal to render Abu Zubaydah to Country l had not yet been broached
with that country’s officials. The document also warned: “{wle can’t guarantee security. If AZ’s
presence does become known, not clear what the impact would be.”%

( ) The decision to detain Abu Zubaydah at a covert detention facility
in Country J§ did not involve the input of the National Security Council Principals Committee,

the Department of State, the U.S. ambassador, or the CIA chief of Station in Country [} On
March 29, 2002, an email from the Office of the Deputy DCI stated that “[w]e will have to

8 Mugech 29, 2002, email from [REDACTED] to ||| |GG c<: joh» Rizzo, [REDACTED],
{REDACTED], IREDACTED], subject, NEW INFO: A-Z Interrogation Plan {* have thoughl abont the 18 USC

sect. 2340 issues we briefly discussed yeslerday.™).
© Fnail from: {REDACTED]; to: subject: Torture Updale; date: March 28, 2002, at £1:28:17
AM,

o I 19595 (281106Z MAR 02). PowerPoini presentation, Options for Incarcerating Abu Zubaydih, March 27,
2002.

8 PowerPoint presentation, Options for Incarcerating Aba Zubaydah, March 27, 2002. PowerPoint presenlation,
Options for Incarcerating Abu Zubuydah, March 28, 2002.

& ALEC IR 2821052 MAR 02)

8 powerPoint presentation, Options for Incarcerating Abu Zubaydah, March 27, 2002.

5 PowerPoint presentation, Options for Incarcerating Abu Zubuydah, March 28, 2002.

% Email from: [REDACTED] R, to: James Pavitt; subject: DCI Decision on [DETENTION SITE
GREEN] Briefing for Armilage; date: September 26, 2002; DIRECTOR R VAR 02).
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acknowledge certain gaps in our planning/preparations, but this is the option the DDCI will lead
with for POTUS consideration.”® That morning, the president approved moving forward with
the plan to transfer Abu Zubaydah to Country J§.”® During the same Presidential Daily Brief
(PDB) session, Secretary of Defense Rumsfeld suggested exploring the option of putting Abu
Zubaydah on a ship; however, CIA records do not indicate any further input from the
rineipals,”? That day, the CIA Station in Country J obtained the approvat of Country Js
* officials for the CIA detention site.”> The U.S. deputy ehief of mission in
Country i}, who was notified by the CIA Station after Country 's leadership, concurred in the
absence of the ambassador, 73 Shortly thereafter, Abu
Zubaydah was rendered from Pakistan to Country i where he was held at the first CIA
detention site, referred to in this summary as “DETENTION SITE GREEN.”™ CIA records
indicatc that Country l was the last location of a CIA detention facility known to the president

or the vice president, as subsequent locations were kept from the principals as a matter of White
House policy to avoid inadvertent disclosures of the ocation of thc CIA detention sites.”

3. Tensions with Host Country Leadership and Media Attention Foreshadow Future
Challenges

(q:ww;mn of Abu Zubaydah to DETENTION
SITE GREEN, the , which was responsibie for the security of
the detention facility, linked its support for the CIA’s detention site to a request for ﬁ
support from the CIA . The CIA eventually provided the
requested upport, 76

Aeceording to CIA cables and internal documents,

& gygait from: TN : TR s:0icct: A-Z Interrogation Plan; date: March 29, 2002.

POTUS is an abbreviation for President of the United States.
T Email from: [REDACTEDY}; to: , subiect: NEW INFO: A-Z Interrogation Plan; date: March 29,
2002.

7 Email from: [REDACTEDY; to: |GGG _, suhject: A-Z Interrogation Plan; emait fronu
[REDACTED] IR to: James Pavitt; subject: DCT Decision on [DETENTION SITE GREEN] Briefing for
Armitage; date: September 26, 2002. After the PDB session, the assistant secretary of state * wis
briefed. The assistant secretary indicated that he would beief the secretary and deputy secretary of state. An internai
CIA email stated that at the NSC, only National Security Advisor Rice and Deputy National Security Advisor
Hadtey were briefed. See DIRECTOR [l MAR 02); emait from: [REDACTED] h-, to:
Tames Pavitt; date: September 26, 2002.

2 [REDACTED] 69132 MAR (2)

B IREDACTED] 69132 MAR 02)

™ For additional information on the rendition of Abu Zubayduh and the establishment of DETENTION SiTE
GREEN, see Volume |,

% HEADQUARTERS | iRepACTED), HEADQUARTERS [ . CIA records
indicate that the CIA had not informed policymakers of the presence of CIA detention fucilitigs in Countries l

and | It is less clear whether policymakers were aware of the detention facilities in Country . and at Guantanamo
Bay, Cuba.

76 See, for example, [REDACTED] 70240 (300614Z APR 02); [REDACTED] 70112 (2509297 APR 02};

[REDACTED] 70459 (0805457 MAY 02); Congressional Notification: Intettigence Support to [ | | R
Operation, . 2002 (DTS #2(}02~2932i; and

MEMORANDUM FOR: Director of Central Intelligence; FROM:
s SUBJECT: Your meeting with
2002; cover page dated 2002.
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rompted to replace -

individuals responsibic for supporting
the CIA’s detention facility.”” Those officials were replaced by different officials whom the CIA
believed were not supportive of the CIA’s detention site.”™ Despite considcrable effort by the
CIA's Station in Country § to retain support for DETENTION SITE GREEN from its new
partners, called for the closing of the CIA detention facility
within three weeks.” Continued Iobbying by the chief of Station, however, eventually led
Country ]| to reverse this decision, allowin g DETENTION SITE GREEN to remain
operational ¥

s/ ) On April B 2002, the CIA Station in Country B attempted to list

the numher of Country . officers whao, “[tio the best of Station’s knowledge,” had “knowledge
of the prescace of Abu Zubaydah” in a specific city in Count The Hist included eight
i 2002,

individuals, references to “various” personnel and the “staff” of

, and concluded “[djoubtlcss many others.””™ By April
a media organization had learned that Abu Zubaydah was in Country l prompting the CIA to
explain to the media organization the “sccurity implications” of revealing the information.*> The
CIA Station in Country ] also expressed concern that press inquiries “would do nothing for our
liaison and bilateral relations, possibly diminishing chances that [the - of Country
l} will permit {Abu Zubaydah] to remain in country or that he would accept other {Abn
Zubaydah]-like renderees in the future.”® In November 2002, after the CIA learned that a major
U.S. newspaper knew that Abu Zubaydah was in Country ., senior CIA officials, as well as Vice
President Chency, urged the newspaper not to publish the information.®** While the U.S.
newspaper did not reveal Country §i§ as the location of Abu Zubaydah, the fact tbat it had the
information, combined with previons media interest, resulted in the decision to close
DETENTION SITE GREEN.®

4. FBI Officers Are the First to Question Abu Zubaydah, Who States He Intends to
Cooperate; Abu Zubaydah is Taken to a Hospital Where He Provides Information the
CIA Later Describes as “Important” and “Vital”

(IS } After Abu Zubaydah was rendered to DETENTION SITE GREEN
on March Ji§, 2002, he was questioned by special agents from the Federal Bureau of

7 See, for example, [REDACTED] 74636
" IREDACTED] 76975
P IREDACTED] 77115
8 IREDACTED] 77281 The CIA’s June 2013 Response states that “{i}t was only as leaks
detailing the program began fo emerge that foreign purtners felt compelled to alter the scope of their involvement.”
As described, however, the tensions with Country i were anrelated to public revelations about the program.

8 IREDACTED] 69626
8 Email from: Willinm Harlow, Director of the CIA Office of Public Affairs; to: fohn McLaughlin, Buzzy
Krongard, John Mosemuan, John Rizzo, James Pavigt, [REDACTED], Stanley Moskowity; subject: [REDACTED]
eall Re: Abu Zubaydah; dute: Apri 25, 2002, 12:06:33 PM.

BIREDACTED} 70168

8 ALEC : Apai! 6, 2006, Interview, NG Chict, Renditions and
Detainees Group.

5 DIRECTOR

Page 24 of 499

UNCLASSIFIED




UNCLASSIFIED

Investigation (FB1) who spoke Arabic and had experience interrogating members of al-Qa’ida,
Abu Zubaydah confirmed his identity to the FB1 officers, informed the FBI officers he wanted to
cooperate, and provided background information on his activities. That evening, Abu
Zubaydah’s medical condition deteriorated rapidly and he required immediate bospitalization.
Although Abu Zubaydah was largely unable to communicate becausce of a breathing tube, he
continued 1o provide information to FBI and CIA officials at the hospital using an Arabic
alphabet chart. According to records, the FBI officers remained at Abu Zubaydab’s bedside
throughout this ordeal and assisted in his medical care. When Abu Zubaydah’s breathing tube
was removed on April 8, 2002, Abu Zuhaydah provided additional intelligence and reiterated his
intention to cooperate.®

S/ 25 During an April 10, 2002, debriefing session, conducted in the

hospital’s intensive care unit, Abu Zubaydah revealed to the FBI officers that an individual
named “Mukhtar” was the al-Qa’ida “mastermind” of the 9/11 attacks. Abu Zubaydah ideatified
a picture of Mukhtar provided by the FBI from the FBI’s Most Wanted list. The picture was of
Khalid Shaykh Mohammad (KSM), wbo had been indicted in 1996 for his role in Ramzi
Yousef’s terrorist plotting to detonate explosives on 12 United States-flagged aircraft and destroy
tbem mid-flight over tbe Pacific Ocean.®” Abu Zubaydah told the interrogators that “Mukhtar”
was related to Ramzi Yousef, whom Ahu Zubaydah said was in an American jail (Yousef had
been convicted for the aforementioned terrorist plotting and was involved in the 1993 World
Trade Center terrorist attack).®®

S 2% Abu Zubaydah told the FBY officers that “Mukhtar” trained the

8/11 hijackers and also provided additional information or XSM’s background, to include that
KSM spoke fluent English, was approximately 34 years old, and was responsible for al-Qa’ida
operations outside of Afghanistan.¥’ Subsequent represcntations on the success of the CIA’s
Detention and Interrogation Program consistently describe Abu Zubaydah's identification of
KSM’s role in the September 11, 2001, attacks, as well as his identification of KSM’s alias
(“Mukhtar”}, as being “important” and “vital” information.”® A review of CIA records found
that this information was corroborative of information already in CIA databases.”’

5, While Abu Zubaydah is Hospitalized, CIA Headquarters Discusses the Use of Coercive
Interrogation Techniques Against Aby Zubaydah

o I 1 0005 (0923167 APR 02). See Abu Zubaydah detuinee review in Valume If) for additionat
information.

87 See United States Court of Appeals, August Tesm, 2001, U.S. v Ramzi Ahmed Yousef, and DIRECTOR IR
JAN 02). See also A N AR 02).

88 10022 (1212167 APR 02). CIA records include the variant spelling, “Muhktar.” KSM was placed on
the FBI's public “Most Waated Terrogist” list on October 10, 2001, See also 1.5, Department of Justice materials
related to Ramzi Ahmed Yousef.

5 10022 (1212162 APR 02); [ 18334 (261703Z MAR 02)

% See, for example, President Bush’s September 6, 2006, speech, bused on CIA information and vetted by the CIA,
which stated that Abu Zubuydah provided “quite important” information und “disclosed Khalid Sheikh Mohammed,
or K5M, was the mastermind behind the 9/11 attacks and used the alias Mukhtar. This was a vital piece of the
puzzie thut helped our intelligence community pursue KSM.”

! See information later in this sammary snd Volume H for additional details.
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(M} While Abu Zubaydah was still hospitalized, personnel at CIA

Headquarters began discussing how CIA officers would interrogate Abu Zubaydah upon his
return to DETENTION SITE GREEN. The initial CIA interrogation proposal recommended that
the interrogators engage with Abu Zubaydah to get him to provide information, and suggested
that a “hard approach,” involving foreign government personnel, be taken “only as a Jast
resort.” At a mecting about this proposal, dCTC Legal, *
recommended that a psychologist working on contract in the CIA’s Office of Technical Services
(OTS), Grayson SWIGERT, be used by CTC to “provide real-time recommendations to
overcome Abu Zubaydal’s resistance to interrogation.””> SWIGERT had come to ||| NG
attention through _ who worked tn OTS. Shortly thereafter, C1IA
Headquarters formally proposcd that Abu Zubaydah be kept in an all-white room that was lit 24
hours a day, thaut Abu Zubaydah not he provided any amenities, that his sleep be disrupted, that
loud noise be constantly fed into his cell, and that only a small number of people interact with
him. CIA records indicate that these proposals were based on the idea that such conditions
would lead Abu Zubaydah to develop a sense of ““learned helplessness.*® CIA Headquarters

then sent an interrogation team to Country |, including SWIGERT, whose initial role was to
consult on the psychological aspects of the interrogation.®®

@S/ ) DCI Tenct was provided an update on the Abu Zubaydah

interrogation plans on April 12, 2002, The update stated that the CIA team was preparing for
Abu Zubaydal’s transfer back to DETENTION SITE GREEN, and noted the CIA interrogation
team intended to “set the stage” and increase control over Abu Zubaydah.*® The update stated:

“Our [CIA] lead interrogator will require Abu Zubaydah to reveal the most
sensitive secret he knows we are seeking; if he dissembles or diverts the
conversation, the interview will stop and resume at a later time.... In
accordance with the strategy, and with concurrence from FB1 Headquarters,
the two on-stie FBI agents will no longer directly participate in the
interview/debriefing scssions.””’

# Attachment to email from: {REDACTED'i iREDACTED}; to: |, s:bicct: Interrogation

Strategy, Powerpoint on [Abn Zubayduh] Interrogation Strategy, 01 Aprit 2002; date: March
31,2002,
* Emaif from [REDACTED] to {REDACTEDY, cc: —, Agprit 1, 2002, re: POC for [Grayson
SWIGERT}- consultant who drafted al-Qa’ida resistance to interrogation backgrounder (noting that CIC/LGL
would reach out to SWIGERT). According to the email, sfter the meeting, h"fc Legal, -

, provided SWIGERTs contact information to ALEC Station officers, noting that it was SWIGERT
who composed an OTS assessment on al-Qa'ida resistance technigues,
# On the evening of April 1, 2002, "at the request of CTC/OPS and ALEC” Station, a cable from OTS with a
proposed interrogation strategy was sent to Country . (— 178955 (0122362 APR 02). The information in
this cable wus consistent with a subsequent cable, which was coordinated with SWIGERT, that proposed “several
environmental modificutions to create an atmosphere that enhances the strategic interrogation process.” The cable
noted, “[tihe deliberate manipulation of the environment is intended to cause psychological disorientation, and
reduced psychological wherewithal for the interrogation,” as well as “the deliberate establishment of psychological
dependence upon the interrogator,” and "an increused sense of learned helplessness.” (See [REDACTED] 69500
{070009Z APR 02).) For detailed information, see Volume ¥ and the Abu Zubaydah detainee review in Volume HE
% DIRECTOR B PR 02)
% CIA Sensitive Addendum “Update on the Abu Zubaydah Operation,” dated {2 April 2002, “1630 Hours.”

T CIA Sensitive Addendum “Update on the Abu Zubaidah Oirai ion,” dated 12 Aprii 2002, " 1630 Howrs.”
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&S/ 22) The FBI special agents guestioning Abu Zubaydah at the hospital
obiected to the CIA’s plans. In a message to FBI Headquarters, an FBI special agent wrotc that

the C1A psychologists had acquired “tremendous influence.”® The message further stated:

“AZ’s health has improved over the last two days and Agency [CIA] is ready
to move {Abu Zubaydah] out of tbe hospital and back tolhon

it an elaborate plan to change AZ’'s environment. Agency [CIA}
advised this day that they will be immediately changing tactics in all future AZ
interviews by having only there {sic] [C1A officer] intcract with AZ (there will
be no FBI presence in interview room). This change contradicts all
conversations had to date.... They believe AZ is offering, ‘throw away
information” and holding back from providing threat information (It should be
note {sic] that we have obtained critical information regarding AZ thus far and
have now got him speaking about threat information, albeit from his hospital
bed and not [an] appropriate interview environment for full follow-up (duc to
his health). Suddenly the psychiatric team here wants AZ to only interact with
their [CIA officer, and the CIA sces this] as being the hest way to get the threat
information.... We offered several compromisc solutions. .. all suggestions
were immediately declined without further discussion. ... This again is quitc
odd as all information obtained from AZ has come from FBI lead interviewers
and guestioning. ... I have spent an un-calculable amount of hours at [Abu
Zubaydah’s] bedside assisting with medical help, holding his hand and
comforting him througb various medical procedures, even assisting him in
going [to] the bathroom.... We have built tremendous report [sic] with AZ and
now that we arc on the eve of ‘regular’ intervicws to get threat information, we
have been ‘written out’ of futurc interviews.””

6. New CIA Interrogation Plan Focuses on Abu Zubaydal's “Most Important Secret”; FBI
Temporarily Barred from the Questioning of Abu Zubaydah; Abu Zubaydah then Placed
in Isolation for 47 Days Without Questioning

Es/IEEN 2% On April 13, 2002, while Abu Zubaydab was still at the hospital,

the CIA implemented the “new interrogation program.”'™ This initial meeting was held with
just one interrogator in the room and lasted 11 minutes. A cable stated that the CIA interrogator
was coached by the “psychological team.”*® The CIA interrogator advised Abu Zubaydah that
he (Abu Zubaydah) “had a most important sceret that [the interrogator] needed to know.”
According to the cable, Abu Zubaydah “amazingly” nodded in agrecment about the secret, but

9 Federal Bureau of Investigation documents pertaining “to the interrogation of detainee Zayn Al Abideen Abu
Zabaidah" and provided to the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence by cover letter dated July 20, 2010 (DTS
#2010-2939),

% Federal Bureau of Investigation documents pertaining “to the interrogation of detainee Zayn Al Abideen Abu
Zabaidah” and provided to the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence by cover letier dated July 20, 2010 (DTS
#2010-2939).

100

10026 (1312332 APR 02)
0l 10026 (1312332 APR 02)
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“did not divulge any information, as [the interrogation team|] expected.”'" A cable further
explained that Abu Zubaydah indicated that he understood that the key question was about
“impending future terrorist plans against the United States,”'® and that the CIA officer told Abu
Zubaydah to signal for him “when he decides to discuss that ‘one key item he knows he is
keeping from the [interrogator].””'™ The FBI officers provided a similar account to FBI
Headquarters, adding that: “We spent the rest of the day in the adjoining room with [the CIA
officer| and one of the psychiatrists [REDACTED] waiting for [Abu Zubaydah| to signal he was
ready to talk. [Abu Zubaydah| apparently went to sleep... they did not approach [Abu
Zubaydah] the rest of the day.”'™ In their communications with FBI Headquarters, the FBI
officers wrote that they explained their rapport-building approaches to the CIA interrogation
team and “tricd to explain that we have used this approach before on other Al-Qaeda members
with much success (al-Owhali,'" KKM, Jandal, Badawi etc.). We tried to politely suggest that
valuable time was passing where we could attempt to solicit threat information....”""”

(U] On April 15, 2002, per a scripted plan, the same CIA interrogator

delivered what a CIA cable described as “the pre-move message” to Abu Zubaydah: that “time is
running out,” that his situation had changed, and that the interrogator was disappointed that Abu
Zubaydah did not signal “to discuss the one thing he was hiding.”'"® Abu Zubaydah was sedated
and moved from the hospital to DETENTION SITE GREEN. When Abu Zubaydah awoke at
11:00 PM, four hours after his arrival, he was described as surprised and disturbed by his new
situation. An April 16, 2002, cable states the “objective is to ensure that [Abu Zubaydah] is at
his most vulnerable state.”'?”

@s/HE %) A coble described Abu Zubaydah’s cell as white with no natural

lighting or windows, but with four halogen lights pointed into the cell.''” An air conditioner was
also in the room. A white curtain separated the interrogation room from the cell. The
interrogation cell had three padlocks. Abu Zubaydah was also provided with one of two chairs
that were rotated based on his level of cooperation (one described as more comfortable than the
other). Security officers wore all black uniforms, including boots, gloves, balaclavas, and
goggles to keep Abu Zubaydah from identifying the officers, as well as to prevent Abu Zubaydah
“from seeing the security guards as individuals who he may attempt to establish a relationship or
dialogue with.”""" The security officers communicated by hand signals when they were with

e 10026 (1312337 APR 02)
193 10029 (131505Z APR 02)
™ 10029 (131505Z APR 02)

193 Federal Bureau of Investigation documents pertaining “to the interrogation of detainee Zayn Al Abideen Abu
Zabaidah™ and provided to the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence by cover letter dated July 20, 2010 (DTS
#2010-2939).

19 See Intelligence Science Board “Intelligence Interviewing: Teaching Papers and Case Studies” for additional
details on the FBI's interrogation of Mohamed Rashed Daoud al-Owhali.

17 Federal Bureau of Investigation documents pertaining “to the interrogation of detainee Zayn Al Abideen Abu
Zabaidah™ and provided to the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence by cover letter dated July 20, 2010 (DTS
#2010-2939).

108
109
1o
i

10043 (151614Z APR 02)
10047 (161406Z APR 02)
10116 (250731Z APR 02)
10053 (162029Z APR 02)
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Abu Zubaydah and used hand-cuffs und leg shackles to maintain control. In addition, either loud
rock music was played or noise generators were used to enhance Abu Zubaydah’s “sense of
hopclessness.™'? Abu Zubaydah was typically kept naked and sleep deprived.’*?

@S/ 25 An April 16, 2002, cable explained that the interrogation strategy

had shifted since Abu Zubaydah’s medical condition prevented “total isolation as originally
planned.” According to the cable, a 24-hour interrogation strategy was now “deemed to be the
best approach” for acquiring information. As arcsult, the FBI officers were once again allowed
to guestion Abu Zubaydah. '™ On Aprit 17, 2002, an FB1 officer met with Abu Zubaydah for six
hours. "> FBI records state that Abu Zubaydah had “not seen the intervicwing (FBI) agent” since
April 11, 2002, but tbat Abu Zubaydah greeted the agent by name.'*® During the questioning
Abu Zubaydah denied any knowledge related to specific targets for a pending attack and
“advised that many of the brothers on the front lines (nfi) {no further information] tatked about
all types of attacks against America but that for the most part this was usually just talk and that
{the United States] should not be concerned about this type of talk.™*!'" Abu Zubaydah provided
information on al-Qa’ida, KSM, his past travel to the United States, as well as general
information on extremists in Pakistan.!®

(M) Abu Zubaydah continued to provide information to interrogators

throughout April 2002, but not information on pending attacks against the United States. On the
evening of April 20, 2002, Abu Zubaydah told the FBI officers about two men who approached
him with a plan to detonate a uranium-based cxplosive device in the United States. Abu
Zubaydah stated he did not believe the plan was viable and did not know the names of the two
individuals, but provided physical descriptions of the pair.’’® This information was acquired
after Abu Zubaydah was confronted with emails indicating that he had sent the two individuals
to KSM.'® The CIA would later represent that this information was acquired “as a result” of the
use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, and that the information acquired resulted in

2 I 10116 (2507312 APR 02). CIA records indicate that Abu Zubayduh was nude, but given 2 towel to
cover himself when interrogated. See, for example, 10080 (2007352 APR 02).

193 | 10053 (1620297 APR 02); 10094 (211905Z APR 02). As delailed in Volume 111, the FBI
Special Agenis only questioned Abu Zabaydah when he was covered with a lowel. Sleep depzivation during this
period also differed from how sleep deprivalion was implemented after the Department of Justice approved the
CIA’s enhanced inlerrogation technigues in August 2002, Rather than being placed in a stress position during sleep
deprivation, Abu Zubaydah was kepl awike by being questioned nearly non-stop by CIA and FBI interrogators.
Records further indicate thal durinﬁ breaks in the interrogutions ul s lime, Abu Zubaydah was allowed to briefly

sleep. See, for example, 10116 (250731Z APR 02).
114 HI047 (161406Z APR 02)
145 10858 (1719047 APR (2)

116 Federal Bureau of Investigution documents pertaining “to the interrogation of delainee Zayn Al Abideen Abu
Zabaidah” and provided to the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence by cover letter duted July 20, 2010 (DTS

#2010-2939),
137

10058 (1719042 APR 02)

118 See Abu Zubaydah detainee review in Volume 1 for additional information,

119 10090 (2107037 APR 02). As described in more detsil in Volume 1, Aba Zubaydab did provide
kunvas for the pair.

120 10063 (1805157 APR 02). As described in delail in Volume 1 and Voleme HI, as well as more

briefly in this summuary, Abu Zubaydsh provided this information afler beini aflowed io sleep.
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the thwarting of the “Dirty Bomb Plot” and the capture of Jose Padilla.’>' However, the chief of
the Abu Zubaydah Task Force stated that “AZ’s info alone would never have atlowed us to find
them,” while another CIA officer stated that the CIA was already “alert” to the threat posed by
Jose Padilla, and that the CIA’s “suspicion” was only “enhanced during the debriefings of Abu
Zubaydah.”'?? Addittonal informatton on the “Dirty Bomb Plot” and the capture of Jose Padilia
ts provided later tn this summary.

S/ > During the month of April 2002, which included a period during

which Abu Zubaydah was hospitalized, on life support, and unable to speak, the CIA
disscminated 39 tntelligence reports based on his interrogations.!** At the end of April 2002, the
DETENTION SITE GREEN interrogatton team provided CIA Headquarters with three
tnterrogation strategies. CIA Headquarters chose the most cocrcive tnterrogation option, which
was proposed and supported by CIA contractor SWIGERT.”?* This coercive interrogation
option—which included sensory deprivation—was again opposed by the FBI special agents at
the detentton site.”*® The interrogation proposal was to cngage in “only a single-minded,
consistent, totally focused questioning of current threat information.”'?® Once implemented, this
approach failed to produce the information CIA Headquarters believed Abu Zubaydah
possessed: threats to the United States and information about al-Qa’ida operatives located in the
United States. Nonetheless, Abu Zubaydah continued to provide other intelligence. In May
2002, the CIA disseminated 56 intelligence reports based on the interrogations. '

@S/ 25) n carly June 2002, the CIA interrogation team recommended that

Abu Zubaydah spend several weeks in isolation while the interrogation team members departed
tbe facility “as a means of keeping [Abu Zuhaydah] off-balance and to allow the team needed
time off for a break and to attend to personal matters -,” as well as to discuss “the
cndgame” of Abu Zubaydah i with officers from CIA Headquarters.'”® As a result, from
June 18, 2002, through August 4, 2002, Abu Zubaydah spent 47 days in isolatton without being

It See information in this summary and Volume I for additional details on the CIA’s representations on the

effectivepess of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues to policy makers and the Department of Justice.

22 C1A email from: ||| GG - ﬂsnb}eci: AZ information; date: July 18, 2002, at

01:18:50 PM. The email states: “The only way we put this together is that Paki liaison mentioned to

the arrest of two individuals {one being an American) and h put two and two together. Therefore, AZ’s

info alone would never have allowed us to find them.” See alfso SSCI Transcript “Detention of Jose Padiila,” dated

June 12, 2002 (DTS #2002-2603), in which a CIA officer states, “the Pakistani {iaison felt it was important to bring

{Padiila] to our attention, given the recent raids. ..there was enough information indicating that his travel was

suspicious, to put us on alert. This suspicion was enhanced during the debriefings of Abu Zubaydah, which

occurred on 21 April.”

123 See analysis provided to the Committee on April 18, 2011, by the CIA, based on CIA searclies in 2011 of the
atabase. The titles of specific intelligence reports resuiting from information provided by Abu Zubuydah are

listed in the Abu Zubaydah detainee review in Volume (3L

“# ALEC N MAY 02)

23 See email exchange from: [REDACTEDY; to [REDACTEDY]; with multiple ces; subject: Turning Up the Heat in

the AZ Interrogations; date: April 30, 2002, at 12:02:47 PM.

"6 See email exchange from: [REDACTED]; to [REDACTED; with multiple ccs; subject: Turning Up the Heat in

the AZ Interrogutions; date: April 30, 2002, at 12:02:47 PM.

127 See analysis provided to the Committee on Apeil 18, 2011, by the CIA, based on CIA searches in 2011 of the

R catubase. The titles of specific intelligence reports resulting from information provided by Abu Zubaydah are

listed in the Abu Zubaydah detainee review in Volume IIL

ox [ (0404 (0708147 JUN 02)
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asked any questions. Despite the fact that Abu Zubaydah was in isolation for nearly half of the
month, the CIA disseminated 37 intclligence reports based on the interrogations of Abu
Zubaydah in June 2002.'% The CIA would later represent publicly—as well as in classified
settings—that during the usc of “established US Government interrogation techniques,” Abu
Zubaydah “stopped all cooperation” in June 2002, requiring the development of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques.'® CIA records do not support this assertion.

@S/ -5 Prior to Abu Zubaydah’s 47-day isolation period, Abu Zubaydah

provided information on al-Qa’ida activities, plans, capabilities, and relationships, in addition to
information on its lcadership structure, including personalities, decision-making processes,
training, and tactics,"* As described in more detail in the full Committee Study, Abu
Zubaydah’s inability to provide information on the next attack in the United States and
operatives in the United Statcs served as the basis for CIA representations that Abu Zubaydah
was ‘“‘uncooperative,” as well as for the CIA’s determination that Abu Zubaydah required the use
of what would fater be known as the CIA's “enhanced interrogation techniques” to become
“compliant” and reveal the information the CIA believed he was withholding, Abu Zubaydah
never provided this information, and CIA officers later eoncluded this was information Abu
Zubaydah did not possess,'*

( )} After Abu Zubaydah was placed in isolation, the Abu Zubaydah
interrogation team [departed Country .}. Security and medical

personnel remained at the detention site. The FBI special agents did not return to DETENTION
SITE GREEN. "

7. Proposal by CIA Contract Personnel to Use SERE-Based Interrogation Techniques
Leads to the Development of the CIA's Enhanced Interrogation Technigues; The CIA
Determines that “the Interrogation Process Takes Precedence Over Preventative
Medical Procedures”

12 Soe analysis provided to the Committee on Aprit 18, 2011, by the CIA, based on CIA searches in 2011 of the
database. The titles of specific intelligence reports resulting from information provided by Abu Zubaydah are
listed in the Abu Zubaydah detuinee review in Volume I of the Committee Study.
130 Qoo Presidential Speech on September 6, 2006, based on CIA information and vetted by CIA personnel. See also
ODNI September 2006 Unclassified Pablic Release: “During initial interrogation, Abu Zubaydab gave some
information thut he probably viewed as nominal. Some was important, however, including that Khulid Shaykh
Mohammad (KSM) was the 9/1 1 mastermind and used the moniker ‘Mukhtur.” This identification ullowed us to
comb previously collected intelligence for both names, opening up new leads to this terrorist plotter—leads that
eventually resulted in his capture. H was clear to his interrogators that Abu Zubaydah possessed a great deal of
information about al-Qu'ida; however, he soon stopped all cooperation. Over the ensuing months, the CIA designed
4 new interrogation program thut woukd be safe, effective, and tegul” See alse CIA Director Michael Hayden,
Classified Statement for the Record, Hearing on the Central Intelligence Agency Detention and Interrogation
Program, April 12, 2007 {DTS #2007-1563) (... FBI and CIA continued unsuccessfully to try to glean information
from Abu Zubaydah using established US Govermment interrogation technigaes....”).
1 See reporting charts in Abu Zubayduh detainee review in Volume IH, as well as CIA paper entitled “Abu
Zubaydah,” dated Murch 2005. The sume information is included in an “Abu Zubaydah Bio” document *Prepared
on 9 August 2006.”
B2 See Aby Zubaydah detainee review in Voluine 113 for additional details.
133 See Abu Zubaydah detainee review in Volume 11 for additional details.
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(M} In early July 2002, CIA officers held several meetings at CIA

Headquarters to discuss the possible use of *novel interrogation methods” on Abu Zubaydah,'>*
During the course of those meetings SWIGERT proposed using techntques derived from the U.S.
military’s SERE (Survival, Evasion, Resistance and Escapc) sehool. ™ SWIGERT provided a
list of 12 SERE techniques for possible use by the CIA: (1) the attention grasp, (2) walling, (3)
facial hold, (4) facial slap, (5) eramped confinement, {6) wall standing, (7) stress positions, (8)
sleep deprivation, (9) waterboard, (10) use of diapers, (11) use of inseets, and {12) mock

burial. *® SWIGERT also recommended that the CIA enter into a contract with Hammond
DUNBAR, his co-author of the CIA report on potential al-Qa’ida interrogation resistance
training, to aid in the CIA tnterrogation process.™” Like SWIGERT, DUNBAR had never
partieipated in a real-world interrogation. His interrogation experience was Himited to the paper
he authored with SWIGERT and his work with U.S. Air Foree personnel at the SERE school. '3

134 8ee CIA docnment dated, Jnly 3, 2002, 1630 Hours, titled, "CIA Operationul Update Memorandum for CIA
Leudership, SENSITIVE ADDENDUM: Updute on the Abi Zybaydah Operation and [ =a< IIEGIK

3* For more information on the SERE program, see the Senate Armed Services Committee Inquiry into the
Treatment of Detainees in U.S. Custody, December 2008. See also statement of Senator Cazi Levin on the inguiry.
December 11, 2008: “SERE training is intended to be used to teach our soldiers how to resist interrogation by
enemies that refuse to follow the Geneva Conventions and international law. In SERE school, our troops who ure ut
risk of captnre are exposed i a controlled environment with great protections und caution ~ to techniques adapted
from sbusive tactics used against American soldiers by enemies such us the Communist Chinese dnring the Korean
War. SERE training technignes include stress positions, foreed nudity, use of fear, sleep deprivation and, until
recently, the Navy SERE school nsed the waterboard. These techinigues were designhed to give our students a taste
of what they might be subjected to if captured by a ruthless, lawless enemy so that they would be better prepared to
resist. The techniques were never intended to be used agninst detainees in 1.8, custody. As one [Joint Personnel
Recovery Agency (JPRA)] instructor explained, SERE training is based on illegal exploitation (under the rules listed
in the 1949 Geneva Convention Relative to the Treatinent of Prisoners of War) of prisoners over the last 50 years.”
36 Bmai! from: . to: ; subject: Description of Physical Pressures; date: July 8,
2002, at 04:15:15 PM.

37 ALEC I 0517242 1UL 02)

138 See Resume, Hammond DUNBAR, submitted to the CIA in Murch 2003, In 2 section on “Interrogation and
Debriefing Experience,” DUNBAR’s 2003 resume noted that he had been a “debriefer for ull USG DOD and
Civilian

3.7 All other experience in the section related to his
inferrogation experience as a contractor for the CIA beginning in 2002. DUNBAR'’s resume did state that he had
participated in an interrogation training course in * in 1992, and that he had taken a one-week

Defense Interrogation Course at some point in 2002, although his resume does not indicate whether this was prior to,
ot after, the interrogation of Abu Zabaydah, The CIA’s June 2013 Response states that the Comimittee Study was
“incorrect... in asserting that the contractors selected had no refevant experience.” The CIA’s June 2013 Response
notes SWIGERT and DUNBAR’s experience at the Department of Defense SERE school, and SWIGERT s
"academic research” and “research papers” on "such topics as resistance training, captivity familiarization, and
learned helplessness - all of which were relevant to the developiment of the program.” The CIA’s June 2013
Response does not describe any experience related to actual interrogafions or counterterrorism, or any relevant
cultural, geographic, or linguistic expertise. The CIA’s June 2013 Response provides the following explanation:
"Drs. [SWIGERT] and {DUNBAR] had the closest proximate expertise CIA sought at the beginning of the program,
specifically in the area of non-standard means of interrogation. Experts on traditional interrogation methods did not
meet this requirement. Non-standard interrogation methodologies were not an uren of expertise of CEA officers or of
the US Government generally. We believe their expertise was so unique that we would lave been derelict had we
not sought them out when it became clear that CIA would be heading into the uncharted territory of the program”
(italics and emphasis in original}, As noted above, the CIA did not seek out SWIGERT and DUNBAR after a
decisior was made to use coercive interrogation techniques; rather, SWIGERT and DUNBAR played a rofe in
convincing the CIA to adopt such a policy.

Page 32 of 499

UNCLASSIFIED




UNCLASSIFIED

&S/ 25 1n May 2003, a senior CIA interrogator would tell personnel from

the CIA’s Office of Inspector General that SWIGERT and DUNBAR’s SERE school model was
based on resisting North Vietnamese “physical tortire” and was designed to extract “confessions
for propaganda purposes” from U.S. airmen “who possessed little actionable intelligence.” The
CIA, he believed, “needed] a different working model for interrogating terrorists where
confessions arc not the ultimatc goal.”"?

{ ) After the July 2002 meetings, the CIA’s JJJJJICTC Legal,
drafted a letter to Attorney General John Ashcroft asking the Department of

Justice for “a formal declination of prosecution, in advance, for any employecs of the United
States, as well as any other personnel acting on behalf of the United States, who may employ
methods in the interrogation of Abu Zubaydah that otherwise might subject those individuals to
prosecution.”® The letter further indicated that “the interrogation tcam had concluded” that
“the usc of more aggressive methods is required to persuade Abu Zubaydah to provide the
eritical information we need to safeguard the lives of innumerable innocent men, women and
children within the United States and abroad.” The letter added that these “aggressive methods”
would otherwise be prohihited by the torture statute, “apart from potential reliance upon the
doctrines of necessity or of self-defense.”'*! Thbis letter was circulated internally at the CIA,
including to SWIGERT; however, there are no records to indicate it was provided to the attorney
general 14

/AN A5 On July 13, 2002, [NCTC Lee:. I

and the CIA’s acting general counsel, John Rizzo, met with attorneys from the National Security
Council and the Department of Justice Office of Legal Counsel (OLC), as well as with Michael
Chertoff, the head of the Department of Justice Criminal Division, and Daniel Levin, the chief of
staff to the FBI director, to provide an overview of the CIA’s proposed interrogation techniques
and to ask for a formal, definitive DOJ opinion regarding the lawfulness of employing the
specific CIA interrogation techniques against Abu Zubaydah. '

S/ 1) The CIA attorneys described the 12 proposed interrogation

techniques and told the Department of Justice and National Security Council atforneys that Abu
Zubaydah continued to witbhold critical intelligence on the identities of al-Qa’ida personnel in
the United States and planned al-Qa’ida attacks. The CIA attorneys also told the group that C1A
officers were complemented by:

“expert personncl retained on contract who possess extensive experience,
gained within the Department of Defense, on the psychological and physical

139 Interview of ||| | | I vy (REDACTED] and [REDACTEDY, Office of the Inspector General, October
22, 2003, The senior inferrogatos had participated in the use of the C1A's enhanced interrogation techniques with
s subject: EYES ONLY - DRAFT; dute: July 8, 2002.

SWIGERT and DUNBAR.

HE Email from: - {q:

Hl Bmail from: - {0 : subject: EYES ONLY - DRAFT; date: July 8, 2002.
2 Bmail from: : tor : subject: EYES ONLY- DRAFT; date: July §, 2002.
HIDIRECTOR (03135772 AUG 02
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methods of interrogation and the resistance tecbniques employed as
countermeasures to such interrogation,” 44

(M) According to the CIA cable describing the meeting, the

representatives from the OLC, including Deputy Assistant Attorney General John Yoo, advised
that the criminal prohibition on torture would not prohibit the methods proposed by the
interrogation team because of the absence of any specific intent to inflict severe physical or
mental pain or suffering.* On July 13,2002, Yoo scnt an unclassified letter to the CIA’s acting
general counsel describing his interpretation of the statute, 16

(T-SA—#NF) Despite the initial view expressed by Yoo that the use of the

proposed CIA interrogation techniques would be lawful, on July 17, 2002, National Security
Advisor Condoleczza Rice requested a delay in the approval of the interrogation technigucs for
Ahu Zubaydah’s interrogation until the attorncy general issued an opinion.’” The following
day, Rice and Deputy National Security Advisor Stephen Hadley requested that the Department
of Justice “delay the approval of the memo detailing the next pbase of interrogations” until the
CIA provided specific details on its proposed interrogation techniques and “an explanation of
why the CIA is confident these techniques will not cause lasting and irreparable harm to Abu
Zubaydab.”"*® Rice asked the CIA to provide the OLC with a description of each of tbe planned
interrogation techniques, and to “gather and provide any available empirical data on the reactions
and hke{i?ood of prolonged mental harm from the use of the ‘water board’ and the staged
burial,”!

s/ =) On July 15, 2002, a cable providing details on the proposed
interrogation phuase stated that only thc DETENTION SITE GREEN chicf of Base would be
alfowed to interrupt or stop an intcrrogation in process, and that the chief of Base would be the
final decision-making authority as to whether the CIA’s interrogation technigues applied to Abu
Zubaydah would be discontinued.’*® The CIA officers at the detention site added:

“If {Abu Zubaydah] develops a scrious medical condition which may involve a
host of conditions including a beart attack or unother catastrophic type of
condition, all ctforts will be made to ensure that proper medical care will be
provided to fhim]. In the cvent {Abu Zubaydah] dies, we necd to be prepared
to act accordingly, keeping in mind the liaison equities involving our hosts.”**!

M4 DIRECTOR (0313572 AUG 02)

43 DIRECTOR (0313572 AUG 02)

“6 July 13, 2002, Letter from John Yoo, Deputy Assistant Attorney General to John Rizzo, Acting General Counsel,
CIA.

7 Memorandum for the Record from John H. Moseman, Chief of Staff, re: NSC Weekly Meeting, July 17, 2002.
2 July 19, 2002, 1630 Hours, CIA Operationat Update Memorandum for CIA Leadership, SENSITIVE
ADDENDUM: Update on the Abu Zubaydah Operation and - Raid

9 Fuly 21, 2002, 1630 Hours, CIA Operational Update Memogandum for CIA Leadersh:p, SENSITIVE
ADDENDUM Update on the Abu Zubaydah Operation and - Raid
158 10536 (151006Z JUL 02}

151 10336 (1510062 JUL 02)
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&S/J &) To address these issues, the cable stated that if Abu Zubaydah were

to die during the intcrrogation, he would be cremated.™ The interrogation team closed the cable
by stating:

“regardless which [disposition] option we follow however, and especially in
light of the planned psychological pressure technigues to be implemented, we
need to get reasonable assurances that [Abu Zubaydah} will remain in isolation
and incommunieado for the remainder of his life”**

s/IEE v Officers from the CIA’s ALEC Station responded to the

interrogation team’s comments several days later. Their cable noted that the ipterrogation team
was correct in its “understanding that the interrogation process takes precedence over
preventative medical procedures.”’** ALEC Station further ohserved:

“There is a fairly upanimous sentiment within HQS that {Abu Zubaydah]} will
never be placed in a simation where he has any significant contact with others
and/or has the opportunity to be releascd. While it is difficult to discuss
specifics at this point, all major players are in concurrence that [Abu
Zubaydah] should remain incommunicado for the remainder of his life. This
may preclude [Abu Zubaydah] from being turned over to another country, but
a final decision regarding his future incarceration condition has yet to be
made.”’%

S >5) As a result of the request by National Security Advisor Rice for

additional research on the CIA’s proposed intenrogation techniques, CIA and DOJ personnel
contacted individuals at the Department of Defense’s Joint Personnel Recovery Agency (JPRA),
the agency that administers the SERE school, to gather information about the effects of using the
techniques in training cxcreises, ' Aecording to CIA officer —, wbo had

joined the CIA’s OTS after Jf years at JPRA, an individual with SERE school
experience commented that “information glcaned via harsh treatment may not be accurate, as the
prisoner may say anything to avoid further pain,” and that “{clurrent doctrine for interrogations
conducted in the permancnt phase of capture may lean towards ‘soft’” or “indirect’ rounds of
questioning.”’

@S/ 2%) Pursuant to National Security Advisor Rice’s request, CIA

Headquarters personnel also requested information from the interrogation team-—particularly

152
153

B4ALEC
B ALEC
156 Fmail from:
July 24, 2002, fax from

13536 (15100672 JUL. 02)

10336 (1510067 JUL 02)

(1823217 31U 02)

1823217 JUL 02}

- to: [REDACTED]; subject: Request for JPRA information; date: Jaly 19, 2002;

to John Yoo and [REDACTED] providing information from the
QTS/OAD psychologists; email from: s {08 L [REDACTED], [REDACTED],

; subject: Discussion with JPRA Chief of Staff;, dute: July 24, 2002

57 Bmail from: : to: [REDACTED]; subject: Request for IPRA information; date: July 19, 2002.

Records indicate that 's notes were not provided to the Department of Justice. In November 2002,
along with Chief of Intersogations led the first CIA interrogator training course.
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SWIGERT and DUNBAR-—about the psychological effects of the use of the waterboard and
mock burial. The chief of Base at DETENTION SITE GREEN responded by cable noting that:

“We are a nation of laws and we do not wish to parse words. A bottom linc in
considering the new measures proposed is that [Abu Zuhaydah] is being held
in solitary confinement, against his will, without legal representation, as an
cnemy of our country, our society and our people. Therefore, while the
techniques described in Headquarters meetings and below are administered to
student volunteers in the U.S. in a harmless way, with no measurable impact
on the psyche of the volunteer, we do not believe we can assure the same here
for a man forced through these processes and who will be made to believe this
is the future course of the remainder of his life. Station, [DETENTION SITE
GREEN chief of Base] and [DETENTION SITE GREEN] personne! will make
every ctfort possible to insure [sic] that subject is not permanently physically
or mental harmed but we should not say at the outset of this process that there
is no risk,”1>8

(M) As former psychologists for the United States Air Force,
SWIGERT and DUNBAR had no direct cxperience with the waterboard, s it was not used in
Air Force SERE training. Nonetheless, they indicated that the waterboard—which they
described as an “absolutely convincing technique”--was necessary to overwhelm Abu
Zubaydah’s ability to resist.'”® They also responded that they were aware that the Navy-which
used the waterboard technique in training—had not reported any significant long-term
consequenees on individuals from its use. Unlike the CIA’s subsequent use of the waterboard,
however, the Navy’s use of the technique was a single training cxercise and did not extend to
multiple sessions. SWIGERT and DUNBAR wrote;

“any physical pressure applicd to extremes can cause severe mental pain or
suffering, Hooding, the use of loud music, sleep deprivation, controlling
darkness and light, slapping, walling, or the use of stress positions taken to
extreme can have the same outcome. The safety of any technique lies
primarily in how it is applied and monitored.” "6

(M} On July 24, 2002, the attorney general verbally approved the use

of 10 interrogation technigues, which included: the attention grasp, walling, the facial hold, the
facial slap (insult slap), cramped confinement, wall standing, stress positions, sleep deprivation,
use of diapers, and use of insects.'s! The interrogation team, however, indicated that they
intended to wait for the approval to use the waterboard before proceeding with their
interrogation of Abu Zubaydah. On July 26, 2002, the attorney general verbally approved the

158 (REDACTED] 73208 (231043Z JUL 02)
159 _ 10568 (2611012 JUL 02)

160 [REDACTED] 73208 (231043Z JUL 02)
st pIRECTOR I (2516092 AUG 02
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use of the waterboard.'® The OL.C finalized its classified written legal opinion on August 1,
2002. The cardier CIA request to conduct a mock burial was not formally considered by the
OLC. Tbe approved interrogation techniques, along with other CIA interrogation techniques
that werc subsequently identified and used by the CIA, are referred to as the CIA’s “enhanced
interrogation techniques,” or more commonly by the CIA as “EITs.”

(M) In the course of seeking approval to use the techniques, CIA

Headquarters advised the Department of Justice and the national security advisor that “countless
more Americans may die unless we can persuade AZ to tell us what he knows.” CIA
Headquarters further represented that the DETENTION SITE GREEN intcrrogation team
believed “Abu Zubaydah continues to withhold critical threat information,” and “that in order to
persuade him to provide” that information, “the usc of more aggressive techniques is
required.”’® The cable to DETENTION SITE GREEN from CIA Hcadguarters documenting
the information CIA Headquarters had provided to the Department of Justice warned that “[t]he
legal conclusions are predicated upon the determinations by the interrogation team that Abu
Zubaydah continucs to withhold critical threat information.”*%* According to cables, however,
the CIA interrogators at the detention site had not determined that “the use of morc aggressive
techniques was required” to “persuade” Abu Zubaydah to provide threat information. Rather,
the interrogation team belicved the objective of the coercive interrogation techniques was to
confirm Abu Zubaydah did not have additional information on threats to the United States,
writing:

“Cur assumption is the objective of this opcration is to achieve a bigh degrec
of confidence that {Abu Zubaydah] is not holding back actionable information
concerning threats to the United States beyond that which [Abu Zubaydah] has
already provided.” %

(5FSA_#NF-) As is described in this summary, and in more detail in the full
Committee Study, the interrogation team later deemed the use of the CIA’s enhanced
intcrrogation technigues a success, not because it resulted in critical threat information, but
because it provided further evidence that Abu Zubaydah had not been witbholding the
aforementioned information from the interrogators, '

8. The CIA Obtains Legal and Policy Approval for Its Enhanced Interrogation Techniques;
The CIA Does Not Brief the President

52 Eimail from: TR (o: Jose Rodriguez, IREDACTED], | {REDACTED;
subject: EYES ONLY - Where we stand re: Abu Zubaydah; date: July 26, 2002. See also 10568
{031357Z AUG 02)

(2611012 JUL 02).
163 DIRECTOR
¢ DIRECTOR (0313577 AUG 02)

163 (REDACTED] 73208 (2310432 JUL 02) and emait from: ||| ] NNNGN: o [REDACTED],
{REDACTED], and s subject: Addendum from {DETENTION SITE GREEN], {REDACTED]
73208 (2310437 JUL 02); date: July 23, 2002, at 07:56:49 PM.

166 10644 (2012357 AUG 02)
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@s/I 25) As described, CIA officers represented to National Sceurity
Advisor Rice that Abu Zubaydah was withholding tnformation on pending attacks and operatives
tn the United States. On July 31, 2002, Rice informed Deputy DCI John McLaughlin that, in
balanctng the application of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against the possible
loss of Amertcan lives, she would not object to the CIA’s enhanced tnterrogation techniqutes tf
the attorney general determined them to be legal. '

(M) Durtng the month of July 2002, the CIA antictpated that the

president would need to approve the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniqucs before
they could be used. Thercfore, in late July 2002, the CIA prepared talking poitts for a briefing
of the president, Thesc draft talking points indicated that the CIA was planning 1o usc
tnterrogation techniqites beyond what was normally permitted by law enforcement, and included
a bricf description of the waterboard interrogation tecbnique. On August 1, 2002, based on
comments from White House Counscl Alberto Gonzales, the talking potnts were revised o
climinate references to the waterboard. ' ClA records indicate, however, that the talking points
were not used to bricf the prestdent. On August 2, 2002, the National Sccurity Council legal
advisor informed the DCY's chief of staff that “Dr. Rice had been informed that there would be
no briefing of the Prestdent on this matter,” 17 but that the DCI had policy approval to cmploy
the CIA’s cnhanced interrogation techniqucs.!™

&S/ 25 CIA records state that prior to the use of the CIA’s enhanced

tntcrrogation technigues on Abit Zubaydah tn 2002, the CIA did not bricf Secretary of State
Colin Powell or Seerctary of Defense Donald Rumsicld, two members of the National Security
Council, on the techniqucs.m The Committtee, including the chatrman and vice chatrman, was
also not bricfed on the CIA’s cnhanced interrogation techniques prior to their use.!’?

S/ 25 Approximately a year later, on July 31, 2003, sentor C1A personnel

belicved the president had still not becen briefed on the CIA’s enhanced tnterrogation
techniques.!”® In August 2003, DCI Tenet told the CIA Office of Inspector General that “*he had
ncver spoken to the President regarding the detention and tnterrogation program or EITs, nor was

167 Memorandum for the Record from John Moseman, Chief of Staff, re: NSC Weekly Meeting, July 31, 2002,

168 July 26, 2001, DCI Talking Points with the President- Next Phase of the Abu Zubaydah Interrogation; July 31,
2001, BCE Talking Points with the President- Next Phuase of the Abu Zubaydah Interrogation. Note that the draft
document Hsts the incorrect year.

159 CIA records do not indicate who informed National Security Advisor Rice “that there would be no briefing of the
President on this mutter.”

1% Email from: John Moseman; to: John McLaughtin, Jose Rodriguer, [REDACTEDY, John Rizzo, [REDACTED],

suhjeet: Abu-Z Interrogation; date: August 2, 2002,
U1 Email from: John Rizzo; to: &; subject: Rump PC on interrogations; date: July 31, 2003

172 See Volume 1 for additional information on congressional briefings.

3 An email from CIA Senior Depaty General Counsel John Rizzo stated thut “the President will be briefed as part
of the reguolar annual fcovert action] review. Briefing (by Rice or VP or Counsel to the President or some
combination thereof) will describe the interrogation program, the fact that some aggressive but AG-approved
technigues have been used, but will not apparently gef into the details of the technigues themselves.” See emaii

frem: John Rizzo; to: —; subject: Rumi PC on interriations; date: July 31, 2003,
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he aware of whether the President had been briefed by his staff. '™ The May 2004 CIA
Inspector General Special Review included a recommendation for the DCI 1o

“Brief the President regarding the implementation of the Agency’s detention
and nterrogation activitics pursuant to the MON of 17 September 2001 or any
other authorities, including the use of EITs and the fact that detainees have
died. This Recommendation is significant.”?”>

(M) In transmitting the Special Review to the Committee, DCI Tenet

responded to the recommendation, noting only that “{t}he DCI will determine whether and to
what extent the President requires a bricfing on the Program.”'’® On April 6, 2006, CIA
Inspector General Helgerson responded to a reguest from Committee Vice Chairman John D,
Rockefcller IV on the status of corrective actions taken in response to the Special Review
recommendations. With regard to a briefing for the president, Helgerson wrote: “Consistent
with this reccommendation, DCI Tenet, before he left office, and Director Goss, shortly after
taking office, both advised me that they had made requests to bricf the President.””” Prepared
“Questions and Answers” for the National Security Council principals in connection with the
disclosure of the program in Septcmber 2006 and subsequent media outreach also suggest that
the president was not briefed at the outset about the CIA’s interrogation tecbniques, In response
to the potential question. “What role did the President play... Was he briefed on the interrogation
techniques, and if so when?” the proposed answer did not assert that the president was bricfed,
but rather that the “President was not of course involved in CIA’s day to day operations —
including who should be held by ClA and how they should be questioned — these decisions are
made or overseen by CIA Directors.”"®

174 Office of Generat Counsel Comments on Counterterrorisin Detention and Interrogation Program Special Review,
at 23 ("{iln August 2003, the DCI advised OIG...”), CLA Office of Ingpector General, Interview of George Tenet,
memorandam duted 8 September 2003, Subject: 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogation for Countertertrorism
Purposes,

175 Inspector General, Special Review, Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001-
October 2003), May 7, 2004 (DTS #2004-2710).

17 Letter from George 1. Tenet to Chairman Pat Roberts, June 22, 2004 (DTS #2004-2710}.

177 Helgerson then added, “Additionatly, public disclosure of many of these activities ensured wide awareness. In
light of these developments, I consider the matter closed.” The Helgerson letter does not indicate to whom Directors
Tenet and Goss, who met regularly with the President, submitted reguests o brief the President about the program.
See letter from John L. Helgerson to Vice Chairman John D. Rockefeller IV, April 5, 2006 (DTS #2006-1564). The
CIA’s June 2013 Response does not dispute these records. It states, however, that “fwlhile Agency records on the
subject are admittedly incomplete, former President Bush has stated in his autobiography that he discussed the
program, including the use of enhanced techniques, with DCIA Tenet in 2002, prior to application of the technigues
on Abu Zubaydah, and personally approved the techniques.”™ A subsequent memoir by former CIA Acting General
Counsel Jolin Rizzo (published January 7, 2014) stutes, “The one senior U.8. Government nationul security official
during this time—from Augast 2002 through 2003—who 1 did not believe was knowledgeable about the B.LT.s wus
President Bush himself. He was not present at any of the Principsl Comumittee meetings ... and none of the
principals at uny of the E.LT. sessions during this period ever alluded to the President knowing anything about
them.”

178 Included in the packet of CIA information was the following: “Question: “What role did the President play in
authotizing this program? Did he select detainees held by CIA or direct their interrogation? Was he briefed on the
interrogation techniques, and if so when?’ Answer: ‘In the days after 9/11, the President directed that all the
instruments of nutional power, including the resoarces of our intelligence, military, and law enforcement
comeunities, be employed to fight and win the war against ul Queda and its affiliates, within the bounds of the law.
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(M) CIA records indieate that the first CIA briefing for the president on

the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques occurred on April 8, 2006.'7 CIA records state that
when the president was briefed, he expressed discomfort with the “image of a detainee, chained
to the ceiling, clothed in a diaper, and forced to go to the bathroom on himself.” ¥

9. The CIA Uses the Waterboard and Other Enhanced Interrogation Techniques Against
Abu Zubaydah

@SR 25 On August 3, 2002, CIA Headquarters informed the interrogation
team at DETENTION SITE GREEN that it had formal approval to apply the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques, ineluding the waterboard, against Abu Zubaydah. Aeeording to CIA
records, only the two CIA contractors, SWIGERT and DUNBAR, were to have contact with Abu
Zubaydah. Other CIA personnel at DETENTION SITE GREEN - including CIA medical
personnel and other CIA “interrogators with whom he is familiar” — werc only to observe. '

&/ F) From August 4, 2002, through August 23, 2002, the CIA subjected

Abu Zubaydah to its enhanced interrogation techniques on a near 24-hour-per-day basis, After
Abu Zubaydah had been in complete isolation for 47 days, the most aggressive interrogation
phase began at approximately 11:50 AM on August 4, 2002.7*2 Security personnel entered the
cell, shackled and hooded Abu Zubaydah, and removed his towel (Abu Zubaydah was then
naked). Without asking any questions, the interrogators placed a rolled towel around his neck as
a collar, and backed him up into the cell wall (an interrogator later acknowledged the collar was

This included important, new roles for CIA in detaining and gquestioning terrorists. [He was periodically updated by
CIA Directors on significant captures of terrorists, and information obtained that helped stop atfacks and led to
capture of other terrorists.] {The President was not of course involved in CIA’s day to day operations — including
wiio shouid be held by CIA and how they shouid be questioned - these decisions are made or overseen by CIA
Directors}’” See Draft Questions and Proposed Answers, attached (o Memorandam from National Security Advisor
Stephen J. Hadley; for: the Vice President, Seercetaries of State and Defense, the Attorney General, Director of
Nationa) Intelligence and Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, cc: chief of staff to the President, Counsel to the
President, Assistant to the President for National Security, White House Spokesman, dated September 2, 2006.
Brackets in the original,

79 See April 16, 2008, CIA “Backgrounder: Chronology of Interrogation Approvals, 2001-2003" (noting that “CIA
documentation and discussions with Presidential briefers and individuals involved with the interrogation program at
the time suggest that details on enhanced interrogation techaiques (EI'Ts) were not shared with the President” in the
200£-2003 timeframe); CIA Q&A, Topic: Waterboarding (“The information we have indicates the President was not
briefed by CIA regarding the specific interrogation techniques until April 2006, and at that time DCIA Goss briefed
him on the seven EITs proposed at that time for the post-Detainee Treatment Act CIA interrogation program.”). As
described, in the April 2006 briefing the President “expressed discomfort” with the “image of a detainee, chained to
the ceiling, clothed in a diaper, and forced to go to the bathroom on himself.” See email from: Grayson SWIGERT,
to: [REDACTED]; cc: h; subject: Dr. SWIGERT’s 7 June meeting with DCT, date: June 7, 2006.

80 Email from: Grayson SWIGERT; to: IREDACTED}: c¢: || IR scbicct Dr. SWIGERT's 7 June
meeling with DCI; date: June 7, 2006,

8% Increased Pressure in the Next Phase of the Abu Zubaydah Interrogations, Attachment to email from:
[REDACTEDI; to: [REDACTEDY; ce: d REDACTED], | . (5D ACTED],
{REDACTED]; subject: Increased Pressure Phase — for DCI Sensitive Addendum; date; July 10, 2002.

152 S 10586 (041559Z AUG 02)
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used to slam Abu Zubaydab against a concrete wall).'®* The interrogators then removed the
hood, performed an attention grab, and had Abu Zubaydah watch whbile a large confinement box
was brougbt into the cell and laid on tbe floor.’™ A cable states Abu Zubaydah “was unhooded
and the large confinement box was carried into the interrogation room and paced [sic] on the
floor so as to appear as a coffin.”’®® The interrogators then demanded detailed and verifiable
information on terrorist opcrations planned against the United States, including the names, phone
numbers, email addresses, weapon caches, and safe houses of anyone involved. CIA records
describe Abu Zubaydah as appearing apprehensive. Each time Abu Zubaydah denied having
additional information, the interrogators would perform a facial slap or face grab.'%® At
approximatcly 6:20 PM, Abu Zubaydah was waterboarded for the first time. Over a two-and-a-
half-hour period, Abu Zubaydah coughed, vomited, and had “involuntary spasms of the torso and
extremities” during watcrboarding.'*” Detention site personnel noted that “throughout the
process [ Abu Zubaydah] was asked and given the opportunity to respond to questions ahout
threats” to the United States, hut Abu Zubaydah continued to maintain that he did not have any
additional information to provide.”™ In an cmail to OMS Icadership entitled, “So it beging,” a
medical officer wrote:

*The sessions accelerated rapidly progressing quickly to the water board after
large box, walling, and small box periods. [Abu Zubaydah] seems very
resistant to the water hoard, Longest ttme with the cloth over his face so far
has been 17 scconds. This is surc to incrcase shortly. NO useful information

83 See enaif from: [REDACTEDY; to: || subject: Subject detainee allegation — per our telcon of
today; date: March 28, 2007, ut 04:42 PM, which states Abu Zubuydah claims “a collar was used to slam him
against a concrete wall, While we do aot have a record that this occurred, one interrogator at the site af the tine
confinmed that this did indeed luppen. For the record, a plywood ‘wall’ was immediately constructed at the site
after the walling on the concrete wull.”

184 10644 (2012352 AUG 02)

185 10586 (0415592 AUG 02)

ig6 10586 (0415592 AUG 02); NN 10644 (2012352 AUG 02)

1n7 10644 (2012352 AUG 02)

18 10586 (0415597 AUG 02). CIA contractor DUNBAR later told the CIA OIG that “[t)heir
instrisctions from {chief of Base] were to focus on ondy one issue, that is, Zubayduh’s knowledge of plans to attack
the 1J.8.” According to the O1G's record of the interview, “[DUNBAR] and [SWIGERT] could usk that guestion in
a mumber of ways, but it was the only theme they were antherized by {chief of Base] to use with [Abu} Zubaydah”
(See Febrnary 10, 2003, interview report of Hammond DUNBAR, Office of the Inspector General.) The ucting
chief of Station in Countzy l, in an interview with the CIA O1G, stated that “there were days at [DETENTION
SITE GREEN] when the team had no requirements from Headquarters,” and that CTC did not give the chief of Base
(COB) the “flexibility as COB to ask other guestions” besides those related to threats to the United States. (See May
28, 2003, interview report of * Office of the Inspector General.) The chief of Support
Services at the CIA Station stated that “[SWIGERT] and [DUNBAR] were frustrated that they kept beating

Zubaydah up on the same question while getting the same physiologic response from him.” {See May 21, 2003,
interview report of u Office of the Inspector Generul.} Other interviewees described how

analytical assumiptions about Abu Zubaydah drove the interrogation process. {See May 22, 2003, interview report of
, Office of the Inspector General; and February 27, 2003, interview repost of -

, Office of the Inspector General.) Chief of CTC, Jose Rodriguez, told the OIG that “CTC subject
matter experts” pointed to inteliigence that they said indicated that Abu Zubaydah knew motze than he was admitting
and thos disagreed with the assessmeat from DETENTION S1TE GREEN that Abu Zubaydah wus “compliant.”
According to the OIG's record of the Jose Rodrignez interview, “disagreement between the analysts and

interrogators can be healthy, but in this case Rodriguez believes that the analysts were wrong.” (See interview of
Jose Rodriguez, Office of the Inspector General, March 6, 2003.
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so far....He did vomit a couple of times during the water board with some
beans and rice. It's been 10 hours since he ate so this is surprising and
disturbing. We plan to only feed Ensure for a whilc now. I'm head{ing] back
for another water hoard session.”*

(M) The use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques—

including “walling, attention grasps, slapping, facial hold, stress positions, cramped confinement,
white noisc and sleep deprivation”—continued in “varying combinations, 24 hours a day” for 17
straight days, through August 20, 2002."° ‘When Abu Zubaydah was Ieft alone during this
period, he was placed in a stress position, left on the waterboard with a cloth over his face, or
locked in one of two confinement boxes. According to the cables, Abu Zubaydab was also
subjected to the waterboard “2-4 times a day... with multiple iterations of the watering cycle
during each application.”"!

(M) The “aggressive phase of interrogation” continued until August 23,

2002."% QOver the course of the entire 20 day “aggressive pbase of interrogation,” Abu Zubaydah
spent a total of 266 hours (11 days, 2 hours) in the large (coffin size) confinement box and 29
hours in a small confinement box, which had a width of 21 inches, a depth of 2.5 feet, and a
height of 2.5 feet. The CIA interrogators told Abu Zubaydah that the only way he would leave
the facility was in the coffin-shapcd confinement box.'%?

@s/HN ~5) According to the daily cables from DETENTION SITE GREEN,
Abu Zubaydah frequently “cried,” “begged,” “pleaded,” and “whimpered,” but continued to

deny that he had any additional information on current threats to, or operatives in, the United
States. %

(—'FS#_‘#NF) By August 9, 2002, the sixth day of the interrogation period, the
interrogation team informed CIA Headquarters that they had come to the “collective preliminary
assessment” that it was unlikely Abu Zubaydah “had actionable new information about current
threats to the United States.”'® On August 10, 2002, the interrogation tcam stated that it was
“highly unlikely” that Abu Zubaydah possessed the information they were seeking.'™ On the
same day, the interrogation team reiterated a request for personnel from CIA Headquarters to

> Emphasis in the original. Email from: [REDACTEDY: to: || I - (REDACTED]; subject: Re: So
it begins; date: August 4, 2002, at 09:45:09AM. CIA Director Hayden informed the Committee in 2007 that “in the
section {of the ICRC report] on medical care, the report omits key contextual facts. For example, Abu Zubaydsh's
statement that ke was given only Ensure and water for two to three weeks fails to mention the fact that he wason a
liquid diet quite appropriate because he wus recovering from abdominal surgery at the time.”

190 i 10644 (201235Z AUG 02). For the first 17 days, the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques were
used against Abu Zabuydah in “varying combinations, 24 hours a day." The “aggressive phase,” as defined by the
CIA, continued for an additional three days. The CIA continued to use ils enhanced interrogation lechniques against
Abu Zubaydah until August 30, 2002,

191 10644 (2012352 AUG 02)

102 10667 (2312067 AUG 02): I 10672 (2402292 AUG 02)

02 106135 (1206192 AUG 02)

#24 10644 (2012352 AUG 02)

15 10604 (0916247 AUG 02)

16 10607 {£00335Z AUG 02)
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travel to the detention site to view the interrogations. A cable stated that the team believed that a
“first-hand, on-the-ground look is best,” but if CIA Headquarters personnel could not visit, a
video teleconferenee would suffice.’’ DETENTION SITE GREEN personnel also informed
ClA Headquarters that it was their assessment that the application of the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques was “approacbfing] the legal limit.”*%® The chief of CTC, Jose
Rodriguez, responded:

“Strongly urge that any speculative language as to the legality of given
activities or, more precisely, judgment calls as to their legality vis-a-vis
operational guidclines for this activity agreed upon and vetted at the most
senior levels of the agency, be refrained from in written traffic (email or cable
traffic). Such language is not helpful™**

ES/JIII ~F) DETENTION SITE GREEN cables describe Abu Zubaydah as
“compliant,” informing CIA Headquarters that when the interrogator “raiscd his eyebrow,
without instructions,” Abu Zubaydah “slowly walked on his own to the water table and sat
down.”?® When the interrogator “snapped his fingers twice,” Abu Zubaydah would lie flat on
the waterboard.?® Despite the assessment of personnel at the detention site that Abu Zubaydah
was compliant, CIA Headquarters stated that they continued to believe that Abu Zubaydah was
withholding threat information and instructed the C1A interrogators to continue using the C1A’s

enhanced interrogation techniques.

@S/ ~F) At times Abu Zubaydah was deseribed as “hysterical”?®® and

“distressed to the level that he was unable to effectively communicate,”® Waterboarding
sessions “resulted in immediate fluid intake and involuntary leg, chest and arm spasms” and
“hysterical pleas.”™ In at least one waterboarding session, Abu Zubaydah “became completely

97 — §0607 (1003357 AUG 02). On August ., 2002, a video-conference hetween DETENTION SITE
GREEN and CIA Headquarters occurred, which included an interrogation video described by the interrogation team
as “quite graphic” and possibly “disturbing to some viewers.” After the video-conference, CIA Headgnarters
instructed DETENTION SITE GREEN to continue the use of the CEA’s enhanced interrogation technigues against
Abu Zubaydah, but agreed to send two CIA Headquarters officers to the de(enuon site to observe the interrogations
first-hand. On August J 2002, a team from CIA Headquartess, including [ RCTC Lega! *
and Deputy Chief of ALEC Station | NEENNGNIN. visitec DETENTION SITE GREEN and observed the tse
of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, including waterboarding. The ressive phawe of interTogation™
ended - days after the arrival of the officers from CIA Head uarters. See wl 6 ( AUG
02}, ALEC AUG 02y, 1(}643 AUG 02y 10667 (2312062 AUG

10607 (100335Z AUG 02)

9 Email from: Jose Rodriguey; to: [REDACTEDY]; subject: (DETENTION SITE GREEN}, date: Angust 12, 2002,
with attachment of earlier email from; IREDACTED]; to: {REDACTED]

m 10614 (1116337 AUG 02)

201 10614 (11163327 AUG 02}

12 See, for example, ALEC (101728 AUG 02); ALEC JJI ¢ 30034z AUG 02): ALEC I

AUG 02); and 10700 (2808207 AUG 02).

203 10644 (2012357 AUG 02)

204 10043 (1915187 AUG 02)

205 10043 (1915182 AUG 02)
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unresponsive, with bubbles rising through his open, full mouth.”*% According to C1A records,
Abu Zubayduah remained unresponsive until medical intervention, when he regained
consciousness and expelled “copious amounts of liquid.” This experience with the waterboard
was referenced in emails, but was not documented or otherwise noted in CIA cables.® When
two C1A Headquarters officers later compared the Abu Zubaydah interrogation videotapes to the
cable record, neither commented on this session. A review of the catalog of videotapes,
however, found that recordings of a 21-hour period, which included two waterboarding sessions,
were muissing, 2%

(M) CIA personne! at DETENTION SI{TE GREEN reported being
disturbed by the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against Abu Zubaydah.
CIA records include the following reactions and comments by Cl1A personnel:

* August 5, 2002: “want to caution [medical officer] that this is almost certainly not a
place he’s ever been before in his medical career. . .1t is visually and psychologically
very uncomfortable, %%

» August 8, 2002: “Today’s first session...had a profound effect on all staff members
present. .1t seems the collective opinion that we should not go much
further. .. everyone secms strong for now but if the group has to continue. .. we cannot
guarantee how much longer.”?!

¢ August 8, 2002: “Several on the team profoundly affected. .. some to the point of
tcars and choking up.”?!!

6 The description of the episode stated that “on being righted, he failed to respond until the interrogators gave him
1 xyphoid thrust (with our medical folks edging toward the room).” This passage was included in multiple emails,
to include emails from the -OMS, h See email from: ; to: {DETENTION
SITE BLUE] and [REDACTED]; subject: Re: Departure; date: Murch 6, 2003, ut 7:11:59 PM,; email fron: -
, OMS; to: [REDACTED] and [REDACTEDY]; subject: Re: Acceptable lower ambient temperatures;
date: March 7, 2003, at 8:22 PM; enil from: d OMS; to: {REDACTED] and [REDACTED];
subject. Re: Talking Points for review und copument; date: Asgast 13, 2004, at 10:22 AM: and emuil from;
*; to: [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], {REDACTED], and {REDACTED]; subject: Re:
Discussion with Dan Levin- AZ; date: Qetober 26, 2004, at 609 PM.
7 Email from: , OMS; to: [REDACTED] und {REDACTED]; subject: Re: Acceptable lower
ambient temnperatures; date: March 7, 2003, at 8:22 PM; email from; “, OMS; to: [REDACTED]
und [REDACTED]; subject: Re: Tulking Points for review und comment; date; Angust 13, 2004, ut 10:22 AM;
email from: “; to [REDACTED], [REDACTED), [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED],
and [REDACTED]; subject: Re: Discussions with Dua Levin - AZ; date: October 26, 2004, at 6:09 PM.
P8 CIA Inspector General’s Special Review on Counterferrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities issued on
May 7, 2004.
% Email from: [REDACTEDY, to: |GGG =0c [REDACTEDY; subject: Re: Monday; date: August 5,
2002, at 05:35AM,
2° Email from: {REDACTEDY; to: [REDACTED], | :0d [REDACTED; subject: Update; date:
August 8, 2002, at 06:50 AM,
211 Email from: [REDACTED]; to: [REDACTED], | j N << (REDACTEDY; subject: Update; date:
August 8, 2002, at 06:50 AM.
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e August 9, 2002: “two, perhaps three [personnel] likely to elect transfer” away from
the detention site if the decision is made to continue with the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques.?*?

o August 11,2002: Viewing the pressures on Abu Zubaydah on video “bas produced
strong feetings of futility (and legality) of cscalating or cven maintaining the
pressurc.” Per viewing the tapes, “prepare for something not seen previously.

(U) After the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques

ended, CIA personnel at the detention site concluded that Abu Zubaydah had been truthful and
that he did not possess any new terrorist threat information.?!*

(M) As noted, CIA records indicate that Abu Zubaydah never provided

the information for which tbe C1A’s enhanced interrogation techniques were justified and
approved: information on the next terrorist attack and operatives in the United States.
Furthermore, as compared to the period prior to August 2002, the quantity and type of
intelligence produced by Abu Zubaydah remained largely unchanged during and after the Augnst
2002 use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.?”® Nonctheless, CIA Headquarters
informed the National Security Council that the CIA’s enbanced interrogation techniques used
against Abu Zubaydah were effective and were “producing meaningful results.”?** A cable from

1213

22 Bpnait from: {REDACTED, to: ||| - (REDACTED); subject: Re: 9 August Updute; date:
August 9, 2002, at 10:44:16 PM.

213 Email from: {REDACTED]; to! ||| TG 2< [REDACTED], subject: Greetings; date: August 11, 2002,
at 09:45AM.

2 gee, for example, T 10672 (2402292 AUG 02).

215 See Abu Zubaydah detainee review in Volume II for details on Abu Zubaydah’s inteiligence production. As
noted, Abu Zubuydah was taken into CIA custody on Murch B 2002, und was hospitulized antil April 15, 2002.
During the months of April and May 2002, which included a period during which Abu Zobaydah was on life support
and unable to speak, the interrogations of Abu Zubaydah produced 95 intelligence reports. Abu Zubaydab spent
mach of June 2002 and ull of July 2002 in isolution, without being asked any guestions. The CIA reinstitited
contact with Abu Zubayduli on August 4, 2002, and immediately began vsing the CIA’s enlanced interrogution
techaiques—including the waterbourd. During the months of August and September 2002, Abu Zubuydah produced
91 intelligence reports, four fewer than the first two months of his CIA detention. CIA records indicate thut the type
of intelligence Abu Zubuydah provided remained relatively constant prioy to and after the use of the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techaiques. According to CIA records, Abu Zubuydsh provided information on “ai-Qa’ida activities,
plans, capabilities, and relationships,” in addition to information on “its leadership structure, including personalities,
decision-making processes, fraining, and tactics.” See also CIA paper entitled “Abua Zubaydah,” dated March 2005,

as well as “Abn Zubaydah Bio” document, “Prepared o 9 August 2006.”
216 On Augast 30, 2002, JECTC Legu, * met with NSC Legal Adviser John Betlinger to

discuss Abu Zubaydah’s interrogation. See email from: John Rizzo; to: John Moseman, subject: Meeting with NSC
Legal Adviser; date: Augast 30, 2002; ALEC JJJJ 0522277 SEP 02). 1n his email documenting the meeting,
h “noted that we had employed the walling techniques, confinement box, waterbourd, along with some of
the other methods which also had been approved by the Attorney General,” and “reported that while the experts at
the site and at Headquarters were still assessing the product of the recent sessions, it did appear that the current
phase was producing meaningful resuits.” {See email from: John Rizzo, to: John Moseman; subject: Meeting with
NSC Legal Adviser; date: August 30, 2002.) The email did not provide any additional detaif on what was descrihed
to Bellinger with respect to either the use of the techniques or the “results” of the interrogation. It is unclear from
CIA records whether the CIA ever informed the NSC Legal Adviser or unyone else at the NSC or the Department of
Justice that Abu Zubaydah failed to provide informution about future attacks against the United States or operatives

tasked to commit attacks in the U.S. durini or after the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techiiques.
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DETENTION SITE GREEN, which CIA records indicate was authored by SWIGERT and
DUNBAR, also viewed the interrogation of Abu Zubaydah as a success. The cable
recommended that “the aggressive phase at [DETENTION SITE GREEN)] should be used as a
template for future interrogation of high value captives,”'” not because the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques produced useful information, but rather because their use confirmed that
Abu Zubaydah did not possess the intelligence that CIA Headquarters had assessed Abu
Zubaydah to have. The cable from the detention site stated:

“Our goal was to reach the stage where we have broken any will or ability of
subject to resist or deny providing us information (intelligence) to which he
had access. We additionally sought to bring subject to the point that we
confidently assess that he does not/not possess undisclosed threat information,
or intelligence that could prevent a terrorist event.”'®

(M) The cable further recommended that psychologists—a likely

reference to contractors SWIGERT and DUNBAR — “familiar with interrogation, exploitation
and resistance to interrogation should shape compliance of high value captives prior to
debricfing by substantive experts.™!

(ZI:SJ_U-N-F) From Abu Zubaydah’s capture on March 28, 2002, to his transfer

to Department of Defense custody on September 5, 2006, information provided by Abu
Zubaydah resulted in 766 disseminated intelligence reports.”*” According to CIA documents,
Abu Zubaydah provided information on “al-Qa’ida activities, plans, capabilitics, and
relationships,” in addition to information on “its leadership structure, including personalities,
decision-making processes, training, and tactics.”*' As noted, this type of information was
provided by Abu Zubaydah before, during, and after the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques. At no time during or after the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques

According to CIA records, on September 27, 2002, the CIA briefed the chairman and the vice chairman of the
Committee, Senators Graham and Shelby, as well as the Committee staff directors, on Abu Zubaydah's
interrogation. The CIA’s memorandum of the briefing indicates that the chairman and vice chairman were briefed
on “the enhanced techniques that had been employed,” as well as “the nature and quality of reporting provided by
Abu Zubaydah.” See (DIRECTOR [l 252018z ocT 02).

21 10644 (201235Z AUG 02)

10644 (2012357 AUG 02)

10644 (201235Z AUG 02)

0 The Committee uses sole-source intelligence reporting in this summary. While CIA multi-source intelligence
reports are included in the full Committee Study, the focus of the Committee analysis is on sole-source intelligence
reporting, as these reports were deemed to more accurately reflect useful reporting from individual CIA detainees.
As background, multi-source intelligence reports are reports that contain data from multiple detainees. For example,
a common multi-source report would result from the CIA showing a picture of an individual to all CIA detainees at
a specific CIA detention site. A report would be produced regardless if detainees were or were not able to identify
or provide information on the individual. As a specific example, see HEADQUARTERS [l (2022552 JuN
06), which states that from January 1, 2006 — April 30, 2006, information from Hambali was “used in the
dissemination of three intelligence reports, two of which were non-recognitions of Guantanamo Bay detainees,” and
the third of which “detailed [Hambali’s] statement that he knew of no threats or plots to attack any world sporting
events.” Sole-source reports, by contrast, are based on specific information provided by one CIA detainee.

2! CIA paper entitled, “Abu Zubaydah,” dated March 2005. Same information included in an “Abu Zubaydah
Bio"” document “Prepared on 9 August 2006.”

218
219
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did Abu Zubaydah provide information about operatives in, or future attacks against, the United
States. ™

10. A CIA Presidential Daily Brief Provides Inaccurate Information on the Interrogation of
Abu Zubaydah

ESYITTE 25 Although CIA personnel at DETENTION STTE GREEN agreed
that Abu Zubaydah was compliant and cooperative, personnel at CIA Headquarters prepared a

Presidential Daily Brief (PDB) in October 2002 that, according to a cable, “accurately reflectied]
the collective HQS view of the information provided [by Abu Zubaydah] to date.”*** The
October 2002 PDB stated Abu Zubaydah was still withholding “significant threat information,”
including information on operatives in the United States, and that Abu “Zubaydah resisted
providing useful information until becoming more cooperative in early August, probably ia the
hope of improving his living conditions.”*** The PDB made no reference to the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniqucs or the counter-assessment from the detention sitc interrogation team
indicating that Abu Zubaydah was cooperative and not withholding information.?

s/ 25 C1A documents identificd the “key intelligence” acquired from

Abu Zubaydah as information related to suspected terrorists Jose Padilla and Binyam
Mohammad, information on English-speaking al-Qa’ida member Jaffar al-Tayyar, and
information identifying KSM as the mastermind of the September 11, 2001, attacks who used the
alias “Mukhtar.”?26 A1l of this information was acquired by FBI special agents shortly after Abu
Zubaydah's capture.”’

(_IN—F—) The CIA has consistently represented that Abu Zubaydah stated

that the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues were necessary to gain his cooperation. For
cxample, the CIA informed the OLC that:

*As Zubaydah himself explaincd with respect to enhanced techniquces,
‘brothers who are captured and interrogated are permitted by Altab to provide

2 ALEC (1814392 OCT 02)

24 ALEC (1814392 OCT 02)

25 Among other docaments, r 10667 (2312067 AUG 02); SR | 0672 (2402292 AUG 02); and
emai} fromy: [REDACTED] { chief of Base at DETENTION SITE GREEN), to: CIA Headqguarters; sabject:
“Agsessment to Date” of Abu Zubaydah; date: October 6, 2002, at 05:36:46 AM.

2 See “Key Intelligence and Reporting Derived from Abu Zubaydah and KSM,” dated February 2008, updated for
briefings on several dates, including for a 2009 briefing lo Director Leon Panetta, as well as the “Effectiveness
Memo” provided 1o the Department of Justice, testimony provided by CIA Director Michaei Hayden, and other
documenis discussed in detail in Volume H. For example, see ODNI September 2006 press release stuting: “During
initial inlerrogation, Abu Zobaydah gave some information that he probably viewed as nominal. Some was
important, however, including that Khalid Shaykh Mohammad (KSM) was the 9/11 mastermind and vsed the
moniker ‘Muklstar.” This identification allowed us lo comb previously collected intelligence for both names,
opening up new leads to this terrorist plotter—leads that eveninally resulted in his capture. I was clear to his
interrogators that Abu Zubaydah possessed a great deal of information about al-Qa’ida; however, he soon stopped
all cooperation. Over the ensuing months, the CIA designed a new interrogation program that wonld be safe,
effective, and fegal.”

27 See Abu Zubayduh delainee review in Volume I for additional details.

22 gop Abu Zuszdah detainee review in Volume HY for additional detaits.
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information when they belicve they have ‘reached the limit of their ability to
withhold it’ in the fuce of psychological and physical hardships.””*?®

(M) As is described in greater detail in the full Committee Study, CIA

records do not support the CIA representation that Abu Zubaydah made these staternents.*®® CIA
records indicate that Abu Zubaydah maintained that he always intended to talk and never
believed he could withhold information from interrogators.?*® In February 2003, Abu Zubaydah
told a CIA psychologist that he believed prior to his capture that every captured “brother” would
talk in detention and that he told individuals at a terrorist training camp that “brothers should be
able to expect that the organization will make adjustments to protect people and plans when
someone with knowledge is captured.”?*!

11. The CIA Does Not Brief the Committee on the Interrogation of Abu Zubaydah

(m) In contrast to relatively open communications that the CIA had

with the Committee following the issuance of the September 17, 2001, MON, the CIA
significantly limited its communications with the Committee on its detention and intcrrogation
activities after Abu Zubaydah's capture on March 28, 2002.%% In responses to three different
scts of Committec Questions for the Record addressed to the CIA regarding the MON authorities
in the spring and summer of 2002, the CIA provided no indication that the CIA had established
DETENTION SITE GREEN, or was using, or considering using, coercive interrogation
techniques.?*

s/ =) On Scptember 27, 2002, CIA officials provided a briefing on Abu

Zubaydah’s interrogation only to Committee Chairman Bob Graham, Vice Chairman Richard
Shelby, and their staff directors. After this briefing Cbairman Graham made multiple and

% Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G.
Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 30, 2005, Re: Application of
United States Obligations Under Arsticte 16 of the Convention Aguinst Torture to Certain Techniques that May be
Used in the Interrogation of High Value Al Qaeda Detainees (DTS #2009-1810, Tab ). This OLC memorandum
cites CEA memorandum for Steve Brudbury at the Departiment of Justice, dated March 2, 2005, from

, - Legal Group, DCI Counterterrorist Center, subject “Effectiveness of the CIA Counterterrorist
Interrogation Techniques.”
2> While there are no records of Abu Zubaydah making these statements, the deputy chief of ALEC Station,

—, told the Inspector General on July 17, 2003, that the “best information [the CIA] received on
how to handle the [CIA] detainees came from a walk-in [a source d

to volunteer information to the CIA] after the arrest of Abu Zubayduh. He told us we were
underestimating Al-Qa’ida. The detainees were happy to be arrested by the U.S. because they got a big show trial.
When they were turned over to [foreign governments], they were treated badly so they talked. Allah apparently
allows you to talk if you feel threutened. The [CIA] detainees never counted on being detained by us outside the
U1.S. and being subjected to methods they never dreamed of.” See - Memorandum for the Record;
subject: Meeting with deputy chief, Counterterrorist Center ALEC Station; date: 17 July 2003.
29 — 10496 (162014Z FEB 03). For more information, see a March 7, 2005, cable describing Abu
Zubaydah’s explunations more fufly {- 2166 (0706472 MAR 05)).
2 hx 0496 (162014Z FEB 03) For additional details on this matter, see Volume 11, specifically the section
on information provided by the CIA to the Departtment of Justice.
B2 The information provided by the CIA to the Committee on the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program is
stminarized iater in this document, and described in greater detail in Volume 11,

22 See Vohune 11, specifically the section on ClA reiresentations to Coniress.
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specific requests for additional information on the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program,
Internal CIA emails include discussion of how the CIA could “gct. .. off the hook on the cheap”
rcgarding Chairman Graham’s requests for additional information.®* 1n the end, CIA officiais
simply did not respond to Graham’s requests prior to bis departure from the Committee in
January 2003,

C. Interrogation in Country . and the Janvary 2003 Guidelines

1. The CIA Establishes DETENTION SITE COBALT, Places Inexperienced First-Tour
Qfficer in Charge

@S/ %) Plans for a specialized CIA detention faciiiti in Country Jbegan

in April 2002, with the intention that it would be “totally under | [/Station
Control.”?* On June 6, 2002, CIA Headquarters approved moic than $200,000 for the
construction of the facility, identified in this summary as “DETENTION SITE COBALT.*®¢ In
a 2003 interview witb the CIA Office of Inspector General, Associate Deputy Director for
Operations || R dcscribed his views of this facility and “stated that [DETENTION
SITE COBALT] was opencd hecause there necded to be a detention site in [Country [Jfi for those
detainces enroute h to [DETENTION SITE GREEN]. It was not a place for the use
of EITs.”*Y

(W) DETENTION SITE COBALT, constructed with CIA funding,
opened in Country Jf in September 2002.2% According to CIA records, the windows at
DETENTION SITE COBALT were blacked out and detainces were Kept in total darkness. The

guards monitored detainees using headlamps and loud music was played
constantly in the facility. While in their cells, detainees were sbacklcd to the wall and given
buckets for human waste. Four of the twenty cells at the facility included a bar across the top of
the cell.?® Later reports describe detainees being shackled to the bar with their hands above

their heads, forcing them to stand, and thercfore not allowing the detainecs to sleep.**?

24 Baail from: Standey Moskowitz; to: John H. Moseman, ce: Scott Mutler and James Pavitt; subject: fattached
document] Re: Graham request on interrogations; date: December 9, 2002, at 05:46:11 PM,

235 By June 2002 the CIA had taken custody of five detainees who were captured outside of Country fif und placed
these CIA detainees in Country - detention facilities. The detuinees were heid at the Country Jif facilities at
the request of the CIA and the CIA had ealimited access to them. See — 21147

26 DIRECTOR JIR (0522122 suN 02)

7 Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogations for Counterteryorism Purposes, R
Septeraber 9, 2003.

23 For additional information on DETENTION SITE COBALT, see Volume I and Volume TH, The specific date

l1ag been generalized at the reguest of the CIA.
> N 2>+ N

M0 por additional information on DETENTION SITE COBALT, see Volume I and Volume IL und among other
documents: |G i : —, DIRECTOR ; emmail
from: {REDACTEDY; to) [REDACTED], {REDACTED], [REDACTED], IREDACTEDY,

subject: Meeting with SO & Federal Bureau of Prisons; date: December 4, 2002; email from: {[REDACTED], to:
{REDACTEDY], subject: Meeting with 50 & Federal Burenn of Prisons; date: December 5, 2002; Special Review,
Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities {September 2001 - October 2003) (2003-7123-1G), May 7,
2004, Memorandum for Deputy Director of Operations, from , January 28, 2003, Subject:
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M} The CIA officer in charge of DETENTION SITE COBALT,

[CIA OFFICER T3, was a junior officer on his first overscas assignment with
no previous experience or training in handling prisoners or conducting inferrogations,

[CIA OFFICER 1] was the DETENTION SITE COBALT manager during the period in which a
CIA detainee died and numerous CIA detainces were subjected to unapproved coercive
interrogation techniques.®! A review of CIA records found that prior to ||| K cA
OFFICER 1’s} deployment and assignment as the CIA’s DETENTION SITE COBALT
manager, other CIA officers recommended [l /CIA OFFICER 1] not have continued
access to classified information due to a “lack of honcsti, judgment, and maturity,”*%

According to records, “the chief of CTC told [CIA OFFICER 1}] that he would not
want [him]} in his overseas station.”** A supervising officer assessed that [CIA
OFFICER {1

“has issucs with judgment and maturity, fand his] potential behavior in the
field is also worrisome, {The officer] further advised that {_ [CIA
OFFICER 1}] was only put into processing for an overscas position so that
someone would evaluate all of the evidence of this situation all together. [The
officer further noted that [_ {CIA OFFICER 1]} might not listen to his
chief of station when in the field.”**

2. CIA Records Lack Information on CIA Detainees and Details of Interrogations in
Country |}

@s/3N -5 Detainces held in Country B were detained under the authority of

thc MON: however, CIA officers conducted no written assessment of whether these detainees

Death Investigation — Gul RAHMAN, and CIA Inspector General, Report of Investigation, Death of a Detainee .
(2003-7402-1G), Aprii 27, 2005, One senior interrogator, H, told the CIA OIG that
“fiterally, a detainee could go for days or weeks without anyone looking at him,” and that his team found one
detainee who, “*as far as we could determine,” had been chained to the wall in a standing position for 17 days.”
According to the CIA interrogator, some of the ClA detainees at DETENTION SITE COBALT “‘literally fooked
like a dog that had been kenneled ' When the doors to their cells were opened, *they cowered.’” {See Interview
Report, 2003-7123-IG, Review of Interrogations for Counterterrorism Purposes, h April 30, 2003.)
The chief of interrogations, d told the CIA OIG that “IDETENTION SITE COBALT] is good for
interrogations becuuse it is the closest thing he has seen to a dungeon, facilitating the displacement of detainee
expectations.” (See Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogutions for Counterterrorism Purposes, [JJJi
ﬁ April 7, 2003.) An analyst who conducted interogations at DETENTION SITE COBALT told the CIA
OIG that “[DETENTION SITE COBALT] is an BIT.” (See Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of
Interrogations for Counterterrorism Purposes, *, May 8, 2003.)
M1 See April 27, 2005, CIA Inspector General, Report of Investigation: Death of a Detainee || NG
April 7, 2005, Memorandum for John Helgerson, Inspector General, from Robert Grenier, Subject: Comments on

Draft Report of Investigation: Death of a4 Detainee
242

[CIA OFFICER 1]}

[C1A OFFICER 11§
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“noseld] a continuing, serious threat of violence or death to U.S. persons and interests or...
{welre planning terrorist activities.” The CIA maintained such poor records of its detainees in
Country I during this period that the CIA remains unable to determine the number and identity
of the individuals it detained. The full details of the CIA interrogations there remain largely
unknown, as DETENTION SITE COBALT was later found to have not reported multiple uses of
slecp deprivation, required standing, loud music, sensory deprivation, extended isolation,

reduced quantity and quality of food, nudity, and “rough treatment” of CIA detainces.**

3. CIA Headquarters Recommends That Untrained Interrogators in Country I Use the
CIA's Enhanced Interrogation Techniques on Ridha al-Najjar

( ) Ridha al-Najjar was the first CIA detaince to be held at
DETENTION SITE COBALT. Al-Najjar, along with Hassan Muhammad Abu Bakr and a
number of other individuals, was arrested in Karachi, Pakistan, after raids conducted - by
akistan]JJJif in 1ate May 2002.% Al-Najjar was identificd by the CIA as a
former bodyguard for Usama bin Laden,”* and was rendered with Abu Bakr to CIA custody at a
Country Ih detention facility on June l, 2002, Ridha al-Najjar was transferred
to DETENTION SITE COBALT on September ., 200224

&SI >3 Whilc the CIA was describing to the Department of Justice why it

needed to use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against Abu Zubaydah, a parallel
internal discussion at the CIA was taking place regarding Ridha al-Najjar. An ALEC Station
cable from a CT'C officer stated that, on June 27, 2002:

“ALEC/HQS held a strategy session regarding the interrogation of high
priority || R detainee Ridha Ahmed al-Najjar in [Country B The
goal of the session was to review the progress of the interrogatton to date and
to devise a general plan as to how best to proceed once the new [Country B

1 detention/debriefing facility {i.c., DETENTION SITE COBALT] is
completed 2%

ES/HIE 25 The meeting participants included individuals who were also
involved in discussions related to Abu Zubaydal's interrogation, inciuding deputy chief of
ALEC Starion, ISR, NN C .| NN t:c chict of

215 The full Committee Study includes a CIA photograph of & waterboard at DETENTION SITE COBALT. While
tlsere are no records of the CIA using the waterboard at COBALT, the waterboard device in the photograph is
surrounded by buckets, with a bottle of unknown pink solution (filled two thirds of the way to the top) and a
watering can resting on the wooden bearnss of the waterboard. In meetings between the Committee Staff and the
CIA in the ssmmer of 2013, the CIA was unable to expiain the details of the photograph, to inclide the buckets,
solution, and watering can, as well ag the waterboard’s presence at COBALT.

* 11443

t4

ME
49

(1621357 JUL 02). Although the plans at the time were for DETENTION SITE COBALT te be
owned and operated by the Country Jf government, the detention site was controlled and overseen by the CIA and

its officers from the day it became operational in Seitember 2002,
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the #31 A cabie followed on July 16,
2002, to the CIA Station in Country fff suggesting possible interrogation techniques to use

against Ridha al-Najjar, including:

s utilizing “Najjar’s fear for the well-being of his family to our benefit,” with the cable
explicitly stating that interrogators could not “threaten his family with imminent death™;

s using “vague threats” to create a “mind virus” that would causc al-Najjar to believe that
his situation would continue to get worse until he cooperated;?*

+ manipulating Ridha al-Nuajjar’s eavironment using a hood, restraints, and music; and

o employing slecp deprivation through the use of round-the-clock interrogations.?%

@s/JEEE > The cable went on to note that the “possibility that [al-Najjar} may

have current threat or lead information demands that we keep up the pressure on him.”?* With
the exceptton of a brief mention of “diminished returns from the most recent interviews of al-
Najjar,” and references to the detainee’s complaints about physical ailments, the cable offers no
evidence al-Najjar was actively resisting CIA interrogators. 2%

(TSA—#N-F) Ten days later, on July 26, 2002, CIA officers in Country [} none

of wbom had been trained in the use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques, proposed
putting al-Najjar in isolation®*® and using “sound disorientation techniques,” “sense of time
deprivation,” limited light, cold temperatures, and slecp deprivation.” The CIA officers added
that they felt they had a “reasonable chance of breaking Najjur” to get “the intelligence and
locator lead information on UBL and Bin Ladin’s family.”®® The plan for al-Najjar was
circulated to senior CIA officers as part of the Daily DCI Operations Update, >

M

BEALEC - i1621 35Z JUL 02). The deputy chief of ALEC Station, [ NGIG_N. - B CC

Legal, , would later {ravei to DETENTION SITE GREEN to observe the use of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques against Abe Zubaydah,

2 The term “mind virus” first appeared in the interrogations of Abu Zubaydah. See [N 10086 (2019002
APR 023,

23 Referenced July 16, 2002, cable is ALEC JJJJ (1621352 0L 02).

B ALEC (1621352 JUL 02)

B ALEC (1621357 JUL 02)

76 At this tume, July 26, 2002, Abn Zubaydah was in isolation at DETENTION SITE GREEN. Abu Zubaydah was
placed in isolation on June 18, 2002, and remained in isolation for 47 days, until the CIA began snbjecting him to ifs

enhanced interrogation techniques on August 4, 2002,

27 ﬁzs 107 (260903Z JUL 02)
8 25107 (2608037 JUL 02)
#9 Email from: [REDACTEDY]; to: Buzzy Krongard, John O. Brennan, [REDACTED], [REDACTED], John H.
Moseman, [REDACTED], ‘ [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED}, [REDACTED],
[REDACTED}, REDACTED Jose Rodriguez, John P.
Mudd, ,[REDACTED} [REDACTEDI, [REDACTED], [REDACTED],

[REDACTEDY}, {REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED), [REDACTED], {REDACTED}
[REDACTED], {REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], {REDACTED], {REDACTEDY],

{REDACTED], {REDACYED], [REDACTED], [REDACT ED'i, iREDACTED'I, IREDACTED], IREDACTED],
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(U) On August 5, 2002, the day after Abu Zubaydah’s interrogation
using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques at DETENTION SITE GREEN began, ClA
Headquarters authorized the proposed interrogation plan for al-Najjar, to include the use of loud
music (at less than the level that would cause physical harm such as permanent hearing loss),
worse food (as long as it was nutritionally adequate for sustenance), sleep deprivation, and
hooding 2%

s/ 2 More than a month later, on September 21, 2002, CIA interrogators

described al-Najjar as “clearly a broken man” and “on the verge of complete breakdown” as
result of the isolation.?®! The cable added that al-Najjar was willing to do whatever the CIA
officer asked.**

s/ &) in Octoher 2002, officers from the U.S. military conducted a short

debriefing of al-Najjar at DETENTION SITE COBALT and subsequently expressed an interest
in a more thorough debriefing.2® On November [, 2002, a U.S. military legal advisor visited
DETENTION SITE COBALT and described it as a “CIA detention facility,” noting that “while
CIA is the only user of the facility they contend it is a {Country *] facility.”?4
The U.S. military officer also noted that the junior CIA officer designated as warden of the
facility “has little to no experience with interrogating or handling prisoners.” With respect to al-
Najjar specifically, the legal advisor indicated that the CIA’s interrogation plan included
“{solation in total darkness; lowering the quality of his food; keeping him at an uncomfortable
temperature (cold); [playing music] 24 hours a day; and keeping him shackled and hooded.” In
addition, al-Najjar was described as having been left hanging—which involved handcuffing one
or both wrists to an overhead bar which would not allow him to lower his arms—for 22 hours
each day for two consecutive days, in order to “‘break’ his resistance.” It was also noted al-
Najjar was wearing a diaper and had no access to toilet facilities.*®

(M) The U.S. military legal advisor concluded that, because of al-

Najjar’s treatment, and the concealment of the facility from the ICRC, military participation in

al-Najiar’s interrogation would involve risks for the U.S. military - The legal advisor
recommended briefing the CIA’s detention and interrogation activities to U.S. h

IREDACTED], [REDACTED]; subject: ABU ZUBAYDAH - SENSITIVE ADDENDUM TO DCE DAILY 1630
OPS UPDATE - 26 JULY, date: July 26, 2002.

260 IRECTOR JI 0523092 AUG 02). The OLC opinion that reviewed and approved the use of CIA’s
enhanced interrogation technigues, signed on August 1, 2002, was specific to Abu Zubaydah. The Office of Legal
Counsei did not produce fegal opinions for al-Najjar or other detainees held by or for the CIA until August 2004,
¥ IREDACTED) 27297 (210713Z SEP 02)

#2IREDACTED] 27297 (2107137 SEP 2

23 November l, 2002, Memorandum for |
Subject: Legal Analysis of JJJlf] Personnel Participating in Interrogation at the CIA Detention Facility in
[REDACTED] {aka "[DETENTION SITE COBALTI™.

%64 November §J, 2002, Memorandum for

Subject: Legal Anatysis of JJJ| Personnel Pasticipating in Interrogation at the CIA Detention Facility in
[REDACTED] (aka “[DETENTION SITE COBALTY™.

3 November § 2002, Memorandum for

Subject: Legal Analysis of - Persongel Participating in Interrogation at the CIA Detention Facility in
{REDACTED] (aka “[DETENTION SITE COBALTI™.
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{combatunt command] to alert the command of the risks prior to the U.S. military
being involved in any aspect of the interrogation of al-Najjur® According to the CIA

inspeetor general, the detention and interrogation of Ridha al-Najjar “became the model” for
handling other CIA detainees at DETENTION SITE COBALT.*®" The CIA disseminated onc
intelligenee report from its detention and interrogation of Ridha al-Najjar.26%

4. Death of Gul Rahman Leads CIA Headguarters to Learn of Unreported Coercive
Interrogation Technigues at DETENTION SITE COBALT; CIA Inspector General
Review Reveals Lack of Oversight of the Detention Site

s+ 2%) in November 2002, ALEC Station officers requested that CIA

contract interrogator Hammond DUNBAR, one of the two primary interrogators of Abu
Zubaydah in August 2002, travel to DETENTION SITE COBALT to assess a detainee for the
possible use of the CIA’s enhanced intetrogation technigues.”® While DUNBAR was present at
DETENTION SITE COBALT, he assistedu [CIA OFFICER 1] in tbe
interrogations of Gul Rahman, a suspected Islamic extremist. As reported to CIA Headquarters,
this interrogation included “48 hours of sleep deprivation, auditory overload, total darkness,
isolation, a cold shower, and rough treatment.” CIA Headquarters did not approve these
interrogation techniques in advance. Upon receipt of these cables, however, officers at CIA
Headguarters responded that they were “motivated to exiraet any and all operational information
on al-Qa’ida and Hezbi Islami from Gul Rahman™ and suggested that “enhanced measures”
might be needed to gain Gul Rahman’s compliance. CIA Headquarters also requested that a
psychological assessment of Rahman be completed.>™ Prior to DUNBAR’s departure from the
detention site on November . 2002, {a few days before the death of Gul Rahman] DUNBAR
proposed the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on other detainees and offercd
suggestions to [ (CiA OFFICER 11, the site manager, on the use of such techniques.?””

s/ =) O November [}, 2002, IR (C1A OFFICER 1] ordercd that

Gul Rahman be shaekled to the wall of his cell in a position that required the detainee to rest on
the bare concrete floor. Rahman was wearing only a sweatshirt, as{— {C1A OFFICER 1}
had ordered that Rahman’s clothing be removed when he had been judged to be uncooperative
during an earlicr interrogation. The next day, the guards found Gul Rahman’s dead body. An
internal CIA review and autopsy assessed that Rahmun likely died from hypothermia—in purt

%6 November |}, 2002, Memorundam for

Subject: Legal Analysis of ersonael Participating in Interrogation at the CIA Detention Facility in

{REDACTED] (aka “{DETENTION SITE COBALTY).

7 _According to the IG report, “in late July or early Augnst 2002, a senior operations officer on TDY o || |Gz
interrogated a particularly obstinate detsinee [Ridha al-Nujjar] at _ detention facility

that was used before {COBALT] was opened. The officer drafted a cable thut proposed techniques that, ulimutely,

(2003-7402-1G). See also Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogations for
Counterterrorism Purposes, , April 30, 2003; Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of
Interrogations for Counterterrorism Purposes, , April 2, 2003

28 See Volume 1T xod Volume HI for additional inforniation.
2 ALEC

10 ALEC
27
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from having been forced to sit on the bare concrete floor without pants.”? [ (C1A
OFFICER 1’s] initial cable to CIA Headquarters on Rahman’s death included a number of
misstatements and omissions that were not discovered until internal investigations into Rahman’s
death.?”3

@S/ 2 ) The death of Gul Rahman resulted in increased attention to CIA

detention and interrogation activities in Country Jfby CIA Headquarters. The CTC formally
designated the CTC’s Renditions Group®’™ as the responsible entity for the management and
maintenanee of all CIA interrogation facilities, including DETENTION SITE COBALT, in carly
December 2002.%° Despite this change, many of the same individuals within the CIA—
including DUNBAR, officers at DETENTION SITE COBALT, and officers within ALEC
Station who had recommended the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against
Gul Rahman—rcmained key figures in the CIA interrogation program and received no reprimand
or sanction for Rahman’s death, Instead, in March 2003, just four months after the death of Gul
Rahman, the CiA Station in Country l recommended that {CIA OFFICER 1}
receive a “cash award” of $2,500 for his “consistently supcriot work.”’® [CIA
OFFICER 1] remained in his position as manager of the detention site until July 2003 and
continued to be involved in the interrogations of other CIA detainees. He was formally certified
as a CIA interrogator in April 2003 after the practical portion of his training requirement was
waived because of his past experience with interrogations at DETENTION SITE COBALT.?"

72 Memorandum for Deputy Director of Operations, from || GEE 5 :ruay 28, 2003, Subject: Death
Investigation ~ Gul RAHMAN, Other contributing factors were identified as dehydration, lack of food, und

immobility due to “short chaining.”
23 _ 30211 JEEE. s:c Volume1 and 1 for additional details.

™ As noted, the Renditions Group was also known during the program as the “Renditions and Interrogations
Group,” as well as the “Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation Group,” and by the initials, “RDI’ and *RDG.”

T DIRECTOR (0323364 DEC 02
276 34909
T DIRECTOR . In late 2003, the CIA convened un Accountabiiity Board to review the

actions of CIA personnel in Gul Rahman’s death. The bourd recommended that the executive director “impose a 10
day suspenston without pey” on {C1A OFFICER 11, and noted that this action would “strike the
appropriate batance between: 1) the fact that [l (CIA OFFICER 11] was the only individual who made
decisions that led directly, albeit unintentionafly, to Rahman’s deuth, and 2) the significant weight the Board
attuched to the mitigating factors at play in this incident.” (See Memorandum for Executive Director from
. Deputy Director for Science and Techneology, re: Report and Recommendations of the Special Accountability
Board Regarding the Death of Afghan Detainee Gul Rahman.) Ou February 10, 2006, however, the C1A Executive
Director K.B. Foggo notified {C1A OFFICER 1] thut he intended to take no disciplinary action against
him. In his memo describing that decision, the executive director stated: “While not condoning your actions, it 18
imperative, in my view, that they... be judged within the operational context that existed at the time of Rahman’s
detention, Cable traffic reviewed by the board shows conciusively that Headquarters generally was aware of, and
osed no objections to, the eonfinement conditions and interrogation technigoes being imposed on Rahman as 1ate as

November. On that date, Headquarters notified {the CIA Station in COUNTRY #i. .. thut it was ‘motivated to
extract any and all operational information’ from Rahman, that it rated achieving Rahman’s cooperation to be of
‘great importance’ and that it acknowledged that Rabman *may need to be subjected to enhanced interrogation
measures to induce him to comply.” (See February 10, 2006, Memorandum for (N (1~ OFFICER
1, CounterTerrorist Center, Nationat Clandestine Service, from Executive Director, re; “Accountabifity Decision,”)
With regard to the death of Gual Rahiman, the CIA’s June 2013 Response states: “Most egregiously, we believe that
1A leaders erred in not holding anyone formally accountable for the actions und failure of management related to
the death of Gul Rahman at [COBALTY in 2002, We undetstand the reasoning underlying CIA management’s
decision to overtarn an aceountabiiity hoard recornmen dation that would have imposed sanctions on the least
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@ES/EIINR ~5) Lacr investigations of DETENTION SITE COBALT conducted
by the CIA inspector general and the deputy director of operations following the death of Gul

Rahman found that the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques—and other coercive
interrogation techniques-—was more widespread than was reported in contemporaneous CIA
cables. Specifically, the interrogation techniques that went unreported in CIA cables included
standing sleep deprivation in which a detainee’s arms were shackled above his head, nudity,
dietary manipulation, exposure to cold temperatures, eold showers, *rough takedowns,” and, in
at least two instances, the use of mock executions.?’8

( } On November 18, 2002, staff from the CIA’s Office of Inspector
General contaeted CTC Legal, to indicate their interest in being
Country

briefed by CTC on the detention facility in . At their meeting with the DDO and the
chief of CTC on November ., 2002, the OIG staff explained that, while in that countty on a
separate matter, the staff had overheard a conversation that included references to “war crimes”
and “torture” at a CIA detention facility and were therefore sceking to follow-up on this
information. According to notes from the meeting, the DDO described the “most recent event
concerning Gul Rahman”—his dcath, which occurred on November JJj, 200227

experienced officer involved. The most junior in the chain of command should not have to bear the full weight of
accountability when farger, systemic problems exist and when they are thrust into difficult battlefield situations by
their supervisors and given a risky and difficult task and litthe preparation or guidance. Still, it is hard to accept that
a CIA officer does not bear at least some responsibility for his or her actions, even under trying circumstances.”

78 Specinl Review, Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 - October 2003)
(2003-7123-1G), May 7, 2004; Memorandum for Deputy Director of Operations, from || | GGG, 12002y
28, 2003, Subject: Death Investigation — Gul RAHMAN; CIA Inspector Generul, Report of Investigation, Death of a
DPetainee h (2003-7402-1G), April 27, 2005, Inspector General records of the interview of a senior C1A
debriefer indicated that, “[djoring the two weeks of intervogation training, she heard stories of [COBALT] detainees
being ‘hung for days on end,” not being fed, mock assassinutions, and at feast one case of a detainee being
repeatediy choked.” The senior debriefer also informed the Office of Inspector General that, “{sihe heard that while
at [COBALT] (NN, -+ CiA OFFICER 27} had hung detainees up for long periods with their toes
barely touching the ground.” (See interview report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogations for Counterterrorism
Purposes, ﬂ April 5, 2003.) DUNBAR described a “rough takedown” following the death of Gul
Rahman at COBALT. “According to {DUNBAR], there were upproximately five CIA officers from the renditions
team. Each one had a role during the takedown and it was thoroughly planned and rehearsed. They opened the door
of Rahman’s celf and rushed in screaming and yelling for him to “get down.” They dragged him outside, cut off his
clothes and secured him with Mylar tape. They covered his head with a hood and ran him up and down 2 ong
corridor adjacent to his cell. They slapped him and punched him several times. {DUNBAR] stated that afthough it
was obvious they were not trying to hit him as hard as they could, a couple of times the punches were forceful. As
they ran him along the corridor, a couple of times he fell and they dragged him through the dirt {the fioor outside of
the cells is dirt). Rahman did acquire a number of abrasions on his face, legs, and hands, but nothing that required
medical attention. (This may account for the abrasions found on Rahman’s body after his death, Rahman had a
numther of surface abrasions on his shoulders, pelvis, amms, legs, and face.) At this point, Rahman was returned to
his cell and secured. [DUNBAR] stated that {H [CIA OFF{CER 1]} [the CIA officer in charge of
DETENTION SITE COBALT] muy have spoken to Rahman for 2 few moments, but he did not know what

{ [CIA OFFICER 1}] sakl. [DUNBAR] stated that after something like this is done, interrogators should

speak to the prisoner fo ‘give them something to think about.”™ (See Memorandam for Deputy Director of
Operations, from * Jantary 28, 2003, Subject: Death Investigation ~ Gul RAHMAN, pp. 21-22.)
miber

1% See Notes of Nove 2002, :mctini DG ‘REDACT ED'|.
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(U) In January 2003, C1A Inspector General John Helgerson began a

formal review of the death of Gul Rahman and began a separate review of the entire CIA
Detention and Interrogation Program. The resulting Special Review of Counterterrorism
Detention and Interrogation Activities (“Special Review”) found that there were no guidelines
for the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues at DETENTION SITE COBALT
prior to December 2002, and that interrogators, some with little or no training, were “left to their
own devices in working with detainees.”*%

S/ 25) The Inspector General’s Special Review also revealed the lack of

oversight of DETENTION SITE COBALT by CIA leadership. DCI Tenet stated that he was
*not very familiar” with DETENTION SITE COBALT and “what the CIA is doing with medium
value targets.”8! Associate Deputy Director of Operations (|| NS <:2t<d that he was
unaware that the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues were being used there.®? In August
2003, CIA General Counsel Scott Muller relayed that he was under the impression that
DETENTION SITE COBALT was only a holding facility and that he had “no idea who is
responsible for [COBALT]."** Senior Deputy Gencral Counsel Joha Rizzo informed the O1G
that he knew little about DETENTION SITE COBALT and that his focus was on DETENTION
SITE GREEN and DETENTION SITE BLUE. 2 CTC Chief of Operations |

stated that he had much less knowledge of operations at DETENTION SITE
COBALT, and that the CIA’s GREEN and BLUE detention sites were much more important to
mm.”® Finally, Chief of CTC Jose Rodriguez stated that he did not focus on DETENTION
SITE COBALT because he had “other higher priorities.”2%

5. The CIA Begins Training New Interrogators; Interrogation Techniques Not Reviewed by
the Department of Justice Included in the Training Syllabus

0 Sep Office of Inspector General Special Review of Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities
(September 2001 -October 2003), Muy 7, 2004, p. 52. According to an OIG interview with an analyst who
conducted interrogations at DETENTION SITE COBALT, “indicative of the iack of interrogators was the fact that

[— ICIA OFFICER 1] enlisted a (REDACTED)] case officer friend... to conduct interrogations at
[DETENTION SITE COBALT] after he completed his [REDACTED] business in *
(See Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogations for Counterteerorism Parposes, , Muy
8, 2003.% Inspector General records of an interview with a senior CIA debriefer indicate that the debriefer, “heard
prior to tuking the [interrogator} training that people at [COBALT] had debriefed detainees on their own, sometimes
going out ta the site at aight.” (See Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogations for Counterterrorism
Purposes, —, April 5, 2003.) As described elsewhere, DCI Tenet issned formal interrogation guidelines
for the program on Tanuary 28, 2003. (See Guidefines on Interrogations Conducted Parsvant to the Presidential
Memorandum of Notification of 17 September 2001, signed by George Tenet, Director of Central Intelligence,
January 28, 2003.)

1 fterview of George Tenet, by [REDACTED], [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, memorandum
duted, September 8, 2003.

%2 fnterview of [N Of5ice of the Inspector General, September 9, 2003.

3 Interview of Scott Muiler, by [REDACTED], {REDACTEDY, and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector
General, Aogust 20, 2003,

84 tnterview of John Rizzo, by [REDACTED], [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General,
Angust 14, 2003,

5 Interview of ||| |GGG Ctfice of the Inspector General, Februury 11, 2003,

286 Interview of Jose Rodriguez, by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, August 12,
2003.
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(M} The CIA’s CTC Renditions Group began preparing for the first

CIA interrogator training course in August 2002—during the period in which Abu Zubaydah was

being interrogated using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques at DETENTION SITE
GREEN, “ the CIA’s chief of interrogations, 2’ andq-, the CIA
officer with OTS who had spent [l years as a SERE Instructor with JPRA, led the interrogation
training. The first interrogation training, conducted with the assistance of JPRA personnel,
occurred from November 12, 2002, to November 18, 2002.** The class included eight students
who were secking to become CIA interrogators and three students secking to support the CIA
interrogation process.”® The CIA training program involved 65 hours of instruction and training
on the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniqucs, including at least two interrogation techniques
whose legality had not been evaluated by the Department of Justice: the “abdominal slap™ and
the “finger press.” Although a number of personnel at C1A Headguarters reviewed the training
materials, there are no CIA records of any CIA officer raising objections to the techniques being
included in the syHabus ?

6. Despite Recommendation from CIA Attorneys, the CIA Fails to Adequately Screen
Potential Interrogators in 2002 and 2003

{ ) On November Jl 2002, after the completion of the first formal
trainini class, TC Legal, , asked CTC attorney [l

to “fm]ake it known that from now on, CTC/LGL must vet all personnel who are
enrolled in, observing or teaching — or otherwise associated with — the class,”?!
added.:

“Moreover, we will be forced to D1Sapprove [sic] the participation of specific
personnel in the vse of enhanced techniques unless we have ourselves vetted

A7 December 4, 2002, Training Report, High Value Turget Interrogation and Exploitation (HVTIE) Training
Seminar 12-18 Nov 02 {pilot running) at 4. See also emati from: s to: [REDACTEDY,
[REDACTED], * subject: Formation of a High Value Target Interrogation team (describing initial
training plan and requirements), date: August 30, 2002, at 8:30 AM,

% December 4, 2002, Training Report, High Value Target Interrogation and Exploitation (HVTIE} Training
Seminar 12-18 Nov 02 {pilot running).

%9 December 4, 2002, Training Report, High Value Target Interrogation and Exploitation (HVTIE) Training
Seminar 12-18 Nov 02 {pilot running), at 15.

20 Sew, for exumple, email fron _; to: [REDACTED]; subject: HVT training;
date: October 10, 2002; emuil from: [REDACTEDY, to: s ee! — _g
[REDACTED)], (REDACTED}, {REDACTEDY; subject: HV'T training; date: October 10, 2002; November 1, 2002,
Memorandum for: Director, DCI Counterterorist Center, from h, Chief, Renditions Group,
CTC, re: Request for use of Military Trainers in Support of Agency Interrogation Course, REFERENCE: Memo for
DACTC from C/RGICTC, ditd 26 Aug 02, Same Subject,
2% Emait from: , ICTC/LGL; to: [REDACTEDY; ce: Jose Rodriguez, [REDACTED),
{REDACTED], . subject: EYES ONLY  date: November ., 2002, 03:13:01 PM. As
described above, Gul Rahman likely froze to death at DETENTION SITE COBALT sometime in the morning of
November [Jjj 2002. ﬁ’s emai, however, appears to have been drafted before the guurds had
found Gul Ruhman’s body and before that death was reported to CIA Headquarters. See [REDACTED] 30214
describing the guards observing Gul Rahmun alive in the morning of November [JJjJ, 2002. Gut
Rahman’s death appeared in cable traffic at least h after -’s email. No records could be identified
to provide the impetus for ’s email,
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them and are satisfied with their qualifications and suitability for what are
clearly unusual measures that are lawful only when practiced correctly by
personnel whose records clearly demonstrate their suitability for that role. The
vetting process will not be that dissimilar from the checks that are provided by
the OIG, 08, etc. in certain cases before individuals are promoted or receive
awards, and the selection and training of aggressive interrogators certainly
warrants a similar vetting process.”??

&S/ 5 The chief of CTC, Jose Rodriguez, objected to this approach,

stating:

“I do not think that CTC/ALGL should or would want to get into the business of
vetting participants, observers, instructors or others that are involved in this
program. It is simply not your job. Your job is to tell all what are the
acceptabic legal standards for conducting interrogations per the authorities
obtained from Justice and agreed upon by thc Whitc House.”?

(U) Contrary to statements later made by CIA Director Michael

Hayden and other CIA officials that “fa}ll those involved in the questioning of detainees are
carefully chosen and screcned for demonstrated professional judgment and maturity,”®* CIA
records suggest that the vetting sought by — did not take place. The Committee
reviewed CIA records related to scveral CYA officers and contractors involved in the CIA’s
Dctention and Interrogation Program, most of whom conducted interrogations. The Committee
identified a numbcr of personnel whose backgrounds include notable derogatory information
calling into question their cligibility for cmployment, their access to classified information, and
their participation in CIA interrogation activities. In nearly all cases, the derogatory information
was known to the CIA prior to the assignment of the CIA officers to the Detention and
Interrogation Program. This group of officers included individuals who, among other issues, had
engaged in inappropriate detainee interrogations, had workplace anger management issues, and
had reportedly admitted to scxual assault.®”

7. Bureau of Prisons “WOW’ed” by Level of Deprivatioen at CIA’s COBALT Detention Site

s/ - i1 December 2002, the CIA’s Renditions Group sent a team of

recently trained interrogators to DETENTION SITE COBALT to engage in interrogations. The
interrogation plans proposcd by that team for at least three detainces at DETENTION SITE

2 Email from:
[REDACTED).
3 Email from: Jose Rodriguez; to.
[REDACTED], [REDACTED],
PM.

% Transcript of hearing, April 12, 2007 (DTS #2007-1563).
295 The information NN  o:ived = length in the Comitee Study in
Volume 1L
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COBALT included the use of interrupted sleep, loud music, and reduction in food quality and
quantity. Less than a month after the death of Gul Rahman from suspected hypothermia, the

plans also called for detainces’ clothes to be removed in a facility that was described to be 45
degrees Fahrenheit, CIA Headquarters approved the proposals for these detainees, whom the
CIA dcseribed as “Medium Value, "%

s/ ) Prior to this, in November 2002, a delegation of several officers
from the Federal Bureau of Prisons conducted an assessment of DETENTION SITE COBALT.
Following the November |, 2002, through November . 2002, visit,®’ C1A officers in Country
. remarked tbat the Federal Bureau of Prisons assessments, along with recommendations and
training, had “madec a noticeable improvement on how the day to day operations at the facility

are performed,” and made the detention site a “more secure and safer working environment for
b officers.”?%®

(U) On December 4, 2002, officers at CIA Headquarters met with

individuals from the Federal Bureau of Prisons to learn more about their inspection of
DETENTION SITE COBALT and their training of | sccurity staff.® During that
meeting, the Federal Bureau of Prisons personnel described DETENTION SITE COBALT and
stated that there was “absolutely no talking inside the facility,” that the guards do not interact
with the prisoners, and that “[e]verything is donc in silence and {in] the dark.”* According to a
CIA officer, the Federal Burcan of Prisons staff also commented that “they were “WOW’ed’” at
first by the facility, because:

“Fhey have ncver becn in a facility where individuals are so sensory deprived,
i.e,, constant white noise, no talking, everyone in the dark, with the guards
wearing a light on their head when they collected and cscorted a detainee to an
interrogation cell, detainees constantly being shackled to the wall or floor, and
the starkness of each cell (concrete and bars). There 1s nothing like this in the
Federal Bureau of Prisons. They then explained tbat they understood the
mission and it was their collective assessment that in spite of all this sensory
deprivation, the detainees were not being treated in humanely [sic]. They
explained that the facility was sanitary, there was medical care and the guard
force and our staff did not mistreat the detaineefs].”?"!

@ s/SIN 25 By the end of December 2002, the CIA Renditions Group that had
visited DETENTION SITE COBALT had concluded that the detention facility’s initial “baseline
conditions” involved so much deprivation that any further deprivation would have limited impact

¢ T ;I o= =c1oR I

BT CIA detainee Gul Rahunan died st DETENTION SITE COBALT at the end of the Federal Burean of Prisons visit
to the CIA detention site.

PR IREDACTED] 30589 (2716267 NOV 02)

9 Email from: [REDACTED]; to: {REDACTED], [REDACTED], {REDACTED],
IREDACTED]; subject: Meeting with SO & Federal Bureau of Prisons; date: December 4, 2002,
38 Bmail from: [REDACTED); 1o: [REDACTEDY), [REDACTED], {REDACTED],
{REDACTED]; subject: Meeting with SO & Federal Bureau of Prisons; date: December 4, 2002.

30 Bmail from: |[REDACTED]; to: {REDACTED]; subject: Meeting with SO & Federal Bureau of Prisons: date:
December 5, 2002,
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on the interrogations. The team thus recommended that “cxperts and authorities other than the
individuals who crafted the process” review the interrogation process and conditions, and that a
legal review be conducted.*®™ CIA Headquarters docs not appear to have taken action on these
recommendations.

8. The CIA Places CIA Detainees in Country l Facilities Because They Did Not Meet the
MON Standard for Detention

) In the spring of 2003, the CIA continued to hold detainees at
facilities in Country J who were known not to meet the MON standard for detention. CIA
officer {C1A OFFICER 1] described the arrangement he had witb Country l
officers in an email, writing:

.. They also happen to have 3 or 4 rooms where they can lock up people

discretely [sic]. I give them a few hundred bucks a month and they usc the
rooms for whoever I bring over - no questions asked. It is very useful for
housing guys that shouldn’t be in [DETENTION SITE COBALT] for one
reason or another but still need to be kept isolated and held in secret
detention.”%

(@_Mi CIA cables indicate that C1A officers transferred at least four

detainees to these Country §ff facilities because they did not meet the standard for C1A detention
under the MON 3%

S/ 2% in total, four CIA detention facilities were established in Country

B ClA records indicate that DETENTION SITE COBALT held a total of 64 detainecs during
the period of its operation between September 2002 andm}él, while DETENTION SITE
GRAY held cight detainees between 2003 and 2003. The CIA later
established two other CIA facilities in Country i DETENTION SITE ORANGE, which held
34 detainces between 2004 and 2006, and DETENTION SITE BROWN, which
held 12 detainees between 2006 and 200805

32 C1A document entitled Renditions Group Interrogation Team (RGIT), Baseline assessment for MVT,

Detainee/Prisoner management, December 30, 2002. The CIA does not appear to have taken action on this

recommendation.

B Email from. [CIA OFFICER 1]; to: [REDACTEDY; subject: Thanks and Query re: List of
DETAINEES; date: Muarch 14, 2003,

34 The cables did not explain any legal basis for detaining individuals who did not meet the detention requirements

of the September 17, 2001, MON. HEADQUARTERS
366872 ( );
; 41204

®S See Volume 1 for additional information.
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9. DCI Tenet Establishes First Guidelines on Detention Conditions and Interrogation;
Formal Consolidation of Program Administration at CIA Headquarters Does Not
Resolve Disagreements Among CIA Personnel

(IFSA_M) In late January 2003, in response to the death of CIA detainee Gul

Rahman and the use of a gun and a drill in the CIA interrogations of ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri
(described later in this summary), DCI Tenet signed the first formal interrogation and
confinement guidelines for the program.* In contrast to proposals from late 2001, when CIA
personnel expected that any detention facility would have to meet U.S. prison standards, the
confinement guidelines signed in January 2003 set forth minimal standards for a detention
facility. The confinement guidelines required only that the facility be sufficient to meet basic
health needs, meaning that even a facility like DETENTION SITE COBALT, in which detainees
were kept shackled in complete darkness and isolation, with a bucket for human waste, and
without notable heat during the winter months, met the standard.*"’

(ZFSI_M} The guidelines also required quarterly assessments of the
conditions at the detention facilities. The first quarterly review of detention facilities covered the
period from January 2003 to April 2003, and examined conditions at DETENTION SITE
COBALT, as well as at DETENTION SITE BLUE in a different country, Country ]2 At that
time, DETENTION SITE BLUE, which was initially designed for two detainees, was housing
five detainces. Nonetheless, the site review team found that conditions at DETENTION SITE
BLUE —including the three purpose-built *holding units”—met “the minimum standards sct by
the CIA” in the January 2003 guidance. Detainees received bi-weekly medical evaluations,
brushed their teeth once a day, washed their hands prior to each meal, and could bathe once a
week. Amenities such as solid food, clothing (sweatshirts, sweatpants, and slippers), reading
materials, prayer rugs, and Korans were available depending on the detainee’s degree of
cooperation with interrogators.*”

(m) The first quarter 2003 review also found that conditions at

DETENTION SITE COBALT satisfied the January 2003 guidance, citing “significant
improvements” such as space heaters and weekly medical evaluations. The review noted that a
new facility was under construction in Country i to replace DETENTION SITE COBALT, and
that this new detention facility, DETENTION SITE ORANGE, “will be a quantum leap
forward™ because “[it] will incorporate heating/air conditioning, conventional plumbing,
appropriate lighting, shower, and laundry facilities.””'* DETENTION SITE ORANGE opened
in 2004. Although some of the cells at DETENTION SITE ORANGE included plumbing,

16 Guidelines on Interrogations Conducted Pursuant to the Presidential Memorandum of Notification of 17

September 2001, signed by George Tenet, Director of Central Intelligence, January 28, 2003,

7 Guidelines on Interrogations Conducted Pursuant to the Presidential Memorandum of Notification of 17
September 2001, signed by George Tenet, Director of Central Intelligence, January 28, 2003,

8 CIA document titled, Quarterly Review of Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees, 1/28/03 - 4/30/03, May
22, 2003.

9 CIA document titled, Quarterly Review of Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees, 1/28/03 - 4/30/03, May
22, 2003.

N9 CIA document titled, Quarterly Review of Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees, 1/28/03 - 4/30/03, May

22, 2003.
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detainees undergoing interrogation were kept in smaller cells, with wastc buckets rather than
toilet facilities,!!

(M) The DCY’s January 2003 interrogation guidelines listed 12

“enhanced techniques” that could he used with prior approval of the director of CTC, including
two--—use of diapers for “prolonged periods” and the ahdominal slap-—that had not been
evaluated by thc OLC. The “enhanced techniques” were only to be employed by “approved
interrogators for use with {a] specific detainee.” The guidelines also identified “standard
techniques”—including sleep deprivation up to 72 hours, reduced ealorie intake, use of loud
music, isolation, and the use of diapers “generally not to excecd 72 hours”—that required
advance approval “‘whenever feasible,” and directed that their use be documented. The “standard
techniques” were described as “techniques that do not incorporate physical or substantial
psychological pressure,” The goidelines provided no description or further limitations on the use
of either the enhanced or standard interrogation techniques.®'?

{M} Although the DCI interrogation guidelines were prepared as a

reaction to the death of Gul Rahman and the use of unauthorized interrogation technigues on
‘Ahd al-Rahim al-Nashiri, they did not reference all interrogation practices that had been
employed at CIA detention sites, The guidelines, for example, did not address whether
interrogation techniques such as the “rough take down,”*® the use of cold water showers,*!* and
prolonged light deprivation were prohibited. Inaddition, by requiring advance approval of
“standard techniques” “whencver feasible,” the guidelines allowed CIA officers a significant
amount of discretion to determine who could be subjected to the CIA’s “standard” interrogation
technigues, when those techniques could be applied, and when it was not “feasible” to request
advance approval from ClA Headquarters. Thus, consistent with the interrogation guidelines,
throughout much of 2003, CIA officers (including personnel not trained in interrogation) could,
at their discretion, strip a detainee naked, shackle him in the standing position for up to 72 hours,
and dousc the detainee repeatedly with cold water’®—without approval from CIA Headquarters
if those officers judged CIA Headquarters approval was not “feasible.” In practice, C1A
personnel routinely applied thesc types of interrogation technigues without ohtaining prior
approval *1¢

> N, 57!

312 Guidelines on Interrogations Conducted Pursuant to the Presidential Memorandum of Notification of 17

September 2001, signed by George Tenet, Director of Central inletligence, Janoary 28, 2003,

313 For a description of the “rough takedown,” see Memeorandum for Deputy Director of Operations, from -
, Januacy 28, 2003, Subject: Death Investigation ~ Gul RAHBMAN, pp. 21-22,

34 One cold water shower was deseribed by a CIA linguist: “Raluman was placed back ander the cold water by the

guards 2t [ (:C3A OFFICER 111's direction. Rahman was so cold that he could barely utter his alias.

According to {the on-site Hoguist], the enlire process Jasted no more than 20 minutes. H was infended to lower

Rahman's resistance and was not for hygienic reasons. At the conciusion of the shower, Rahian was moved to one

of the four sleep deprivation cells where he was left shivering for hours or overnight wilh his hand chained over his

head.” See CIA Inspector General, Report of Investigation, Death of a Detainee h (2003-7402-1G),

April 27, 2005,

35 Water dousing was not designated by the CIA as a “standard” inlerrogation technique until June 2003, in

January 2004 water dousing was recategorized by the CIA as an “enhanced” interrogalion technique,

6 See Vohume 11 for additional information.
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@S/JE =) Thc DCI interrogation guidelines also included the first

requirements related to recordkeeping, instructing that, for “each interrogation scssion in which
an enthanced technique is employed,” the field prepare a “substantially contemporaneous

record. .. setting forth the rature and duration of each such technique employed, the identities of
thosc present, and a citation to the required Headquarters approval cable.”"” In practice, these
guidclines were not followed.**®

(_INF) There were also administrative changes to the program, As noted,
on December 3, 2002, CTC’s Renditions Group formally assumed responsibility for the
management and maintenance of all CIA detention and interrogation facilities.’? Prior to that
time, the interrogation program was “joined at the hip” with CTC’s ALEC Station, according to
C Legal, although another CTC attorney who was directly involtved in the
program informed the CIA OIG that she “was never surc what group in CTC was responsible for
interrogation uctivities.”*® Even after the formal designation of the CIA’s Renditions Group,™!
tensions continucd, particularly between CTC personnel who supported SWIGERT and
DUNBAR’s continucd role, and the Renditions Group, which designated |G 2s thc

# DIRECTOR IR (3021262 5an 03); DIRECTOR I (3117022 JAN 03). Despite the formal record
keeping requirement, the CIA’s June 2043 Response argies that detailed reporting on the use of the CIA’s enhunced
interrogation technigues at CIA detention sites was not necessury, stating: “First, the decline in reporting over time
on the use of enhunced techniques, which the Smdy characterizes as poor or deceptive record keeping, actuatly
reflects the maturation of the program. In early 2003, a process was put in place whereby interrogators requested
permission in advance for interrogation plans. The use of these plans for each detainee obviuted the need for
reporting in extensive detail on the use of specific techniques, unless there were deviations from the approved plan.”
As detailed in the Study, the process put in place by the CIA in early 2003 explicitly required record keeping,
including “the nature and duration of each such technique employed, the identities of those present, and 1 citation to
the required Headyuarters approval cable.” That requirement was never revised.

3% Subsequent to the January 2003 guidance, many cables reporting the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques listed the techniques used on a particular day, but did not describe the frequency with which those
technigues were employed, nor did they integrate the specific techniques into narratives of the interrogations. As the
CIA interrogation program contintied, descriptions of the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques were
recorded in increusingly summarized form, providing little informution on how or when the techniques were applied
during un interrogation. There are also few CIA records detailing the rendition process for detainees und their
transportation to or between detention sites. CIA records do include detuinee comments on their rendition
experiences and photographs of detainees in the process of being transported. Based on a review of the
photograplss, detainees transported by the CIA by sircraft were typically hooded with their hands and feet shackled.
The detainees wore large headsets to eliminate their ability to hear, and these headsets were typically wffixed to a
detainee’s head with duct tape that ran the circumference of the detainee’s head. CIA detainees were placed in
diapers and not permitted to use the fuvatory on the aircraft. Depending on the aircraft, detainees were either
strapped into seats during the flights, or lsid down and strapped to the floor of the plane horizontally like cargo. See
CIA photographs of renditions among CIA materials provided to the Committee pursuant to the Committee’s
document requests, as well as CIA detainee reviews in Volume I for additional information on the transport of CIA
detuinees.

¥ DIRECTOR 323367 DEC 03)
3 Interview of by IREDACTED}, [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector
General, Angust 20, 2003. Interview of “ by {REDACTED] and [REDACTED}, Office of the
Inspector General, February 14, 2003, CTC Chief of Operations told the Inspector General that the program was
hundled by the Abu Zubaydah Task Force. See February L1, 2003, interview report of ﬂ, Office
of the Inspector General.

#1 As noted, the CIA's Rendition Group is variably known as the “Renditions Group,” the “Renditions and

Detainees Groap,” the “Renditions, Detentions, und In:erroiations Groui,” and by the initials, “RDI" and “RDG.
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ClA’s chief interrogator.®®? As late as June 2003, SWIGERT and DUNBAR, operating outside
of the dircct management of the Renditions Group, were deployed to DETENTION SITE BLUE
to both interrogate and conduct psychologicat reviews of detainees.’?® The disputc extended to
interrogation practices. The Renditions Group’s leadership considered the waterboard, which
Chief of Interrogations - was not certified to use, as “life threatening,” and
complained to the OIG that some CIA officers in the Directorate of Operations believed that, as a
result, the Renditions Group was “running a ‘sissified’ interrogation program.”** At the same
time, C1A CTC personnel criticized the Renditions Group and for their use of painful
stress positions, as well as for the conditions at DETENTION SITE COBALT.*

ES/AIIE »F) There were also concerns about possible conflicts of interest

related to the contractors, SWIGERT and DUNBAR. On January 30, 2003, a cable from Cl1A
Headguarters stated that “the individual at the interrogation site who administers the techniques
is not the same person who issues the psychological assessment of record,” and that only a staff
psychologist, not a contractor, could issue an assessment of record.”** 1n June 2003, however,
SWIGERT and DUNBAR were deployed to DEFENTION SITE BLUE to interrogate KSM, as
well as to assess KSM’s “psychological stability”” and “resistance posture.”**” As described later
in this summary, the contractors had earlier subjected KSM to the waterboard and other C1A
enhanced interrogation techniques. The decision to send the contract psychologists to
DETENTION SITE BLUE prompted an OMS psychologist to write to OMS leadership that

22 Interview of (|| [ | | NIIBIIN. vy (REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, April
3, 2003. February 21, 2003, interview report, “ Office of the Inspector General. Hammond
DUNBAR told the Office of Inspector General that there was “intrigue” between the RDG and him and SWIGERT,
and “there were emails coming to {DETENTION SITE BLUE] that questioned this] and [SWIGERT} s
gualifications.” See Interview of Hammond DUNBAR, by {REDACTED] and {REDACTED), Office of the
inspector Generzd, Febroary 4, 2003.

5 Bl from: o IR
) , subject: Re: R Tasking for IC Psychologists
[DUNBAR] and [SWIGERT; date June 20, 2003, 31 5:23:29 PM. MS expressed concern thut “no

professional in the field would credit [SWIGERT and DUNBAR s} later judgments as psychologists assessing the

subjects of their enhanced measures.” {See email from:
—, ; subject: Re RDG

Tasking for IC Psycimioglsts DUNBAR und SWIGERT date: June 20 2003, at 2:19:53 PM.) The ClA’s June 2013
Response states that CIA “Headquarters established CTC's Renditions and Detentions Group CYC/RDG as the
responsible entity for all CIA detention and interrogation sites in December 2002, removing any latent institutional
confusion.”

24 iterview of ||| 5y (REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General,
February 21, 2003. The chief of interrogations, _ told the Inspector Generul that the waterbourd was
overused with Abu Zubayduh and KSM and was ineffective in the interrogations of KSM. (See Interview of
I vy (REDACTED] and [REDACTED] of the Office of the Inspector General, March 27, 2003.) One doctor
involved in CIA interrogations nsing the waterboard interrogation techniqne stated that “has a huge biug
against the waterboard b/c he's not approved to use it. The reverse is true of the contract psy guys {SWIGERT and
DUNBAR] who have a vested interest in favor of it.” See emuil from: H; kol "

ce: [REDACTEDY; subject. re: More; date: April 11, 2003, at 08:11:07 AM.
325 March 10, 2003, interview report of h Office of the Inspector General. Interview of JJJil

by [REDACTEDY] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, February 27, 2003. Interview
of , by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the 1nspector General, April 3, 2003. March
24, 2003, interview report of Office of the Inspector General.

326 DIRECTOR (301835Z JAN 03)
27 | 12168 (301822Z JUN 03)

Page 65 of 499

UNCLASSIFIED



UNCLASSIFIED

“[a]ny data coliected by them from detainces with whom they previously interacted as
interrogators will always be suspect.”* || JEOMS then informed the management of
the Renditions Group that “no professional in the field would credit [SWIGERT and
DUNBAR’s] later judgments as psychologists assessing the subjects of their enhanced
measures.””* At the end of their deployment, in June 2003, SWIGERT and DUNBAR provided
their assessment of KSM and recommended that he should be evaluated on a monthly basis by
“an experienced interrogator known to him” who would assess how forthcoming he is and
“remind him thut there are differing consequences for cooperating or not cooperating.”**® In his
response to the draft Inspector General Special Review, HOMS noted that “OMS
concerns about conflict of interest... were nowhcre more graphic than in the setting in which the
same individuals applied an EIT which only they were approved to employ, judged both its
effectiveness and detainee resilience, and implicitly proposed continued use of the technique — at
a daily compensation reported to be $1800/day, or four times that of interrogators who could not
use the technique.”?'!

D. The Detention and Interrogation of ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri

1. CIA Interrogators Disagree with CIA Headquarters About Al-Nashiri’s Level of
Cooperation; Interrogators Oppose Continued Use of the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation
Techniques

@S/ 2:©)  Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri,**? agsessed by the CIA to be an al-

Qu’ida “terrorist operations planner” who was “intimately involved” in planning both the USS
Cole bombing and the 1998 East Africa U.S. Embassy bombings, was captured in the United
Arah Emirates in mid-October 2002."* He provided information while in the custody of a
foreign government, including on plotting in the Persian Guif,>* and was then rendered by the

“28 The email, which expressed concern that SWIGERT and DUNBAR would interfere with on-site psychologists,
stated that, “[ailthough these guys believe that their way s the only way, there should be an effort to define roles and

respoasibilities before their arrogance and narcissism evolve into unproductive conflict in the field.” Se¢ emai
from: [N, o: N, AN .- -G Tcking fo I

Psychologists DUNBAR and SWIGERT; date: June 16, 2003, at 4:54:32 PM.
32% Email from:

1 ; subject: Re: DG Tasking for IC Psychologists DUNBAR and
SWIGERT: date: June 20, 2003, at 2:19:53 PM.
30 S 10168 (3018227 JUN 03). The CIA’s June 2013 Response states: “In practice, by April 2003, [CIA]
staff psychologists had taken over ahmost all of the provisions of support to the RDI program. As it concerned
[SWIGERT] und {DUNBAR], however, the appearance of impropriety continued, albeit to a lesser degree, because
they were occasionally asked to provide input fo assessments on detainees whom they had nor interrogated”
(emphasis added). The CIA’s June 2013 Response is inaccurate. For exumple, in June 2003, SWIGERT and
DUNBAR provided an assessment on KSM, a detainee whom they had interrogated.
** Memorandum for Inspector General, Attention: Assistant 1G for investigations, [REDACTED], from
{REDACTED}, M.D,, edical ServicesJJJJJ re Draft Special Review-Counterterrorism Detention and
Interrogation Program (2002-7123-1G3, at 13,
332 For more information on ai-Nashiri, see detainee review of *Abd al-Rahim ai-Nashiri in Volume IIL
: 11357 (0212427 DEC 02;

For disseminated intelligence, see
: iA d IA
For other reioﬂini from al-Nashiri while he was in foreign government custody, see
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CIA to DETENTION SITE COBALT in Country Jjon November Jf}, 2002, where he was held
for [ days before being transferred to DETENTION SITE GREEN on Novemher [l 2002.3%
At DETENTION SITE GREEN, al-Nashiri was interrogated using the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques, including being subjected to the waterboard at least three times.® In
December 2002, when DETENTION SITE GREEN was closed, al-Nashiri and Abu Zubaydah
were rendered to DETENTION SITE BLUE

&S/ 2F) 1o total, al-Nashiri was subjected to the CIA’s enhanced

intcrrogation techniques during at least four separate periods, with each period typically ending
with an assessment from on-site interrogators that al-Nasbiri was compliant and cooperative.?®
Officers at CIA Headquarters disagreed with these assessments, with the deputy chief of ALEC
Station, ﬂ commenting that DETENTION SITE BLUE interrogators should
not make “sweeping statements” in cable traffic regarding al-Nashiri’s compliance.’® Officers
at CIA Headquarters sought to reinstate the use of the C1A’s enhaneed interrogation techniques
based 0;14 {Ebeir belief that al-Nashiri had not yet provided actionable intelligence on imminent
attacks.

&/ >3 Shortly after al-Nushiri arrived at DETENTION SITE BLUE, CIA
interrogators at the detention sitc judged al-Nashiri’s cooperation and compliance by his
engagement and willingness 1o answer questions, while CIA Headquarters personnel judged his
compliance bascd on the specific actionable intelligence he had provided (or the lack thercof).
For example, in December 2002, interrogators informed CIA Headquarters that al-Nashiti was
“cooperative and truthful,” and tbat the “consensus”™ at the detention site was that al-Nashiri was

oss6 EEEG—_—

. For disseminated intelligence, see

38 AL-Nashiri’s time at DETENTION SITE COBALT is not well documented in C1A records. As described
elsewhere, standard operating procedure at COBALT ut the time included total light deprivation, loud continuous
music, isolution, and dietary manipulation. Based on ClA records, the other four “enhanced interrogation” periods
of al-Nashiri took place at DETENTION SITE BLUE on December 3-8, 2002; December 27, 2002 — January 1,
2003; January 9-10, 2003; und January 15-27, 2003. See 10030 (1115412 DEC 02); | 10078

(2117332 DEC 02); 10140 (0317272 JAN 03); ALEC (1917297 JAN 03).
39 Email from: to: [REDACTEDY; cc: d T

I (2 :0ACTED], [REDACTED; subject: [DETENTION SITE BLUE] follow-up; date: December 15,
2002

M0 See, for example, ALEC 0723152 pDEC 02), ALEC JJI (1303522 DEC 02), ALEC IR
(1802472 DEC 02), ALEC (1917297 JAN 03); C1A Office of Enspector General, Report of Investigation:
Unauthorized Interrogation Techniques at [DETENTION SITE BLUE], (2003-7123-1G), Qctober 29, 2003. See
also C1A Office of Inspector General repart, Counterterrorisin Detention And Interrogation Activities (September
2001 - October 2003) (2003-7123-1G), released on May 7, 2004,
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*“a compliunt detainee” who was not “withholding important threat information.”*! Officers
from the CIA’s ALEC Station at CIA Headquarters responded:

“it 1s inconceivable to us that al-Nashiri cannot provide us concrete leads. ...
When we are ablc to capture other terrorists based on his leads and to thwart
future plots based on his reporting, we will have much more confidence that he
is, indecd, genuinely cooperative on some level.”?2

(TS_FNF) Later, after multiple follow-up dcbriefings, DETENTION SITE
BLUE officers again wrote that they had “reluctantly concluded” that al-Nashiri was providing
“logical and rational explanations” to questions provided by CIA Headquarters and therefore
they recommended “against resuming enhanced measures” unless ALEC Station bad evidence
al-Nushiri was lying.** A cable from the detention site stated:

“without tangible proof of lying or intentional withholding, however, we
believe employing enhanced measures will accomptlish nothing except show
{al-Nashiri] that he will be punished whether he cooperates or not, thus eroding
any remaining desire to continue cooperating. ... [The] bottom line is that we
think fal-Nashiri} is heing cooperative, and if subjected to indiscriminate and
prolonged enhanced measures, there is a good chance he will either fold up and
cease cooperation, or suffer the sort of permanent mental harm prohibited by
the statute, Thercfore, a decision to resume enhanced measures must be
grounded in fact and not general feelings,”>*

2. CIA Headquarters Sends Untrained Interrogator to Resume Al-Nashiri’s Interrogations;
Interrogator Threatens al-Nashiri with a Gun and a Drill

@S/ 2 After the DETENTION SITE BLUE chief of Base sent two

interrogators back to the United States because of “prolonged absences from family” and the
“fact that enhanced measures are no fonger required for al-Nashiri,” C1A Headquarters sent

[{CIA OFFICER 2}, a CIA officer who had not been trained or qualified
as an interrogator, to DETENTION SITE BLUE to question and assess al-Nashiri,

E 10030 (111541Z DEC 02)
32 ALEC (180247Z DEC 02)

33 10085 (2309067 DEC 02)
ad 10085 (2309062 DEC 02)

343 10040 (1221227 DEC 02). Prior o J I [C1A OFFICER 2's] deployment, CIA records
[CIA OFFICER 2’s} anger management,y—, and

included nuimerous concerns about
. For more information on I /C1A OFFICER 2] and other CIA personnel in the
program with similar alarming issues in their buckeground, see Volume 1. The CIA’s June 2013 Res
that:*
some of the i officers mentioned in the Study shoukd have been
excluded—much of the derogatory information was not in fact available to senior managers making assignments .
~ Notwithstanding the CIA’s June 2013 assertion, us detailed in Volume Hi, senior

managers were aware of concerns related to CIA OFFICER 2] prior to his deployment.
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FS/JITTIE 25 1n iate December 2002, following a mecting ut CIA Headquarters

to discuss resuming the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against al-Nashiri,
“ the chief of RDG*6—the entiti that managed the CIA’s Detention and

Interrogation Program—objected to sending [CI1A OFFICER 21 to the detention sitc
because he “had not been through the interrogation training” and because _ “had
heard from some colleagues that || ICIA OFFICER 2]] was too confident, had a
temper, and had some security issues.” later iearned from other CIA officials that

*“ICTC chief of operations wanted | iCIA OFFICER 2]} at
[DETENTION SITE BLUE] over the holidays.” told the Office of Inspector

General that “his assessment is that the Agency management felt that the {RDG] interrogators
were being too lenient with al-Nashiri and that lﬂ {CIA OFFICER 2]] was sent to
[DETENTION SITE BLUE] to ‘fix’ the situation.”>*’

( y B (CIA OFFICER 2] arived at DETENTION SITE
BLUE on December Bl 2002, and the CIA resumed the use of its enhanced interrogation

techniques on al-Nashiri sbortly thercafter, despite the fact that {CIA OFFICER 2}
had not been trained, certified, or approved to use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.
[CIA OFFICER 21 wrote in a cable to Cl1A Headquarters that *“{al]-Nashiri responds
well to harsh treatment” and suggested that the interrogators continue to administer “various
degrecs of mild punishment,” but still atlow for “a small degree of ‘hope,’ by introducing some
‘minute rewards,” "3

W) It was later learned that during thesc interrogation sessions,

fCIA OFFICER 21, with the permission and participation of the DETENTION SITE
BLUE chief of Base, who also had not been trained and qualified as an interrogator, used a series
of unauthorized intcrrogation techniques against al-Nashirl. For cxample, ﬁ [CIA
OFFICER 2} placed al-Nashiri in a “standing stress position” with “his hands affixed over his
head” for approximately two and a half days.>® Later, during the course of al-Nashiri’s
debriefings, while he was blindfolded, [CIA OFFICER 2] placed a pistol near al-
Nashiri’s head and operated a cordless drill near al-Nashiri’s body.*” Al-Nashini did not provide
any additional threat information during, or after, these interrogations, !

36 A5 described, the “Renditions and Tnterrogations Group,” is also referved to as the “Renditions Group,” the
“Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation Group,” “RDL"” and “RDG” in CIA records.
37 Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of Interrogations for Counterterrorism Purposes, ]

February 23, 2003,
348* 10140 (0317272 JAN 03)

9 See email from: ||| N TR < T s:vicc: £vES ONLY - ([N oNLY
- MEMORANDUM FOR ADDO/DDO; date: January 22, 2003, 1n an Apri] 12, 2007, Senate Select Commitiee on
Intelligence hearing, Senator Carl Levin asked the CIA Director if the CIA dispated allegations in an International
Committee of the Red Cross report that suggested CIA detainees were placed in “[pirolonged stress stunding
position, naked, arm[s] chained above the head....” The CIA Director responded, “Not above the head. Stress
positions are part of the EITs, and nakedness were part of the EITs, Senator.” See Senate Select Comnittee on
Inteliigence Hearing Transcript, dated April 12, 2007 (DTS #2007-3158).

9 See, for example, CIA Office of Inspector General, Report of Investigation: Unauthorized Interrogation

Techniques at [DETENTION SITE BLUE], {2003-7123-IG), October 29, 2003; email from:: [DETENTION SITE
pLUE) Con MM . MMM - - F=s onL v - TS ONLY
MEMO FOR ADDO/MDQO; date: January 22, 2003,

31 fior additional details, see Volume [11
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(CPS#—#N-F) Based on u report from CTC, the C1A Office of Inspector General

conducted a review of these interrogation incidents, and issued a report of investigation in the
fall of 2003.%** The Office of Inspector General later described additional allegations of
unauthorized techniques used against al-Nashir by — [CIA OFFICER 2} and other
interrogators, including slapping al-Nashiri multiple times on the back of the head during
interrogations; implying that his mother would be brought beforc him and sexually abuscd;
blowing cigar smoke in al-Nashiri’s fuce; giving al-Nashiri a forced bath using a stiff brush; and
using improvised stress positions that caused cuts and bruises resulting in the intervention of a
medical officcr, who was concerned that al-Nashiri’s shoulders would be dislocated using the
stress positions.*®® When intervicwed by the Office of Inspeetor General, the DETENTION
SITE BLUE chicf of Base stated he did not object to using the gun and drill in the interrogations
because he believed — [CIA OFFICER 2] was sent from CIA Headquarters “to resolve
the matter of al-Nashiri’s cooperation” and that he believed || 1C1A OFFICER 2] had
permission to usc the interrogation techniqucs.>* The chicf of Base added that his own on-site
approval was based on this and “the pressure he felt from Headquarters to obtain imminent threat
information from al-Nashiri on 9/11-style attacks.” In April 2004, I iC1A OFFICER
21 and the chief of Base were disciplined >

3. CIA Contractor Recommends Continued Use of the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation
Techniques Against Al-Nashiri; Chief Interrogator Threatens to Quit Because Additional
Techniques Might “Push [Al-Nashiri] Over The Edge Psychologically,” Refers to the
CIA Program As a "Train Wreak [sic] Waiting to Happen”

32 CIA Office of Inspector General, Report of Investigation: Unanthorized Interrogation Techniques at
IDETENTION SITE BLUE], (2003-7123-1G), October 29, 2003.

3 CIA Office of Inspector General, Special Review — Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Program,
(2003-7123-1G), May 2004,

¥4 CIA Office of Inspector General, Report of Investigation: Unauthorized Interrogation Techniques at
[DETENTION SITE BLUE]}, (2003-7123-1G), October 29, 2003,

3 C1A Office of Inspector General, Report of Investigation. Unauthorized Interrogution Techniques at
{DETENTION SITE BLUE} (2003-7123-IG), October 29, 2003.

IR (CiA OFFICER 2§ received a one-year Letter of Reprimand, was suspended for five days without pay,
and was prohibited from promotions, within-grade step increases, guality step increuses, or permanent salary
increases doring that one-yeur period. The decision did not affect“ {CIA OFFICER 2’5} eligibility 1o
receive Exceptional Performance Awards, bonuses, or non-monetary forms of recognition, See

FC1A OFFICER 21 retired from the CIA on L 2004, (See

Jane 20, 2008, the CIA director of transnational issues, aware of {CIA OFFICER 2’s] problematic
background, approved [CIA OFFICER 2’s} employment on a CIA contract because the project was
“mission critical” and “no other contractor with the needed skills was available

} The chief of Base received a two-yenr Letter of
Reprimand and a ten-day suspension without pay, and was prohibited from receiving any bonus awards from the
CIA during the period of reprimand. On 2003, prior to the implementation of the prohibitions, this
individnal retired from the CIA. See
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(U) On January ] 2003, CIA contractor DUNBAR arrived at

DETENTION SITE BLUE to conduct a “Psychological Interrogation Assessment” to judge al-
Nashiri’s suitability for the additional usc of the CIA’s cnhanced interrogation techniques and
develop recommendations for his interrogation. The resulting interrogation plan proposed that
the interrogators would have the “latitude to use the full range of enhanced exploitation and
interrogation measures,” adding that “the use of the water board would require additional support
from” fellow CIA contractor Grayson SWIGERT. According to the interrogation plan, once the
interrogators had eliminated al-Nashiri’s “sense of control and predictability” and established a
“desired levcl of helplessness,” they would reduce the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques and transition to a debriefing phasc once again.®’

(Wter receiving the proposed interrogation plan for al-Nashiri on
January 21, 2003 the CIA’s chief of interrogations—whose presence had
previously prompted al-Nashiri to tremble in fear®*8—emailed CIA colleagues to notify them that
he had “informed the front office of CTC” that he would “no longer be associated in any way
with the interrogation program due to serious rescrvations] fhe had} about the current state of
affairs” and would instead be “retiring shortly.” In the same email, - wrote, “{tthis is a
train wreak {sic] waiting to happen and I intend to get the hell off the train before it happens.”%
drafted a cable for CIA Hcadquarters to send to DETENTION SITE BLUE raising a
number of concerns that he, the chief of interrogations, believed should be “entercd for the
record.” The CLA Headquarters cable—which does not appear to have been disseminated to

DETENTION SITE BLUE-—included the following:

“we have serious reservations with the continued use of enhanced techniques
with [al-Nashiri} and its long term impact on him. [Al-Nashiri] has been held
for three months in very difficult conditions, both physically and mentally, It
is the assessment of the prior interrogators that [al-Nashiri] has been mainly
truthful and is not withholding significant information. To continue to use
enhanced techniquefs] without clear indications that he {is} withholding
important info is excessive and may cause him to cease cooperation on any
level. [Al-Nashiri} may come to the conclusion that whether he cooperates or
not, he will continually be subjected to enhanced techniques, therefore, what is
the incentive for continued cooperation. Also, both C/CTC/RG [Chicf of CTC
RDG [ - HVT Interrogator i who
departed [DETENTION SITE BLUE] in ianuvy, believe continued
enhanced methods may push [al-Nashiri] over the edge psychologically. %

" I o7 I

338 According to a December 12, 2002, CIA cable, af-Nashiri “visibly and markedly trembles with fear every time he
sees | 1.” See 10038 (1221197 DEC 02).
32 Email from: : - cc: [REDACTEDY; subject: Re: date: January 22, 2003,

Despite this notification, did not immediately resign from the interrogation program.
(repAcT:D), I I

366 Email from: :
{REDACTED}, {REDACTED]; subject: CONCERNS OVER REVISED INTERROGATION PLAN FOR
NASHIRI; date: January 22, 2003, — referenced in the passage as a "HVT Interrogator,” was the chief

of interrogations.
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(_.‘NF) The draft cable from _ also raised “confliet of

responsibility” concerns, stating:

“Another area of concern is the use of the psychologist as an interrogator. The
1ole of the ops psychologist is to be a detached observer and serve as a check
on the interrogator to prevent the interrogator from any unintentional excess of
pressure which might cause permanent psychological harm to the subject. The
medical officer is on hand to provide the same protection from physical actions
that might harm tbe subjeet. Thercfore, the medical officer and the
psychologist should not scrve as an interrogator, which is a eonflict of
responsihility. We note that [the proposed plan] contains a psyehological
intcrrogation assessment by H psychologist [DUNBAR] which
is to be carried out by interrogator [DUNBAR]. We have a problem witb him
conducting both roles simultaneously ¢!

es/EN2E) Ratber than relcasing the cable that was drafted by I 1A

Headquarters approved a plan to reinstitute the use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation
techniques against al-Nashiri, beginning with shaving him, removing his clothing, and placing
him in a standing slecp deprivation position with his arms affixed over his head.*® CIA cables
describing subsequent interrogations indicate that al-Nashiri was nude and, at times, “put in the
standing position, handcuffed and shackled.” According to cables, CIA interrogators decided
to provide al-Nashiri clothes to “hopefully stabilize his physiological symptoms and prevent
them from deteriorating,”® noting in a cable the next day that al-Nashiri was suffering from a
head cold which caused his body to shake for approximately ten minutes during an
interrogation.’**

s/ -5 Bcginning in June 2003, the CIA transferred al-Nashid to five

different CIA detention facilitics before he was transferred to U.S, military custody on
September 5, 2006.%% In the interim, he was diagnosed by some CIA psychologists as having
“anxicty” and “major depressive” disorder,*® while others found no symptoms of either
illness.**®* He was a difficult and uncooperative detainee and cngaged in repeated belligerent
acts, including attempts to assault C1A detention site personnel and cfforts to damage items in his

¢ Email from: 38 0020 FecoNeswsii® 000 |

{REDACTED], [REDACTED]; subject: CONCERNS OVER REVISED INTERROGATION PLAN FOR
NASHIRI; date: January 22, 2003. As noted above, pervonnel from CIA's Office of Medical Services raised the
same concerns about medical and psychological personnel serving both to assess the health of a detainee and to
participate in the interrogation process.

2 DIRECTOR M (2016592 JAN 03); DIRECTOR [ (230008Z JAN 03
ﬁ 10306 (261403Z JAN 03)

363 10289 (2412037 JAN 03); 10296 (2511137 JAN 03),

364 10309 (2614037 JAN 03)

363 10312 (2708547 JAN 03)

%6 HEADQUARTERS [ 0319452 SEP 06); IR 1242 (0507447 SEP 05); HEADQUARTERS [N
(051613Z SEP 06)

367 See, for example,

11247 (1413212 APR 03); 1-;9 (t1t700z DEC 04): TR

2169 (251133Z MAR 03); 11701 (191640Z MAY 03);

1756 (1508002 SEP 03).

1502 (02184172 AUG 04); 2708 QTS 174 APR 06y, - 39:0 (2418527 JAN (0);
2709 (2715174 APR 06)

2038 (2115582 JAN 03);
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cell*® Over a period of years, al-Nashiri accused the CIA staff of drugging or poisoning his
food, and complained of bodily pain and insomnia."’® At one point, al-Nashiri launched a short-
lived hunger strike that resulted in the CIA force feeding him rectally >

S/ ~) In October 2004, 21 months after the final documented use of the

CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against al-Nashiri, an assessment by CIA contract
interrogator DUNBAR and another CIA interrogator concluded that al-Nashiri provided
“essentially no actionable information,” and that “the probability that he has much more 1o
contribute is low.”*? Qver the course of al-Nashiri’s detention and interrogation by the CIA, the
CIA disscminated 145 intelligence reports based on his debriefings. Al-Nashiri provided
information on past operational plotting, associates whom he expected to participate in plots,
details on completed operations, and background on al-Qa’ida’s structure and methods of
operation.’”® Al-Nashiri did not provide the information that the CIA’s ALEC Station sought
and believed al-Nashiri possessed, specifically “perishable threat information to help {CIA]
thwart future attacks and capture additional operatives.”*

E. Tensions with Country l Relating to the CIA Detention Facility and the Arrival of New
Detainees

{ } According to CIA records, three wecks after —
and political leadership of Country l agrecd to host a CIA detention facility, the CIA

informed the U.S. ambassador, because, as was noted in a cable, by not doing so, the CIA was

1029 (2917502 JUN 06}, 1142 (04135824 AUG 06); 1543
(1116002 AUG 04), 1716 (1807424 SEP 04}, 3051 (3012352 SEP 05); 1029
(2917507 JUN 06); 2474 (2516227 JUN 05); 2673 (0214512 AUG 05),

1716 (1807422 SEP 04),
370 See, for example, 15 (0116447 JUL 04); w (1409172 NOV 04},
1959 (1117002 DEC 04); 1962 (1210297 DEC 04): 1959 (1 11700Z DEC 04},
2038 (2115587 JAN 05); 1091 (031835z Nov o3y, TGN
1266 (0523097 JAN (4); 1630 (271440Z MAR 04).
31 1203 (231709Z MAY 04), 1202 (23164427 MAY 04)
n 1843 (271356Z OCT 04). In the final years of al-Nashiri's detention, most of the intefligence
requirements for al-Nashini involved showing ai-Nashiri photographs. In June 2005, the DETENTION SITE
BLACK chief of Base suspended even these debriefings because it was “the very, very rare moment™ that al-Nashiri
would recognize a photograph, and becanse the debriefings often were the “catalysi” for his outbursts. See
i 2474 (2516227 JUN 05).
33 While stifl in the custody of a foreign government, prior to his rendition to C1A custody, al-Nashin provided
details on multiple terrorist plois in which he was invelved prior o his detention, inciuding the altacks against the
{/85 Cole and the MV Limburg, plans 10 sink oil tankers in the Strait of Hormuz, plans to attack warships docked af
ports in Dubuai and Jeddah, and his casing of 2 Dubai amusement park. This information was disseminated in

- I ALiC

intelligence I 36595

. For disseminated intellipence, see 1A L
; 1A ;
. For other reporting from al-Naghiri while he was in the

70866 I

. For disseminated

369 See, for example,
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“risking that he hear of this initiative” from Country [ officials.*” As was the case in other host
countries, the ambassador in Country . was told by the CIA not to speak with any other State
Department official about the arrangement.’®

hS £) Prior to the opening of the CIA detention facility in Country . -
CTC Legal, , warned of possible legal actions against CIA

employees in countries that “take a different view of the detention and interrogation practices
employed by [the CIA].”*"7 He further recommended against the establishment of CIA facilities
in countries that |8
I ; o vicc was not heeded and, in December 2002, the two individuals then being
detained by the CIA in Country . (Abu Zubaydah and ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri) were
transferred to Country l__wu

(M) The agreement to host a CIA detention facility in Countr

created multiple, ongoing difficultics between Country [ and the CIA. Country B
proposed a written “Memorandum of Understanding” covering the relative roles and
responsibilities of the CIA and _ which the CIA ultimately refused to sign.*®

Four months after the detention site began hosting CIA detainees, Country i rejected the transfer

of — which included Khalid Shaykh Muhammad. The decision was

reversed only after the U.S. ambassador intervened with the political leadership of Country I on

the CIA’s behalf.*®! The following month, the CIA provided $. million to Country |'s
*m: after which — officials, specaking for d and the
Country | political leadership, indicated that Country I was now flexible with regard to the
number of CIA detainees at the facility and when the facility would eventually be closed.*® The
facility, which was described by the CIA as “over capacity,” was nonetheless closed, as had been
previously agreed, in i [the fall of] 2003.%*

cars later, officials in

‘) According to CIA cables,
reacted with “deep shock and regret”
hich they acknowledged was *

385

| officials were “extremely upset™®® at the
CIA’s inability to keep secrets and were “deeply disappointed” in not having had more warning

Y5 [REDACTED] 84200
76 DIRECTOR

78 The CIA insisted be redacted in the Committee Study prior to the Study

being relocated to the U.S. Senate from the off-site research facility.
o > DEC 02)
0 IREDACTED] 1888

1 [REDACTED] 2666
2 HEADQUARTERS
W REDACTED] 3280 . According to the cable, the CIA Station speculated that the change of
position was “at least somewhat attributable. .. to our gift of ff-. million...."

4 See Volume I for additional details.

S [IREDACTED] 7526 (|[REDACTED| [REDACTED])
6 [REDACTED] 7849 (|REDACTED] [REDACTED])
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of President Bush’s September 2006 publie acknowledgment of the CIA program.®®’ The CIA
Station, for its part, described the u as a “serious blow” to the

bilateral relationship. 8

F. The Detention and Interrogation of Ramzi Bin Al-Shibh

I. Ramzi Bin Al-Shibh Provides Information While in Foreign Government Custody, Prior
to Rendition to CIA Custody

@S/ 2:£) As carly as September 15, 2001, Ramzi bin al-Shibh was assessed
by the CIA to be a facilitator for the Septernber 11, 2001, attacks and an associate of the 9/11
hijackers.®® While targeting another terrorist, Hassan Ghul, JJJJJJll Pakistani officials
unexpeetedly eaptured bin al-Shibh during raids in Pakistan on September 11, 2002.%% On
September i, 2002, bin al-Shibh was rendered to a foreign government, 1
Approxunatel five months later, on February l 2003, bin al-Shibh was rendered from the
custody of h to CIA custody, becoming the 41% CIA detainee *%

&S/ 2E) As with Abu Zubaydah and ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri, personnel at

CIA Headguarters—often in ALEC Station—overestimated the information bin al-Shibh would
have access to within al-Qa’ida, writing that bin al-Shibb “likely has critical information on
upcoming attacks and loeations of senior al-Qa’ida operatives.”¥? Later, after bin al-Shibh was
interrogated using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques for an estimated 34 days, the
CIA’s ALEC Station concluded that bin al-Shibh was not a senior member of al-Qa’ida and was
not in a position to know details about al-Qa’ida’s plans for future attacks.”* In another parallel,
officers at CIA Headquarters requested and directed the continued use of the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques against bin al-Shibh when CIA detention site personnel recommended
ending such measures.**?

7 IREDACTED] 9210 (2310437 SEP 06)

H8 [REDACTED] 7839 ([REDACTED]. Email fron: [REDACTED]; to {REDACTED]; subject: BOMBSHELL;
date {REDACTEDL. Email from: [REDACTED}; tor [REDACTED], {REDACTED]; sabject: CIA Prisons in

: date: IREDACTED]. Emaif from: [REDACT F.Di to; IREDACTEDS, IREDACTED); subject: | think

| had to react {[REDACTED). - date: [REDACTED

(2223342 SEP Q1 ); 92557 (158EP 01)
¥ ALEC (2923457 AUG 02); ALEC (111551Z SEP (2). The CIA represented to policymakers

and others——inaccurately——that “as a result of the use of EITs” Abu Zubaydah provided information on Ramzi bin
ai-Shibh that played a “key role in the ultimate capture of Ramzi Bin al-Shibh.” See section of this summary on the

“Capture of Raimzi bin al-Shibh"” and Volume H for additional details.
o/ I I, 2250 ; M 2074+

(1302062 SEP 02); ALEC (222334Z SEP O1); 92557 (15SEPO1); ALEC
(2701322 JUL 02); 97470 (2813177 MAR 02)
¥4 ALEC (3022407 TUN 05)
»5 ALEC

(131444Z FEB 03)
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@S/ %) Ramvzi bin al-Shibh was initially interrogated by a foreign
government.”® While officers at CIA Headquarters were dissatisfied with tbe intelligence
production from his five months of detention in forcign government custody, CIA officers in that
country were satisfied with bin al-Shibh's reporting.®®” Those CIA officers wrotc that bin al-
Shibh had provided information uscd in approximately 50 CIA intelligence reports, including
information on potential future threats, to include a potential attack on London’s Heathrow
Airport and al-Nashiri’s planning for potential operations in the Arabian Peninsula. The CIA
officcrs - [in-country] also noted that they found bin al-Shibh’s information to be generally
accurate and that they “found few cases where he openly/clearly misstated facts.”>*® In a cable
to CIA Headquarters, the CIA officers in d{thc country where Ramzi bin al-Shibh was
being held] concluded, “overall, he provided what was needed.” The samc cable stated that bin
al-Shibh’s interrogation was similar to other interrogations they had participated in, and that the
most cffective interrogation tool was having information available to confront him when he tried
to mislead or provide incomplete information.**® Personnel at CIA Headquarters concluded in
2005 that the most significant intelligenice derived from bin al-Shibh was obtained during his
detention in foreign government custody, which was prior to his rendition to CIA custody and
the use of the CIA's enhanced interrogation tecbnigues.*®

2. Interrogation Plan for Ramzi Bin Al-Shibh Proposes Immediate Use of Nudity and
Shackling with Hands Above the Head; Plan Becomes Template for Future Detainees

W) Despite the aforementioned assessments from CIA officers in
concerning bin al-Shibh's cooperation, officers at CIA Headquarters decided the CIA
should obtain JJll custody of bin al-Shibh and render him to DETENTION SITE BLUE in
Country [J** On February | 2003, in anticipation of bin al-Shibh’s arrival, interrogators at the
detention site, led by the C1A’s chief interrogator, —, prepared an interrogation plan
for bin al-Shibh.*®® The plan became a template, and subscquent requests to CIA Headquarters

to use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against other detainees relicd upon near
identical language. 4%

6 ALEC %115512 SEP 02)

7 DIRECTOR B o:C 02

398 - 22888 (2408452 ¥EB 03)

S 22888 (2408457 FEB 03)

9% According to a 2005 CIA assessment, the “most significant”™ reporting from Ramzi bin al-Shibh on potential
future attacks was background information related to al-Qa’ida's plans to attack Heathrow Airport. According to the
CIA, Ramzi bin al-Shibh provided “useful inteHigence,” including an “overview of the plot” that was then used in

the interrogation of other detainees. (See¢ ALEC (3022407 JUN 03).) Ramzi bin al-Shibh provided the
majority of this information in mid-October 2002, while in foreign government custody. See CIA

10361
903 This included Khaled Shaykh Mohammed (I 10654 (0309047 MAR 03)); Hambali
1310 (101825Z SEP 03)): Abu Yasir al-Jaza’iri 10990

; Hambali and Lillie

: Abd al-Latif al-
1243 (1520492 AUG

Barg
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(w) The interrogation plan proposed that immediately following the

psychological and medical assessments conducted upon his arrival, bin al-Shibh would be
subjeeted to “sensory dislocation.”™® The proposed sensory dislocation included shaving bin al-
Shibh’s bead and face, exposing him to loud noise in a white room with wbite lights, keeping
him “unelothed and suhjected to uncomfortably cool temperatures,” and shackling him “hand
and foot with arms outstretehed over his head (with his feet firmly on the floor and not aliowed
to support his weight with his arms).”*® Contrary to CIA representations made later to the
Committee that detainees were always offered the opportunity to cooperate before being
subjccted to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, the plan stated that bin al-Shibh would
be shackled nude with his arms overhead in a cold room prior to any discussion with
interrogators or any assessment of his level of cooperation.*®® According to a cable, only after
the interrogators determined that his “initial resistance level [had] been diminished by the
conditions” would the questioning and interrogation phase begin.*7

ES/JIIIEE 2 ¢ The interrogation phase described in the plan included near

constant interrogations, as well as continued sensory deprivation, a liquid diet, and sleep
deprivation. In addition, the interrogation plan stated that the CIA’s enhaneed interrogation
techniques would be used, including the “attention grasp, walling, the facial hold, the facial
slap. .. the abdominal slap, cramped confinement, wall standing, stress positions, sleep
deprivation beyond 72 hours, and the waterboard, as appropriate to [bin al-Shibh’s] level of
resistance.”08

(M) Based on versions of this interrogation plan, at least six detainees

were stripped and sbhackled nude, placed in the standing position for sleep deprivation, or
suhjected to other CIA enhanced interrogation techniques prior fo being questioned by an
interrogator in 2003.*® Five of these detainees were shackled naked in the standing position
with their hands above their head immediately after their medical check *!° These interrogation

JAN 04)); Adnan al-Libs 1758
2179

. See Volume I for detailed information on CIA representations to

1267
- and AL-TURKI
4 10361
i 10361
406 10361

Congress.

408 10361

49 This included Asadullah (DIRECTOR I G £5B 03)); Abu Yasir al-Jaza'iri
33558 ( MAR 03)); Suleiman Abdulluh MAR
APR 03)); Abu Hudhsifa 38576
MAY 03)); Hambali 124} €151912Z AUG 033); und Majid Khan

4647] (24124272 MAY 03); 39077 (2717192 MAY 03)).

410 £or additional information, see Volume HIL In an April 12, 2007, Senate Select Committee on Intelligence
hearing, Senator Levin asked the CIA Director if the CIA disputed allegutions in an International Committee of the
Red Cross report that suggested CIA detainees were placed in “{pirolonged stress standing position, naked, arm{s]}
chained above the head...” The CIA Director responded, “Not above the head. Stress positions are part of the EITs,
and nakedness were part of the EITs, Senator.” Senute Select Comunittee on InteHigence, Hearing Transcript, dated
April 12, 2007 (DTS #2007-3158).
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plans typically made no reference to the information the interrogators sought and why the
detaince was believed to possess the information. !

3. CIA Headquarters Urges Continued Use of the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation
Technigues, Despite Interrogators’ Assessment That Ramzi Bin Al-Shibh Was
Cooperative

(w When CIA interrogators at DETENTION SITE BLUE assessed

that bin al-Shibh was cooperative and did not have additional knowledge of future attacks,*’2
ClA Headquarters disagreed and instructed the interrogators to continue using the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques, which failed to elicit the information sought by CIA
Headquarters.*"® On February 11, 2003, interrogators asked CIA Headquarters for questions that
ALEC Station was “85 percent certain {bin al-Shibh ] will be able to answer,” in order to verify
bin al-Shibh’s level of cooperation.*** The interrogators stated that information from Abu
Zubaydah and al-Nashiri suggested that bin al-Shibh would not have been given 4 new
assignment or trusted with significant information given his high-profile links to the September
11, 2001, attacks *'> They further stated that bin al-Shibh had “achieved substantial notoriety
after 11 September,” but was still unproven in al-Qa’ida circles and may have “been privy to
information more as a bystander than as an active participant.”*'

(M} The C1A’s ALEC Station disagreed with the assessment of the

detention site personnci, responding that it did not believe the portrayals of bin al-Shibh offered
by Abu Zubaydah and al-Nashirt were accurate and that CIA Headquarters assessed that bin al-
Shibh must have actionable information due to his proximity to KSM and CIA Headquarters’
belief that bin al-Shibh had a history of withholding information from interrogators. ALEC
Station wrote:

“As base [DETENTION SITE BLUE] is well aware, Ramzi had long
been deliberately withholding and/or providing misleading information to
his interrogators in {a foreign government].... From our optic, it is
imperative to focus Ramzi exclusively on two issues: 1) What are the
next attacks planned for the US and 2) Who and where arc the operatives
inside the United States.”*!”

1 See Volume i for additional information.

#z 10452 {121723Z FEB 03)

42 ALEC (1314447 FEB 03)

4 10446 (111754Z FEB 03). The Committee was informed that the CIA’s standard practice during
coercive interrogations was to ask questions to which interrogators akready knew the answers in order to assess the
detainee’s level of cooperation. The Committee was further informed that only after detainees were assessed to be
cooperative did interrogators usk questions whose answers were unknown to the CIA. See, for example, Transcript
of SSCI Hearing, April 12, 2007 (testimony of CIA Director Michael Hayden) (DTS #2007-3158).

45 N 10452 (1217232 FEB 03). In June 2002, Ramzi bin al-Shibh participated with KSM in an interview

with the ai-Jazeers television aetwork on the 9/11 attacks. DIRECTOR (1:12136Z SEP 02).
H6 10452 (1217237 FEB 03)
W ALEC (1314447 ¥EB 03). Contrary to the statement in the CIA cable, as described, CIA officers in the

couniry where Ramzi bin al-Shibh was held prior to being rendered to CIA custody wrote that Ramzi bin al-Shibh

had provided information vsed in appmximateli 50 CIA inteiiiiﬂnce ﬁcﬁs. incleding information on potential
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S/ 25 The ALEC Station cable stated that bin al-Shibh had “spent

extensive time with [KSM},” and “must have heard discussions of other targets.” The cable
added that “HQS strongly believes that Binalshibh was involved in efforts on behalf of KSM to
identify and place operatives in the West.” The February 13, 2003, cable concluded:

“We think Binalshibh is uniquely positioned to give us much needed
critical information to help us thwart large-seale attacks inside the United
States, and we want to do our utmost fo get it as soon as possible. Good
luck, 438

as/H~5 CiA officers at DETENTION SITE BLUE therefore continued to
use the CIA’s enhanced intcrrogation technigues against bin al-Shihh for approximately three
additional weeks after this exehange, including sleep deprivation, nudity, dietary manipulation,
faeial holds, attention grasps, abdominal slaps, facial siaps, and walling.*® Bin al-Shibh did not
provide the information sought on “operatives inside the United States” or “large-scale attacks
inside the United States.”*?®

4. Information Already Provided by Ramzi Bin Al-Shibh in the Custody of a Foreign
Government Inaccurately Attributed to CIA Intervogations; Interrogators Apply the
CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation Techniques to Bin Al-Shibh When Not Addressed As *Sir”
and When Bin Al-Shibh Complains of Stomach Pain

S/ 1) CIA records indicate that the CIA interrogators at DETENTION
SITE BLUE questioning Ramzi bin al-Shibh were unaware of the intelligenee bin al-Shibh had
reviously provided in foreign government custody, even though b
“ and the intelligence from those interrogations had been disseminated by
the CIA. On multiple oeeasions, personnel at the detention site drafted intelligence reports that
eontained information previously disseminated from interrogations of bin al-Shibh while he was

in foreign government custody, under the faulty understanding that bin al-Shibh was providing
new information %%’

futnre threats, to include a potential attack on London's Heathrow airport and al-Nashirt’s planning for potential
operations in the Arabian Peninsufa, The I CiA officers in that country also noted that they found Ramzi bin
al-Shibh’s information to be generally accurate, and that they “found few cases where he opesly/cleasly misstated
facts,” The CIA officers in Hconciuded, “overall, [Ramazi bin 2}-Shibh} provided what was needed.” See
22888 (2408457 FEB 03).

NEALEC (1314447 FEB 03)

49 520, for example, BN 10525 200840z FEB 03) und [ 10573 (2411432 FEB 03). For further
detail, see the detainee review of Ramuzi bin al-Shibh in Velume IL

42 See detainee review of Ramzi bin ai-Shibh in Volume 11 for additional information.

471 Lee, for example, CIA

Ll

20817 {describing the foreign government's interrogators’ “plan
to ask Binalshibh to clarify his statements that Mohamed Atta, Marwan el-Shehhi, and Ziad Jarrah conid not aﬁree

on the wisdom of targeting nuclear facilities™): 10568 (2315147 FEB 03); JIE 20817
I C: I I C: |
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(SFS#_#NF) Ramzi bin al-Shibh was subjected to interrogation technigues and

conditions of confinement that were not approved by CIA Headquarters. CIA interrogators used
the C1A’s enhanced interrogation techniques for behavior adjustment purposes, in response to
perceived disrespect, and on several occasions, before bin al-Shibh had an opportunity to
respond to an interrogator’s questions or before a question was asked. The CIA’s enbanced
interrogation techniques were applied when bin al-Shibh failed to address an interrogator as
“sir,” when interrogators noted bin al-Shibh had a “blank stare” on his face, and when bin al-
Shibh complained of stomach pain.*** Further, despite CIA policy at the time to keep detainees
under constant light for security purposes, bin al-Shibh was kept in total darkness to heighten his
sense of fear 4%’

(w) CIA psychological assessments of bin al-Shibh were slow to

recognize the onsct of psychological problems brought about, according to later CIA
assessments, by bin al-Shibb’s long-term social isolation and his anxiety tbat the CIA would
return to using its enhanced interrogation tecbniques against him. The symptoms included
visions, paranoia, insomnia, and attempts at self-harm.** In April 2003, a C1A psychologist
stated that bin al-Shibh “has remained in social isolation™ for us long as two and half years and
the isolation was having a “clear and escalating effect on his psychological functioning,” The
officer continued, “‘in [bin al-Shibh’s] case, it is important to kecp in mind that he was previously
a relatively high-functioning individual, making his deterioration over the past several months
more alarming.”*?> The psychologist wrote, “significant alterations to RBS’[s} detention
environment must occur soon to prevent further and more scrious psychological disturbance.”
On Scptember 5, 2006, bin al-Shibh was transferred to U.S. military custody at Guantanamo
Bay, Cuba. " After his arrival, bin al-Shibh was placed on anti-psychotic medications.**8

ES/HEIIEE 2:) The CIA disseminated 109 intelligence reports from the C1A

interrogations of Ramzi bin al-Shibh.**® A CIA assessment, which included intelligence from his

2 - 10582 (2420262 FEB 03); [ 10627 (2819497 FEB 03)

2 10521 (1917507 FEB 03). The cable referred to keeping bin al-Shibh in darkness as a “standard
interrogation technique.” The same cable states that during the night of February 18, 2003, the light went out in bin
al-Shibh’s cell and that “[wlhen security personnel arrived 1o replace the bulb, bin al-Shibh was cowering in the

corner, shivering. Security personnel noted that he appeured relieved as soon us the light was replaced.”
2/ S 1 755 (0213192 OCT 04); HRADQUARTERS 040023Z NOV 05); m

(11122572 NOV 04); 1878 (140915Z NOV 04); 1830 (061620Z DEC 04);
2207 (1113197 APR 05), 2210 1415077 APR 03); 2535 (051805Z JUL 05);

2589 (1208577 JUL 03); 2830 (2913047 AUG 03 * 1890 (1712252 NOV
1893 (200831% NOV 04); C1A document entitled, “Detainee Tulking Points for ICRC Rebuttul, .

s 221001415072 APR 05); 2535 (0318057 JUL 05}, 2210
2830 (2913047 AUG 05);

(145072 APR 05); 2335 (0318052 JUL 05);

1930 (0616207 DEC 04); 2210 (141507Z APR 05)
s 2210 (141507Z APR 05)
426 2210 (1415077 APR 05)

2 HEADQUARTERS 03194527 SEP 06
26 [ SITE DAILY REPORT - 24 MAY 07 8904 (182103Z APR 08)
29 Lee Volume U1 for additional information.
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time in foreign government custody, as well as his reporting in CIA custody before, during, and
after being subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques,”® concluded that:

“Much of {bin al-Shibh’s] statements on the 11 Scptember attacks have becn
speculative, and many of the details could be found in media accounts of the
attacks that appeared before he was detaincd. In the few instances where his
reporting was unique and plausible, we cannot verify or refute the

information. .. he has heen sketchy on some aspects of the 5/11 plot, perhaps in
order to downplay his role in the plot. His information on individuals is non-
specific; he has given us nothing on the Saudi hijackers or others who played a
role... The overall quality of his reporting has steadily declined since 2003.7+*!

G. The Detention and Interrogation of Khalid Shaykh Muhammad

1. KSM Held in Pakistani Custody, Provides Limited Information; Rendered to CIA Custody
at DETENTION SITE COBALT, KSM Is Immediately Subjected to the CIA’s Enhanced
Interrogation Techniques

&S/ 22E) The capture of KSM was attributable to a sinile CIA source who

first came to the CIA’s attention in the spring of 2001.*? The source

led the CIA and Pakistan authorities directly to KSM. KSM was held in Pakistani
custody from the time of his capture on March 1, 2003, to March I 2003, and was interrogated
by CIA officers and Pakistani officials. According to CIA rccords, while in Pakistani custody,
KSM was subjected to some slecp deprivation, but there are no indications of other coercive
intcrrogation techniques being used.**® While KSM denied knowledge of attack plans and the
Jocations of Usama bin Laden and Ayman al-Zawahiri,** he did providc limited information on
various al-Qa’ida leaders and operatives who had already been captured. KSM’s willingness to
discuss operatives when confronted with information about their capture-—behavior noted by
CIA officers on-site in Pakistan—was a recurring theme tbroughout KSM’s subscquent detention
and interrogation in CIA custody.*

CES/ITIII %) 1ess than two hours after KSM’s capture, anticipating KSM’s
arrival at DETENTION SITE COBALT, the chicf of interrogations, i, scnt an crail
to CIA Headquarters with the subject linc, “Let’s roll with the new guy.” The email requested
permission to “press [KSM] for threat info right away.”*¢ Later that day, CIA Headquarters
authorized to usc a number of the C1A’s enhanced interrogation techniques against

430 Ramzi bin al-Shibh was immediately subjected to the C1A’s enhanced intervogation techaiques at DETENTION
SITE BLUE.

a1 Ay EC R 3022407 5UN 05)

432 For more details, see section of this summary on the capture of KSM and additional information in Volume i1

3 41403 (0209492 MAR 03)
434 41484 (031315Z MAR 03)
. 41564 (0413072 MAR 03); | NN 1592 (051050Z MAR 03). For details on KSM's

detention in Pakistani castody, see the KSM detainee review in Volame IIL
56 fomat] from: [REDACTED]; 1o0:
date: March |, 2003, at 03:43:12 AM.

; subject:. Eet’s Roll with the new guy;
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KS8M. The cable from CIA Headquarters did not require that non-coercive interrogation
techniques be used first.*” On March |, 2003, two days before KSM's arrival at the detention
site, CIA Headquarters approved an interrogation plan for KSM,*%

(SPSA-#NF) According to CIA records, interrogators began using the CIA’s

cnhanced interrogation techniques at DETENTION SITE COBALT a “few minutes” after the
questioning of KSM began, KSM was subjected to facial and abdominal slaps, the facial grab,
stress positions, standing sleep deprivation (with his bands at or above head level), nudity, and
water dousing.** Chief of Interrogations || a1s0 ordered the rectal rehydration of
KSM without a determination of medical need, a procedure that the chief of interrogations would
latcr characterize as illustrative of the interrogator’s “total control over the detainee.”® At the
end of the day, the psychologist on-site concluded that the interrogation team would likely have
more success by “avoiding confrontations that allow [KSM] to transform tbe interrogation into
battles of will with the interrogator.™ KSM’'s reporting during bis first day in CIA custody
included an accurate description of a Pakistani/British operative, which was dismissed as having
been provided during the initial **‘throwaway’ stage” of information collection when the CIA
believed detainees provided false or worthless information 2

47 DIRECTOR

438
419
440

0122407 MAR 03)

34354 (JIA VAR 03); DIRECTOR [N T A& 03)

34491 (0514007 MAR 03)

34491 (0514002 MAR 03); Interview of ||| R by [REDACTED] and

[REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, 27 March 2003,
s 34575 NN

#2 «Khatid Shaykh Muhammud’s Threat Reposting - Precious Truths, Surrounded by a Bodyguard of Lies,” TICT,
April 3, 2003. KSM also numed three individnals who, he said, worked on an al-Qa’ida anthrax program that was

still in its “earliest stages.” They were led, be said, by “Omar” who had been arvested in the country of !
The group also included Abu Bakr al-Filistint. (See 34475 ) KSM
would tater state that “Yazid” led al-Qu'ida’s anthrax efforts, {See 10769 (1200372 MAR (3).) Yarid

Sufaat, who hud been in [foreign government} custody since 2001, had long been suspected of
articipating in ai-Qa’ida chemical and biological activities. (See email from: [REDACTED]; to:

b ec:
, [REDACTED], , iIREDACTED!, [IREDACTEDY, ([REDACTED], [REDACTED];
subject: FOR COORD by noon please: Yazid Sofzat PDB; date: March 14, 2003, at 09:05 AM; emaii from:
IREDACTED]; to: (REDACTED]; subject: Re: RESPONSE - INDIVIDUALS CONNECTED TO
USAMA BIN LADIN ASSOCIATE YAZID SUFAAT,; date: March 6, 2003, at 12:50:27 PM; ;
email from: s to: [REDACTED]; SUBJECT: Re: KSM on WMD), date: March 12, 2003, at
G8:28:31 AM.)) A draft PDB prepared on March 17, 2003, states that *Sufaat’s own claims to {foreign
government] authorities and personal background tracks with KSM's assertions.” (See “KSM Guarding Most
Sengitive Information,” labeled “For the President Only 18 March 2003,” stamped G319 ksmupdate.doc 17 March
2003.) On April 3, 2003, an IICT analysis stated that KSM “likely judges that information related to Sufaut already
has been compromised since his arrest.” (Sez “Khalid Shaykh Muhammad’s Threat Reporting - Precious Traths,
Sorronnded by a Bodyguard of Lies,” fICT, April 3, 2003.) CIA analysis from 2005 stated that’
{ua foreign government holding Sufaat] was likely to have known details of Yazid's involvement in al-
Qa’ida’s anthrax program by early 2002,” although that informution was not provided at the time to the CIA. (Sez

CIA Directorate of Intelligence; ”Al-Qa'ida’s Anthrax Program; Cracks Bmerge in a Key Reporting Stream; New
Insights into Yazid Sufaat’s Credibility *’ (DTS #2005-3264).) Al-Filistini was later
captured and detuined by the CIA. While being subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogution techniques he
changed his description of al-Qu’ida’s anthrax efforts multiple times. On Angust 1, 2003, Abu Balkr al-Fitistini, also
known as Samr al-Barg, told CIA interrogators that “*we never made anthrax.” At the time, he was being subjected

to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues and was told that the harsh treatment would not stop until he “told

the truth.” According to cables, crying, al—Bari then said “1 made the anthrax.” Asked if he was lying, al-Barq said
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{ } On March 5, 2003, and March 6, 2003, while he was stili at
DETENTION SITE COBALT, KSM was subjected to nudity and sleep deprivation. On March
5,2003, KSM was also subjected to additional rectal rehydration,® which [ ||| oS,

, described as helping to “clear a person’s head” and effective in getting KSM
to tatk.*** On March 6, 2003, adopted a “*softer Mr. Rogers’ persona” after the
interrogation team concluded that the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques had caused KSM
to “clam up.”™** During this session KSM was described as “more cooperative,” and the day’s
interrogation was deemed the “best session hcld to date” by the interrogation team.*® During
this period KSM fabricated information on an individual whom he described as the protector of
his children.*” That information resulted in the capturc and CIA detention of two innocent
individuals,*®

(111

2. The CIA Transfers KSM to DETENTION SITE BLUE, Anticipates Use of the Waterboard
Prior to His Arrival

(U) Within hours of KSM’s capture, ALEC Station successfully argued
that CIA contractors SWIGERT and DUNBAR should take over the interrogation of KSM upon

KSM’s arrival at DETENTION SITE BLUE*? On March 3, 2003, CIA Hcadquarters approved
an interrogation plan indicating that KSM “will be subjected to immediate interrogation
techniques,” and that “the interrogation techniques will increase in intensity from standard to

that he was. After ClA interrogators “demonstrated the penalty for lying,” al-Barg again stated that “T mude the
anthrax” and then hnmediately recanted, and then again stated that he made anthrax. (See _ 1015 0120572
AUG 03).} Two dayy later, al-Barg stated that he had lied about the anthrax production “oaly because he thought

that was what interrogators wanted.” See 1017 (0308127 AUG (3).
Haa 34575
49 BEmail from: . to: [REDACTEDY, co: [REDACTED}, . sublect: Re:

Departure; date: March 6, 2003, at 7:11:59 PM; email from: s to: [REDACTED]; cc: R
. subject: Re: Uipdate; date: March 6, 2003, at 4:51:32 PM,
34573 (0617512 MAR 03,
34573 (061751Z MAR 03);
7 In June 2004, KSM described his reporting as “all fes.”
{281 (1308017 JUN 04).

8 Tlie two individuals, Sayed Habib and Shaistah Habibuliah Khan, entered CIA custody in Aoril und July 2003

respectively, and were released in August and February 2004, respectively. {See 5712
&; email from: \ to: u [REDACTED], IREDACTED]; subject:
planned release of [DETENTION SITE ORANGE] detainee Syed Habib; s and
CIA document, “Additional Details for DCEA on Sayed Habib’s Arrest and Detention.”} The CIA’s June 2043
Response states that the detention of the two individuals “can only be considered ‘wrongful” after the fact, not in the
light of credible information available at the time and in a context in which plot distuption was deemed an urgent
national priority.” The CIA’s June 2013 Response further stutes that KSM’s reporting on March 6, 2003, was
“credible” because, at the time, “[CIA} assessed that Khalid Shaykh Muhaminad (KSM} had moved to a more
cooperative posture as lis interrogation progressed.” A review of CIA records indicates that the CIA subjected
KSM to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techuiques the following day. The use of the technigues continued until
March 25, 2003, and incloded 183 applications of the waterboard. See 10711 h

9 Interview of [REDACTED! and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, Aprit 3,
2003. Email to: - oot [REDACTED],
fREDACTEDY, , ! , IREDACTED],
[REDACTED], REDACTED]; sublect: KSM planning; date: March 1, 2003, at 07.07:33 AM.

34614 (0715512 MAR 03)
34614 (0T1551Z MAR 63)
34569 (0617224 MAR 03),

[
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enhanced techniques commensurate with [JKSM’s] level of resistance, until he indicates initial
cooperation.”®  On March [}, 2003, the day of KSM’s arrival at DETENTION SITE BLUE, the
on-site medical officer described the use of the waterboard on KSM as inevitable:

“{Tihe tcam here apparently looks to use the water board in two different
contexts. One is as a tool of regression and control in which it is used up front
and aggressively. The second is to vet information on an as necded basis.
Given the various pressures from home vs what is happening on the ground, I
think the team’s expectation is that [KSM] will [be] getting treatment
somewhere in between, [don’t think they belicve that it will be possible to
entirely avoid the water board given the high and immediate threat to US and
allied interests. 1t is an interesting dynamic because they are well aware of the
toll it will take on the team vs. the detaince. The requirements coming from
home are really unhelievable in terms of breadth and detail.”*!

(M) Meanwhile, OMS completed draft guidelines on the use of the

CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, specifically addressing the waterboard interrogation
technique. These guidelines were sent to the medical personnel at the detention site. The
guidelines included a warning that the risk of the waterboard was “directly related to number of
exposures and may well uccelerate as exposures increase,” that concerns about cumulative
effects would emerge after three to five days, and that there should be an upper limit on the total
number of waterboard exposures, “perhaps 20 in a week.” CIA records indicate that, as of the
day of KSM’s arrival at DETENTION SITE BLUE, the interrogation team had not reviewed the
draft OMS guidelines.**

S/ E) KSM arrived at DETENTION S1TE BLUE at approximately 6:00
PM local time on March I 2003, and was immediately stripped and placed in the standing sleep
deprivation position.*** At 6:38 PM, after the medical and psychological personnel who had
traveled with KSM from DETENTION SITE COBALT clcared KSM for the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques, the detention site requested CIA Headquarters’ approval to begin the
interrogation process.*>* The detention site received the approvals at 7:18 PM %5 at whicb point
the interrogators began using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on KSM.%%6

{ } Between March I 2003, and March 9, 2003, contractors
SWIGERT and DUNBAR, and a CIA interrogator, , used the CIA's enhanced
interrogation techniques against KSM, including nudity, standing sleep deprivation, the attention

480 10654 (0309042 MAR 03); DIRECTOR [ (041444Z MAR 03). The initial approval was for
SWIGERT and CIA interrogator . The anthorization was extended to DUNBAR on March I,

2003. DIRECTOR [
1 Emait from: [REDACTED]; to:  cc: |G, s::5iccc: Technique; date: March
2 Bmail from: [REDACTED]; to: —; ec: —; subject: Re: Technigue; date:

§ 2003, at 3:51:00 AM.

March I 2003, at 3:22:45 PM.
453 10711
454 10705
495 DIRECTOR
43¢ 10711
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grab and insult siap, the facial grab, the abdominal slap, the kneeling stress position, and
walling.**” There were no debriefers present. According to the CIA interrogator, during KSM’s
first day at DETENTION SITE BLUE, SWIGERT and DUNBAR first began threatening KSM’s
children.* |JRCTC Legal, . |2:c- told the inspector general that
these threats were legal so long as the threats were “conditional.”*® On March 9, 2003, KSM
fabricated information indicating that Jaffar al-Tayyar and Jose Padilla were plotting together*®®
because, as he explained on April 23, 2003, he “felt some pressure to produce information about
operations in the United States in the initial phases of his interrogation.”*"

( y On March JJ}, 2003, Deputy Chief of ALEC Station || IH
and a second ALEC Station officer, “ arrived at DETENTION SITE

BLUE 10 scrve as debriefers. The detention site also reportedly reccived a phone call from CIA
Headquarters conveying the views of the CIA’s Deputy Director of Operations James Pavitt on
the interrogation of KSM.*? Pavitt later told the inspector gencral that he “did not recall
specifically ordering that a detainee be waterboarded right away,” but he “did not discount that
possibility.” According to records of the interview, “Pavitt did recall saying, ‘I want to know
what he knows, and I want to know it fast.””*®® The on-site medical officer later wrote in an
email that the CIA interrogators “felt that the [waterboard] was the big stick and that HQ was
more or less demanding that it be used carly and often.”®

3. The CIA Waterboards KSM at Least 183 Times; KSM’s Reporting Includes Significant
Fabricated Information

s/ 22) On March 10, 2003, KSM was subjected to the first of his 15

scparate waterboarding sessions, The first waterboarding session, which lasted 30 minutes (10
more than anticipated in the Office of Legal Counsel’s August 1, 2002, opinion), was followed
by the use of a horizontal stress position that had not previously been approved by CIA

Headqguarters.*® The chief of Base, worried about the legal implications, prohibited the on-site

45T

; I 10732 I

; 10741 (10091 7Z MAR 03)
4% Interview of L b 1REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, April 30,
2003, Interview of by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General,
Qctober 22, 2003.
439 CIA Inspector General, Special Review, Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Program (2003-7123-1(3),
Jaruary 2004,

450 * 10740 (092308Z MAR 03), disseminated as || [ f G SN (0741 (1009172 MAR

03)

o I 11377 (2319437 APR 03), disseminated as | NG
2 Tnterview of by IREDACTED] and [REDACTEDY], Office of the Inspector General, 30 April

2003.

463 Interview of James Pavitt, by ||| :nc (REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, August 21,
2003.

* Email from: [N «o: TR - IR < bicct: More; date: April
10, 2003, at 5:59:27 PM.

o5 [N 10752 (1023202 MAR 03)
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medical officer from reporting on the interrogation directly to OMS outside of official CIA cable
traffic 466

{w} On March 12, 2003, KSM provided information on the Heathrow

Atrport and Canary Wharf plotting. KSM stated that he showed a sketch in his notebook of a
building in Canary Wharf (a major business district in London) to Ammar al-Baluchi.*? He also
provided statements about directing prospective pilots to study at flight schools,*® and stated that
Jaffar al-Tayyar was involved in the Heathrow Plot.*® KSM retracted all of this information
later in his detention.*” There are no CIA records indicating that these and other retractions
were assessed to he false,

(M} The March 12, 2003, reporting from KSM on the Heathrow Airport

plotting was deemed at the time by CIA interrogators to be an effort by KSM to avoid discussion
of plotting inside the United States and thus contributed to the decision to subject KSM to two
waterboarding sessions that day.*’! During these sessions, KSM ingested a significant amount of
water. CIA records state that KSM’s “abdomen was somewhat distended and he expressed water
when the abdomen was pressed.”*’> KSM’s gastric contents werc so diluted by water that the
medical officer present was “not concerned about regurgitated gastric acid damaging KSM’s
esophagus.”™*"* The officer was, however, concerned about water intoxication and dilution of
electrolytes and requested that the interrogators use saline in future watcrboarding scssions. ™
The medical offtcer later wrote to ﬁOMS that KSM was “ingesting and aspiration {sic}
a LOT of water,” and that “[i]n the new technique we arc basically doing a series of near
drownings.”*"* During the day, KSM was also subjected to the attention grasp, insult slap,
abdominal stap, and walling.*’®

s/ =) On March 13, 2003, after KSM again denied that al-Qa’ida had

operations planned for inside the United States, CIA interrogators decided on a “day of intensive

6 Email from: [REDACTED}; o |||GTTTEE - I ;.- Re MEDICAL SITREP

3710, date: March 11, 2003, ut 8:10:39 AM.

67 10798 (1318167 MAR 03), disseminated us
168 10778 (1215497 MAR 03), disseminated as
169 10778 (1215497 MAR 03}, disseminated as
470 12141 (2722317 JUN 03); ]Il 22939 (0315417 JUL 04); 10883 (1B212TZ MAR (D),
disseminated as h

“ R 10787 (1307162 MAR 03). The CIA would luter represent that the information KSM provided o the
Heathrow plotting was un example of the effectiveness of the waterboard interrogation technique, listing the
Heathrow Plot as one of the “plots discovered as a result of BITs” in a briefing on the waterboard for the President
in November 2007, See document entitled, “DCIA Talking Points: Waterboard 06 November 2007,” dated
November 6, 2007, with the notation the document was “sent to DCIA Nov. 6 in preparation for POTUS meeting.”

72 R 10300 (1319097 MAR 03}
T3 Interview of , by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, May 15,
2003

<1 R 10200 (1319092 MAR 03); Interview of || Il o7 (REDACTED] and [REDACTED],

Office of the Inspector General, May 15, 2003,
5 Bt o ISR o: I I -t More; date: April

10, 2003, at 5:59:27 PM. Emphasis in the original,
76 IR 10787 (1307162 MAR 03)
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waterboard sessions.”*”’ During the first of three waterboarding scssions that day, intcrrogators
responded to KSM’s efforts to breathe during the sessions by holding KSM’s lips and directing
the watcr at his mouth.*”® According to a cable from the detcntion site, KSM “would begin
signaling by pointing upward with his two index fingers as the water pouring approached the
cstablished time limit.”” The cable noted that “[t}his behavior indieatcs that the subject remains
alert and has become familiar witb key aspects of the process.”® CIA records state that KSM
“yelled and twisted” when he was sccured to the waterboard for the second session of the day,
but “appeared resigned to tolerating the board and stated he had nothing new to say™ about
terrorist plots inside the United States,

(M) Prior to the third watcrboard session of that calendar day, the on-

site medical officer raiscd eoneerns that the waterboard session—whieh would be the fourth in
14 hours—would exeeed the limits included in draft OMS guidelines that had been distributed
the previous afternoon.*®! Thosc draft guidelincs stated that up to three waterboard sessions ina
24-hour period was acceptable.*®* At the time, KSM had been subjected to more than 65
applications of water during the four waterboarding sessions betwecn the afternoon of March 12,
2003, and the morning of Mareh 13, 2003, In response to a request for approval from the chief
of Base, CTC attorncy — assurcd detention site personnel that the medical officer
“is ineorrcct that these guidelines have been approved and/or fully coordinated.”**?

sent an email to the detention site authorizing the additional waterboarding session.*** Despite
indications from - that the dctention site personncl would receive a formal authorizing
cable, no such authorization from CIA Headquarters was provided. At the end of the day, the
medical officer wrote —OMS that “[t}hings are slowly cvolving form [sic] OMS being
vicwed as the institutional conscience and the limiting factor to the ones who are dedicated to
maximizing the benefit in a safe manncr and keeping everyone’s butt out of trouble.” The
medical officcr noted that his eommunication with &OMS was no longer “‘viewed with
suspicion.”*** On the afternoon of March 13, 2003, KSM was subjccted to his third waterboard
scssion of that ealendar day and fifth in 25 hours. CIA reeords note that KSM vomited during
and after the procedure.*%

« I 10804 im{}?:oz MAR 03); | 10790 (1309462 MAR 03)

8 Interview of , by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, April 30,
2003, The interviewee was a CIA interrogator for KSM at the CIA detention site.
a8 10790 (1309462 MAR 03)

450 10791 (131229Z MAR 03
h; ce:

48 Fmail from: [REDACTEDY; to: Jose

Rodriguez; subject: re: Eves Only — Legal und Politicul Quandflry; date: Maxch i3, 2003, at 11:28:06 AM.

42 Emait from: ﬁ; to: (REDACTEDY; cc: h; subject: Re: MEDICAL SITREP
3/10; date: March 12, 2003, at 2:09:47 PM.

43 Emait from: [N «©: (RepACTED); co: |  Jose
Rodriguey; subject: Re: EYES ONLY - Legal and Political Quandary; date: March 13, 2003, at 8:01:12 AM.

484 B migil from: s to! [REDACTED]; co: Jose Rodriguez,
- subject: BYES ONLY - Use of Water Board; date: March 13,

2003, at 08:28 AM.
5 Email from: [REDACTEDY; to: || TGEGE: <: T V-t Re: State cable; date:
Match 13, 2003, at 1:43:17 PM. The previous day, the medical officer had written that “I am going the extra mile to
try to handle this in & non confrontational manner.” Emuit from: {REDACTED}; to: &; ce:
'; subject: Re: MEDICAL SITREP 3/10; date: March 12, 2003, at 5:17:07 AM.

86 10803 (1319292 MAR 63)
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*s/H 2 Shortly thereafter, CIA Headquarters began reevaluating the use of

the waterboard interrogation technique. According to a4 March 14, 2003, email from an
interrogator who was not at DETENTION SITE BLUE, but was reviewing cable traffic, the
“[o]verall view seems to be” that the waterboard “is not working in gaining XSM[’s]
compliance.”**” The deputy chief of the CIA interrogation program responded in agreement,
adding that “[a]gainst KSM it has proven ineffective,” and that “[t}he potential for physical harm
is far greater with the waterboard than with the other techniques, bringing into question the issue
of risk vs. gain....” The deputy chicf further suggested that the waterboard was
counterproductive, stating that “[wle seem to have lost ground” with KSM since progress made
at DETENTION SITE COBALT, and as a result, the CIA should “consider the possibility” that
the introduction of the waterbourd interrogation technigue “may poison the well.”**® The email
in which these sentiments were cxpressed was sent to “ the CTC attorney
overseeing the interrogation of KSM. Despite these reservations and assessments, the
waterboarding of KSM continued for another 10 days.

{M} On Murch 15, 2003, KSM was waterboarded for failing to confirm

references in signals intercepts on al-Qa’ida’s efforts to obtain “nuclear suitcases, ™%
Subscquent signals intercepts and information from a foreign government would later indicate
that the nuclear suitease threat was an orchestrated scam.*” KSM was waterboarded a second
time that day after failing to provide information on operations against the United States or on al-
Qa’ida nuclear capabilities.*”? During the watcrboarding sessions that day, the application of the
interrogation technique further evolved, with the interrogators now using their hands to maintain
a one-inch deep “pool” of water over KSM’s nose and mouth in an effort to make it impossible
for KSM to ingest all the water being poured.®* At one point, SWIGERT and DUNBAR waited
for KSM to talk before pouring water over his mouth,***

&7 Email from: ||| R o . - : [REDACTED},
IREDACTED]; sublect: re Summary of K8M Waterhoard Sessions — As of 1000 HRS 14 Mar 03; date: March 14,
2003, at 10:44:12 AM.
8 Email from: s o: [N cc: . M. (REDACTED), [REDACTED,

; subject: re Sumimary of KSM Waterbourd Sessions ~ As of 1000 HRS 14 MAR 03, date: March
14, 2003, at 02:02:42 PM.
% See detailed review of these sessions in Volume 1.
90 10831 (1515107 MAR 03); I 10841 (1520072 MAR 03); B : 0:40 (161058Z MAR
03); Interview of by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General,
May 15, 2003.
¥1 The original reporting, that al-Qa’ida had purchased nuclear suitcases in Yemen, was later determined to be

10831 (15i510Z MAR 03)

based on an effort by unknown Yemenis to sell “suitease weapons” to al-Qa’ida. Al-Qa’ida operatives concluded
that the offer was a scam., See - 74492 (2508437, JUL. 03), disseminated as u; and
HEADQUARTERS [ (0923492 DEC 04).
m& 10841 (1520077 MAR 03);
93 Bmail from: {REDACTED]; to: ; subject: Re: Sitrep as of AM 3/15;
date: March 15, 2003, at 3:52:54 AM. Interview of L by [REDACTED] and [REDACTEDY,
Office of the Inspector General, May 15, 2003. See also interview of , by [REDACTED!} and
{REDACTEDY}, Offtce of the Inspector General, May 15, 2003, The descriptions of the use of the waterbouard
interrogation technigue against KSM were provided by these two on-site medical officers.
4 Interview of ﬁ by [REDACTED] and [REDACTEDY, Office of the Inspector General, May 15,
2003,

rop-secreT/ I /O rO RN
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(ISAW@ afternoon of Mareh 17, 2003, and into the morning of
March 18, 2003, IO S, cxchanged emails with the medical officer
at DETENTION SITE BLUE on the waterboarding of KSM. Aecording to || | |} R thc
waterboard interrogation technique had “moved even further from the SERE model. "%

I ::<o wrote:

“Truthfully, though, 1 don’t recall that the WB {waterboard] produced anytbing
actionable in AZ [Abu Zubaydah] any earlier than another teehnique might
have. This may be different with KSM, but that is still as mueh a statement of
faith as anything clse — since we don't seem to study the question as we go...
it’s been many more days of constant WB repetitions, with the evidence of
progress through most of them not being actionable intel but rather that ‘he
looks like he’s weakening.” The WB may actually be the best; just don’t ike
to base it on religion, %

&S/ 2<% On March 18, 2003, KSM was confronted with tbe reporting of

Maijid Khan, who was then in the eustody of a foreign government,”’ regarding plotting against
gas stations inside the United States, information that KSM had not previously diseussed. In
assessing the session, DETENTION SITE BLUE personnel noted that “KSM will seleetively lie,
provide partial truths, and misdirect when he believes he will not be found out and held
accountable.” On the other hand, they wrote that *KSM appears more inclined to make accurate

45 Email 10: [REDACTED]; from: || EEEN; s:bicct: Re: Medical limitations of WB - draft thoughts; date:
Muarch 17, 2003, 5t 01:11:35 PM.

4% Emuil from: _; to: {REDACTEDY; cc: | GG, 5:bjct: Oct 18; date: March 18,
2003, a1 10:52:03 AM.

7 Majid Khan, who was arrested on March 5, 2003, provided extensive information prior to being rendered to CIA
custody. This included information on lyman Fais, Uzhair (Paracha) and his father, Aafia Sidiqqi, his transfer of
al-Qa’ida funds to 2 Bangkok-bused Zubair, and his discassions with KSM regarding various proposed plots. Majid
Khan also provided sssistance 10 the CIA in ils efforts to locate Ammar al-Baluchi, including through Abu Talha al-
Pakistani. (See 13697 (0807307 MAR 03);
44244 (1614232 APR 03},
13785

: 44684 (250633Z APR 03);
13678 (070724Z MAR 03), . 13908 (260251Z MAR
13826 (190715Z MAR 03), 13833 (2004542 MAR 03);

Z 13686 (0713227 MAR (3}, 13932 (2712447 MAR 03);
(0812187 MAR (3).) After being rendered to ClA custody, Majid Khan was subjected by the CIA to sice
deprivation, nudity, and dietary manipulation, and may have been subjected 1o an ice water bath, (See
39077 (2717192 MAY 03); “ 39099 (281101Z MAY 03):

. Briefing for the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, March 14, 2008;
41772 (1212307 JUL 03); -42025  email from:
: h [REDACTED],  and . subject, “Re: i hope the
approvals for enhanced comes through quickly for this guy... this does not look good”; date: June 30, 2003.) A
June 2006 CIA email stated that Majid Khan said he “fabricaled u lot of his early [CIA] interrogation reporting to

stop... what he called ‘torture.’” According to the email, Khan staled that he was “hung up” for approximately ene

day in a sleep deprived position and that he provided “everything they wanted to hear to get out of the situation.”
(See email from: [REDACTED]; to: ) OB, L, IRBEACTED],
{REDACTED], [REDACTED], , subject: : request for prozac; date: fune 16, 20063 As

detailed in this summary and in more detail in Volume T, the CIA inaccurately attributed information provided by

Majid Khan in foreign government custody to the CIA inzcrmialions of KSM,
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disclosures when he believes people, emails, or other source material are available to the USG
for checking his responses.”%®

(M} The same day, KSM provided additional information on the

Heathrow Airport plotting, much of which he would recant in 2004.4° KSM also discussed
Jaffar al-Tayyar again, prompting the detcntion site personnel to refer to the “all-purpose” al-
Tayyar whom KSM had “woven. .. into practically every story, each time with a different
role.”™® After KSM had included al-Tayyar in his discussion of Majid Khan’s gas station plot,
KSM debriefer - wrote in an cmail that “{tjoday [al-Tayyar’s] working with Majid
Khan, yesterday the London crowd, the day before Padilla — you get the point.”® Beginning the
evening of March 18, 2003, KSM began a period of sleep deprivation, most of it in the standing
position, which would last for seven and a half days, or approximately 180 hours.>”?

(M} On March 19, 2003, the interrogators at the detention site decided

to waterboard KSM due to KSM's inconsistent information about Jaffar al-Tayyar’s passport.**
According to CIA cables, after assuming his position on the waterboard, KSM “scemed to lose
control” and appeared “somewhat frantic,” stating that he “had been forced to lie, and mafkje vp
stories about” Jaffar al-Tayyar because of his interrogators.*® KSM then stated that his
reporting on al-Tayyar’s role in Majid Khan’s plotting was a “complete fabrication” and that al-
Tayyar had been compromiscd as an operative and that as a result, al-Tayyar could not be used
for a terrorist operation. > in responsc, the interrogators told KSM that they only wanted to hear
him speak if he was revealing informaticn on the next attack.”® Deputy Chief of ALEC Station
ﬂ latcr told the inspector general that it was around this time that contract interrogator
DUNBAR stated that “he had not scen a ‘resistor’ [sic} like KSM, and was ‘going to go to school
on this guy.”™ According to CIA records, the intcrrogators then “devote[d] all measures to
pressuring [ KSM] on the single issue of the ‘next attack on America,”” including attention grabs,
insult slaps, walling, water dousing, and additional waterboard scssions.”®

@S/ 25 On Masch 20, 2003, KSM continued to be subjected to the CIA’s

enhanced interrogation tcchniques throughout the day, including a period of “intense questioning

498 10884 (182140Z MAR 03)

495 10883 (182127Z MAR 03), disseminated as ||| | [ [[TTRGEGEE B 22030 0315412 1UL 04). CIA
records indicate that CIA officers believed that KSM’s recuntations were credible. See KSM detainee review in
Volume L.

00 10884 (182140Z MAR 03)

0 Emait from: [REDACTED], OFFICE: R to: IREDACTED]; subject: JAFAR REQUEST; date. March
{8, 2003, at 08: 16:07 PM.

502 10884 (182140Z MAR 03); [ 10888 (1908052 MAR 03); I 10999 2608352 MAR
03), 10969 (2409507 MAR 03)

503 10892 (1915032 MAR 03); [N 10902 (2010372 MAR 03)

Sond 10902 (2010372 MAR 03)

508 10894 (1915132 MAR 03); JI 10902 (2010372 MAR 03)
p1od

10802 (2010372 MAR 03)
07 Interview of _ by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED, Office of the Inspector General, April 3,

2003,
53 SN (0902 (201037Z MAR 03); JIII 10900 (1919072 MAR 03); I 10896 (19152472 MAR

03)
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and walling.”® KSM was described as “[tlired and sore,” with abrasions on his ankles, shins,
and wrists, as well as on the back of his head.3® He also suffered from pedal edema resulting
from extended standing "’ After having concluded that there was “no further movement” in the
interrogation, the detention site personnel hung a picture of KSM’s sons in his cell as a way to
“{heigh&;n] his imagination concerning where they are, who has them, {and] what is in store for
them,”*!

&S/ >5) The waterboarding of KSM on Mareh 21, 2003, and March 22,
2003, was based on a misreading of intelligence provided by Majid Khan by Deputy Chief of
ALEC Station d According to a cable from the CIA’s “, Khan,
who was in foreign government custody, had stated that KSM wanted to use “two to three
unknown Black American Muslim converts who were eurrently training in Afghanistan,” to
“eonduct attacks” on gas stations in the United States, and that “KSM was interested in usin
anyone with US status to assist with this operation.””® Upon reeeipt of this reporting, ﬁ
wrote in an email 9 love the Black American Muslim at AQ camps in Afghanuistan [sic] ...
Mukie [KSM] is going to be hatin’ life on this one.””* However, her subsequent questioning of
KSM was not based on Khan’s actual reporting, which was about potential operatives already in
Afghanistan, but rather something Khan had not said—that KSM directed him to make contact
with African-American converts in the United States.’”® According to CIA reeords, in a
“contentious” session that lasted for hours and involved the use of the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques, KSM “flatly denied” any cfforts to recruit African-American Muslim
eonverts, KSM was then waterboarded.’'® Later in the day, facing the threat of a second
waterboarding session, KSM “relented and said that maybe he had told Khan that he should see
if he could make contaet with members of the Black American Muslim convert community.”
The CIA interrogators then returned KSM to the standing sleep deprivation position without a
second waterboarding session.”"’

@S/ %) The next day, March 22, 2003, interrogators subjected KSM to

“intense” questioning and walling, but when KSM provided no new information on African-
American Muslim converts or threats inside the United States, he was subjected to additional

10916 (2108452 MAR 03); [ 10921 (2110462 MAR 03)

10916 (210845Z MAR 03)

10909 (201918Z MAR 03)

by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, October

514 Email to: : from: [REDACTED] OFP[DETENTION SITE BLUE}; subject: Re:
Majid Khan; date: March 20, 2003, 2t 03:40:17 PM. The cable was formally sent to DETENTION SITE
BLUE via ALEC [l (2100152 MAR 03).

515 10932 (212132Z MAR 03)

16 - 10932 (2121322 MAR 03); [JI 10922 (2112562 MAR 03)

7 10932 (2121327 MAR 03)
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waterboarding.** An hour later, KSM stated that he was “ready to talk.”>"? He told the CIA
interrogators that he had scnt Abu Issa al-Britani to Montana to recruit African-American
Muslim converts, a mission hc said had becn prompted by discussions with a London-based
shaykh whose bodyguards had families in Montana.>® KSM also stated that he tasked Majid
Khan with attending Muslim conferences in the United States to “spot and asscss potential
extremists” who would assist in the gas station plot.>?! In Junc 2003, KSM admitted that he
fabricated the story about Abu Issa al-Britani and Montana, explaining that he was “under
‘enhanced measures’ when he made these claims and simply told his interrogators what he
thought they wanted to hear.” In August 2003, KSM reiterated that hie bad no plans to recruit
or use “black American Muslim” converts opcrationaily 3 In December 2005, he denied ever
asking Majid Khan to recruit converts or attend Islamic conferences.52*

/N~ =) On March 24, 2003, KSM underwent s fifteenth and final

documented waterboarding session dac to his “intransigencec” in failing to identify suspected
Abu Bakr al-Azdi operations in the United States, and for having “lied about poison and
biotogical warfare programs.”** KSM was described in the session as being “compesed, stoic,
and resigned.”3%8

@S/ ¥ That cvening, the detention site received two reports. The first

recountcd the reporting of Majid Khan, who was still in the custody of a foreign government, on
Uzhair, who ran the New York branch of his father’s Karachi-based import-export busincss, and
on Uzhair’s father.®” According to Khan, his meetings with the two werc facilitated hy Ammar
al-Baluchi.®*® The sccond report described the reporting of Iyman Faris, who was in FBI
custody, on a plot to cut the suspension cables on the Brooklyn Bridge and exploration of plans
to derail trains and conduct an attack in Washington, D.C.’* KSM, whom detention site
personnel described as “boxed in” by the new reporting,® then statcd that Uzhair’s father, Sayf
al-Rahman Paracha, had agreed to smuggle cxplosives into the United Statcs.™ As descrihed

5i8

10941 (2215062 MAR 03); [N 10950 (2221272 MAR 03). One cable from DETENTION
SITE BLUE hypothesized that KSM was lying in order to force the ClA interrogators to apply the CIA’s enhanced
mterrogation techniques: “[Tihe enhanced measures resulting from his lyiag in {sic] details could be a resistance
strategy to keep the interrogation from threatening issues. .. {KSM’s] apparent willingness to provoke and incur the
use of enhanced measures may represent a calculated strategy to either: (A) redirect the course of the interrogation;
or (B) to attempt to cultivate some doubt that he had knowledge of any current or future operations against the US.”
See 10950 (2221272 MAR 03).

§19 10950 (2221272 MAR 03)

20 10942 i2216102 MAR 03), disseminated as | TN (0948 (2221012 MAR 03),

disseminated as
21 10942 (221610Z MAR 03), dissemisated as ||| | GccNGE
2 12095 (2220492 JUN 03)

523 12558 (041938Z AUG 03)

524 31148 (171919Z DEC 05); 1 31147 (1719192 DEC 05), disseminated s ||| TTGNNGE

323 [0S83 (2423217 MAR 03); 10972 (2411227 MAR 03y

326 10974 (241834Z MAR 03); 10983 (242321Z MAR 03)

527 See the sections of this summary and Volume If on the Identification and Arrests of Uzhair and Saifuliah
Paracha.

32 13890 ; 10984 (242351 Z MAR 03)

SOWHDC (24222672 MAR Q3); 10983 {242321Z MAR 03)

538 10983 (2423217 MAR 03)

g 10984 (2423517 MAR 03), disseminated as
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elsewhere in this summary, the purported parties to the agreement denied that such an agreement
existcd.”>? In confirming Faris’s reporting, KSM exhibited what the Interagency Intelligence
Committee on Terrorism would later describe as an cffort to “stay obvious/general” and “provide
little information that might enable the US to thwart attacks.”’

(M) With the exception of sleep deprivation, which continued for onc

more day, the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against KSM stopped abruptly
on March 24, 2003.5* There are no CIA records directing the interrogation team to cease using
the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against KSM, nor any contemporaneous
documentation cxplaining the decision,®

4. After the Use of the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation Techniques Against KSM Ends, the
CIA Continues to Assess That KSM Is Withholding and Fabricating Information

(M) On April 3, 2003, the Interagency Intelligence Committce on

Terrorism produced an assessment of KSM’s intelligence entitled, “Precious Trutbs, Surrounded
by a Bodyguard of Lies.” The assessment concluded that KSM was withholding or Iying about
terrorist plots and operatives targeting the United States, It also identified contradictions
between KSM’s reporting on CBRN and other sources. >

&S/ %) On April 24, 2003, FBI Director Robert Mueller began seeking

direct FBI access to KSM in order to better understand CIA reporting indicating threats to U.S.
cities.>®? Despite personal commitments from DCI Tenet to Director Mueller that access would
be forthcoming, the CIA’s CTC successfully formulated a CIA position whereby the FBI would

332 According to one cable, KSM did not volunteer the purported smuggling plot, but rather was asked about it by
interrogators. {See ALEC - (0522307 MAY 03). All parties to the purported plot — Paracha and Ammar al-

Baluchi - denied any agreement had been reached. DIRECTOR 1819297 JUN 03), disseminated us -
+ 39239 (301600Z MAY 03); 13588 (171505Z JUL 03},
DIRECTOR (1819297 IUN 03}, dissesninated as 39239
301600Z MAY 03), ALEC I (0122482 APR 03).) With regard to ihe expmswes smuggling reporting, the
former chief of the Bin Ladin Unit wrote in a March 2003 email: “again, another ksm op worthy of the lamentabie

knunckleheads... why ‘smuggie’ in explosives when you can get them here? neither fertilizer for bombs or regular
explosives are that hard to come by. ramzi yousef came to conus with a suitcase dﬂd hundrﬁd bucks and ﬁoz

everything he needed right here. this may be true, but it just seeras damn odd to me.” See emaif from:
M R D BRI .

highlight: apain, snother ksm op worthy of the lamentable; date: March 25, 2003, at 6:29:08 AM.

‘33gﬁ 10985 (242351Z MAR 03). “Khalid Shaykh Muhammad’s Threat Reporting - Precious Truths,
Surrounded by w Bodyguard of Lies,” IICT, April 3, 2003,

4 Qleep deprivation was extended for an additional day, although it was interrupted by “catnapping.” See -
10999 (260835Z MAR 03}

33 Por additional details, see KSM detainee review in Volume [IL

33 “Khalid Shaykh Muhammad’s Threat Reporting - Precious Truths, Surrounded by a Bodyguard of Lies,” 1ICT,
Aprit 3, 2003,
337 Bmail from:
Jose Rodriguez,
dute: April 24, 2003, at 10:59:33 AM.

s co; Jumes L. Pavitt; _; John H. Moseman,
. subject: Mueller’s Interest in FBI Access to KSM;

s o
s and
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not be provided uccess to KSM until his anticipated transfer to Guantanamo Bay, Cuba. Neither
the CIA nor the FBI knew ut the time that the transfer would not occur until September 2006.7%#

(M) Between April 2003 and July 2003, KSM frustrated the ClA ona
number of fronts. On May 7, 2003, after more than two months of conflicting reporting, ALEC
Station concluded that KSM “consistently wavers” on issues of UBL’s location, protectors, and
hosts, and that his information “conveniently lack[s] sufficicnt detail {to be] actionable
intelligence.”™ On June 12, 2003, CIA Headquarters indicated that it “remain{ed] highly
suspicious that KSM is withholding, exaggerating, misdirecting, or outright fabricating
information on CBRN issues.”™ At the end of April 2003, KSM was shown pictures of the
recently captured Ammar al-Baluchi and Khallad bin Attash, after which he provided additional
information related to their plotting in Karachi > ALEC Station wrote in a May 20, 2003, cable
that “{w]e consider KSM’s long-standing omission of {this] information to be a serious concern,
cspecially us this omission may well have cost American lives had Pakistani authorities not been
diligent in following up on unrclated criminal lcads that led to the capturc of Ammar, bin Attash,
and other probable operatives involved in the attack plans.”™?

s/ =) 1 May and Junc 2003, Ammar al-Baluchi and Khallad bin Attash

provided reporting that contradicted KSM’s statements about the Heathrow Airport plotting and
included information that KSM had not provided.’' After KSM was confronted with this
reporting, Deputy Chief of ALEC Station — wrote in an email, “OK, that’s it...
yet again he lies and ONLY ADMITS details when he knows we know them from someone

% Memorandum for: James L. Pavitt; || ||EGNGNGEGE. s Rodrigeez; [ TGN

from: : subject: Update: Director Mueller - DCI Tenet Conversation on KSM; date: June 4, 2003

ut 05:47:32 PM. Note for James L. Pavitt; from: — ce — Jose Rodriguez, -

; subject: Director Mueller Plans to Call DCI on KSM Tssue; dute: May 21, 2003, at 08:40:22 PM. In
addition to the FBI, senior CIA officers, including CTC’s representatives to the FBI, complained about the
limitations on the dissemination of intelligence derived from CIA interrogations and the impact those limitations had
on counterterrorism analysis, The CTC’s representative to the FBI described this to the OIG as a “serious concern.”
He stated that the compurtroentation of interrogation information || GGG .t i
delays in dissemination that could result in information being “missed.”” He also stated that the CIA’s
compartmentation of information prevented him from providing to the FBI “some insight into the value/credibitity
of intelligence reports.” (See interview of i by —, Office of the Inspector General,
Augast 18, 2003.) Among the other CIA officers expressing these concerns were the deputy chief of CTC’s Al-
Qa’ida Department, who told the O¥G that limited access to operational traffic “has had an impact on {unalysts’] fuli
knowledge of activities, and thus their analysis.” (See , Memorandum for the Record; subject:
Meeting with Deputy Chief, Counterterrorism Center Al-Qa’ida Department; July 28, 2003.) The Director of
Analysis at CTC described analysts’ limited sceess to information as a “continting problem.” (See August 18,
2603, Memorandam for the Record, meeting with Counterterrorism Center, Director of Analysis, Office of the
Inspector General.} The CIA’s Deputy Director of Intelligence told the OIG that limitations on the disseminution of
operational information prevented the “full cadre of analysts” from reviewing the intelligence and thut, us a resuit,
“we’re losing analytic ability to look at {foreign intelligence] in 2 timely manner.” See interview of

, by ;RI:DACTED} and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector Generxl, September 12, 2003.

B ALEC 0720022 MAY 03)

MEDIRECTOR (1215502 JUN0O3)

ek 11434 (3017102 APR 03}, - 11448 (3011417 APR 03)

MALEC (022012Z MAY 03). See information in this summary and Volwme 1 on the “Karachi Plot” for
additional information.
M3 See detainee reviews for Ammar al-Batuchi and Khatlad bin Attash in Volume 1 for additional information on
the reporting the detainees provided.
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else.”** On April I9, 2003, KSM was questioned for the first time about summer 2002
reporting from Masran bin Arshad, who was in the custody of a foreign government, regarding
the “Second Wave” plot. Informed that bin Arshad had been detained, KSM stated, “I have
forgotten about him, he is not in my mind at all.”** In response, ALEC Station noted that it
“remainfeld concerned that KSM’s progression tfowards full debriefing status is not yet apparent
whcre it counts most, in relation to threats to US interests, especially inside CONUS.”™S In Junc
2003, almost three months after the CIA had stopped using its enbanced interrogation technigucs
against KSM, senior ALEC Station and RDG officers met at least twice to discuss concerns
about KSM’s lack of cooperation. As an ALEC Station cable noted at the time, “KSM’s
pattern of behavior over the past three months, trying to control his environment, lying and then
admitting things only when pressed that others have been caught and havc likely admitted tbe
plot, is a causc for concern.”>*® 1n an email, onc CIA officer noted tbat “what KSM’s doing is
fairly typical of other detainees... KSM, Khallad [bin Attash}, and others arc doing what makes
sensc in their situation — pretend cooperation,”?*

(U) In the fall of 2003, after KSM’s explanations about how to decrypt

phone mumbers related to British operative Issa al-Britani (KSM did not identify the operative as
“Issa al-Hindi,” or by his true name, Dhiren Barot) yiclded no results, and after KSM
misidentified another individual, known not to he 1ssa, as Issa, Deputy Chief of ALEC Station

stated in an email that KSM was “obstructing our ability to acquire good
information,” noting that KSM “misidentific{s] photos when he knows we are fishing” and
“mislcads us on telcphone mumbers.” Later, after KSM's transfer to DETENTION S1TE
BLACK, ALEC Station wrotc that KSM “may never be fully forthcoming and bonest” on the
topic of UBL’s whereabouts.™ Despite repeated cballenges, KSM maintained that be lacked
information on UBL’s location.>

#¢ Memorandum for: [N : I <o I < bicct:
Action detainee branch; date: June 12, 2002 (emphasis in the original),
545 11319 (1914457 APR 03), disseminated as

$46 AL EC 222153Z APR 03)

47 Emgil from: r 1 , IREDACTED],
. [REDACTED], [REDACTED}, [REDACTED, .
, I (REDACTED],

[REDACTED}, subject: Khallud & KSM Detuinee Case Discusston; dute: June 18, 2003, at 1(:0% AM;
{302258Z JUN 03).
(3022587 JUN O3

549 Email from: : to: L cc: iRhDACTi:Di i[{blw

fREDACTED], [Ri:DACTED}, subject: Re: KSM’s passive restraint — please let me know if you
have comments for a memo to the DCT; date: June 24, 2003, at 1:27.06 PM,
350 mail from: : to:

; subject: KSM and Khallad l'ssu;ts;

3 , [REDACTED]; cc:
dute: October 16, 2003, at 5:25:13 PM.

1 ALEC (1119322 NOV 03)
2 10400 (1617547 NOV 03). KSM, who wus with Ayman al-Zawahiri the day before his Murch 1,

2003, capture, first informed the CIA of this fact more than a month later, on Aprit 3, 2003. Sec [N 11139
(0519567 APR 03).
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) KSM was transferred to DETENTION SITE JJEIN o~ TR
l 2005,>> to DETENTION SITE BROWN on March JJJ}, 2006, and to U.S. military detention
at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, on Scptember 3, 2006.°% The CIA disscminated 831 intelligence
reports from the interrogations of KSM over a period of 3.5 years. While KSM provided more
intelligence reporting than any other CIA detainee (nearly 15 percent of all CIA detainee
intelligence reporting), CIA records indicate that KSM also received the most intelfigence
requirements and attention from CIA interrogators, debriefers, analysts, and senior CIA
leadership. Further, as noted, a significant amount of the disseminated intelligence reporting

from KSM that the CIA identified as important threat reporting was later identified as
fabricated.>>

H. The Growth of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program

1. Fifty-Three CIA Detainees Enter the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program in 2003

&S/ F) Whilc the CIA held detainces from 2002 to 2008, early 2003 was

the most active period of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. Of the 119 detainces
identified by the Committee as held by the CIA, 53 were brought into custody in 2003, and of the
39 detainees the Committee has found to have been subjected to the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques, 17 were subjected to such techniques between January 2003 and
August 2003, The CIA’s enhanced interrogations during that time were primarily used at
DETENTION SITE COBALT and DETENTION SITE BLUE.>? Other interrogations using the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques took place at a CTA JJJJJJJilf in Country | at which
at least one CI1A detainee was submerged in a bathtub filled with ice water >

rs/IN v) 11 2003, CIA interrogators sought and received approval to use the

CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against at least five detainecs prior to their arrival at a
CIA detention facility.* In two of those cases, CIA Headquarters approved the use of the CIA’s

7847 [ W 22 N 5 ADQUARTERS

2214 (0505397 SEP 06)

36 See KSM detainee review in Voiume TIL

37 For more information, see detainee reviews and reports in Volume TII for Ramzi bin al-Shibh, Muhammad Urar
‘Abd al-Rahman aka Asadallah, Abu Khalid, Khalid Shaykh Mohammad, Mustufa Ahmad al-Hawsawi, Abu Yasir
al-Jaza'iri, Suleiman Abduliah, Abu Hazim, Al-Shara’iys aka Abd al-Karim, Ammar al-Baluchi, Khallad bin Attash,
i.aid Ben Dobkman Saidi aka Abu Hudhaifa, Majid Khan, Mohd Furik bin Amin aka Abu Zubair, Samr Hilmi Abdul
Latif al-Barg, Bashir bin Lap aka Liltie, and Riduan bin Isomuddin aka Hambali.

%% For example, Abu Hudhaifa was subjected to this technique at the safehouse. (See email from: [REDACTED];

to: IREDACTEDY]; subject: Memo: date: March 15, 2004.) The incident was reported to the CIA inspector seneral.
ez el from: ISR o RN -~ <), I M
—; subject: our telcon; at: March 17, 2004, at 11:24 AM. See aiso claims related to the treatment of
Majid Khan. See — Briefing for the Senate Select Commitiee on Intefligence,
Implementation of Central Intelligence Agency Secret Detention and Interrogation Program, March 14, 2008,
559 DIRECTOR I (0122142 MAR 03); DIRECTOR Il (0400492 MAR 03): DIRECTOR -

(2520037 MAR 03); DIRECTOR -i 1622247 MAY Oai HEADEUARTERS (1023527 SEP 03)
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enhanced intcrrogation techniques before they were requested by CIA personnel at the detention
sites, 60

2. The CIA Establishes DETENTION SITE BLACK in Country l and DETENTION SITE
VIOLET in Country |}

W) The CIA cntered into an agreement with the

in Country Jj to host a CIA detention facility in.hz

CIA Headquarters invited the CIA Station in Counl to identify ways to support the
in Country J}to “demonstrate to ianﬁ the highest levels of the [Country

government that we deeply appreciate their cooperation and support” for the detention

rogram. 5 The Station responded with an $J] million “wisb Hst”
h;m CIA Headquarters provided the Station with $Jf million morc than was

requested for the purposes of the h subsidy.’® CIA detainees were transferred to
DETENTION SITE BLACK in Country J}in the fall of 2003.56°

(M) In August 2003, the U.S. ambassador in Country l sought to

contact State Department officials to ensure that the State Department was aware of the CIA
detention facility and its “potential impact on our policy vis-a-vis the {Country l]
government.”*® The U.S. ambassador was told by the CIA Station that this was not possible,
and that no onc at the State Department, including the secrctary of state, was informed about the
CIA detention facility in Country J§ Describing the CIA’s position as “unacceptable,” the
ambassador then requested a signed document from “at least the President’s National Sccurity
Advisor” describing the authorities for the program, including a statement that the CIA’s
interrogation technigues met “legal and human rights standards,” and an explicit order to him not
to discuss the program witb the secretary of state 37 CIA Headquarters tben sought the
intervention of Deputy Secretary of State Richard Armitage, who called the U.S. ambassador,
Deputy Secretary Armitage told the CIA to keep him and the secretary of state informed so that
they would not be caught unaware when an ambassador raised concerns, 5%

S/ 25 Nearly a year later, in May 2004, revelations about U.S. detainee
abuses at the U.S. military prison in Abu Ghraib, Irag, prompted the same U.S. ambassador in
Country l to seek information on CIA detention standards and interrogation methods.™ In the
fait of 2004, when JJJJf U.S. ambassador to Country ] sought documents authorizing the
program, the CIA again sought the intervention of Deputy Secrctary Armitage, who once again

560 pIRECTOR [N 0122142 MAR 03); DIRECTOR [l (0400492 MAR 03)
%61 IREDACTED] 60040
62 HEADQUARTERS
%3 [REDACTED] 5759
4 HEADQUARTERS

detainees arrived in Country | NN

%6 [REDACTED]
7 [REDACTED]
, sublect: Re: DRCE-Armitage call on [Country .}
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made “strong remarks” to the CIA about how be and the seeretary of state were “cut out of the
NSC [National Seeurity Council] clearance/coordination process” with regard to the CIA
program. According to CIA records, Armitage also questioned the efficacy of the program and
the value of the intelligence derived from the program.”® While it is unclcar how the h
ambassador’s concerns were resolved, he later joined the chief of Station in making a
presentation to Country [} s IEEE or the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. The
presentation talking points did not describe the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, but
represented that “fwlithout the full range of these interrogation measures, we would not have
succeeded in overeoming the resistance of [Khalid Shaykh Muhammad] and other equally
resistant HVDs,” The talking points included many of the same inaccurate representations®”
made to U.S. policymakers and others, attributing to CIA detainees critical information on the
“Karachi Plot,” the *Heathrow Plot,” the “Second Wave Plot,” and the “Guraba Cell”; as well as
intelligence related to Issa al-Hindi, Abu Tatha al-Pakistani, Hambali, Jose Padilla, Binyam
Mohammed, Sajid Badat, and Jaffar al-Tayyar. The presentation also noted that the president of
the United States had dirccted that he not be informed of the locations of the CIA detention
facilities to ensure he would not accidentally disclose the information.’’?

{ } In a separate country, Country ., the CIA obtained the approval of
the and the political leadership to establish a detention facility before
informing the U.S. ambassador.””® As the CIA chief of Station stated in his request to CIA
HHeadquarters 1o brief the ambassador, Country .’s nd the

robably would ask the ambassador about the CIA detention facility >™* After
delayed briefing the for
months, to the consternation of the CIA Station, which wanted political approval prior to the

arrival of CIA detainees.” The Country [Jofficial ouside of
the aware of the facility, was described as
“shocked,” but nonetheless approved.”’®

{ ) By mid-2003 the CIA had concluded that its completed, but stifl
unused “holding cell” in Country .was insufficient, given the growing number of CIA detainecs
in the program and the CIA’s interest in interrogating multiple detainees at the same detention
site. The CIA thus sought to build a new, expanded detention facility in the country.>” The CIA

57 Lotus Notes message from Chief of Station ||| G © D/Crc. COPS; copied in: email from:
s to: [REDACTEDY, [REDACTED]; ce: [REDACTEDY, ,
; subject: ADCE Talking Points for Call to DepSec Armitage; date: a1 7:40:43 PM.

The CIA’s June 2013 Response states that “with regard to the Study’s claims that the State Department was ‘cut out’
of information relating to the program, the record shows that the Secretary of State, Deputy Secretary of State. ..
were aware of the sites at the time they were operational.” As detailed throughout the Committee Study, CIA
records indicate the secretary of state was not informed of the CIA detention site locations. During meetings with
the CIA in the summer of 2013, the Comunittee requested, but was not provided, documentary evidence to support
the assertion in the CIA’s June 2013 Response.

57t See relevant sections of this summary and Volume II for additional details.

P HEADQUARTERS REDACTED]

3 [REDACTED] 64105
S REDACTED] 30206
373 See Volnme I for additional details.

76 [REDACTED] 4076 [REDACTED]; [REDACTED] 32266 [REDACTED]
77 HEADQUARTERS R
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” for the support for

also offered $l million to the — to “show appreciation

the program.”’® According to a ClA cable, however, the

37 While the plan to construct the
expanded facility was approved by the . the CIA and
developed complex mechanisms to

in order to provide the

miilion to the

in Countn

requested an update on planning for the C1A

complicated the arrangements,

e

when thc Coun
detention site, he was told : inaccurately—-that the planning had been
discontinued.”® In , when the facilii received its first CIA detainecs, h

informed the C1A that the of Country l “probably has an

incomplete notion [regarding the facility’s] actual function, i.¢., he probably believes that it is
* center.”%?

some sort of
3. At Least 17 CIA Detainees Subjected to the CIA's Enhanced Interrogation Techniques
Without CIA Headguarters Authorization

(M} CIA cables from the spring of 2003 and afterwards describe

multiple examples of interrogation practices at CIA detention sites that were inconsistent with
the CIA’s detention and interrogation guidelines. CIA officers at DETENTION SITE
COBALT-—Iled principally by Chief of Interrogations ——dlsﬂ described a number
of interrogation activities in cables that were not approved by CIA Headquarters CIA
Headquarters failed to respond, inquire, or investigate:

o Cables revealing that the CIA’s chief of interrogations used water dousing against
detainees, including with cold water and/or ice water baths, as an intcrrogation technique
without prior approval from CIA Headquarters;?

5% HEADQUARTERS w
HIREDACTED] 4088

80 Cee Volume I for additional details.
BUREDACTED] 5203 . See also [REDACTED] 5327
2 IREDACTED! 5417
details on detainees in Count

39042 (R A Y 03); 38596 (201220Z MAY 03);
39582 (041743Z JUN 03); 38557 (1916417 MAY 03);
38597 (201225Z MAY 03); 30101 JN A Y 03).

Water dousing was categorized as a “standard” interroiation tcc}miﬁc in June 2003.
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+ (Cables and records indicating that CIA detainees who were undergoing or had undergone
the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques were subjected to rectal rehydration,
without evidence of medical necessity, and that others were threatencd with it;%%¢

« Cables noting that groups of four or more interrogators, who required practical
cxperience to acquire their CIA interrogation “certificatton,” were allowed to apply the
CIA’s cnhanced interrogation techniques as a group against a single detaince;”® and

by [REDACTED] and
34575

B See 34491 (0514007 MAR 03); Interview of
; subject: Re: Update; date:

{REDACTED] of the Office of the Inspector Genersl, March 27, 2003;
, email from: st [REDACTED]; ce:
at 4:531:32PM; F2383 (2220457 JUL 03); . In

addition to the rectal rehydration or feeding of al-Nashiri, KSM and Majid Khan, described elsewhere, there is at
least one record of Abu Zubaydah receiving “rectal fluid resuscitation” for “partially refusing Hquids,” (See
10070 *.) Marwan al-Jabbur was subjected to what was originally referred to in a
cable as an “enema,” but was later acknowledged to be rectal rehydration. (See
, email from: s t0: , [REDACTED], [REDACTED|,
{REDACTED], |IREDACTEDY; subject: Re: TASKING — Fw: date: March 30, 2007; DTS #2007-1502)

Rumzi bin sl-Shibh, Khallad bin Attash and Adnun af-Libi were threatened with rectal rehydration. (See
10415 T 2385 (2220457 JUL 03); email from: *; to:
; subject: Medical Evaluation/Update JJI047); date: March ||, 2004.) CIA medical officers discussed

recta] rehydration as a means of behavior control. As one officer wrote, *[{wlhile IV infusion is safe and effective,

we were impressed with the ancillary effectiveness of rectal infusion on ending the water refusal in a similar case.”
e cmai o SN o M .. . M .1
date: February §if, 2004.) The same officer provided a description of the procedure, writing that “{rlegarding the
rectal tube, if you place it and open up the IV tubing, the flow will self regulate, sloshing up the large intestines.”
Referencing the experience of the medical officer who subjected KSM to rectal rehydration, the officer wrote that,

“fwihat I infer is that you get a tube up as far us you can, then open the IV wide. No need to squeeze the bag - let

ravity do the work.” (See emuil from to —, \
i, | and {(REDACTED], February 27, 2004, Subject: Re: (048).) The same

email exchange included s description of a previons application of the techniqgue, in which “we used the largest Ewul
sic] tube we had.” (See email from: [REDACTEDY; to . cc: {REDACTEDY}, [
, IREDACTED], [REDACTED]; subject: Re: {048), date: February .,

2004, at 11:42:16 PM.} As described in the context of the rectal feeding of al-Nushiri, Ensure was infused into al-
Nushiri “in a forward-facing position (Trendlenberg) with head tower than torso.” (See || ||| T 203 231709z
MAY 04).) Majid Khan’s "lunch tray,” consisting of huiminus, pasta with sauce, puts, and raisins was “pureed” and
rectally infused. (See “3240 (231839Z SEP 04).) The CIA's Inne 2013 Response does
not uddress the use of rectal feeding with CIA detainees, but defends the use of rectul rehydration as a "weil
acknowiedged medical teebnique.” CIA leadership, including General Counsel Scott Muller and DDG James Pavitt,
was also ulerted to ullegations that rectal exams were conducted with “excessive force” on two detainees at
DETENTION SITE COBALT. CIA attorney wus asked to foliow up, although CIA records do not
indicate any resolution of the inguiry. CIA records indicate that one of the detainees, Mustafa al-Hawsawi, was later
diagnosed with chronic hemorrheids, an anal fissure, and symptomatic rectal prolapse. See email from:
[REDACTEDY}; to [REDACTED}; cc: _ IREDACTED}: subject: ACTIONS
from the GC Update this Morning, date: , at 12:15 PM; emasil from:  to:
{REDACTED}; cc: [REDACTED], {REDACTED], IREDACTEDY], subject: ACTIONS from the
GC Update this Moming:, date: L at 1:23:31 PM; email from: st
[REDACTED]; ce: L [REDACTED]; subject: Re: ACTIONS from the GC Update this Mornin
REQUEST FOR STATUS UPDATE; date: December | 2003, at 10:47:32 aM; [l 3223 H
HEADQUARTERS
%3 See, for example,
(2011332 MAY 03);

38130 (1217222 MAY 03):
38127 (1217147 MAY 03);

38384
38161
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o Cables revealing that the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques were used at CIA
B 2t v cre not designated as CIA detention sites. %

ES/E ) 1n the first half of 2003, the CIA interrogated four detainees with

medieal complieations in their lower extremities: two dctainces had a broken foot, one detainee
had a sprained ankle, and one dctainee had a prosthetie leg. % CIA interrogators shackled each
of these detainees in the standing position for sleep deprivation for extended periods of time until
medical personncl assessed that they could not maintain the position. The two detainees that
each had a broken foot were also subjected to walling, stress positions, and eramped
eonfincment, despite the note in their interrogation plans that these speeifie enhanced
interrogation techniques were not requested because of the medical condition of the detainees,
CIA Headquarters did not react to the site’s use of these CIA enhaneed interrogation techniques
despite the laek of approval.

(SPS!-#N-F-) Over the course of the CIA program, at feast 39 detainces were

subjected fo one or more of the CIA’s enhanced intcrrogation teehniques.®™ CIA records
indicate that there were at Jeast 17 ClA detainees who were subjected to one or more C1A
enhanced interrogation techniques without CIA Headquarters approval. This eount ineludes
detainees who were approved for the use of some techniques, but werce subjeeted fo unapproved
techniques, as well as detainees for whom interrogators had no approvals to use any of the
techniques. This eount also takes into account distinctions between teehniques categorized as
“cnhaneed” or “standard” by the C1A at the time they were applied.*® The 17 detainees who

(1313262 MAY 03 EEERNE 32595 201216z MAY 03); NG 3 : 26
(121709Z MAY 03).
35341 r;—m%
39042 MAY 03), email from: {REDACTEDi; to:

36 Loe for example,

IREDACTED]; subject: Memo, date:

- 2005-8085-1G; 39101
MAY 03); 37708 (0512257 MAY 03); 39077 (271719Z
MAY 03), 30099 (281101Z MAY 03).

57 Eor more details, see detainee reviews for Mohammad Umar ‘Abd sl-Rahman aka Asadalialy, Abu Hazim al-Libi;
Al-Shara’iya aka Abd al-Karim; and Khailad bin Attash,

& The two detainees were Abu Hazim al-Libi und Al-Shara’iys aka Abd al-Karim.

%9 This is a conservative estimute. CIA records suggest that the CIA's enhanced interrogation technigues may have
also been used against five additional detainees at DETENTION SETE COBALT in 2002, which would bring the
number of CIA detuinees subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techuiques to 44. Those additional
detainees were “ [DETAINEE R}, who was approved for the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques, but whose records do not refer to the use of the techniques (ALEC [ IR (RGN
l}); Ayub Murshid Al Salih and Ha’il Aziz Ahmad Al-Maythali, whose records refer t0 a luck of steep, but ot the
application of sleep deprivation <—V 28132 (101143Z OCT 02); *
27964 (0719497 OCT 02)); Bashir Nasir Ali al-Marwulsh, who luter told debriefers thut, when he was first

captured, he “had to stand up for five days straight and answer guestions” and “was also forced to strip naked and
stand in front of a female interrogator” H 14353 (2315212 APR 03)); and Sz’id Satih $2°id,
who later told debriefers that he was “mistreated and beaten by Americans while blind-folded and stripped down to
his underwear in [ Sec NG : 3336 (0901542 JAN 03)). See also detainee reviews in
Volume HE for more information.

¥ The CIA’s June 2013 Response objects to the Committee’s count, arguing that “[n}o more than seven detainees
received enhanced techniques prior to written Headquarters approval.” The CIA’s June 2013 Response then asserts

that “the Study miscounts because it confuses the use of standard iechniiues that did not require prior approval at the
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were subjected to techniques without the approval of CIA Headquarters were: Rafiq Bashir al-
Hami,** Tawfiq Nasir Awad al-Bihandi,®? Hikmat Nafi Shaukat,*® Lufti al-Arabi al-Gharisi 3%
Muhammad Ahmad Ghulam Rabbani aka Abu Badr,” Gui Rahman,’®® Abd al-Rahim al-

time they were administered with enhanced techniques that did.” This statement in the CIA’s June 2013 Response is
inaccurate. First, prior to January 2003, the CIA had not yet designated any technique s a “standard” technique.
Because sleep deprivation was included in the Aagust T, 2002, OLC memorandun: approving the use of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation technigues on Abu Zubaydah, the Comumittee included, among the 17, CIA detainees
subjected to sleep deprivation without CIA Headquasters authorization prior to January 2003. In January 2003,
steep deprivation under 2 specific time {imit was categorized as a “standard” CIA interrogation technique. Second,
the January 2003 guidelines state that advance CIA Headguarters approval was required for “standard” techniques
“whenever feasible.” For this reason, the Committee did not include cases where CIA interrogators failed to obtain
authorization in advance, but did acquire approval within several days of initiating the use of the “standard”
techniques. Finally, water dousing was not characterized as a “standard” technique until June 2003, {See
DIRECTOR 2115182 JUN 03); DIRECTOR — (302126Z JAN 03); DIRECTOR (3117022
JAN 03), 35582 (0417437 JUN 03).) In numerous cases prior to June 2003, water
dousing was explicitly described in CIA cables as an “enhanced” interrogation technique. (See, for example,
DIRECTOR (101700Z FE8 03).) The Committee thus included, among the 17, CIA detainees sabjected to
water dousing prior to June 2003 without CIA Headguarters authorization. The distinction between standard and
enhanced interrogation techniques, which began in January 2003, was eliminated by CIA leadership in 2005, See

Volume I and Volume 3 for additionat details.

% Rafiq Bashir al-Hami was subjected to 72 houss of sleep deprivation between his atrival at DETENTION SITE
COBALT and his October ]| 2002, interrogation. See h 28297 N

¥2 Tawfiq Nasir Awad al-Bihani was subjected to 72 hours of sleep deprivation between his arrival at DETENTION
SITE COBALT and his October [l 2002, interrogation. See h 28462 N
593 CTA cables from October 2002 noted that Shaukat was “tired from his regimen of limited skeep deprivation.” See

28381

594 1 ufti al-Arabi aj-Ghansi snderwent at least two 48-hour sessions of sleep deprivation in October 2002, See
ﬂ 20352 NN

5 Abu Badr was subjected to forced standing, attention grasps, and cold temperatures without biankets in

November 2002. Se. I >->5; IR

29036 s and
8 CIA interrogators used sleep deprivation, facial slap, use of cold {including cold cefls and cold showers), “hard

takedowns,” dietary manipulation, nudity, and light deprivation on Gul Rahman. See
29520 ; 29520 :
29770 3 interview of {CIA OFFICER 1], December 19,

2002, nterview of Hammond DUNBAR, Japuary 9, 2003; Memorandum for Deputy Director
of Operations, from , fanuary 28, 2003, Subject: Death Investigation - Gul RAHMAN; CIA
Inspector General, Report of Investigation, Death of a Detainee — (2003-7402-1), April 27, 2005; and
CIA Inspector General, Special Review, Counterterrorism Detention And Interrogation Activities {September 2001 -
Getober 2003), May 7, 2004
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Nashiri,*” Ramzi bin al-Shibh,”® Asadallah,*® Mustafa al-Hawsawi,’® Abu Khalid,* Laid bin
Duhmuan aka Abu Hudhaifa,%? Abd al-Karim,%? Abu Hazim, % Sayyid Ibrahim,* Abu Yasir
al-Jaza'iri,%°¢ and Suleiman Abdullah.®" In every case except al-Nashiri, the unauthorized

97 Abd al-Rahim af-Nashiti was subjected to unapproved nudity and spproximately two-and-s-half days of sleep
deprivation in December 2002, with his arms shackied over his head for as long as 16 howrs. See email from:
{DETENTION SITE BLUE] : to: ﬂ; subject: EYES ONLY -
| ONLY -~ MEMO FOR ADDO/DDO, date: January 22, 2003,

98 ‘fhe facial hold was used against Ramzi bin al-Shibh muitiple fimes withont approval. See 10415
; 10429 (1012157 FEB 03}, 10573 (2411432 FEB 03); 10582
(2420267 FEB 03}, 10591 (2520027 FEB 03), 10602 (2620204 FEB 03); 10633

(0115372 MAR 03}, and 10704 (0712397 MAR O3).
%9 Interrogators used water dousing, nudity, und crumped confinement on Asadailah without having sought or
received authorization from CIA Headquarters. Bathing detainees did not require anthorization by CIA
Heudquarters; however, as described in CIA cables, the application of “bathing”™ in the case of Asadullah was done
punitively and was used as an interrogation technique. Nudity was also used in conjunction with water

dousing/bathing and later as an interrogation technigue, without approval from CIA Headguarters, See —
1241 . - I ' I

550 Muystafu al-Hawsawi was subjected to water dousing without approval from CIA Headguarters. See —
(0812072 APR 03).

9 Interrogators used steep deprivation against Abuy Khalid prior to seeking anthorization from CIA Headguarters,
and then failed to obtain such authorization. Sze 35193 . -
 ERx Abu Khalid had been in CIA custody for 17 days prior to

the use of the techniqne. Advance suthorization from CIA Headquarters was therefore “feasible,” and thus required
under the guidelines.
2 Abyu Hidhaifa was sabjected to baths in which ice water was used, stinding sleep deprivation for 66 hours that

was discontinued due to a swollen leg attributed to prolonpged standing, nudity, and dietary manipulation. (See emuil
. to: [REDACTED], & ﬁ and
- subject: oor telecom; date: March [l 2004, CIA Office of Inspector General Report, 2005-8085-1G,
39098 3 & 30042 J VA Y 03); and

3910t MAY 03).). No request or approval for the nse of standard or
enhanced interrogation technigues could be located in ClA records.
3 Abd al-Karim, who saffered from a foot injury incurred during his captare, was subjected to cramped

confinement, stress positions, and walling despite CIA Headgourters having not upproved their use. See
DIRECTOR BN A Y 03); and DIRECTOR “

¢ Abun Hazim, who afso had a foot injory incurred during his captore, was subjected to walling, despite CIA
Heaﬁuartets hav'mi not aipmved its use. (See * 36908 »and

37410 (2918287 APR 03).) Nudity, dietary manipulation, and facial grasp were nsed on
Abu Hazin at least 13 days prior to receiving approvai.“ 37411 (2018297 APR 03);
wm (291828Z APR 03); 37493 h-,
DIRECTOR MAY 03}

5 CIA cables indicute that Suyyid Ibrahim was subjected to sleep deprivation from Junnary 27, 2004, to Jannary 30,

2004, which exceeded the 48 hours approved by CIA Heudguurters. See HEADQUARTERS (2721557
JAN 04); 1303 AN 04), 1295 R AN 04,
AN 04}, 1311 AN 04).

1303
8¢ During March 2003 interrogations at DETENTION SITECOBALT, Abu Yasir al-Juza’iri was “bathed,” a term
used to describe water dousing, which was considered at the time to be an enhanced interrogation technique. (See
35558 J AR 03).) Water dousing had not been approved, and the subsequent
request, by DETENTION SITE BLUE, to use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on al-Jaza'iti, did not
inclnde water dousing. See [ 10990
7 Interrogators requested approvals to use the CiA's enhunced interrogation techaiques on Suieiman Abdullsh,

incloding water dousing. CIA Heudaguurters then approved other techaigues, but not water dousing. (See
H 36559

- DIRECTOR
Abduilah was nonetheless subjected to water dousing.

Page 103 of 499

UNCLASSIHFED



UNCLASSIFIED

interrogation techniques were detailed in CI1A cables, but CIA Headquarters did not respond or
take action against the CIA personnel applying the unauthorized interrogation technigues. 5%

(U) This list does not include examples in which CIA interrogators

were authorized to use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, but then implemented the
techniques in a manner that diverged from the authorization. Examples include Abu Zubair®®
and, as detailed, KSM, whose interrogators developed methods of applying the waterboard in a
manner that differed from how the technique had previously been used and how it had heen
described to the Department of Justice. This count also excludes additional allegations of the
unauthorized use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.®'°

(M) Over the course of the CIA's Detention and Interrogation Progran,

numerous detainees were subjected to the CIA’s cohanced interrogation techniques by untrained
interrogators. As noted, the CIA did not conduct its first training course until November 2002,
by which time at least nine detatnees had already been subjected to the techniques.®t! The DCT's
January 28, 2003, guidelines, which stated that the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques

% The CIA’s June 2013 Response stutes that the CIA “conducted at feast 29 investigations of RDI-related conduct,
pius two wide-ranging reviews of the program... one involved the death of an Afghan national who was beaten by a
contractor. The individual involved was prosecuted by the Department of Justice and convicted of a felony charge.
Another case involved a contractor who slapped, kicked, and struck detainees while they were in mititary custody.
... [TIhe contractor was terminated from the CIA, had his security elearances revoked, and was placed on a
contractor watch list.”” However, the two specific examples provided in the CIA’s June 2013 Response refer to
detainees who were never part of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. On November 6, 2013, the CIA
provided a list of “IG Investigations Concerning Detention, Interrogations, and Renditions.” The fist of 29 included
14 investigations that were directly related to the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. Four additional
investigations were refated to detainees who claimed they had been subjected to abuse in transit from CIA custody
to U.S. military custody at Guantanamo Bay. The remaining {1 investigations were unrelated to the CIA's
Detention and Interrogation Program. See DTS #2013-3250

9 CTA chief of interrogations, h, placed a broomstick behind the knees of Zubair when Zubair was ina
stress position on his knees on the floot. Although stress positions had been approved for Zubair, the use of the
broomstick was not approved. See April 7, 2003, Briefing for Blue Ribbon Panet, CIA Rendition, Detention, and
Interrogution Programs, at 22.

6% Majid Khan has claimed that, in May 2003, he was subjected to immersion in a tub that was filled with ice and
water. (See ~ Briefing for the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, Implementation
of Centrai Intelligence Agency Secret Detention and Interrogation Program, dated March 14, 2008.) While CIA
cables do not confirm bathing or water dousing, Chief of Interrogations —, subjected Abu Hudhaifa to

an (unauthorized) “icy water” bath at the same where Majid Khan was held. (See email from:
3 to: [REDACTED], [REDACTED],
our telecon; date; and email from: {REDACTED]

subject: Memo, date: ) Ayub Murshid Al Salih and Ha'tl Aziz Ahmad aj-Maythali were described

as not having slept, aithough it is unclear from CIA records whether CIA interrogators kept them awake. (See
“81 32 (1011432 OCT 02) and * 27964 (0719492 OCT 02).)
Bashir Nasri Ali al-Marwalah told debriefers at Guantanamo Bay that he was “tortured” at DETENTION SITE
COBALT with five days of continual standing and nudity. {See 14353 (231521Z APR
03}.) Sa'id Salih 84’id likewise informed debriefers at Guantanamo that he was “beaten” while blind-foided in CIA
custody. {See 13386 (09011542 JAN 03).) Sixteen other detuinees were heid at
DETENTION SITE COBALT between September and December 2002, a period during which exposure to the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques such as sleep deprivation and nudity cannot be determined based on the
tack of details in CIA cables and related documents.

11 December 4, 2002, Training Report, High Value Target Interrogation and Exploitation (HVTIE) Training
Seminar 12-18 Nov 02 (pilot runuing).
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“may be employed only by approved interrogators for use with specific detainees,” raised the
additional issue of approved technigues used by unapproved interrogators.**? The January 28,
2003, DCI guidelines did not explicitly require CIA Headquariers to approve who could use the
CIA’s “standard” interrogation techniques, including techniques that were not previously
considered “standard” and that would later be reclassified as “enhanced” interrogation
techniques. Rather, the DCI guidelines required only that “all personnel direetly engaged in the
interrogation” be “appropriately screened,” that they review the guidelines, and that they reccive
“appropriate training” in the implementation of the guidelines.®*

4. CIA Headquarters Authorizes Water Dousing Without Departinent of Justice Approval,
Application of Technigue Reported as Approximating Waterboarding

(MF) CIA Headquarters approved requests to use water dousing, nudity,
the abdominal slap, and dictary manipulation, despite the fact that the techniques had not been
reviewed by the Department of Justiee.®™ Interrogators used the water dousing technique in
various ways. At DETENTION SITE COBALT, detainees were often held down, naked, on a
tarp on the floor, with the tarp pulled up around them to form a makeshift tub, while cold or
refrigerated water was poured on them. 5" Others were hosed down repeatedly while they were
shackled naked, in the standing sleep deprivation position. These same detainees were

subsequently placed in rooms with temperatures ranging from 59 to 80 degrees Fahrenheit.®'

2003, CIA interrogator applied three facial attention grabs, five facial insulf slaps, and three

abdorminal slaps to Abd al-Karim, under the supervision of CIA interrogator _p[CZA OFFICER 1].
{See h 37821 h.) R 4 not been approved by CIA Headguarters
to employ the CIA’s enhanced intersogation techniques on al-Karim; approval had only been provided for
{CIA OFFICER 1] to use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. (See DIRECTOR
) On , CIA intervogator , under the supervision of conducted an

interrogation of Abd al-Karim in which interrogators used the facial attention grab, facial insult slap, and abdominal
sap agamst a K. (Scc IR > N ) (R . »o: b

approved by CIA Headguarters to employ the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against Abd al-Karim. In
another example, Q‘DETENTION SITE COBALT requested approval for certified interrogators

and FCIA OFFICER ilto use the CIA’s ephanced interrogation technignes against
Khailad bin Attash, and for three other interrogators, |GG and {0
aiso use the :echniiues “ander the direct supervision of senior certified interrogator | 1" {See

— 38323 ) Later that day, C1A Headquarters approved the use of CIA’s enhanced

inferrogation fechaigues against Khallad bin Attash, but the approval cable did not include approval for participation
by h of under 's supervision. {See DIRECTOR (162224Z MAY
03)) On May 17 and 18, 2003, and used the CIA’s enhanced inferrogation fechniques on bin

Attash under the supervision of . including facial grabs, facial insult slaps, abdominal staps, walling, and
38557 (1916417 MAY 03), _ 38597

water dousing. See
(2012252 MAY 03).

o3 DIRECTOR JJJK (3021262 1AN 03); DIRECTOR [ (3117022 JAN 03). The DCI guidetines provided
no further information, other than to note that the screening should be “from the medical, psychological, and
security standpoints.”

614 See, for example, DIRECTOR JJJJJf 101700z FEB 03).

815 Tn the case of Abu Hudhaifa, and allegedly Majid Khan, interrogators placed the detainee in an actual rubina
Cla - when employing water dousing that included ice water,

&6 CTA cable records often describe the detainees as naked after the water dousing, while other records omit such
detail. See Volume HI for additional information.

2 DIRECTOR q isoz;zﬁz 1aN 03); DIRECTOR JJI (3117022 JAN 03). For example, on May §,

Page 105 of 499

UNCLASSIFIED



UNCLASSIFIED

Other accounts suggest detainces were water doused while placed on a waterboard.®V7 Although
CIA Headquarters approved the use of tbe “water dousing” interrogation technigue on several
detainees, interrogators used it extensively on a number of detainees without seeking or
obtaining prier authorization from C1A Headquarters.5'8

(ﬂss#—tmpi In interroiation sessions on April 5, 2003, and April 6, 2003,

senior CIA interrogator and another interrogator used the water dousing
technique on detainee Mustafa al-Hawsawi at DETENTION SITE COBALT. Al-Hawsawi later
described the session to a different CIA interrogator, —, who wrote that al-
Hawsawi might have been waterboarded or subjected to treatment that “could be
indistinguishable from the waterboard,”®!® An email from the interrogator stated that;

*We did not prompt al-Hawsawi — he described the process and the table on
his own. As you know, I have serious reservations about watering them in a
pronc position because if not done with care, the net effect can approach the
effcet of the water board. If one is held down on his back, on the tahle or on
the floor, with water poured in his face I think it goes beyond dousing and the
effect, to the recipient, could be indistinguishable from the water board.

I have real problems with putting one of them on the water board for ‘dousing.’
Putting him in a head down attitude and pouring water around his chest and
face is just too close to the water board, and if it is continued may lead to
probiems for us.”6%

(T-S#—OENF) Several months later, the incident was referred to the CIA inspector

general for investigation. A December 6, 2006, inspector general report summarized the findings
of this investigation, indicating that water was poured on al-Hawsawi while he was lying on the
floor in a prone position, which, in the opinion of at least onc CYA interrogator quoted in the
report, “can easily approximate waterboarding.”%?! The OIG could not corroborate whether al-
Hawsawi was strapped to the waterboard when he was interrogated at DETENTION SITE
COBALT. Both of the interrogators who subjected al-Hawsawi to the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation technigues on April 6, 2003, said that al-Hawsawi ¢ried out for God while the

57 Binail from: wng I (5D ACTED] account; to: [N
and

; subject: Al-Hawsawi Incident; date: November 21, 2003.
¥ For additional details, see Volume IT1

539 Bmail from: using | (R0 ACTED] sceount; to: )
—, and ; subject: Al-Hawsawi Incident; date: November 21, 2003.
 Emgil from using ISR (* 5 C TED) acconnt; o

, and L subject: Al-Hawsawi Incident; date: November 21, 2003. Volume HI of the
Committee Study includes a CIA photograph of a2 wooden waterbowed at DETENTION SITE COBALT. As detuiled
in the full Committee Study, there are no records of the CIA using the waterboard interrogation technigue at
COBALT. The waterboard device in the photograph is surrotnded by buckets, with a bottle of unknown pink
solution {(filled two thirds of the way to the top) and & walering can resting on the wooden beams of waterboard. In
meetings between the Committee staff and the CIA in the summer of 2013, the CIA was unable to explain the details
of the photograph, to include the buckets, solution, and watering can, as well as the waterboard’s presence at
DETENTION SITE COBALT.

%! CIA O1G Disposition Memorandum, “Alleged Use of Unauthorized Interrogation Techniques” OIG Case 2004-
7604-1G, December 6, 2006,
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water was being poured on him and one of the interrogators asserted that this was because of the
cold temperature of the water. Botb of the interrogators also stated that al-Hawsawi saw the
waterboard and that its purpose was made clear to him. The inspector general report also
indicates that al-Hawsawi’s experience reflected “the way water dousing was done at
[DETENTION SITE COBALTL,” and that this method was developed with guidance from CIA
CTC attorneys and the CIA’s Office of Medieal Serviees.5*

S/ 25) During the same time that al-Hawsawi claimed he was placed on

the waterboard in April 2003, a CIA linguist claimed that CIA detainee Abu Hazim had also
been water doused ina wai that aijproximatcd waterboarding.5* , a Hinguist in

Country|| I from . 2003, unti! JJE 2003, told the OIG that:

“when water dousing was used on Abu Hazim, a cloth eovered Abu Hazim’s
face, and ;d [CIA OFFICER 11] poured eold water direetly on Abu
Hazim’s face to disrupt his breathing. {The linguist] said that when Abu
Hazim turned blue, Physician’s Assistant 1 removed the clotb so
that Abu Hazim could breathe. "%

&S/ ~5) This allegation was reported to the CIA inspeetor general on
August 18, 2004, The CIA reported this incident as a possible criminal violation oa September

822 CIA OIG Disposition Memorandum, “Alieged Use of Unauthorized Interrogation Techniques” OIG Case 2004-
7604-1G, December 6, 2006.

23 An accusation related to an additional detainee was included in a September 6, 2012, Human Rights Watch report
entitled, “Delivered Into Enemy Hands.” The report asserts that documents and interviews of former detainees
contradict CIA claims that “only three men in US custody had been waterboarded.” Specifically, the report states
that Molammed Shoroeiya, aka Abd al-Karim, “provided detaited and credible testimony that e was waterboarded
on repeated occasions daring US intervogations in Afghanistan.” According to the report, Mohammed Shoroeiya
stated that 2 hood was placed over his head and he was strapped to a “wooden board.” The former CIA detainee
stated that after being strapped to the waterbaard, “then they start with the water pouring... They start to pour water
to the point where you feel like you are suffocating.” As detailed in the foll Committee Study, Mohamiued
Shoroeiya, aka Abd al-Karim, was rendered to CIA custody at DETENTION SITE ion Aprit ], 2003,
While there are no CIA records of Mohammed Shoroeiya, aka Abd al-Ksarim, being subjected to the waterboard at
PETENTION SITE R (e il vature of the CIA intervogations at DETENTION SITE [ remains
largely unknown. Detainees at DETENTION SITE - were sebjected to technigues that were not recorded
in cable traffic, including multiple periods of sleep deprivation, required standing, loud music, sensory deprivation,
extended isolation, reduced quantity and quality of food, nndity, and “rough treatment” As described, Volume LI
of the Committee Study includes a CIA photograph of a wooden waterboard at DETENTION SITE [IENER A<
detailed in the full Committee Study, there are no records of the CIA using the waterboard interrogation technique at
DETENTION SITE . The waterboard device in the photograph is surrounded by buckets, with a bottle of
unknown pink solution (fitled two thirds of the way to the top) and a watering can resting on the wooden beams of
waterboard. In meetings between the Committee staff and the CIA in the sunmmmer of 2013, the CIA was unable to
explain the details of the photograph, to include the buckets, solution, and watering can, as well as the waterboard’s
presence at DETENTION SITE h In response to the aflegations in the September 2012 Human Rights
Wateh report, the CIA stated: “The agency has heen on the record that there are three substantiated cases in which
detainees were subjected to the waterboarding technigue under the program.” See “Libyan Alleges Waterbourding
by CIA, Report Says,” New York Times, September 6, 2012,

624 CIA G Disposition Memo, “Alleged Use of Unauthorized Techniques,” dated December 6, 2006. 2004-77717-
HY
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10, 2004, to the U.S. Attorney’s Office in the Eastern District of Virginia.®” The inspeetor
general report concluded that there was no corroboration of the linguist’s allegation, stating,
“{tihere is no evidence that a cloth was placed over Abu Hazim's face during water dousing or
that his breathing was impaired.”6%

3. Hambali Fabricates Information While Being Subjected to the CIA’s Enhanced
Interrogation Techniques

ces/ R - ) 1n the summer of 2003, the CIA eaptured three Southeast Asian
operatives: Zubair,%’ Lillie,”® and Hambali. (These capturcs are diseussed later in this
summary in the seetion entitled, “The Capture of Hambali,")6%

(M} In August 2003, Hambali was eaptured and transferred to CIA

custody.®® Despite assessments that Hambali was cooperative in the mterview process without
“the use of more intrusive standard interrogation procedures much less the enhanced measures,”
CIA interrogators requested und obtained approval to use the CIA’s enhaneed interrogation
techniques on Hambali approximately a month after his transfer to CIA custody.®®' In late 2003,
Hambali reeanted most of the significant information he had provided to interrogators during the
use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, reeantations CI1A officers assessed to be
credible 5 Aceording to a CIA cable:

3 CIA 1G Disposition Mermo, “Alieged Use of Unauthorized Techniques,” dated December 6, 2006. 2004-77717-
16.
26 CIA IG Disposition Memo, “Alleged Use of Unauthorized Techniques,” dated December 6, 2006. 2004-77717-

16.
84854
87617 I 57426 (1112237 AUG 03). Lillie was subjected to the

27
CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques almost immediately upon his arrival at DETENTION SITE COBALT, on

28
August ., 2003. He was “stripped of his clothing,” and “placed in a cell in the standing sleep deprivation position,
in durkness." (See * 1242 (1519142 AUG 03).) A duy later an interrogation plan for
Lillie, including the use of the C1A’s enhanced interrogation technigues, was submitted to CIA Headguarters on
August Jl 2003, (See [N ;243 (1520497 AUG 03).) CIA Headquarters upproved the use
of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on Lillie on the following day, August ., 2003, (See
HEADQUARTERS [ AUG 03)) As described, the Committee’s count of detainees subjected to
unauthorized techniques did not include detainees such as Lillie, who were suhjected to the CIA's “standard”
techniques prior to authorization from CIA Headguarters, but for whom authorization from CIA Headquarters was
acquired shortly thereafter. As noted, the Januvary 2003 guidelines required advance approval of such techniques

“whenever feasible,”
I =757 [ D - < .

"Hambalt Captare.” For additional details, see Volume H.

AUG 03y, [T 27 W A UG 03).
The cable also noted that CIA contractor Hammond DUNBAR had arrived at the detention site and wus
parficipating in Hambali’s interrogations as an interrogator. The “psychological assessment” portion of the cuble
was attributed 1o a CIA staff psychologist, however, and not 1o DUNBAR.
852 CIA officers interrogating Hambali in November 2003 wrote about Hambeli's “account of how, through
statements read to him and constant repetition of questions, he was made aware of whut type of answers his
questioners wunted, [Hambalil said he merely gave answers that were similar to what was being asked and whut he
inferred the interrogator or debriefer wanted, and when the pressure subsided or he was told that the information he
gave was okay, [Hambali] knew that he had provided the answer that was being sought.”™ The cable states, “Base
assesses {Hambali]’s admission of previous fabrication to be credible. [Humbalil's admission came after three

i
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“he had provided the false information in an attempt to reduce the pressure on
himself ... and to give an account that was consistent with what {Hambali}
assessed the questioners wanted to hear.”®

(m) CIA offieers later suggested that the misleading answers and

resistance to interrogation that CIA interrogators eited in their requests to use the CIA’s
enhaneed interrogation techniques against Hambali and an associated CIA detainee, Lillie, may
not have been resistance to interrogation, but rather the result of issues related to culture and
their poor English language skiils, %

6. After the Use of the CIA's Enhanced Interrogation Technigques, CIA Headquarters
Questions Detention of Detainee and Recommends Release; Detainee Transferred to U.S.
Military Custody and Held for An Additional Four Years

{U} In October 2003, the CIA interrogated Arsala Khan, an Afghan

national in his mid-fifties who was believed to have assisted Usama bin Laden in his escape
through the Tora Bora Mountains in late 2001.%° After 56 hours of standing sleep deprivation,
Arsala Khan was described as barely able to ecnunciate, and being “visibly shaken by his
hallucinations depieting dogs manling and killing his sons and family.” Aecording to CIA
cables, Arsala Khan “stated that [the interrogator] was responsible for killing them and feeding
them to the dogs.”®

@S/ 25 Arsala Khan was subsequently allowed to sleep. % Two days later,

however, the interrogators returned him to standing sleep deprivation. After subjecting Khan to
21 additional hours of sleep deprivation, interrogators stopped using the CIA’s enhanced

weeks of daily debriefing sessions with [the case officer] curried out almost entirely in Bahasa Indonesia. [Hambali}
hus consistently warmed fo {the case officer’s] discassions with him, and has provided to [the case officer]
additional information that he had avoided in the past... More tellingly, {Hambali} has opened up considerably to
fthe case officer] about his fears and motivations, and has taken to trusting [the case officer] at his word. [Hambali]
looks to {the case officer] as his sole confidant and fhe one person who has [Hambuli}'s interest in mind,, .. See
I 142 (3010552 NOV 03). This cable appears to have been retransmitted the following day us

1144 (01082372 DEC 03).

633 1142 (3010552 NOV 03)

&3 1072 (1106062 QCT 03); 1075 (1118282 OCT 03y - 1142 (301055Z NOV 03);
1158 (0814597 DEC 03), 1604 (1912327 JAN 04). After an Indonesian
speaker was deployed to debrief Hambali, the debriefer “got the distinct impression [Hambali} was just responding
‘yes” in the typical Indonesian cultura) munner when they sic] do not coraprehend a question.” The CIA cable then
noted thut, “[j]ast to clarify, jthe Indonesian speaking debriefer] then posed the same guestion in Indonesian,” and
“Twlithout pavse, [Hambali} replied with a direct contradiction, claiming that on 20 September 2001, e was in
Karachi, not Qandabar.” (See _ 1075 (1118282 OCT 03).) A Junuary 2004 cable stated that “Lillie is of
limited value,” adding that “fhiis English is very poor, and we do not have a2 Malay linguist.”" See

1604 (1912327 JAN 04). See alvo detainee reviews in Volume 111 for additional information,

&5 WASHINGTON

£393 (201006Z OCT 03). The information was also released in
. CIA records indicate that the CIA's inferrogations of Arsala Khan resnited

in one disseminated intelligence report, derived from information Khan provided the day he experienced the
hu!M via CIA WASHINGTON DC ﬁﬁ

657 1393 (2010062 OCT 03)
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interrogation techniques “[d]ue to lack of information from [Arsala Khan] pinning him directly
to a recent activity. " Three days after the reporting about Khan’s hallucinations, and after the
interrogators had already subjected Khan to the additional 21 hours of standing sleep deprivation
(beyond the initial 56 hours), CIA Headquarters sent a cable stating that RDG and the Office of
Medical Services believed that Arsala Khan should not be subjected to additional standing sleep
deprivation beyond the 56 hours because of his hallucinations.**

s/ ) After approximately a month of detention and the extensive use of

the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on Arsala Khan, the CIA concluded that the
“detainee Arsala Khan does not appear to be the subject involved in... current plans or activities
against U.S. personnel or facilities,” and recommended that he be released to his village with a
cash payment.** CIA interrogators at DETENTION SITE COBALT instead transferred him to
U.S. military custody, where he was held for an additional four years despite the development of
significant intelligence indicating that the source who reported that Arsala Khan had aided
Usama bin Laden had a vendetta against Arsala Khan’s family.®"!

7. A Year After DETENTION SITE COBALT Opens, the CIA Reports “Unsettling Discovery
That We Are Holding a Number of Detainees About Whom We Know Very Little”

(M) In the fall of 2003, CIA officers began to take a closer look at the

CIA detainees being held in Country . raising concerns about both the number and types of
detainees being held by the CIA. CIA officers in Country . provided a list of CIA detainees to
CIA Headquarters, resulting in the observation by CIA Headquarters that they had not previously
had the names of all 44 CIA detainees being held in that country. At the direction of CIA
Headquarters, the Station in Country . “completed an exhaustive search of all available records
in an attempt to develop a clearer understanding of the [CIA| detainees.” A December 2003
cable from the Station in Country . to CIA Headquarters stated that:

“In the process of this research, we have made the unsettling discovery that we
are holding a number of detainees about whom we know very little. The
majority of [CIA] detainees in [Country .I have not been debriefed for months
and, in some cases, for over a year. Many of them appear to us to have no
further intelligence value for [the CIA] and should more properly be turned
over to the [U.S. military], to [Country .] authorities or to third countries for
further investigation and possibly prosecution. In a few cases, there does not
appear to be enough evidence to continue incarceration, and, if this is in fact
the case, the detainees should be released. ¢

638

s HEADQUARTERS
HOHEADQUARTERS
&1 See, for example,

Page 110 of 499

UNCLASSIFIED




UNCLASSIFIED

ES/AII ) Reeords indicate that all of these CIA detainees had been kept in

solitary confinement. The vast majority of these detainees were later released, with some
receiving CIA payments for having been held in detention 5%

8. ClA Detention Sites in Country . Lack Sufficient Personnel and Translators to Support
the Interrogations of Detainees

&S/I »5) Throughout 2003, the CIA Tacked sufficient personnel and

adequate translators to eonduct debriefings and interrogations in Country J§  Because of this
personnel shortage, a number of detainees who were transferred to CIA custody were not
interrogated or debriefed by anyone for days or weeks after their arrival at CIA detention
facilities in Country JJ® As noted in a cable from the CIA Station in Country B in April 2003:

“Station is supporting the debricfing and/or interrogation of a large number of
individuals... and is constrained by a lack of personnel which would allow us
to fully process them in a timely manner.”%%

I. Other Medical, Psychological, and Behavioral Issues

1. CIA Interrogations Take Precedence Qver Medical Care

s/ ) Whilc CIA Headquarters informed the Department of Justice in

July 2002 “that steps will be taken to ensure that {Abu Zubaydah’s] injury is not in any way
exacerbated by the use of these {enhaneed interrogation] methods,”®€ CIA Headquarters
informed CIA interrogators that the interrogation proeess would take “precedence” over Abu
Zubaydah’s medical care.5 Beginning on August 4, 2002, Abu Zubaydah was kept naked, fed a
“bare bones™ liguid diet, and subjected to the non-stop use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques.®® On August 13, 2002, medieal personnel described how Abu Zubaydah’s
interrogation resulted in the “steady deterioration” of his surgieal wound from April 2002.%° On

843 This included Sayed Habib (SJD. Zarmein (4 nominat payment”), Modin Nik Mobammed (SJIIP, and Ali
Sueed Awadh ( . See Volume Il for additional details.

4 For detailed information, see Volume L

643 36229 (0609437 APR 03). See also detainee reviews for Lillie, Hambuli, Mustafa ul-
Hawsawi, and Suleiman Abdullah,

646 Sz Memorandum for John Rizzo, Acting General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Jay Bybee,
Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, Aggust 1, 2002, Interrogation of al Qaeda Operative.”

&7 ALEC (1823212 JUL 02)

698 See Abu Zubaydah detainee review in Volume Hi for additional information, as well as email from:
{(REDACTED] to: and [REDACTED]), subject: 15 Aug Clinical; date: Angast 15, 2002, at 06:34
AM.

&9 Ag email to OMS stated: “We are currently providing absolute minimum wound care (a5 evidenced by the steady
deterioration of the wound), [ Abu Zubaydah] has no opportonity to practice any form of hygienic self care (he's
filthy), the physical nature of this phuse dictates multiple physical stresses (his reaction to today’s activity is |
believe the culprit for the superior edge separation}, and nutrition is bare bones (six cans of ensure daily).” See
emuit from: [REDACTED], to: * and [REDACTEDY, subject: 15 Aug Clinical; date: August 15,
2002, at 06:54 AM.
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August 20, 2002, medical officers wrote that Abu Zubaydah’s wound had undergone
“significant” deterioration.®® Later, after one of Abu Zubaydah’s cyes began to deteriorate, !
CIA officers requested a test of Abu Zubaydah's other eyc, stating that the request was “driven
by our intelligence needs vice humanitarian concern for AZ,” The eable relayed, “[wle have a
lot riding upon his ability to see, read and write. 6%

(M) In April 2003, CIA detainees Abu Hazim and Abd al-Karim each

broke a foot while trying to cscape capture and were placed in casts.® CIA cables requesting
the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on the two detainees stated that the
interrogators would “forego cramped confinement, stress positions, walling, and vertical
shackling (due to [the detainees’] injury).”%* Notwithstanding medical concerns related to the
injuries, both of these detainees were subjected to one or more of these CIA enhanced
interrogation techniques prior to obtaining CIA Headquarters approval.

(M) In the case of Abu Hazim, on May 4, 2003, the CIA regional

medical officer examined Abu Hazim and recommended that he avoid all weight bearing
activities for an additional five weeks due to his broken foot.5%6 In the case of Abd al-Karim, on
April 18, 2003, a CIA physician assistant recommended that al-Karim avoid extended standing
for “a couple of weeks."®7 Six days later, on April 24, 2003, CIA Headquarters reviewed x-rays
of al-Karim’s foot, diagnosing him with a broken foot, and recommending no weight bearing and
the use of erutches for a total of three months.5® Despite these recommendations, on May 10,

5 NN 10647 (2013312 AUG 02); [ 10554 2113182 AUG 02); I 10679 (2509327

AUG 02)

65 Records indicate that Abu Zubaydah ultimately lost the eye. See [ 1 1026 076729z ocT 02).

652 10679 (2509322 AUG 02); £1026 (0707297 OCT 02)

63 36862 (1813522 APR 03)

654 4 36862 (181352Z APR 03).
To accommodate Abn Havim’s and Abd al Karim’s injuries, the cable stated that, rather than being shackled
standing during sleep deprivation, the detainees would be “seated, secured to a cell wall, with intenmittent
disruptions of normal sleeping patterns.” For water dousing, the detainees’ injured legs would he “wrapped in
lastic”” The requests were approved. See DIRECTOR -; PHRECTOR

853 With regard to Abu Hazim, on April 24, 2003, an additional CIA Headquarters approvaf cable was sent to
DETENTION SITE COBALT authorizing interrogator — to use the attention grasp, facial insult

slap, abdominal slap, water dousing, and sleep deprivation up to 72 hours; the cable did not approve the use of
walling or the facial hold. (See DIRECTOR iﬁ) Despite the lack of approval, walling was

used against Abu Hazim on April 28-29, 2003, and the facial hold was used on April 27, 2003. (See
i 37411 (2918292 APR 03); || NN /410 (2018287 APR 03);

37509 (0213092 MAY 03).) A May 10, 2003, CIA Headquarters cable approved walling and the facial
grasp. (See DIRECTOR ﬂ MAY 03}.) Abd al-Karim was also subjected to unapproved CIA
enhanced interrogation techniques that the detention site initially indicated would not be used due to the detainee’s

injuries. Without approvat from CIA Headquarters, CIA interrogators subjected Abd zi-Karim to cramped

confinement on April 19-20, 2003; stress positions on Aprii 21, 2003; and walling on April 21, and 29, 2003. (See
37121 (2217032 APR 03); 37152 (23142427 APR 03);
37202 (2509487 APR03); 37508 (0213052 MAY 03}) On

May 10, 2003, CIA Headqguarters approved an expanded list of CiA enhanced interrogation techniques that could be
used against Abd al-Karim, including walling and stress positions. See DIRECTOR MAY 03).
56 DIRECTOR MAY 03}

037 36862 (1813527 APR 03)
5% DIRECTOR
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2003, CIA intcrrogators believed that both Hazim and al-Karim were “strong mentally and
physically due to [their] ability to sleep in the sitting position.”** On May 12, 2003, a different
CIA physician assistant, who had not been involved in the previous examinations determining
the need for the detainees to avoid weight bearing, stated that it was his “opinion” that Abu
Hazim’s and Abd al-Karim’s injuries were “sufficiently healed to allow being placed in the
standing sleep deprivation position.”%° He further reported that he had “consulted with [CIA’s
Office of Medical Serviees] via secure phone and OMS medical officer concurred in this
assessment.”%! CIA Headguarters approved the use of standing slecp deprivation against both
detainees shortly thereafter.5? As a result, both detainees were placed in standing sleep
deprivation. Abu Hazim underwent 52 hours of standing sleep deprivation from June 3-5,
2003,9° and Abd al-Karim underwent an unspecified period of standing sleep deprivation on
May 15, 200356

(U) CIA detainee Asadallah was left in the standing sleep deprivation

position despite a sprained ankle. Later, when Asadallah was placed in stress positions on his
knees, he complained of discomfort and asked to sit. Asadallah was told he could not sit unless
he answered questions truthfully 563

2. CIA Detainees Exhibit Psychological and Behavioral Issues

(U) Psychological and behavioral problems experienced by CIA

detainees, who were held in austere conditions and in solitary eonfinement, also posed

38262 (1505412 MAY 03); NG 356! (1313262 MAY 03)

38161 (1313262 MAY 03)
38161 (131326Z MAY 03)
MAY 03) for Abu Hazim; and DIRECTOR | NG T 1Y 03) for

39582 (0417432 JUN 03); | EEEEEEEEEEERNNNNN 39656 (0609552 JUN 03)

3BA6S (1706522 MAY 03)

%5 Asadattah was also pluced in 1 “smull solation box” for 30 minutes, without anthorization and without discussion
of how the techaique would affect his ankle, (See 34098 :
*34294 34310 )
While CIA records contain information on other dc:amee mecdicat complaints (see Volume 1), those records also
suggest that detainee medical complaints could be underreported in CIA medical records. For example, CIA
medical records consistently report that CIA detainee Ramzi bin al-Shibh had no medical complaints. However,
CIA interrogation records indicate that when bin al-Shibh had previously compluined of ailments to CIA personnet,
hre was subjected to the CYA’s enhunced interrogation techniques and told by CIA interrogators that his medical
condition was not of concern to the CIA. (See h 10591 (252002Z FEB 03); 10627 (2819497,
FEB 03).) In testimony on April 12, 2007, C1A Director Michael Hayden referenced medical care of detainees in
thie context of the ICRC repost on CIA detentions. Hayden testified to the Committee: “The medical section of the
ICRC report concludes that the association of CIA medical officers with the intesrogation program is ‘contrary to
international standards of medical ethics.” That is just wrong. The role of CIA medical officers in the detainee
program is and always has been and always will be to ensure the safety and the well-being of the detainee. The
placement of medical officers during the interrogation techniques represents an exira measure of caution. Qur
medical officers do not recommend the employment or continuation of any procedures or techniques. The allegation
in the report that a CIA medical officer threatened 2 detainee, stating that medical care was conditional on
cooperation is blatuntly false. Health care has always been administered based upon detainee needs. It's neither
policy nor practice to link medical care to any other aspect of the detainee program.” This testimony was
incongruent with CEA records.

662 Sae DIRECTOR
Abd al-Karim.

G63
GO%
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management cballenges for the CIA 5% For example, later in his detention, Ramzi bin al-Shibh
exhibited behavioral and psychological problems, including visions, paranoia, insomasia, and
attempts at self-harm.®’ CIA psychologists linked bin al-Shibh’s deteriorating mental state to
his isolation and inability to cope with his long-term detention. 5 Similarly, ‘Abd al-Rahim al-
Nashirt’s unpredictable and disruptive behavior in detention made him one of the most difficult
detainecs for the CIA to manage. Al-Nashiri cngaged in repeated belligerent acts, including
throwing his food tray,*® attempting to assault detention site personnel,’° and trying to damage
items in his cell.”! Over a period of years, al-Nashiri accused the CIA staff of drugging or
poisoning his food and complained of bodily pain and insomnia.5"? As noted, at one point, al-
Nashiri launched a short-lived hunger strike, and the CIA responded by foree feeding him
rectally.5 An October 2004 psychological assessment of al-Nashiri was used by the CIA to
advance its discussions with National Security Council officials on establishing an “endgame”
for the program.®™ In July 2005, CIA Headquurters expressed concern regarding al-Nashiri’s
“continucd state of depression and uncooperative attitude.”” Days later a CIA psychologist
assessed that al-Nashiri was on the “verge of a breakdown, 676

@s/J N~ ©) Bcginning in March 2004, and continuing until his rendition to

U.S. military custody at Guantanamo Bay in September 2006, Majid Khan engaged in a series of
hunger strikes and attempts at self-mutilation that required significant attention from CIA
detention site personnel. In response to Majid Khan's hunger strikes, medical personnel

667 1759 €021319Z OCT 04); HEADQUARTERS

04002372 NOV 05); 1890
(1712252 NOV 04), 1878 (1409152 NOV 04}, 1930 (0616207 DEC 04},

2207 (1113197 APR 05); 2210 (14150772 APR O5); 2535 0518052 JUL 05);
2589 (120857Z JUL O5); 2830 (2513047 AUG 05); 1880 (122524 NOV

%56 For additional details, see Voluine I1L

0d); 1893 (2008312 NOV (4); CIA document entitled, “Detainee Talking Points for ICRC Rebuttal, §2
Aprit 2007; 2210 {14 13077 APR 03); 2535 (0518057 JUL 05); 2210
{141507Z APR 05); 2535 (0S180S8Z UL, 05); 2830 (291304Z AUG 05

1930 060620Z DEC 04); 2210 (1415072 APR 05)
668 2210 (1415077 APR 05); 2535 (0518052 JUL 05); [ 23 30 2913047 AUG

05)

£69 1691 (0816097 SEP 04); 1716 (180742Z SEP 04); 1998 (0207527 JAN

05y, 2023 (151735Z JAN 05); 2515 (301946Z JUN 05); 1150

(282019Z NOV 03)

m 1029 (291750Z JUN 06); 1142 (0413587 AUG 06); 1543 (111600Z AUG 04);
1716 (1807427 SEP 04); 3051 (301235Z SEP 05); 1029 (2917507 JUN 06

1 See, for example, 2474 (2516227 JUN 05); 2673 (0214517 AUG 05);

1716 (180742Z SEP 04).
512 §pg, for example, 1356 (0116442 JUL 04); 1880 (1409172 Nov o4); [ IR

1959 {111700Z DEC 04); 1962 (1210297 DEC 04); 1959 (111700Z DEC 04);
* 2038 (2115582 JAN 05); 1091 (031835Z NOV 03);

1266 (0523092 JAN 04); 1630 (271440Z MAR 04).
673 1203 €231709Z MAY 04); 1202 €231644Z MAY 04). CIA records indicate that af

least five detainees were subjected to rectal rehydration or rectal feeding: Abu Zubaydah, Abd al-Rabim al-Nashiri,
Khalid Shaykh Mohammad, Majid Khan, and Marwan al-Jabbur. See Volume 111 for additiona} details.

M Emait from: —; to. JJR. (DETENTION SITE BLACK ce:

subject: Interrogator Assessments/Request for Endgame Views; date: October 30, 2004,

S HEADQUARTERS I (2822172 301 05)

576 CIA Sametime exchange, dated 29/JUL/0S 08:01:51 ~ 08:50:13; between || NN -~ TN

")
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implemented various techniques to provide fluids and nutrients, including the use of a
nasogastrie tube and the provision of intravenous fluids, CIA records indicate that Majid Khan
cooperated with the feedings and was permitted to infuse the fluids and nutrients himself *”7
After approximately three weeks, the CIA developed a more aggressive treatment regimen
“without unnecessary conversation.”® Majid Khan was then subjeeted to involuntary rectal
feeding and rectal hydration, which included two bottles of Ensure. Later that same day, Majid
Khan’s “luneb tray,” eonsisting of hummus, pasta with sauee, nuts, and raisins, was “pureed”
and rectally infused.¢” Additional sessions of rectal feeding and hydration followed ®*® In
addition to his hunger strikes, Majid Khan engaged in acts of self-harm that included attempting
to cut his wrist on two occasions,® an attempt to chew into his arm at the inner elbow,%2 an
attempt to cut a vein in tbe top of his foot,%? and an attempt to cut into his skin at the efbow joint
using a filed toothbrush, %%

I. The CIA Sccks Reaffirmation of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program in 2003

1. Administration Statements About the Humane Treatment of Detainees Raise Concerns at
the CIA About Possible Lack of Policy Support for CIA Interrogation Activifies

&S/ 2 On severat occasions in early 2003, CIA General Counsel Scott

Muller expressed concern to the National Security Council prineipals, White House staff, and
Department of Justice personnel that the CIA’s program might be inconsistent with public
statements from the Administration that the U.S. Government's treatment of detainees was
“humane.”® CIA General Counsel Muller therefore sought to verify witb White House and
Department of Justice personnel that a February 7, 2002, Presidential Memorandum requiring the
U.S. military 1o treat detainees humanely did not apply to the CIA.%¢ Following those

677 3183 (161626Z SEP (4), 3184 {161628Z SEP 04);
3190 (J81558Z SEP 04), 3196 (2017314 SEP 04),
3197 (201731Z SEP 04); 3206 (2118194 SEP 04);

3135 (1206257 SEP 04),
3237 (2305522 SEP 04)

3240 (2318392 SEP 04)

3259 (2617347 SEP 04). The CIA's Jupe 2013 Response states that “rectal
rehydration” is a “well acknowledged medical technigue to address pressing health issues.” A follow-up CIA
document provided on October 25, 2013 (DTS #2013-3152), states that "{ffrom a health perspective, Mujid Khan
became uncooperative on 31 Avgust 2004, when he initiated 2 hunger strike and before he underwent rectal
rehydration.., CIA assesses that the use of rectal rehydration is 3 medicufly sound hydration techinique....” The
assertion that Majid Khun wus “uncooperative’” prior to rectai rehydration and rectal feeding is inaccurate. As
described in CIA records, prior to being subjected to rectal rehydration and rectal feeding, Mujid Khan cooperated
with the pasogustric feedings and was permitted to infuse the fluids und putrients himself.

68t 3694 (301800Z Nov o4), I ENENEGGEGEGNIE ;-2 (1915502 MAR 05);
4250 (221213Z MAR 05)

37124 (0317232 DEC 04)

3835 (26065927 DEC 04)

4614 (0713582 JUN 08)

535 February 12, 2003, MFR from Scott Mulier, Subject: "Humane” treatment of CIA detainees; Murch 7, 2003,
Memorandum for DDCIA from Muller, Subject: Proposed Response to Human Rights Wateh Letter.

56 Tannary 9, 2003, Dreaft Memorandum for Scott Mueller Isic], General Counsel of the Central Inteliigence Agency,

from John C. Yoo, Deputy Assistant Attnmei Genesal, Office of Lcia! Counsel, re: Application of the President’s
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discussions in early 2003, the White House press secrctary was advised to avoid using the term
“limane treatment” when discussing the detention of al-Qa’ida and Taliban personnel %7

TS/ E) 10 mid-2003, CIA officials also engaged in discussions with the

Department of Justice, the Department of Defense, and attorneys in the White House on whether
representations could be made that the U.S. Government complied with certain requirements
arising out of the Convention Against Torture, namely that the treatment of detainees was
consistent with constitutional standards in the Fifth, Bighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.®®® In
late June 2003, after numerous inter-agency discussions, William Haynes, the general counsel of
the Department of Defense, responded to a letter from Senator Patrick Leahy stating that it was
U.S. policy to comply with these standards.®®® According to a memorandum from the CIA’s

CTC Legal, h, the August 1, 2002, OLC opinion provided a legal
“safe harhor” for the C1A’s use of its enhanced interrogation techniques.®® The Augast 1, 2002,
opinion did not, however, address the constitutional standards described in the letter from
William Haynes.

S/ F) 1n july 2003, after the White House made a number of statements

again suggesting that U.S. treatment of detainees was “humane,” the CIA asked the national
security advisor for policy reaffirmation of the CIA’s use of its enhanced interrogation
techitigues. During the time that request was being considered, CIA Headquarters stopped
approving requests from CIA officers to use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.®!
Because of this stand-down, CIA interrogators, with CIA Headquarters approval, instcad used
repeated applications of the CIA’s “standard” interrogation techniques. Thesc “standard”
technigues were coercive, hut not considered to be as coercive as the CIA’s “enhanced”
interrogation techniques. At this time, sleep deprivation heyond 72 hours was considered an

February 7, 2002, Memorandum on the Geneva Convention (IFH) of 1949 to the Release of an a1 Qaeda Detainee to
the Custody of the C1A. The memorandum stated that neither ai-Qa’ida nor Taliban detainees qualified as prisoners
of war under Geneva, and that Common Article 3 of Geneva, requiring humane freatment of individuals in a
conflict, did not apply to al-Qa’ida or Taliban detaineey

7 March 18, 2003, Memorandum for the Record from | NN, subiect: meeting with DOJ and NSC
Legul Adviser.

% See, for example, March 18, 2003, emait from: ||| NG o: Scott Muller; subject: Memorandum for
the Record — Telcon with OLC; date: March 13, 2003; email from: Scott W. Muller; to: Stanley M. Moskowitz, John
H. Moseman; cc: , John A. Rizzo,_ sabject: Interrogations; date: April 1, 2003, at
1:18:35 PM; email from: s to: Scott Muller; cc: John Rizzo, [REDACTED], [REDACTED],
{REDACTED]; subject: Black letier law on Interrogations; Legal Principles Applicable to CIA Detention and
Interrogution of Captared Al-Qa’ida Personnel; date: Aprif 17, 2003.

9 June 25, 2003, Letter from William J. Haynes, 11, Genera! Counsel of the Department of Defense to Patrick
f.eahy, United States Senate.

9 June 30, 2003, Memorandum for the Record from J| | . Subjcct: White House Meeting on

Enhanced Techniques (DTS #2009-2659},
1 See, for example, email from: s to; {REDACTED] and [REDACTED]: subject: FYI - Draft

Paragraphs for the DCI on the Legal {ssues on Interrogation, as requested by the General Counsel, date: March 14,
2003; June 26, 2003, Statement by the President, United Nations International Day in Sapport of Victims of Torture,
http:'www. whitehouse. gov/news/releases/2003/06/20030626-3.htin; emauil from: John Rizzo; to: John Moseman,
h cc: Buzzy Krongard, Scott Mutler, William Harlow,; subject: Today's Washington Post Piece on
Administration Detainee Policy, date: June 27, 2003; July 3, 2003, Memorandum for National Security Advisor
from Director of Central Intefligence George J. Tenet, Subject: Reaffirmation of the Central Intelligence Agency’s
interrogation Program,

ror secreT/ N 0 roRN
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“enhanced” interrogation technique, while sleep deprivation under 72 hours was defined as a
“standard” ClA interrogation technique. To aveid using an “enhanced” interrogation technique,
ClA officers subjected Khallad bin Attash to 70 hours of standing sleep deprivation, two hours
less than the maximum. After allowing bim four hours of slecp, bin Attash was suhjected to an
additional 23 hours of standing sleep deprivation, followed immediately by 20 hours of scated
sleep deprivation. %

S/ 2F) Unlike during most of the CIA’s interrogation program, during the
time that CIA Headquarters was seeking poliey reaffirmation, the CIA responded to infractions
in the interrogation program as reported through C1A cables and other communications.
Although ﬂ, the chief of the interrogations program in RDG, does not appear to have
been investigated or reprimanded for training interrogators on the abdominal slap before its use
was approved,®? training significant numbers of new interrogators to conduct interrogations on
potentiaily compliant detainees,®* or conducting large numbers of water dousing on detainees
without requesting or obtaining authorization;® the CIA removed his certification to conduct
interrogations in late July 2003 for placing a broom handle behind the knces of a detainec while
that detainec was in a stress position.%%® CIA Headquarters also decertified two other
interrogarors, IS (C1 A OFFICER 1) and SN, in the same period,

although there are no official records of why those decertifications occurred.*”’

2. The CIA Provides Inaccurate Information to Select Members of the National Security
Council, Represents that “Termination of This Program Will Result in Loss of Life,
Possibly Extensive”; Policymakers Reauthorize Program

&S/ 7 On July 29, 2003, DCI Tenct and CIA General Counsel Muller

attended a meeting with Vice President Cheney, National Security Advisor Rice, Attorney
General Asheroft, and White House Counsel Gonzales, among others, seeking policy

34757 (101422 MAR 03); und

892 Bin Attush has one leg, which swelied during standing sleep deprivution, resulting in the transition to seated sieep
(2121212 JUL 03), 12385 (2220457 JUL 03); and
%3 HVT Training and Curriculum, November 2, 2002, at 17.
5 see, for example, || 10168 (0921307 JAN 03); Interview Report, 2003-7123-1G, Review of
Interrogations for Counterterrorisn Purposes, L April 7, 2003; CIA Office of Inspector General,
Special Review: Counterterrorisms Detention und Interrogation Activities (September 2001 - October 2003) (2003-
7123-1G), May 7, 2004, 10168 (0921307 JAN (3); 34098
: 34204 :
34310 ;
35025 (1613212 MAR 03).
896 Apri] 7, 2005, Briefin
Subject: Decertification of former Interrogator. Document not signed by h because he was “not
available for signature.”
28, 2003, Subject: Decertification of former Tnterrogator, signed by {CIA OFFICER 1} on July
29, 2003; and Aprit 7, 2005, Briefing for Blue Ribbon Panel: CIA Rendition, Detention, and Intertogation Programs
at 22; Memorandum for Chief, h, via [l CTC Legal from Chief, CTC/RDG, July 28,

deprivation. He was also subjected to nudity and dietary munipulation daring this period. See - 1237}
h 12389 (232040Z JUL 03).
4 HVT Training and Curriculum, November 2, 2002, at 17,
34179 (2622007 FER 03);

for Blue Ribbon Panel: CIA Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation Programs at 22;
Memorandum for Chief, h via [l CTC Legal from Chief, CTC/RDG, July 28, 2003,
87 $ee Memorandum for Chicf, |GGG, - CTC Legal from Chief, CTC/RDG, July
2003, Subiect: Decertification of former Intervogator.
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reaffirmation of its coercive interrogation program. The presentation included a list of the CIA’s
standard and enhanced interrogation techniques. CIA General Counsel Muller also provided a
description of the waterhoard interrogation technique, including the inaccurate representation
that it had been used against KSM 119 times and Abu Zubaydah 42 times.’”® The prescntation
warned National Security Council principals in attendance that “termination of this program will
result in foss of life, possibly extensive.” The CIA officers further noted that 30 percent of CIA
intelligence reports on al-Qaida were derived from detainee reporting, and that “major threats
were countered and attacks averted” because of the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques. The CIA provided specific examples of “attacks averted” as a result of using the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues, including references to the U.S. Consulate in Karachi,
the Heathrow Plot, the Second Wave Plot, and Iyman Faris.®® As described later in this
summary, and in greater detail in Volume 11, these claims were inaccurate. After the Cl1A's
presentation, Vice President Cheney stated, and National Security Advisor Rice agreed, that the
CIA was executing Administration policy in carrying out its interrogation program,’®

(M} The National Security Council principals at the July 2003 briefing

mutially concluded it was *not necessary or advisable to have a fufl Principals Committee
meeting to review and reaffirm the Program,”’® A CIA email noted that the official reason for
not having a full briefing was to avoid press disclosures, but added that;

“it is clear to us from some of the runiip meetings we had with [White House]
Counsel that the [White House] is extremely concerned [Secretary of State]

¥ CIA records indicate that KSM received at least 183 applications of the waterboard technigue, and that Aby
Zubuydah received at least 83 applications of the waterboard technique. In April 2003, CIA Inspector General John
Helgerson asked General Counsel Scott Muller about the repetitious use of the waterbourd, In early June 2003,
White House Counsel Alberto Gonzates and the Vice President’s Counsel, David Addi ngton, who were aware of the
inspector general’s concerns, asked Muller whether the number of waterboard repetitions had been too bigh in light
of the OLC guidance. This question prompted Maller to seek information on the use of the waterbourd os Abu
Zubuydah and KSM., (See interview of Scott Muller, by [REDACTED), [REDACTED], [REDACTED] and

[REDACTEDE, Office of the Inspector General, Angust 20, 2003; und email from: Scott Muller; t0: John Rizzo; cc:
ﬁ. (REDACTED], S NSM. (REDACTEDY; subject: “Report from
Gitimo trip (Not proofread, as usual)”; date: June ||, 2003, 05:47 PM.} As Muller told the OIG, he couid not keep up

with cable teaffic from CIA detainee interrogutions and instead received monthly briefings. According to OIG
records of the interview, Muller “said he does not know specifically how [CIA guidelines on interrogations] changed
because he does not get that far down into the weeds,” and “each detainee is different und those in the field have
some fatitude.” (See interview of Scott Maller, Office of the Inspector General, August 20, 2003.) Despite this
record and others detailed in the full Committee Study, the CIA’s June 2013 Response asserts that the CIA’s
“confinement conditions und treatment of high profile detainees like Abu Zubaydah were closely scrutinized at all
levels of management from the outset.”

9 August 5, 2003 Memorandum for the Record from Scott Maller, Subject: Review of Interrogation Program on 29
Juty 2003, Briefing shides, CIA Interrogation Program, July 29, 2003.

0 August 3, 2003, Memorandum for the Record from Scott Muller, Subject: Review of the Interrogation Program
on 29 July 2003. A briefing slide describing the “Pros” and “Cons” associated with the progran listed the following
under the heading “Con™: (1) “Blowback due to public perception of ‘*humane treatmeat,” (2) “ICRC continues to
attack USG policy on detainees,” and (3) “Congressional inquiries continge.” See Volume II for additional details.
1 August 5, 2003, Memorandum for the Record from Scott Muller, Subject: Review of Interrogation Program,July
29, 2003,
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Powell would blow his stack if he were to be hriefed on what’s been going
102
on.

(w) National Security Advisor Rice, however, subsequently decided

that Sceretary of State Colin Powell and Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfeld shouid be
bricfed on the CIA interrogation program prior to recertification of the covert action.”® As
described, both were then formally bricfed on the CIA program for the first time in a 25 minute
bricfing on September 16, 20037

@S/ ~E) On Scprember 4, 2003, CIA records indicate that CIA officials may

have provided Chairman Roberts, Vice Chairman Rockefeller, and their staff directors a bricfing
regarding the Administration’s rcaffirmation of the program.”® Neither the CIA nor the
Committee has a contemporaneous report on the content of the briefing or any confirmation that
the briefing occurred.

K. Additional Oversight and Outside Pressurc in 2004: ICRC, Inspector General, Congress,
and the U.S. Supreme Court

I. ICRC Pressure Leads to Detainee Transfers, Department of Defense Official Informs the
CIA that the U.S. Government “Should Not Be in the Position of Causing People to
Disappear”; the CIA Provides Inaccurate Information on CIA Detainee to the
Department of Defense

W) In January 2004, the ICRC sent a letter to —
indicating that it was aware that the United Statcs Government was holding
unacknowiedged detainees in several facilities in Country l “incommunicado for extensive
periods of time, subjccted to unacceptable conditions of internment, to 1ll treatment and torture,
while deprived of any possible recourse.”™ According to the CIA, the letter included a “fairly
complete list” of CIA detainees to whom the ICRC had not had access.”” This prompted CIA
Headquarters to conclude that it was necessary to reduce the number of detainees in CIA
custody.”® The CIA subsequently transferred at least 25 of its detainees in Country [ o the
U.S. military and forcign governments. The CIA also rcleased five detainees.™

02 Bmait from: John Rizzo; to: || subject: Rump PC on interrogations; date: July 31, 2003.

3 August 5, 2003, Memorandum for the Record from Scott Muller, Subject: Review of Interrogation Program, July
29, 2003,

™ September 26, 2003, CIA Memorandum for the Record from Muller, Subject: CIA Interrogation Program.

5 September 4, 2003, CIA Memorandum for the Record, Subject: Member Briefing.
06 January 6, 2004, Letter from

* HEADQUARTERS
8 HEADQUARTERS

% Soe, Tor example, DIRECTOR
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(M) The CIA provided a factually ineorrect description to the

Department of Defense eoncerning one of the 18 CIA detainees transferred to U.S. military
eustody in March 2004, The transfer letter deseribed C1A detainee Ali Jan as “the most trusted
bodyguard of Jaluluddin Haggani (a top AQ target of the USG)” who was captured in the village
of & on Junc . 2002.7'° Although there was an individual named Al Jan eaptured in
the village of on June [l 2002, CIA records indicate that he was not the detainee
being held by the CIA in the Country || SN facility. The Ali Jan in CIA custody was
apprehended cirea early August 2003, during the U.S. military operation — in
Zormat Valley, Paktia Province, Afghanistan.”'? CIA records indicate that Ali Jan was
wransferred to CIA custody after his satellite phone rang while he was in military eustody, and the
translator indicated the ealler was speaking in Arabie.”'* After his transfer to U.S. military
custody, Ali Jan was eventually released on July |, 2004.74

(M) In response to the ICRC's formal eomplaint about detainees being
kept in Country Ji] without ICRC aceess, State Department officials met with senior ICRC
officials in Geneva, and indicated that it was U.S, policy to eneourage all countries to provide
ICRC uccess to detainees, ineluding Country J|7** While the State Department made these
official representations to the ICRC, the CIA was repeatedly direeting the same country to deny
the ICRC access to the CIA detainces. In June 2004, the seerctary of state ordered the U.S.
ambassador in that eountry fo deliver a demarche, “in essence demanding {the country] provide
full aecess to all {country h} detainees,” which ineluded detainees being held at
the CIA's behest.”'® These conflieting messages from the United States Government, as well as
increased ICRC pressure on the eountry for failing to provide access, created signifieant tension
between the United States and the country in question.””

@S/ ~=) Later that year, in advanee of a National Security Council

Prineipals Committee meeting on September 14, 2004, officials from the Department of Defense
called the CIA to inform the CIA that Deputy Seeretary of Defense Paul Wolfowitz would not
support the CIA’s position that notifying the JCRC of all detainees in U.S. Government eustody
would harm U.S. national seeurity. According to an internal CIA email following the eall, the
deputy secretary of defense had listened to the CIA’s arguments for nondisclosure, but believed
that it was time for full notification. The ernail stated that the Department of Defense supported
the U.8. Government’s position that there should be full diselosure to the ICRC, unless there
were eompelling reasons of military neeessity or national sceurity. The cmail added that the

10 March 4, 2004, Letter from Jose Rodriguez, Director, DCI Counterterrorist Center to Thomas O’Connell,
Assistant Secretary of Defense, Special Operations/Low Intensity Conflict.

7 See 180219

2 2296 (1017092 04}

3 2296 (10170927 04y

74 Details in June 13, 2005, Letter to ICRC, responding to 2004 ICRC note verbale.

7i5

6 HEADQUARTERS
CiA custody were issuing demarches.
issued a demarche to the U.S. in
92037, and 93291
7 For more information, see Volume L

. During this same period, countries whose nationals wers in
issued a demarche to Country |l in 2004, and
2274

2004. See
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Department of Defense did not believe an adequate articulation of military neeessity or national
sccurity reasons warranting nondiselosure existed, that “DoD is tired of ‘taking hits’ for CIA
‘ghost detainees,”” and that the U.S. government “should not be in the position of eausing people
to ‘disappear.””7%

(U} Despite numerous meetings and eommunieations within the

executive branch throughout 2004, the United States did not formally respond to the January 6,
2004, ICRC letter until June 13, 200571

2. CIA Leadership Calls Draft Inspector General Special Review of the Program
“Imbalanced and Inaccurate,” Responds with Inaccurate Information; CIA Seeks to
Limit Further Review of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program by the Inspector
General

@S/ ) The CIA's Office of the Inspector General (OIG) was first

informed of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program in November 2002, nine months
after Abu Zubaydah beeame the CIA’s first detainee. As described, the information was
eonveyed by the DDQ, who also informed the OIG of the death of Gul Rahman. In January
2003, the DDO further requested that the QIG investigate allegations of unauthorized
interrogation techniques against ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri. Separately, the O1G “received
information that some employecs were coneerned that certain eovert Ageney activities at an
overseas detention and interrogation site might involve violations of human rights,” according to
the OIG’s Special Review, 20

(m) During the course of the OIG’s interviews, numerous CIA officers

expressed coneerns about the CIA’s lack of preparedness for the detention and interrogation of
Abu Zubaydah.” Other CIA offieers expressed eoncern about the analytical assumptions
driving interrogations,’® as well as the lack of language and cultural background among

78 Bmail from: [REDACTED]; to: John Rizzo, [REDACTED]; cc: {REDACTED], |G, (REDACTED],
{REDACTEDI, [REDACTED], [REDACTED], | Jose Rodrignez, John P. Mudd, [REDACTED,

{REDACTED], [REDACTEDY]; subject: DoD>’s position on ICRC notification; date: September 13, 2004,
1% June 13, 2005, Letter to ICRC, responding to 2004 ICRC note verbale.
720 Special Review, Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 — October 2003)
(2003-7123-1G), 7 May 2004, (DTS #2004-2710).
21 The chief of Station in the country that hosted the CILA’s first detention site told the OIG that “[t]he Reports
Officers did not know what was tequired of them, anulysts were not knowledgeable of the target, translators were
not native Arab speakers, and at least one of the [chiefs of Base] had limited field experience.” See Interview report
of [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, May 20, 2003. According to “ of CTC Legal,
there was no screening procedure in place for officers assigned to DETENTION SITE GREEN. See interview of

, by [REDACTED] und IREDACTED, Office of the Inspector General, February 14, 2003, See
also interview of H, Office of the Inspector General, Murch 24, 2003,
722 1 addition to the statements to the OIG described above, regarding the interrogation of Abu Zubaydah, CIA
officers expressed more general concerns. As ﬂ noted, the assumptions at CIA Headquarters that
Abu Zubaydah “knew everything about Al-Qa’ida, including details of the next attack” reflected how “the ‘Analyst
vs. Interrogator” issue ha[d} been uround from ‘day one.™ (See interview of , Office of the
Inspector General, February 27,2003.) According to Chief of Interrogations , subject matter experts
often provided interrogation requirements that wege “sot valid or well thought out,” providing the example of
Mustafa al-Hawsawi, (See interview of L Office of the Inspector General, Aprl 7, 2003.) Senior CIA
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members of the interrogation teams.” Some CIA officers described pressurc from CIA
Headquarters to usc the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, which they atiributed to faulty
analytical assumptions about what detainees should know.™* As the chief of RDG,
h, stated to the OIG in a Fcbruary 2003 interview:

“CTC does not know a lot ahout al-Qa’ida and as a result, Headquarters
analysts have constructed ‘models’ of what al-Qa’ida represents to them.
{h} noted that the Agency docs not have the linguists or subject
matter experts it needs, The questions sent from CTC/Usama bin Laden
(UBL) to the interrogators arc based on SIGINT [signals intelligence] and
other intcHigence that often times is incompletc or wrong, When the detainee
does not respond to the question, the assumption at Headquarters is that the
detainee is holding back and ‘knows’ more, and consequently, Headquarters
recommends rcsumption of EITs. This difference of opinion hetween the
interrogators and Headquarters as to whether the detainee is ‘compliant’ is the
type of ongoing pressure the interrogation team is exposed to. i_]
believes the waterboard was used ‘reckiessly’ - ‘too many times’ on Abu
Zubaydah at [DETENTION SITE GREEN], based in part on faulty
intelligence,”’
|
|

interrogator _ told the OIG that intervogators “suffered from a luck of substantive requirements from

CIA Headguarters,” and that “in every case so far, Headquarters’ mode! of what the detainee should know is

flawed.” h told the OIG that “I do not want to beat a man up based on what Headquarters says he should

know,” commenting thut, “1 want my best shot on something he (the detainee) knows, not a fishing expedition on

things he should know.” (See interview of ‘, Office of the Inspector Generai, Aprii 30, 2003.) Two

mterviewees told the OIG that requirements were sometimes based on inaccurate or improperty translated intercepts.

Jee interview of intermgatcrh Office of the Inspector General, March 24, 2003, Interview ofi |
{former chief of Station in the country that hosted the CIA’s first detention site], Office of the S

Inspector General, May 29, 2003.

2 One interviewee noted that several interrogators with whom he had worked insisted on condnctin interrogations

in English to demonstrate their dominance over the detainee. (See interview report of i, Office of

the Inspector General, March 17, 2003.) The CIA’s June 2013 Response acknowledges that “{t]he program

continued to face challenges in identifying sufficient, qualified staff -- particularly language-qualified personnel -- as

requirements imposed by Agency involveinent in Iraq increased.”
724 According tcw of CTC Legal, “{tJhe seventh floor [CIA leadership] can complicate the process

because of the mindset that interrogations are the silver bullet {and CIA leadership is] expecting immediate resufts.”
See interview of , Office of the Inspector General, February 14, 2003.) Senior Interrogator
_ provided the example of Khaliad bin Attash, who, he told the OIG, was determined by the chief of Base at
DETENTION SITE BLUE not to “warrant” the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. According to
debriefer called ALEC Station and told them to “go to the mat” in advocating for the use of the CIA 8
enhanced interrogation techaiques, elaiming thut bin Attush wus holding back information. (See interview of
d Office of the Inspector Genezal, April 30, 2003.) h described the “inherent tension
that occasionally exists between officers ut the interrogation facilities and those at Headquarters who view the
detainees are withnoiding informution.” [ provided the example of Abu Yassir at-Jaza’ini. (See inerview
of — Office of the Inspector General, May 8, 2003.) h alse described disagreements on
whether to subject detainees to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques as a “field versus Headquarters issue.”
{See interview of Office of the Inspector General, Angnst 18, 2003} As described, interviewees also

described pressure from CIA Headguarters related to the interrogations of KSM and Abu Zubaydah.
25 Interview of d Office of the Inspector General, February 21, 2003.
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@S/ ) One senior interrogator, _ informed the OIG that

differences between CIA Headquarters and the interrogators at the CIA detention sites were not
past of the official record. According to -, “all of the fighting and criticism is donc over
the phone and is not put into cables,” and that CIA “{c]ables reflect tbings that are ‘alf rosy.””7*¢

@S/ %) As is described elsewbere, and reflected in the final OIG Special

Review, CIA officers discussed numerous other topics with the OIG, including condifions at
DETENTION SITE COBALT, specific interrogations, the video taping of interrogations, the
administration of the program, and concerns about the lack of an “end game” for CIA detainees,
as well as tbe impact of possible public revelations concerning the existence and operation of the
CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.”

(U) In January 2004, the CIA inspector gencral circulated for comment
to various offices within the CIA a draft of the OIG Special Review of tbe CIA’s Detention and
Interrogation Program. Among other matters, the OIG Special Review described divergences
between the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques as applied and as described to the
Department of Justice in 2002, the use of unauthorized techniques, and oversight problems
related to DETENTION SITE COBALT. The draft OIG Special Review clicited responses from
the CIA’s deputy director for operations, the deputy director for science and technology, the
Office of General Counsel, and the Office of Medical Services. Several of the responses—
particularly those from CIA General Counsel Scott Muller and CIA Deputy Director for
Operations James Pavitt—were highly critical of the inspector general’s draft Special Review.
Genceral Counsel Muller wrote that the OIG Special Review presented “an imbalanced and
inaceurate picture of the Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Program,” and claimed
the OIG Special Review, “[o]n oceasion,” “quoted or summarized selectively and misleadingly”
from CIA documents.””® Deputy Director for Operations James Pavitt wrote that the OIG
Special Review should have come to the “conclusion that our cfforts have thwarted attacks and
saved lives,” and that “EITs (including the water board) have been indispensable to our
successes.” Pavitt attached fo his response a document deseribing information the CIA obtained
“as a result of the lawful use of EITs” that stated, “[tjhe evidence points clearly to the fact that
without the use of such techniques, we and our allies would [have] suffered major terrorist

726 fnterview of | ©fice of the Inspector General, April 30, 2003.

27 DDO Pavitt described possible public revelations related to the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program as
“the CIA’s worst nightmare.” Interview of James Pavill, Office of the Inspector General, September 21, 2003.
According to OIG records of an interview with DCI Tenel, “Tenet befieves that if the general public were to find out
about this program, many would believe we are torturers.” Tenet added, however, that his “only potential moral
dilemma would be if more Americuns die at the hands of terrorists and we had someone in our custody who
possessed information thal could have prevented deaths, but we had not obtained such information.” See interview
of George Tenet, Office of e Inspector General, memorandum dated, Sepiember 8, 2003,

728 See CIA Memorandum from Scoll W. Mulier, Generat Counsel, to Inspector General re Inlerrogation Program

Special Review, dated February 24, 2004 (2003-7123-1G i
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attacks involving hundreds, if not thousands, of casualties.”’™ A review of ClA records found
that the representations in the Pavitt materials were almost entirely inaccurate.”®

(w) In addition to conveying inaccurate information on the operation,

management, and effectiveness of the CIA program, CIA leadership continued to impede the
OIG in its efforts to oversec the program. In July 2005, Dircctor Goss sent a memorandum to the
inspeetor general to “express scveral concerns regarding the in-depth, multi-faccted review” of
the CIA’s CTC. The CIA director wrote that he was “increasingly concerned about the
cumulative impact of the OIG’s work on CTC’s performance,” adding that “I believe it makes
scnse to complete existing reviews. .. hefore opening new ones.” Director Goss added, “[tlo my
knowledge, Congress is satisfied that you arc meeting its requirements” with regard to the CIA’s
Detention and Interrogation Program.”! At the time, howcever, the vice chairman of the Senate
Select Committee on Intelligence was seeking a Committee investigation of the ClA program, in
part because of the aspects of the program that were not being investigated by the Office of
Inspector General.””® 1n Aprit 2007, CIA Director Michac! Hayden had his “Senior
Councilor”—an individual within the CIA who was accountable only to the CIA dircetor—
conduct a review of the inspector general’s practices. Defending the decision to review the OIG,
the CIA told the Committcc that there were “morale issues that the [CIA] director needs to be
mindful of,” and that the review had uncovered instances of “bias” among OIG personnel against
the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.”® 1n 2008, the CIA director announced the
restilts of his review of the O1G to the CIA work foree and stated that the inspector general had
“chosen to take a number of steps to heighten the efficiency, assure the quality, and increase the
transparency of the investigative process.”’>

3. The CIA Does Not Satisfy Inspector General Special Review Recommendation to Assess
the Effectiveness of the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation Techniques

&S/ 25 The final May 2004 OIG Special Review included 2

rccommendation that the CIA's DDO conduct a study of the effectiveness of the CIA’s
interrogation techniques within 90 days. Prompted by the recommendation, the CIA tasked two
senior CIA officers to lead “an informal operational assessment of the CIA detaince program.”
The reviewers were tasked with responding to 12 specific terms of reference, including an
asscssment of “the effectiveness of each interrogation technique and environmental deprivation™

7 Memorandum to the Inspector General from James Pavitt, CIA’s Deputy Director for Operations, dated February
27, 2004, with the sabject line, “Comments to Draft IG Special Review, ‘Counterterrorism Detention and
Interrogation Program’ (2003-7123-1G),” Attachment, “Successes of CIA's Counterterrorism Detention and
Interrogation Activities,” dated February 24, 2004.

730 Por additional information, see Volume 11,

Bty 21, 2005, Memorandum for Inspector General from Porter 1. Goss, Director, Central Intell igence Agency re:
New IG Work Impacting the CounterTerrorism Center.

"% Transcript of business meeting, April 14, 2005 (DTS #2005-2810).

™ Committee Memorandum for the Record, “Staff Briefing with Bob Deit on his Inquiry into the Investigative
Practices of the CIA Inspector General,” October 17, 2007 (DTS #2007-4166); Commitiee Memorandum for the
Record, “Notes from Meetings with John Helgerson and Bob Deite in late 2007 and early 2008 (DTS #2012-4203);
Committee Memorandum for the Record, “Staff Briefing with CIA Inspector General John Helgerson™ (DTS #2007-
4165},

P4 Letter from DCIA Michael Hayden to Senator John D. Rockefeller IV, January 29, 2008 (DTS #2008-0606).
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to determine if any techniques or deprivation should be “added, modified, or discontinued.””*
According to a CIA memorandum from the reviewers, their review was based on briefings by
CTC personnel, “a discussion with three senior CTC managers who played key rolcs in running
the ClA detaince program,” and a review of nine documents, including the OIG Special Review
and an article by the CIA contractors who developed the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques, Hammond DUNBAR and Grayson SWIGERT.® As described in this summary,
and in more detail in Volume H, these documents contained numerous inaccurate representations
regarding the operation and effectiveness of the CIA program. There are no records to indicate
the two senior CIA officers reviewed the underlying interrogation cables and intelligence records
related to the representations. Their resulting assessment repeated information found in the
documents provided to them and reported that the “CIA Detainee Program is a success,
providing unique and valuable intelligence at the tactical level for the benefit of policymakers,
war fighters, and the CIA’s covert action operators.” The assessment also reported that
regulations and procedures for handling detainecs were “adequate and clear,” and that the
program had responded swiftly, fairly, and completely to deviations from the structured
program.” Nonetheless, the assessment came to the conclusion that detention and
interrogations activities should not be conducted by the CIA, hut by “experienced U.S. law
enforcement officers,” stating:

“The Directorate of Operations {DO) should not be in the business of running
prisons or ‘temporary detention facilities.” The DO should focus on its core
mission: clandestine intelligence operations. Accordingly, the DO should
continue to hunt, capture, and render targets, and then exploit them for
intclligence and ops leads once in custody. The management of their
incarceration and interrogation should be conducted by appropriately
expericnced U.S. law enforcement officers, because that is their charter and
they have the training and cxpericnee. ™

(MF) The assessment nofed that the CIA program required significant

resources at a time when the CIA was already stretched thin. Finally, the authors wrote that they
“strongly believe” that the president and congressional oversight members should receive a

33 May 12, 2004, Memorandum for Deputy Director for Operations fromn . Chicf, Information
Operations Center, and Henry Crompton, Chief, National Resources Division, via Associate Deputy Divector for
Operations, with the subject line, “Operational Review of CIA Detainee Program.”

73 May 12, 2004, Memorandum for Deputy Director for Operations from _ Chief, Infornation
Operations Center, and Henry Crumpton, Chief, National Resonrces Division, via Associate Deputy Director for
Operations, with the subject line, “Operational Review of CIA Detainee Progran.” The CIA’s June 2013 Response
states, “{w]e acknowledge that the Agency erred in permitting the contractors to assess the effectiveness of enhanced
technignes. They should not have been considered for such u rofe given their financial interest in continned
contracts from CIA.”

37 May 12, 2004, Memorandim for Depaty Director for Operations from . Cicf, nformation
Operations Center, und Henry Crumpton, Chief, National Resources Division, via Associate Deputy Director for
Operations re Operational Review of CIA Detainee Program. For additional information, see Volume il

728 May 12, 2004, Memorandum for Depuaty Director for Operations from . C:iicf, information
Operations Center, and Henry Crumpton, Chief, Nationul Resources Division, via Assoctate Deputy Director for

QOperations re Operational Review of CIA Detainee Pmﬁm.
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comprehensive update on the program, “{gliven the intense intercst and controversy surrounding
the detainee issue.””?

@S/JNIN %) On January 26, 2005, DCI Goss forwarded the senior officer

review to Inspector General John Helgerson.™® The DCI asked whether the review would satisfy
the inspector general recommendation for un independent review of the program.™! On January
28, 2005, the inspector general responded that the senior officer review would not satisfy the
recommendation for an independent review.”? The inspector general also responded to a
concern raised by iOMS that studying the results of CIA interrogations would
amount to human experimentation, stating;

“I fear there was a misunderstanding. OIG did not have in mind doing
additional, guinea pig research on human beings. What we are recommending
is that the Agency undertake a careful review of its experience to date in using
the various techniques and that it draw conclusions about their safety,
effectivencss, ctc., that can guide CIA officers as we move ahcad. We make
this recommendation because we have found that the Agency over the decades
has continued to get itself in messes related to interrogation programs for onc
overriding reason: we do not document and learn from our cxperience — each
generation of officers is left to improvise anew, with problematic results for
our officers as individuals and for our Agency, Wc are not unaware that there
are subtleties to this matter, as the effectiveness of techniques varies among
individuals, over time, as administered, in combination with one another, and
so on. All the more reason to document these important findings.””’*

(w) In November and December 2004, the CIA responded to National

Security Advisor Rice’s questions about the effectivencss of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques by asserting that an effectiveness review was not possible, while highlighting
examples of “[kley intelligence” the CIA represented was obtained after the use of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques. The December 2004 memorandum preparced for the national
security advisor entitled, “Effectiveness of the CIA Counterterrorist Interrogation Techniques,”
begins:

7 May 12, 2004 Memorandum for Deputy Disector for Operations from || N SEER. Chicf, information
Operations Center, and Henry Crumpton, Chief, Nationai Resources Division, via Associate Deputy Director for
Operations re Operational Review of CIA Detainee Program.

M See Volume 1 for additional information.

™! Email from: John Helgerson; to: Porter Goss, —; ce: Jose Rodriguez, John Rizzo, [REDACTED],

[REDACTED], subject: DCI Question Regarding OI0 Report; date: Januury 28, 2003,
H; cc: Jose Rodriguey, John Rizzo, [REDACTED),

2 Email from: John Helgerson; to: Porter Goss,
[REDACTEDY, subject: DC1 Question Regarding OIG Report; January 28, 2005,

3 Bmail from: John Helgerson; to: Porter Goss,u; ce: Jose Rodriguez, Jobn Rizzo, [REDACTED],
{REDACTEDY; subject: DCI Question Regarding OIG Report; date: Januvary 28, 2005. The CIA s June 2013
Response maintains that “[a] systematic study over time of the effectiveness of the techniques would huve been
encumbered by 2 number of factors,” including “Federal policy on the protection of human subjects and the
tmpracticability of establishing an effective control group.”
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“Action Reguested: None. This memorandum responds fo your request for an
independent study of the foreign intelligence efficacy of using enhanced
interrogation techniques, There is no way to conduct such a study, What we
can do, however, if |sic] set forth below the intelligence the Agency obtained
from detainees who, before their interrogations, were not providing any

information of intelligence [value}.”’*

S/ =) Under a section of the memorandum entitled, “Results,” the CIA

memo asserts that the “CIA’s use of DOJ-approved enhanced interrogation techniques, as part of
a comprchensive interrogation approach, has enabled CIA to disrupt terrorist plots [and] capture
additional terrorists,” The memorandum then lists examples of “{kiey intelligence collected
from HVD interrogations after applying interrogation technigues,” which led to “disruptefed]
terrorist plots” and the “capture [of] additional terrorists.” The examples include: the “Karachi
Plot,” the “Heathrow Plot,” “the ‘Second Wave'” plotting, the identification of the “the Guraba
Cell,” the identification of “Issa al-Hindi,” the atrest of Abu Talha al-Pakistani, “Hambali’s
Capture,” information on Jaffar al-Tayyar, the “Dirty Bomb” plot, the arrest of Sajid Badat, and
information on Shkai, Pakistan. CIA records do not indicate when, or if, this memorandum was
provided to the national sccurity advisor.™?

s/ 25 A subsequent CIA memorandum, dated March 5, 2005, concerning

an upcoming meeting between the CIA director and the national security advisor on the C1A’s
progress in completing the OIG recommended review of the effectiveness of the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques states, “‘we [CIA] believe this study is much needed and should be
headed up by highly respected national-level political figures with widely recognized reputations
for independence and fairess,”™

(M) On March 21, 2008, the dircetor of the CTC formally proposed the

“establishment of an independent ‘blue ribbon’ commission... with a charter to study our
EITs.””*” The CIA then began the process of cstablishing a pancl that included
and
. Both panelists reccived briefings and papers from CIA
personnel who participated in the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. R
first panelist] wrote: “It is clear from our discussions with both DO and DI officers that the
program is deemed by them to be a great success, and 1 would concur. The EITs, as part of the
overall program, are credited with enabling the US to disrupt terrorist plots, capture additional
terrorists, and collect a high volume of uscful intelligence on al-Qa’ida (AQ).... There are
accounts of numerous plots against the US and the West that were revealed as a result of HVD

4 Necember 2004 CTA Memorandam to “National Security Advisor,” fiom “Director of Central Inteiligence,”
Subject: “Effectiveness of the CIA Counterterrorist Interrogation Techniques.”

7% December 2004 CTA Memorandum to “National Security Advisor,” from “Director of Central Inteiligence,”
Subject: “Effectiveness of the C1A Counterterrorist Interrogation Technigues.” Italics in original.

™6 March 5, 2005, Talking Points for Weekly Meeting with National Security Advisor re CIA Proposat for
Independent Study of the Effectiveness of CTC Interrogation Program's Enhanced Interrogation Techniques.
M7 Mareh 21, 2008, Memorandum for Deputy Director for Operations from Robert L. Grenier, Director DCI
Counterterrorism Center, re Proposal for Full- Scope Independent Study of the CTC Rendition, Detention, and
Interrogation Programs.
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interrogations,” He also observed, however, that “[n}either my baekground nor field of expertise
partieulurly lend themselves to judging the effectiveness of interrogation techniques, taken
individually or collectively.””’® & {the second panelist] concluded that “there is no
objective way to answer the question of efficacy,” but stated it was possible to “make some
general observations” about the program based on CIA personnel assessments of “the quality of
the intelligenee provided” by ClA detainees. Reguarding the effectiveness of the C1A’s enhanced
interrogation techniques, he wrote: “here enters the epistemological problem. We ean never
know whether or not this intelligence could have been extraeted though alternative procedures.
Spokesmen from within the organization firmly believe it could not have been, "4

4. The CIA Wrongfully Detains Khalid Al-Masri; CIA Director Rejects Accountability for
Officer Involved

(M) After the dissemination of the draft CIA Inspector General Special

Review in early 2004, approvals from ClA Headquarters to use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques adhered more elosely to the language of the DCY guidelines. Nonetheless, C1A
records indicate that officers at C1A Headquarters continued to fail to properly monitor
justifieations for the eapture and detention of detainees, as well as the justification for the use of
the CIA’s enhaneed interrogation techniques on particular detainces.™

(?_}N—F} For example, on January | 2004, the CIA rendered German

citizen Khalid al-Masri to a Country . facility used by the CIA for detention purposes. The
rendition was based on the determination by offieers in the CIA’s ALEC Station that “al-Masri
knows key information that could assist in the eapture of otber al-Qa’ida operatives that pose a
serious threat of violence or death to U.S. persons and interests and who may be planning
terrorist aetivities.””! The eable did not state that Khalid al-Masri himself posed a serious threat
of violence or death, the standard required for detention under the September 17, 2001,
Memorandum of Notifieation (MON).

s/ - E) CiA debriefing eables from Country [f on January 27, 2004, and

January 28, 2004, notc that Khalid al-Masri “scemed bewildered on why he has been sent to this
particular prison,””* and was “adamant that {CIA] has the wrong person.”’® Despite doubts
from CIA offieers in Country [l about Khalid al-Masri’s links to terrorists, and RDG’s
concurrenee with those doubts, different components within the CIA disagreed on the process for
his release.”™ As later described by the CIA inspector general, officers in ALEC Station
continued to tbink that releasing Khalid al-Masri would pose a threat to U.S. interests and that

8 September 2, 2005 Memorandum from || 0 Director Porter Goss, CIA re Assessment of EITs
Effectiveness, For additional information, see Volume 11,

9 September 23, 2005 Memorandum from to the Honorable Porter Goss, Director, Central Intelligence
Agency re Response to Request from Director for Assessment of EIT Effectiveness, For additional information, see
Vohumne H.

% Eor additional information, see Volume L
751

752
ERX)

754 - HEADQUARTERS (0223412 APR 04)

AN 04); ALEC R -~ 04)
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monitoring should be required, while those in the CIA’s I D:vision did not want to notify
the German government about the rendition of u German citizen.” Because of the significance
of the dispute, the National Sccurity Council scttled the matter, concluding that al-Masri should
be repatriated and that the Germans should be told about al-Masti’s rendition.”

{

to 73 After al-Masri arrived in CIA officers released him and sent him toward
a fake border crossing, where the officers told him he would be sent back to Germany because he
had entered I ilcgally " At the time of his release, al-Masri was provided 14,500
Furos,” as well as bis belongings. ™

&SN 25 On July 16, 2007, the CIA inspector general issued a Report of

Investigation on the rendition and detention of Khalid al-Masri, concluding that “{ajvailable
intelligence information did not provide a sufficient basis to render and detain Khalid al-Masti,”
and that the “Agency’s prolonged dctention of al-Masri was unjustified.”’® On October 9, 2007,
the CIA informed the Committee that it “lacked sufficient basis to render and detain al-Masri,”
and that the judgment by operations officers that al-Masri was associated with terrorists who
posed a threat to U.S. interests “was not supported by available intelligence.” The CIA director
nonetheless decided that no further action was warranted against _, then the
deputy chicf of ALEC Station, who advocated for al-Masri’s rendition, because “{tihe Dircctor
strongly belicves that mistakes should be expected in a business filled with uncertainty and that,
when they result from performance that meets reasonable standards, CIA leadership must stand
behind the officers who make them.” The notification also stated that “with regard to
counterterrorism operations in general and the al-Masri matter in particular, the Director believes
the scale tips decisively in favor of accepting mistakes that over connect the dots against those
that under connect them.”76?

) On May 1 2004, Khalid al-Masri was transferred from Country JJj

55 CIA Office of Inspector General, Report of Investigation, The Rendition and Detention of German Citizen Khalid
al-Massi 2004-7601-1G), July 16, 2007,
56 (A Office of Inspector General, Report of Investigation, The Rendition and Detention of German Citizen Khalid

al-Masgi (2004-7601-1G), July 16,2007,
5 2507
7R 42635

% Using May 2004 exchange rates, this amounted to approximately $17.000.
o S 4255
%1 CYA Office of Inspector General, Report of Investigation, The Rendition und Detention of German Citizen Khalid

al-Masri (2004-7601-1G), July 16, 2007,

782 Referring to * and a second CTC officer named in the OIG's Report of Investigation, the
notification to Congress stated that the director “does not believe that. .. the petformance of the two named CTC
officers fall below a reasonabie level of professionalism, skilf, and diligence as defined in CIA’s Stundard for
Employee Accountability.” The notification also stated that there was a “high theeat environment” at the time of the
rendition, which “wus essentially identical to the one in which CTC employees, including the two in question here,
previously had been shurply criticized for not connecting the dots prior to 9/11.7 The notificution acknowledged “an
insufficient legal justification, which failed to meet the standard presecibed in the [MON],” and referred to the acting
general counsed the task of assessing legal advice and personal accountability. Based on recommendations from the
inspector general, the CIA “developed a template for rendition proposals that makes clear what information is
required, inctuding the intefligence basis for that information.” (See Congressional notification, with the subject,
“CIA Response to OIG Investigation Regurding the Rendition and Detention of German Citizen Khalid al-Masri,”
dated October 9, 2007 (DTS #2007-4026).) The last CIA detainee, Muhumnad Rahim, had already been rendered

to CIA custody by the time of this notification. The CIA’s June 2013 Rc.si{mse: points to u review of analytical
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5. Hassan Ghul Provides Substantial Information—Including Information on a Key UBL
Facilitator—Prior 1o the CIA’s Use of Enhanced Interrogation Techniques

s/ - - foreign authorities captured Hassan
Ghul in the Iraqi Kurdistan Region on January §ill, 2004.7%® After his identity was confirmed on

Janvary ], 2004,7%* Ghut was rendered from U.S. military custody to CIA custody at
DETENTION SITE COBALT on January [} 2004.75° The detention site interrogators, who,
according to CIA records, did not use the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on Ghul, sent
at least 21 intelligence reports to CIA Headguarters based on their debriefings of Hassan Ghul
from the two days he spent at the facility.”s

@S/ A E) As detailed in this summary, and in greater detail in Volume Ii,

CIA records indicate that the most accurate CIA detainee reporting on the facilitator who led o
Usama bin Laden (UBL) was acquired from Hassan Ghul—prior to the use of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques.” Ghul speculated that “UBL was likely living in [the]

training arising out of the al-Masri rendition, but states that, “[nlonetheless, we concede that it is difficslt in

kindsight to understand how the Agency could make sucl a mistake, take too long to correct it, determine that a
flawed legal interpretation contributed, and in the end only hoid accountable three CTC attorneys, two of whom
received only an oral admonition.”

763 21753 - HEADQUARTERS NN : 2N 04)
AN (4). The CIA confirmed that the individual detained matched the

M HEADQUARTERS
biographical data on Hassan Ghul. Khalid Shaykh Mubammad and Khallad bin Attash confirmed that a photo
provided was of Ghul. See 1260 JAN 04).

s 1642 AN 04), DIRECTOR
66 54194 IAN 04);
released as HEADQUARTERS | AN 04);
later released as HEADQUARTERS i JAN 04);
04), later released ay HEADQUARTERS I AN 04},
JAN 04), later released as HEADQUARTERS ] AN 04);
“EB 04)) 1650 AN 04),
AN 04y, 1632 B AN (43, tater released as
DIRECTOR ] AN 04} 1654 AN 04y
1655 AN 04), later released as | CIA : FEB 04),
1657 AN 04); 1677 AN 04},
1679 § AN 04}, 1680 AN 04},
1681 AN 04), later released as
FEB 04); JAN 04), later released as

E AN 04), later released as
CIA | FEB 04);
CIA |

1688 AN 04), Ianter released as

1690 AN 04y,

1656 AN 04), 1678 JAN 04)

"7 As the dissemination of 21 intelligence reports suggests, information in CIA records indicates Hassan Ghul was
cooperative prior to being subjected to the CIA's enhanced interrogation techniques. In an interview with the CIA
Office of Inspector General, a CIA officer familiar with Ghul's initial interrogations stated, “He sang like a tweetie
bird. He opened up right away and was cooperative from the outset.” {See December 2, 2004, interview with
[REDACTED], Chief, DO, CTC UBL Department, * ) CIA records reveal that Ghal’s
information on Abu Ahmad al-Kuwaiti was disseminated while Ghul was at DETENTION SITE COBALT, prior to-
the initiation of the CTA's enhanced interrogation techniques. On April 16, 2013, the Council on Foreign Relations

hosted a forum in relation to the screening of the film, “Manhunt.” The fornm incinded former ClA officer Nada
Bakos, who states in the film that Hassan Ghul provided the critical information on Abu Ahmad al-Kowaiti to

Kurdish officials prior to entering CIA cusmdi. When asked about the intermﬁatinn techniques used by the Kards,
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Peshawar area,” and that “it was well known that he was always with Abu Abmed [al-
Kuwaiti].”’® Ghul described Abu Ahrmad al-Kuwaiti as UBL’s “closest assistant,””® who
couricred messages to al-Qa’ida’s ehief of operations, and listed al-Kuwaiti as one of threc
individuals likely with UBL.7® Ghul further speculated that:

“UBL’s security apparatus would be minimal, and that the group likely
lived in a house with a family somewhere in Pakistan.... Ghul speculated
that Abu Ahmed likely handled all of UBL’s needs, including moving
messages out to Abu Faraj {al-Libi]... Akl

(w) During this same period, prior to the use of the CIA’s enhaneed

interrogation teehniques, Ghul provided information related to Abu Musab al-Zargawi, Abu
Faraj al-Libi {including his role in delivering messages from UBL), Jaffar al-Tayyar, ‘Abd al-
Hadi al-Iragi, Hamza Rabi’a, Shaik Sa’id al-Masri, Sharif al-Masri, Abu ‘Abd al-Rahman al-
Najdi, Abu Talha al-Pakistani, and numerous other al-Qa’ida operatives. He also provided
information on the loeations, movements, operational security, and training of al-Qa’ida leaders
living in Shkai, Pakistan, as wel as on the visits of other leaders and operatives to Shkai.””?
Ghul’s reporting on Shkai, which was included in at least 16 of the 21 intelligenee reports,’
confirmed earlier reporting that the Shkai valley served as al-Qa’ida’s command and control
center after the group’s 2001 exodus from Afghanistan.”’* Notwithstanding these facts, in March

Bukos stated: .. honestly, Hassan Ghul. . .when he was being debriefed by the Kardish government, he lilerally
was sitling there having tea. He was in a safe house, He wasn't locked up in acell. He wasn't handeutfed to
anything. He was—he was having a free flowing conversation. And there’s—you know, there's articles in Kurdish
papers about sort of their interpretation of the story and how forthcoming he was.” (See
www.cfr.orglcountertervorism/filin-screening-muchunt/p30560.)  Given the unusnally high number of intelligence
reports disseminated in such a short lime period, and the sialements of former CIA officer Bakos, the Committee
requested additional information from the CIA on Ghul’s interrogation prior {o entering CIA custody. The CIA
wrote on October 23, 2013: “We have not identified any information in our holdings suggesting thut Hassan Gul
first provided information on Abu Ahimad while in [foreign} custedy.” Neo information was provided on Hassun
Ghal’s intelligence reporting while in 118, military detention. See DTS #2013-31 52,
8 HEADQUARTERS

74 Email from: [REDACTED]; to) {REDACTED]); subject; Re: Detuinee Profile on Hassan Ghul for coord; dute:
December 30, 2005, at 8:14:04 AM,
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2003, the CIA represented to the Department of Justice that Hassan Ghul’s reporting on Shkai
was acquired “affer” the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues.””

FS/HEEE 25 After iwo days of questioning at DETENTION SITE COBALT
and the dissemination of 21 intelligence reports, Ghul was transferred to DETENTION SITE

BLACK.” According to CIA records, upon arrival, Ghul was “shaved and harbered, stripped,
and placed in the standing position against the wall” with ““his hands above his head” with plans
to fower his hands after two hours.””’ The CIA interrogators at the detention site then requested
to use the CIA’s enbanced interrogation techniques on Ghul, writing:

“[the] interrogation team believes, based on {Hassan Ghul’s] reaction to the
initial contact, that his al-Qa’ida briefings and his earlier experiences with U.S.
military interrogators have convinced him there are limits to the physical
confact interrogators can have with him. The interrogation team believes the
approval and employment of enhanced measures should sufficiently shift
[Hassan Ghul’s] paradigm of what he expects to happen. The lack of these
increasd [sic] measures may limit the team’s capability to collect eritical and
reliable information in a timely manner.”"®

@S/ E) CIA Headguarters approved the request the same day.””

Following 59 hours of sleep deprivation,’®® Hassan Ghul experienced hallucinations, but was told
by a psychologist that his reactions were “consistent with what many others experience in his
condition,” and that he should calm himself by telling himself his experiences are normal and
will subside when he decides to be truthful. ™! The sleep deprivation, as well as other enhanced
interrogations, continued,”™ as did Ghut's hallucinations.” Ghut also complained of back pain
and asked to see a doctor,” but interrogators responded that the “pain was norimal, and would
stop when [Ghul] was confirmed as telling the truth.” A cable states that “[ilnterrogators told
{Ghul] they did not care if he was in pain, but cared only if he provided complete and truthful
information.””™ A ClA physician assistant later observed that Hassan Ghul was experiencing
“notable phystological fatigue,” including “abdominal and back muscle pain/spasm, ‘heaviness’
and mild paralysis of arms, legs and feet [that] are secondary to his hanging position and extreme

713 March 2, 2005, Memorandum for Steve Bradbury from | NN W Lcca! Group. DCI
Counterterrorist Center, re: Effectiveness of the CIA Counterterrorist Interrogation Techniques. Italics in original.

For additional representations, see Volume 1,
T

i
718

80
EL1)
782
783

JAN 04)

$AN 04); NN 312 B ) AN 04). The CIA’s June 2013 Response
states that when hallucinations occurved during sleep deprivation, “medical personnel intervened to easure a
detainee would be allowed u peried of sleep.” As described in this summary, and more extensively in Volume I,
CIA records indicate that medical personnel did oot always intervene and ullow detainees to sleep after expeiencing

hallucinations.
TB4

35

1299 JAN 04)
1299 JAN 04). See Volume IH for similar statements made to CIA detainees.
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degree of sleep deprivation,” but that Ghul was clinically stable and had “essentiully normal vital
signs,” despite an “occasional premature heart beat” that the cahle linked to Ghul’s fatigue.”™
Throughout this period, Ghul provided no actionable threat information, and as detailed later in
this summary, much of his reporting on the al-Qa’ida presence in Shkai was repetitive of his
reporting prior to the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. Ghul also provided no
other information of substance on UBL facilitator Abu Ahmad al-Kuwaiti.”® Nonetheless, on
May 5, 2011, the ClA provided a document to the Committee entitled, “Detainee Reporting on
Abu Ahmad al-Kuwaiti,” wbich lists Hassan Ghul as a CIA detainee who was subjected to the
CIA’s enhaneed interrogation techniques and who provided “Tier One” information “linkling]
Abu Ahmad to Bin Ladin.”’®® Hassan Ghul was , and
later released.”®

6. Other Detainees Wrongfully Held in 2004; CIA Sources Subjected to the CIA s Enhanced
Interrogation Techniques; CIA Officer Testifies that the CIA Is “Not Authorized” “to Do
Anything Like What You Have Seen” in Abu Ghraib Photographs

(w) In March 2004, the CIA took custody of an Afghan national who

had sought employment at a U.S. military base hecause he had the same name {Gul Rahman) as
an individual believed to be targeting U.S. military forces in Afghanistan.” During the period
in which the Afghan was detained, the CIA obtained signals intelligence of their true target
communicating with his associates. DNA results later showed conclusively that the Afghan in
custody was not the target. Nonetheless, the CIA held the detainee in solitary eonfinement for
approximately a month before he was released with a nominal payment.’?

ES/JI 2:F) In the spring of 2004, after two detainces were transferred to C1A

custody, CIA interrogators proposcd, and CIA Headguarters approved, using the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques on one of the two detainees because it migbt cause the detaince to
provide information that could identify inconsistencies in the other detainee’s story.” After
both detainees had spent approximately 24 hours shackled in tbe standing sleep deprivation
position, CIA Headquarters confirmed that the detainees were former CIA sources.”™ The two
detainecs had tried to eontact the CIA on multiple occasions prior to their detention to inform the
CIA of their activities and provide intelligence. The messages they had sent to the CIA

s N 1 ;0 I AN 04)

787 See Volume 1 for addilional information.
8 See CIA lelter 1o the Senate Select Conunittee on Inteiligence, dated May 5, 201 |, which inciudes a document
entitied, “Background Detainee Information on Abu Ahmed al-Kuwaitl,” with an accompanying six-page chart

entitled, “Detainee Reporting on Abn Ahmed al-Kuwaili”* (DTS #2011-2004).

=

69 s HEADQUARTERS

; HEADQUARTERS

0 See .

1 The individual detained and the individual believed to be targeting U.S. forces were different from the Gul
Rahman who died at DETENTION SITE COBALT.
2 2035
3 2186 GREDACTEDD
4 ALEC {{REDACTED])
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I < ot transtated untif after the detainces were subjected to the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques.”®

(M} During this same period in early 2004, CIA interrogators

interrogated Adnan al-Libi, a member of the Libyan Islamic Fighting Group. CIA Headquarters
did not approve the use of the CIA’s enhanced technigues against al-Libi, but indicated that
interrogators could use “standard” interrogation techaiques, which included up to 48 hours of
sleep deprivation.”® CIA interrogators subsequently reported subjecting Adnan al-Libi to sleep
deprivation scssions of 46.5 hours, 24 hours, and 48 hours, with a combined three hours of slecp
between sessions.”’

(M) Beginning in late April 2004, a number of media outlets published

photographs of detainee abuse at the Department of Defense-run Abu Ghraib prison in Iraq. The
media reports caused members of the Committee and individuals in the executive branch to focus
on detainee issucs. On May 12, 2004, the Committee held a lengthy hearing on detainee issues
with Department of Defense and CIA witnesses, The CIA used the Abu Ghraib abuscs as a
eontrasting reference point for its detention and interrogation activitics. In a response to a
question from a Committee member, CIA Deputy Director McLaughlin said, “we are not
authorized in [the CIA program] to do anything like what you have seen in those
photographs.”™® In response, a member of the Committee said, “! understand,” and expressed
the understanding, consistent with past CIA briefings to the Committee, that the *norm” of CIA’s
interrogations was “transparent law enforeement procedures [that] had developed to such a high
level... that you could get pretty much what you wanted.” The CIA did not eorrect the
Committee member’s misunderstanding that CIA interrogation techniques were similar to
techniques used by U.S. law enforcement,””

7. The CIA Suspends the Use of its Enhanced Interrogation Techniques, Resumes Use of the
Techniques on an Individual Basis; Interrogations are Based on Fabricated, Single
Source Information

@S/ F) (0 May 2004, the OLC, then led by Assistant Atforney General
Jaek Goldsmith, informed the CIA’s Office of General Counsel that it had never formally opined
on whether the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques in the CIA’s program was

73 HEADQUARTERS JJJ ((REDACTED}). For more information on AL-TURKY and AL-MAGREBI, see
Volume IIL

96 See Votume I and 11, including HEADQUARTERS . In November 2003, CIA
General Counsel Scott Mauller sent an email to suggesting “changing the sleep deprivation fine
as {sic] between enhanced and standard from 72 to 48 hours.” (See November 23, 2003, email from Scott Mutter to
, cc: John Rizzo, Subject: Al-Hawsawi Incident) On Junuary 10, 2004, CIA Headquarters

informed CIA detention sites of the change, stating that sleep deprivation over 48 hours would now be considered an
“enhanced” interrogation technique. See HEADQUARTERS 1017137 JAN 04).
77 * 1888 (0918232 MAR 04); 1889 (091836Z MAR 04).

There is no indication in CIA records that CIA Headquarters addressed the repeated use of “standard” sleep
deprivation against Adnan al-Libi. For more information, see Volume I detainee report for Adnan al-Libi.
™8 Transecript of Senate Select Committee on Intelligence hearing, May 12, 2004 {DTS #2004-2332).

% Transcript of Senate Setect Committee on Intelli ience hearinﬁ, Mai 12, 2004 (DTS #2004-2332).
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consistent with U.S. constitutional standards.®™ Goldsmith also raised concerns about
divergences between the CIA’s proposced enhanced interrogation techniques, as descrihed in the
August 1, 2002, memorandum, and their actual application, as described in the CIA Inspector
General’s Special Review. 8! In late May 2004, DCI Tenct suspended the use of the CIA’s
“enhanced” and “standard” interrogation techniques, pending updated approvals from the
OLC.2? On June 4, 2004, DCI Tenet issued a formal memorandum suspending the use of the
CIA’s interrogation techniques, pending policy and legal review ™ The same day, the CIA
sought reaffirmation of the program from the National Security Council.** National Security
Advisor Rice responded, noting that the “next logical step is for the Attorney General to
complete the rclevant Iegal analysis now in preparation.”*

&s/IEE 2 On sune W 2004, 2 forcign government captured Janat Gul, an
individual belicved, based on reporting from a CIA source, to have information about al-Qa’ida
plans to attack the United States prior to the 2004 presidential election. 3% In October 2004, the
CIA souree who provided the information on the “pre-election” threat and implicated Gul and
others admitted to fabricating the information. However, as carly as March 2004, CIA officials
internally cxpressed doubts about the validity of the CIA source’s information.®®

(U) On July 2, 2004, the CIA mct with National Sccurity Advisor Rice,

other National Security Council officials, White House Counsel Alberto Gonzales, as well as the
attorney general and the deputy attorney general, to seek authorization to use the CIA's enhanced
intcrrogation techniques, specifically on Janat Gul.*® The CIA represented that CIA

800 May 25, 2004, Taiking Points for DCI Telephone Conversation with Attorney General: DOJ’s Legal Opinion re
C1A’s Counterterrorist Program {CT) Interrogation. Letter from Assistant Attorney General Jack L. Goldsmith Il to
Director Tenet, June 18, 2004 (DTS #2004-2710).

1 May 27, 2004, letter from Assistant Attorney General Goldsmith to Generul Counsel Mauller,

502 May 24, 2003, Memorandum for the Record from — subject: Memorandum of Meeting with the
DCI Regarding DOI's Statement that DOJ has Rendered No Legal Opinion on Whether CIA’s Use of Enhanced
Interrogation Techniques would meet Constitutional Standards. Memorandam for Deputy Director for Operations
from Director of Central Inteliigence, June 4, 2004, re: Suspension of Use of Interrogation Techniques.

502 rune 4, 2004, Memorandum for Deputy Director for Operations from Director of Central Intelligence, re:
Suspension of Use of Interrogution Techniques. On June 2, 2004, George Tenet informed the President that he
intended to resign from his position on July 11, 2004. The White House announced the resignation on June 3, 2004.
804 yune 4, 2004, Memorandum for the National Security Advisor from BT George Tenet, re: Review of CIA
Interrogation Program,

05 Tune 2004, Memorandum for the Honorable George 1. Tenet, Director of Central Intelligence from Condoleezzu
Rice, Assistant to the President for National Security Affalrs, re: Review of CIA’s Interrogation Program,

806 - ALEC ;ﬂ 3121

39254

: 312% )
#7 The former chief of the CIA’s Bin Ludin Unit wrote in a March JJf, 2004, email that the reporting was “vague”
und “worthless in terms of actionable intelligence.” He suggested that the reportiag “would be an easy way {for al-

Qa’ida] to test” the joyalty of the sousce, given al-Qa'idy’s knowledge that leaked threat reporting “causes panic in
Washington.” (See e:W; to: ! | [REDACTED],
#, - subject: could AQ be testing [ASSET Y] and [source name REDACTED]Y;
date; March

, 2004, at 06:35 AM.) ALEC Station officer expressed similur doubts in

response to the email. See ematl from: s to: e —,—
, IREDACTED], subject: Re: could AQ be testing [ASSET Y1 und {source name

REDACTED]; date: March i, 2004, at 07:52:32 AM). See also 1411 (i(yz).

808 July 2, 2004, CIA Memorandum re Meeting with National Adviser Rice in the White House Situation Room, re

Interrogations and Detainee Janat Gul, Joly 2, 2004.
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“interrogations have saved American lives,” that more than half of the C1A detainees would not
cooperate until they were interrogated using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues,’ and
that “uniess CIA interrogators can use a full range of enhanced interrogation methods, it is
unlikely that C1A will be able to obtain current threat information from Gul in a timely
manner.”*'® Janat Gul was not yet in CIA custody.?!!

&S/HNE ~5) On July 6, 2004, National Security Advisor Rice sent a

memorandum to DCI Tenet stating that the CIA was “permitted to use previously approved
cnhanced interrogation methods for Janat Gul, with the exception of the waterboard.” Rice
offered “to assist [the C1A] in obtaining additional guidance from the Attorney General and NSC
Principais on an expedited basis” and noted the C1A’s agreement to provide additional
information about the waterboard technique in order for the Department of Justice to assess its
legality. Rice’s memorandum further documented that the CIA hud informed her that *Gul
likely has information about preelection terrorist attacks against the United States as a result of
Gul’s close ties to individuals involved in these alleged plots.”812

{U} In a meeting on July 20, 2004, National Security Council
principals, including the vice president, provided their authorization for the C1A to use its
enhanced inferrogation techniques—again, with the exception of the waterboard——on Janat Gul.
They also directed the Department of Justice to prepare a lcgal opinion on whether the C1A’s
enhanced interrogation teehniques were consistent with the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to
the U.S. Constitution.®™® On July 22, 2004, Attorney General John Ashcroft sent a letter to
Acting DC1 John McLaughlin stating that nine interrogation techniques (those addressed in the
August 1, 2002, memorandum, with the exeeption of the waterboard) did not violate the U.S.
Constitution or any statute or U.S. treaty obligations, in the context of the interrogation of Janat
Gul.2** For the remainder of 2004, the C1A used its enhanced interrogation techniques on three
detatnees—Janat Gul, Sharif al-Masti, and Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani—with individualized
approval from the Department of Justice *!°

(M) After being rendered to CIA custody on July [l 2004, Janat Gul

was subjected to the C1A’s enhanced interrogation techniques, including continuous sleep
deprivation, facial holds, attention grasps, facial slaps, stress positions, and wailing,*'® until he

%% At the time of this C1A representation, the CIA had heid at least 109 detainees and subjected at least 33 of them
(30 percent) to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues.

89 July 6, 2004, Memorandum from Condoleezza Rice, Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs, to
the Honorable George Tenet, Director of Central Intelligence, re Janat Gul. CIA Request for Guidance Regarding
Interrogation of Junat Gul, July 2, 2004,

81 For additiona details, see Volume I11.

312 fuly 6, 2004, Memorandum from Condoleezza Rice, Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs, to
the Honorable George Tenet, Director of Central Intelligence, re Janut Gul.

*13 Fuly 29, 2004, Memorandum for the Record from CIA General Counsel Scott Muller, “Principals Meeting
refuting to Janat Gul on 20 July 20047

*I* The one-paragraph letter did not provide legal analysis or substuntive discussion of the interrogation technigues.
Letter from Attorney General Asheroft to Acting DCI McLuughtin, July 22, 2004 (DTS #2009-1810, Tab 4).

815 See Volume ITE for additional detuils.
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experienced auditory and visual hallucinations.®!” According to a cable, Janat Gul was “not
oriented to time or place” and told CIA officers that he saw “his wife and children in the mirror
and had heard their voices in the white noise.”®® The questioning of Janat Gul continued,
although the CIA ceascd using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques for several days.
According to a CTA cable, “{Gul} asked to die, or just be kilted.”®"® After continucd
interrogation sessions with Gul, on August 19, 2004, CIA detention site personnel wrotc that the
interrogation “team does not believe [Gul] is withholding imminent threat information.”® On
August 21, 2004, a cable from CIA Headquarters stated that Janat Gul “is believed” to possess
threat information, and that the “use of enhanced technigues is appropriate in order fo obtain that
information.”®?! On that day, Angust 21, 2004, CIA interrogators resumed using the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques against Gul.¥? Gul continued not to provide any reporting on
the pre-clection threat described by the CIA source.® On August 25, 2004, CIA interrogators
sent a cable to CIA Hcadquarters stating that Janat Gul “may not possess all that {the CIA]
believes him to know.”®* The interrogators added that “many issucs linking {Gul] to al-Qaida
are derived from single source reporting” (the CIA source).*” Nonethcless, CIA interrogators
continued to question Gul on the pre-election threat. According to an August 26, 2004, cable,
after a 47-hour session of standing slcep deprivation, Janat Gul was returned to his cell, allowed
to remove his diaper, given a towel and a meal, and permitted to sleep.5%® In October 2004, the
CI1A conducted a& of the CIA source who had identified Gul as having knowledge of
attack planning for the pre-election threat. _. the CIA source admitted to

fabricating the information.’”’ Gui was subsequently transferred to a foreign government. On
_nf{mﬂed the CIA that Janat Gul had been released.®

@S/ 25 Tanat Gul never provided the threat information the CIA originally
told the National Security Council that Gul possessed. Nor did the use of the CIA’s enhanced

intcrrogation techniques against Gul produce the “immediate threat information that could save
American lives,” which had been the basis for the CIA to seck authorization to use the
techniques. As described clsewhere in this summary, the CIA’s justification for employing its
enhanced interrogation techniques on Janat Gul-—the first detainee to be subjected to the
techniques following the May 2004 suspension—changed over time. Affer having initially cited
Gul’s knowledge of the pre-election threat, as reported by the CIA’s source, the CIA began
representing that its enhanced interrogation techniques were required for Gul to deny the
existence of the threat, thereby disproving the credibility of the CIA source.®

§17
Rig
BT
R20
8 HEADQUARTERS
822
823
824
828
24
8279
824

04)

04). See Volume ¥l for additional information.
492
829 Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G.

Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant At:omei General, Office of Leial Counsei, May 30, 2005, Re: Application of
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(M) On August 11, 2004, in the midst of the inzerroiation of Janat Gul

using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniqucs, CIA attorncy wrote a letter
to Acting Assistant Attorney General Dan Levin with “hrief biograpbies” of four individuals
whom the CIA hoped to detain. Given the requircment at the time that tbe CIA seek individual
approval from the Department of Justice before using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques against a detainee, the CIA letter states, “[wle are providing these preliminary
biographics in preparation for a future request for a Iegal opinion on their subsequent
interrogation in CIA control.” Two of the individuals——Abu Faraj al-Libi and Hamza Rabi’a—
had not yet been captured, and thus the “biographies” made no refcrence to their interrogations
or the need to usc the CIA’s enhanced interrogation tcchniques. The third individual, Abu Talha
al-Pakistani, was in foreign government custody. His debricfings by a foreign government, .

, were described in the letter as “only moderately effcctive” because Abu
Talha was “distracting [those questioning him] with noncritical information that is truthful, but is
not related to operational planning.” The fourth individual, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, was also
in foreign government custody and being debriefed by foreign government officials
i According to the letter, Ghailani’s foreign government debriefings were “ineffective”
because Ghailani had “denied knowledge of current threats,” The letter described reporting on
the pre-clection threcat—much of which came from the CIA source—in the context of all fonr
individuals.®*¥ Abmed Ghailani and Abu Faraj al-Libi were cventually rendered to CIA custody
and subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.

S/ L) On Scprember JJ 2004, after the CIA had initiated a

counterintelligence review of the CIA source who had reported on the pre-election threat, but
prior to the C1A source’s |l the CIA took custody of Sharif al-Masri, whom the CIA
source had reported would also have information about the threat.®®! Intelligence provided by
Sharif al-Masri while he was in foreign government custody resulted in the dissemination of
more than 30 CIA intelligence reports.®* After entering C1A custody, Sharif al-Masri cxpressed
his intent to cooperatc with the CIA, indicating that he was frightencd of interrogations because
he had been tortured while being interrogated in iﬁm The CIA nonetbeless
sought approval to usc the CIA’s cnhanced interrogation techniques against al-Masri because of
his failure to provide information on the pre-clection threat.®*

(M) After ap;ﬁroximateiy a weck of interrogating al-Masri using the

CIA’s cnhanced interrogation techniques, including sleep deprivation that coincided with

United States Obligations Under Article 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain Techniques that May Be
Used in the Interrogation of High Value al Queda Detainees, at 11, See section of this summary and Yolume 1T
entitied, “The Assertion that CIA Detainees Subjected to Enhanced Interrogation Technigues Help Validate CIA
Sources.”

530 ¢ etter from |, Assistant General Counsel, to Dan Levin, Acting Assistant Attorney General,

, 2004.

B WASHINGTON

B2 See, for example,
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auditory hallucinations, CIA interrogators reported that al-Masri had been “motivated to
articipate” at the time of his arrival® Despite al-Masri’s repeated descriptions of torture in
the CIA transferred al-Masri to that government’s custody after approximately thice
months of CIA detention %

S/ 2F) As in the case of Janat Gul and Sharif al-Masri, the CIA’s requests

for OLC advice on the use of the C1A’s enhanced interrogation techniques against Ahmed
Khalfan Ghailani were based on the fabricated reporting on the pre-clection threat from the same
CIA source.® Like Janat Gul and Sharif al-Masri, Ghailani also cxperienced auditory
hatlucinations following sleep deprivation.®® As described in this summary, after having opined
on the legality of using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues on these three individual
detainees, the OLC did not opine again on the CIA’s enhanced interrogation program until May
2005.

8. Country .Demins Individuals on the CIA's Behalf

@S/ ~+) Consideration of a detention facility in Country B vegan in JN

2003, when the ClA sought to transfer Ramzi bin al-Shibh from the custody of a forcign
government to CIA custody839 , which had not yet informed the
country’s political leadership of the CIA’s request to establish a clandestine detention facility in
Country I}, surveyed potential sites for the facility, while the CIA set aside $l million for its
construction 3¢ In 2003, the C1A arranged for a “temporary patch’” involving placing two
ClA detainees (Ramzi bin al-Shibh and ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri) within an already existing
Couniry ] detention facility, until the CIA’s own facility could be built.® That spring, as the
CIA was offering millions of dollars in subsidies to h in Countricsi B and 3¢

w5 [ 2o B fo more information, see Volume HI, detainee report for

Sharif al-Masri.

¢ HEADQUARTERS I ; :o-
837 See letter from . Associate General Counsel, CIA, to Dun Levin, Acting Assistant Attorney

General, August 25, 2004 (DTS #2009-1809). (Note: At various times during this period is identified as
both CIA associate general counsel and ﬂCTC Legal). See also a lefter from , Assistant
General Counsel, to Dan Levin, Acting Assistant Attorney General, September 5, 2004 (DTS #20609-1806). A CIA
email sent prior to the CIA’s request for advice from the OLC indicated that the judgment that Ghailani had
knowledge of tervorist plotting was speculative: “Although Ghatlant’s role in operationat planning is uaclear, his
respected role in ui-Qa’ida and presence in Shkai as recently as October 2003 may have provided him some

land, and the operatives involved.” (See

knowledge about ongoing attack planning against the United States home
email from: ﬂ, CTC/UBLD h {formerly ALE : to: |[REDACTED)],
[REDACTED], IREDACTEDY, [REDACTED]; subject: devog information for ODDO on Talha, Ghailani, Hamza

Rubi’a and Abu Faraj: date: August 10, 2004.) Ghailani was rendered to CIA custody on September oot (See
— 3072 L) The CIA began using its enhanced interrogation technigues

on Ghailani on September 17, 2004, as the CIA wus initiating its counterintellizgence review of the source who
provided the fulse reporting on the pre-election threat. See 3189 (1815587 SEP (4);
HEADQUARTERS 04); 4267 &4).

8% |REDACTED] 3221
89 IREDACTED] 22343
#0 HEADQUARTERS
#1 HEADQUARTERS
#12 While CIA Headquarters offered $f million to Country [l for hosting a CIA detention facility, | ENEG—__
precladed the opening of the facitity. Oniy 3 million was made available to the CIA Station for support to the
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CJA Headquarters directed the CIA Station in Country [ to “think big” about how CIA
Headquarters could support Country Jfs 843 After the Station initially
submitted relatively modest proposals, CIA Headquarters reiterated the directive, adding that the
Station should provide a “wish list. ”84““2003, the Station proposed a more expansive
million in h subsidies 3% subsidy payments, intended in part as
compensation for support of the CIA detention program, rose as high as $jJJj million 3% By
ﬁ 2003, after an extension of five months beyond the originally agreed upon timeframe

for concluding CIA detention activities in Country [J|, both bin al-Shibb and al-Nashiri had been
transferred out of Country J]to the CIA detention facility at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba.®’

9. U.S. Supreme Court Action in the Case of Rasul v. Bush Forces Transfer of CIA
Detainees from Guantanamo Bay to Country

(M) Beginning in September 2003, the ClA held a number of detainees

at CIA facilities on the grounds of, but separate from, the U.S. military detention facilitics at
Guantanamo Bay, Cuba.¥? In early January 2004, the CIA and the Department of Justice began
discussing the possibility that a pending U.S. Supreme Court case, Rasul v. Bush, might grant
habeas corpus rights to the five CIA detainces then being beld at a CIA detention facility at

— although CIA Headquarters asked the CIA Station to “advise if additionz] funds may be needed to
keep [the facility] viable over the coming year and beyond.” CiA Headquarters added, “we cannot have enough
blacksite hosts, and we are loathe to let one we huve slip away.” Count never hosted CEA detainees. See
HEADQUAR [l [REDACTED] 5298 HEADQUAR IR

“ ALEC [N I 03). 1o an interview on the CIA program, [T cotcc tat e

program had “more money than we could possibly spend we thought, nnd it tumed out to be accerate.” I the same
interview, he stated that “in one case, we gave $.000,600

. Myself and José [Rodriguez]

. We never counted it. ¥t not about to count

that kind of money for a receipt.” The boxes contained one hundred doliar bills. did not identify the
recipient of the $i million. See ranscript of Oral History Interview, Interviewee: {RJ) - October
13, 2006, Interviewer: [REDACTED] and {REDACTED].

B4 ALEC 3

MY ALEC

$6 See DTS #2010-2448,
#* [REDACTED] 2498 |G

848 April | 2003, Memorandum for Director, DCI Counterterrorist Center, from , Chief
Renditions and Detainees Group, via Counterterrorist Center, Chief of Operations, JJJJJij
Chief, Subject: Request to Relocate Hizgh-Value Detainees to an Interim
Detention Facility at Guantanamo. See alse DIRECTOR . CHA detainees were held at
two fucilities at Guantunamo Bay, DETENTION SITE MAROON and DETENTION SITE INDIGQ, (See
Quurterly Review of Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees, Coverage Period. !

; 9754 ; 8405 8408
and September {, 2006, Memorandum of Agreement Between the Department of Defense (DOD) and the Central
Intelligence Agency (CIA) Concerning the Detention by DOD of Certain Terrorists at a Facitity at Guantanamo Bay
Navai Station,

h
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Guantanamo Bay * Shortly after these discussions, CIA officers approached the | EEEGTE

in Country Jfto determine if it would again be willing to host these CIA detainecs, who would

remain in CIA custody within an already existing Country [} facility.®%° By January [ 2004, the
in Country l had agreed to this arrangement for a limited period of time.®

@S 25F) Mcanwhile, CIA General Counsel Scott Muller asked the

Department of Justice, the National Security Council, and the White House Counsel for advice
on whether the five CIA detainees being held at Guantanamo Bay should remain at Guantanamo
Bay or be moved pending the Supreme Court’s decision.®? After consultation with the U.S.
solicitor general in February 2004, the Department of Justice recommended that the CIA move
four detainces out of a CIA detention facility at Guantanamo Bay pending the Supreme Court’s
resolution of the case.® The Department of Justice concluded that a fifth detainee, Ibn Shaykh
al-Libi, did not need to be transferred because he had originally been detained under military
authority and had been declared to the ICRC.%* Nonetheless, by Aprii [JJf, 2004, ail five CIA
detainces were transferred from Guantanamo Bay to other CIA detention facilities, %

} Shortly after placing CIA detainces within an already existin
facility for a second time, tensions arose between the CIA and - Country
1856 10 | 2004, CIA detainces in a Country [ facility claimed to hear cries of
pain from other detainecs presumed to be in the
facility.®” When the CIA chief of Station approached the

$9% Email from: Scott W. Muller, to: —, {REDACTEDY; cc: [REDACTED]; subject: Detainees in
Gitmo;, date: January [}, 2004,

30 spe HEADQUARTERS [N,  ::0Ac1eED) 1845 M. 1 C1As long-

term faciitty in Country I, which the CIA Station in Country | had warned was a drain on the Station’s resources,

hud not yet been completed. See [REDACTED] 1785
851 IREDACTED] 1679

82 Emai] from: Scott Muller, to: Jumes Paviti, - co: George Tenet, John MclLasghlin, [REDACTED],
(REDACTED], NG (REDACTED], , subject: CIA Detainees at GITMO; date:
February I, 2004,

5% Bmail from: Scoit Muller, to: James Paviy, e George Tenet, John McLaughlin, [REDACTED],
[REDACTED], | (REDACTED), ; subject: CIA Detainees at GITMO; date:
Fehruary . 2004,

84 penail from: Scot Multer; to: James Pavitt,

[REDACTED}, [REDACTED],

. co George Tenet, John McLuughlin, [REDACTED],
, subject: CIA Detainees at GITMO,; date:

13608 ' . ALEC

I ;7 D
[REDACTED] 1898

856 See, for example, [REDACTED] 1679 | o additional details of the CIA’s interactions with
Country [}, see Volume 1.

857 Among the detainees making this clair was fon Shaykh al-Libi, who had previously been rendered from CIA
custody to . A Libyan nationat, Ibn Shaykh al-Libi reported while inbcusmdy that ¥rag
was suppotting al-Qa’idu und providing assistance with chemical and biological weapons. Some of this information
was cited by Secretury Powell in his speech to the United Nations, and wus used as a justification for the 2003
invasion of Iraq. Ibn Shaykh al-Libi recanted the claim after he was rendered to CIA custody on February . 2003,
claiming that e bad been tortured by the , and only told them what he assessed they wanted to hear. For
more details, see Volume HL While in Coun al-Libi told CIA debriefers that the “sobbing and yelling™ he
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—ab(mz the accounts of the CIA detainecs, the _stated with “bitter

dismay” that the bilateral relationship was heing “tested.”®?® There were also counterintelligence

concerns relating to CIA detainee Ramzi hin al-Shibh, who had attempted to influence a Country
W officer.® These concerns contributed to a request from # in N

2004 for the CIA to remove all CIA detainees from Country .50

2004, when the chief of Station in Country ]| again

approached the with allegations from CIA detainees
ahout the mistreatment of Country § detainees in the facility, the chief of Station
received an angry response that, as he reported to CIA Headquarters, “starkly illustrated the
inherent challenges {of]

7 According to the chief of Station, Country J saw the CIA as
“querulous and unappreciative recipients of their || cooperation.”® By the end of
2004, relations hetween the CIA and Country I deteriorated, particularly with regard to

intclligence cooperation.*® The CIA detainces were transferred out of Country i in
2005 5

( ) Beginning in [l 2005, the
in Country J insisted, over the CIA’s opposition, to brief Country |f's on

the effort to establish a more permanent and unilateral CIA detention facility, which was under
construction. A proposed phone call to the F from Vice President Cheney to
solidify support for CIA operations in Country Jf was complicated hy the fact that Vice President
Cheney bad not been told about the locations of the CYA detention facilities. The CIA wrote that
there was a “‘primary nced” to “eliminate any possihility that could

explicitly or implicitly refer to the existencc of a hlack site in {the country]” during the call with
the vice president.’® There are no indications that the call occurred. The of
Country J nonetheless approved the unilateral CIA detention facility, which cost million, but

was never used by the CIA.% By [l 2006, the CIA was working with Country ] to
decommission what was descrihed as the “ahorted” project %6

heard reminded him of what he previousty endured in custody and it sonnded to him like a prisoner had
been tied np and beaten. See [(REDACTED] 1989 .

88 JREDACTED] 2010

52 [REDACTED] 2010

%0 {REDACTED] 2317 . The CIA’s June 2013 Response states that “{i]t was only as leaks

detuiling the program began to emerge that foreign partners felt compelied to alter the scope of their invelvement.”
As described above, the tensions with Country [l were unrelated to press leaks.

$1IREDACTED] 2602
18 : (REDACTED] 31281 |NGGEE: - (REDACTED]
. Country [fofficials refused to irovide the CIA with counterterrorism information,

% See [REDACTED] 23
2783
See [REDACTED] 31281 [

including information obtained through CTA-funded

83 HEADQUARTERS
84 HEADQUARTERS
865 [REDACTED] and CT DG, “Evolution of the Program.”

866 {REDACTED] 3706 ({REDACTED] [REDACTED ii
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L. The Pace of CIA Operations Slows; Chief of Base Concerned About “Inexperienced,
Marginal, Underperforming” CIA Personnel; Inspector General Describes Lack of
Debricfers As “Ongoing Problem”

S/ 25 1n the fall of 2004, CIA officers began considering “end games,” or

the final disposition of detainees in CIA custody. A draft CIA presentation for National Sceurity
Council principals dated August 19, 2004, identified the drawbacks of ongoing indefinite
detention by the CIA, including: the need for regular relocation of detainees, the “tiny pool of
potential host countries” available “due to high risks,” the fact that “prolonged detention without
legal process increases likelihood of HVD health, psychological problems [and] curtails intel
flow,” criticism of the U.S. government if legal process were delayed or denied, and the
likelihood that tbe delay would “complicate, and possibly reduce the prospects of successful
prosecutions of these detainees.”’ CIA draft talking points produced a month later statc that
transfer to Department of Defense or Department of Justice custody was the “preferred endgame
for 13 detainees currently in [CIA] control, none of whom we believe should cver leave USG
custody.” 568

@S/ 5 By the end of 2004, the overwhelming majority of CIA

detainecs—113 of the 119 identified in the Committee Study—had already entered CIA custody.
Most of the detainees remaining in custody were no longer undergoing active interrogations;
rather, they were infrequently questioned and awaiting a final disposition. The CIA took custody
of only six new detainees between 2005 and Yanuary 2009: four detainees in 2003, one in 2006,
and one—the CIA’s final detainee, Muhammad Rahim—in 2007.5¢

ES/IE %) In 2004, CIA detainecs were being held in three countries: at
DETENTION SITE BLACK in Country J|, at the ﬂacility in
Country I, as well as at detention facilitics in Country §§. DETENTION SITE VIOLET in
Country J opened in carly 2005.5° On April 15, 2005, the chief of Base at DETENTION SITE
BLACK in Country . sent the management of RDG an email expressing his concerns about the
detention site and the program in general. He commented that “we have scen clear indications
that various Headquarters elements are experiencing mission fatigue vis-a-vis their interaction
with the program,” resulting in a “decline in tbe overall quality and level of experience of
deployed personnel,” and a decline in “level and quality of requirements.” He wrote that
because of the length of time most of the CIA detainees had been in detention, *'{the] detainees
have been all but drained of actionable intelligence,” and their remaining value was in providing
“information that can be incorporated into strategic, analytical think pieces that decal with
motivation, structure and goals.” The chicf of Base observed that, during the course of the year,
the detention site transitioned from an intelligence production facility to a long-term detention
facility, wbicb raised “a host of new challenges.” These challenges included the need to address

867 (1A PowerPoint Presentation, CIA Detainees: Endgame Options and Plans, dated August 19, 2004,

868 September 17, 2004, DRAFT Talking Points for the ADCI: Endgame Options and Plans for CIA Detainees.
8% The CIA took custody of Abu Faraj al-Libi, Abu Munthir ul-Magrebi, fbrahim Jan, and Abu Ya'far al-Iraqi in
2005, and Abd al-Hadi al-fragi in 2000.

¥7¢ The first detainees arrived in Count in 2003. CIA detainees were held within an existing Country
[ facitity in Country Jf from il ©o 2003, and then again beginning in JJPE2004. For additional

information, see Volume L
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the “natural and progressive effects of long-term solitary confinement on detainees” and ongoing
behavioral problems,?’!

s/ ) with respect to the personnel at DETENTION SITE BLACK, the

chicf of Base wrotc;

“l am concerned at what appears to be a lack of resolve at Headquarters to
deploy to the field the brightest and most qualified officers for service at {the
detention site]. Over the course of the last year the quality of personnel
(debricfers and {security protective officers]) has declined significantly, With
regard to debriefers, most are mediocre, a handfull {sic] are exceptional and
more than a few are basically incompetent. From what we can dctermine there
is no established metbodology as to the selection of debriefers. Rather than
look for their best, managers seem {0 be selecting either problem,
underperforming officers, new, totally inexpericnced officers or whomever
seems to be willing and able to deploy at any given time. We sce no evidence
that thougbt is being given to deploying an ‘A-Team.” The result, quite
naturally, is the production of mediocre or, I darc say, useless intelligence. ...

Wc have seen a similar detcrioration in the quality of the sccurity personnel
deployed to the site..., If this program truly does represent one of the agency’s
most secret activitics then it defies fogic why inexperienced, marginal,
undcrperforming and/or officers with potentially significant
[counterinteiligence] problems are permitted to deploy to this site, It is also
important that we immediately inact [sic} some form of rigorous training
program.”t7?

s/ ~%) A CIA OIG audit completed in June 2006 “found that personnel

assigned to CIA-controllcd detention facilities, for the most part, complied with the standards
and guidclines in carrying out their duties and responsibilities.” The OIG also found that,
“except for the sbortage of debriefers, the facilities were staffed with sufficient numbers and
types of personnel.” The lack of debriefers, however, was described as “an ongoing problem”
for the program. According to the audit, there were extended periods in 2005 when the CIA’s
DETENTION SITE ORANGE in Country . had either one or no debricfers. At least twice in
the summer of 2005, the chicf of Station in that country requested additional dcbriefers, warning
that intelligence collection could suffer. Months later, in January 2006, the chicf of Base at the
detention site advised CIA Headquarters that “the facility still lacked debriefers to support
intelligence collection requirements, that critical requirements were ‘stacking up,’ and that gaps
in the debriefing of detainees were impacting the quantity and quality of intelligence reporting
and would make the work of future debriefers more difficult.”%"?

¥7! Email from: [REDACTED] (COB DETENTION SITE BLACK); to: I NNENESSNNTEE. DR

—; subject: General Comments; date: Aprit 15, 2003.
¥2 Emait from: [REDACTED] (COB DETENTION SITE BLACK); «o: | NN D
s snbject: General Comments; date: April 15, 2005,
§73 Report of Audit, CIA -controiled Detention Facilities Operated Under the 17 September 2001 Memorandum of
Notification, Report No. 2005-0017-AS8, June 14, 2006, at DTS # 2006-2793. As further described in the
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M. Legal and Operational Challenges in 2005

1. Department of Justice Renews Approval for the Use of the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation
Techniques in May 2005

S/ ) On May 10, 2005, the ncw acting assistant attorney gencral for

OLC, Steven Bradbury, issued two legal memoranda, The first analyzed whether the individual
use of the CIA’s 13 enhanced interrogation technigues—inciuding waterboarding, as well as a
number of interrogation techniques that had been used in 2003 and 2004, but had not been
analyzed in the original August 1, 2002, OLC mcemorandum-—were consistent with the criminal
probibition on torturc.*”* The sccond memorandum considered the combined use of the CIA’s
enhaneed interrogation techniques.®” Both Icgal memoranda concluded that the use of the CIA’s
cnhaneed interrogation techniques did not violatc the torture statute.

S/ =) On May 26, 2005, the CIA inspector gencral, who had been

provided with the two OLC memoranda, wrote a memo to the CIA dircctor recommending that
the CIA seck additional legal guidance on whether the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques
and conditions of confinement met the standard under Article 16 of the Convention Against
Torturc.5” The inspector general notcd that “a strong case can be made that the Agency’s
authorized interrogation tecbniques are the kinds of actions that Article 16 undertakes to
prevent,” adding that the use of the waterboard may be “cruel” and “cxtended detention with no
clothing would be considered ‘degrading’ in most cultures, particutarly Muslim.” The inspector
general further urged that the analysis of conditions was equally important, noting that the
inspector general’s staff had “found a number of instances of detaince treatment which arguably
violatc the prohibition on cruel, inhuman, and/or degrading treatment.”8"’

Committee Study, the Inspector General audit described how the CIA’s detention facilities wese not equipped to
provide detainees with medicul care. The audit described unhygienic food preparation, inclading at a facility with a
“rodent infestation,” and noted that u physician assistant attributed symptoms of acute gastrointestinal illness and
giardiasis experienced by six staff and a detainee to food and water contamination. The audit further identified
insufficient guidelines covering poszibie detainee escape or the death of 2 detainee,

74 See Memorandum for Joha A. Rivzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven
G. Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 10, 2003, Re: Application
of 18 U.8.C. §§ 2340-2340A to Certain Technigues That May Be Used in the Interrogation of a High Value al
Qaeda Detainee.

875 See Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy Generul Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Sieven
G. Bradbnry, Principal Deputy Assistant Atorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 10, 2005, Re: Application
of I8 11.8.C. §§ 2340-2340A to the Combined Use of Certain Techniques That May Be Used in the Interrogation of
High Value al Qaeda Detainges.

86 May 26, 2005, Memorandum for Director, Central Intelligence Agency, from John Helgerson, Inspector General,
re: Recommendation for Additiona] Approach to Department of Justice Concerning Legal Guidance on Interrogation
Techniques.

877 May 26, 2005, Memorandum for Director, Central Intelligence Agency, from John Helgerson, Inspector General,
re: Recommendation for Additional Approach to Department of Justice Concerning Legal Guidance on Interrogation
Techniques.
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(M) On May 30, 2005, a third OLC memorandum examining U.S.

obligations under the Convention Against Torture was completed.?”® The conclusions in this
opinion were bascd largely on the CIA’s representations about the effectivencss of the CIA
interrogation program in obtaining unique and “otherwise unavailable actionable intelligence.”
As described later in this summary, and in more detail in Volume H, the CIA’s effectiveness
representations were almost entirely inaccurate,

2. Abu Faraj Al-Libi Subjected to the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation Techniques Prior to
Department of Justice Memorandum on U.S. Obligations Under the Convention Against
Torture; CIA Subjects Abu Faraj Al-Libi to the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation
Techniques When He Complains of Hearing Problems

s/ 2E) On May 2, 2005, whon Abu Faraj al-Libi, al-Qa’ida’s chicf of
operations, was captured in Pakistan, the OLC had not yet issued the three aforementioned May
2005 legal memoranda.®” CIA officers described Abu Faraj al-Libi’s capturc as tbe “most
important al-Qa’ida capture since Khalid Shaykh Muhammad.”**® Shortly after al-Libi’s
capture, the CIA began discussing the possibility that Abu Faraj al-Libi might be rendered to
U.S. custody 3!

/IR ) On May li, 2005, four days before the rendition of Abu Faraj al-

Libi to CIA custody, Dircetor of CTC Robert Grenier asked CIA Director Porter Goss to send a
memorandum to the nationat sccurity advisor and the director of national intelligence “informing
them of the CIA’s plans to take custody of Ahu Faraj al-Libi and to employ interrogation
techniques if warranted and medically safc.”%2 On May 24, 2005, the White House informed the
CIA that a National Security Councit Principals Committee meeting would be necessary to
discuss the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques on Abu Faraj al-Libi, but the
travel schedule of one of the principals was delaying such a meeting.#* CIA Director Goss
instructed CIA officers to proceed as planned, indicating that he would call the principals
individually and inform them that, if Abu Faraj al-Libi was found not to be cooperating and there
were no contraindications to such an interrogation, he would approve the use of all of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques other than the waterboard, without waiting for a mecting of

¥7% See Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven
G. Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 30, 2005, Re: Application
of United States Obligations Under Anticle 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain Techniques thut May Be
Used in the Interrogation of High Value at Quedu Detainees.
9 For more information on Abu Faraj al-Libi’s detention and interrogation, see Volame 1.
80 HEADQUARTERS (2518402 MAY 05)
81 See, for example, 1085 [N (::csc:ibing meetings on May 6 and 7, 2005),
82 May i, 2005, Memorandum for Director, Central Intelligence Agency, via Acting Deputy Director, Central
Intelligence Agency, Executive Director, Deputy Director for Operations from Robert Grenier, Director, DCI
Counterterrorist Center, re: Interrogation Plan for Abu Faraj al-Libi.
883 Email from: ; to: Robert Grenier, John Mudd, [REDACTED], [REDACTED],

. [REDACTED], _ ce: .
{REDACTED], {REDACTED], {REDACTEDY; subject: Possible significant delay in BI'Ts for AFAL; date: May 24,
2005.

-+
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the principals.®® Abu Faraj al-Libi was rendered to CIA custody at DETENTION SITE
ORANGE on May ., 2005,%% and transferred to DETENTION SITE BLACK on May .,
2005.5%¢

s/ ) O May ll, 2005, CIA Director Goss formally notified National

Security Advisor Stephen Hadley and Director of National Intelligence (DNI) John Negroponte
that Abu Faraj al-Libi would be rendered to the unilateral custody of the CIA.®¥ Director Goss’s
memorandum stated:

“Is]hould Abu Faraj resist cooperating in C1A debricfings, and pending a
finding of no medical or psychological contraindictations {sic}, to
interrogation, I will authorize CIA trained and certified interrogators to employ
one or more of the thirteen specific interrogation techniques for which CIA
recently received two signed legal opinions from the Department of Justice
(DOJ), Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) that these techniques, both individually
and used collectively, are Jawful, "5¥

(_FNF-) The memorandum from Director Goss described Abu Faraj al-Libi
as holding the third most important position in al-Qa’ida, and “play[ing] a leading role in
directing al-Qa’ida’s global operations, including attack planning against the US homeland.”
Abu Faraj al-Libi was also described as possibly overseeing al-Qa’ida’s “highly compartmented
anthrax efforts.”#

@S/ ~=) 0n May ] 2005, one day after al-Libi’s arrival at DETENTION
SITE BLACK, CIA interrogators received CIA Headquarters approval for the usc of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques on Abu Faraj al-Lib1.® CIA interrogators began using the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues on Abu Faraj al-Libi on May 28, 2003, two days before
the OLC issued its memorandum analyzing whether the techniques violated 1.S. obligations
under the Convention Against Torture.%?!

(M) The CIA interrogated Abu Faraj al-Libi for more than a month

using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. On a number of occasions, CIA
interrogators applied the CIA’s cnbanced interrogation techniques to Abu Faraj al-Libi when he

88 B muif from: . to: Robert Grenier, John Mudd, [REDACTED], [REDACTEDL
T . (RepacTED], NN, I -
[REDACTED], [REDACTED}, [REDACTED]; subject: Possible significant delay in EITs for AFAL; date: May 24,

20085.

888 4526

886 6131 319
887 Mamorandem for Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs, Director of National Intelligence, from
Porter Goss, Ditector, Central InteHigence Agency, May ., 2005, re: Interrogation Plan for Aba Faraj al-Libi.

888 Memorandum for Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs, Director of National Intelligence, from
Porter Goss, Director, Centrat InteHigence Agency, Muy . 2005, te: Interrogation Plan for Abu Furaj ul-Libl,

889 Memorandum for Assistant to the President for Nationat Security Affairs, Director of National Inteltigence, from
Porter Goss, Director, Central Imeiiiirence Aienci‘ May . 2005, re: Interrogation Plan for Abu Faraj al-Libi,

390 HEADQUARTERS JI
10¢ 2336 (2820037 MAY 05)
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complained of a loss of hearing, repeatedly tclling him to stop pretending he could not hear
well.*? Although the interrogators indicated that they believed al-Libi’s complaint was an
interrogation resistance technique, Abu Faraj al-Libi was fitted for a hearing aid after his transfer
to U.S. military custody at Guantanamo Bay in 2006.5* Despitc the repeated and extensive use
of the CIA’s cnhanced interrogation techniques on Abu Faraj al-Libi, CIA Headquarters
continued to insist throughout the summer and fall of 2005 that Ahu Faraj al-Libi was
withholding information and pressed for the renewed usc of the rechniques. The use of the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against Ahu Faraj al-Lihi was cventually discontinued
because CIA officers stated that they had no intclligence to demonstrate that Abu Faraj al-Libi
continued to withhold information, and because CIA medical officers cxpressed concern that
additional use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques “may come with unacceptable
medical or psychological risks,”®* After the discontinuation of the CIA’s cnhanced
nterrogation techniques, the CIA asked Abu Faraj al-Libi about UBL facilitator Abu Ahmad al-
Kuwaiti for the first time.* Abu Faraj al-Libi denied knowledge of al-Kuwaiti 2%

3. CIA Acquires Two Detainees from the U.S. Military

s/ ) Another legal issue in latc 2005 was related to the U.S. Departrnent

of Defense’s involvement in CIA detention activities. In September 2005, the CIA and the
Department of Defensc signed a Memorandum of Undcrstanding on this subject,?®” and the U.S.
military agreed to transfer two detainees, Ibrahim Jan and Abu Ja’far al-Iraqi, to CIA custody.
Both were held by the U.S. military without being registered with the ICRC for over 30 days,
pending their transfer to CIA custody.®® The transfer of Abu Ja’far al-Iraqi took place
notwithstanding Department of State concerns that the transfor would be inconsistent with
statcments made by the secretary of state that U.8. forces in Iraq would remain committed to the
law of armed conflict, including the Geneva Conventions.

2499 (2621237 JUN 05)

"4 Email from: : to:

- to: L cc: [REDACTED], [REDACTED), ,
[REDACTED], {REDACTED], | {REDACTED], : subject:

Response to DDO Tasking of 7 July on Abu Faraj Interrogation; date: July 8, 2005, at 86:16 PM.
5 DIRECTOR (1218477 JUL 05); HEADQUARTERS —imm 04); I 20351

{2912327 JAN 04), DIRECTOR {040522Z MAY 04)
¢ I 29454 (131701Z JUL 05)
#7 Memorandum of Understanding Concerning DOD Support to CIA with Sensitive Capture and Detention
Operations in the War on Terrorism,
8% See email from: [REDACTED], | IR «: IR (::»>ACTED], [REDACTED); cc:

, [REDACTED], (REDACTED], {REDACTED), [REDACTED], {REDACTED]; subject: DoD Regquest for
a list of HVTs not o be issved ISN numbers. The email stated: “In conjunction with discussions between CIA and

Do?) over the weekend regarding our reqguest to have the military render thrahim Jan to our custody and NOT
issuing him an ISN number, Do) has requested CIA provide a list of HVTs to whom, if captured, the military

should NOT issue ISN numbers” (emphasis in original}, See 1505 QCT 05).
29 july Ji}, 2005 Memorandum for Joint Staff from , re: Interim Guidance
Regarding { .
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@S/JTI 25 10 late 2005, during the period the U.S. Senate was debating the

Detainee Treatment Act batring “cruel, ishuman, or degrading treatment or punishment,”® the
CIA subjected Abu Ja’far al-Traqi to its enhanced interrogation techniques.®® A draft
Presidential Daily Brief (PDB) stated that Abu Ju'far al-Iraqi provided “almost no information
that could be used to focate former colleagues or disrupt attack plots”—the type of information
sought by the CIA, and the CIA’s justification for the use of its enhanced interrogation
techniques.”” Later, the statement that Abu Ja'far al-Tragi provided “almost no information that
could be used to locate former colleagues or disrupt attack plots” was deleted from the draft
PDB.%* Abu Ja’far al-Fraqi remained in CIA custody until early September 2006, when he was
transferred to U.S. military custody in Irag.®™

4. The CIA Seeks “End Game” for Detainees in Early 2005 Due to Limited Support From
Liaison Partners

% Einail from: [REDACTEDY; to: | (R=DACTED), [REDACTED]; cc: IR

{REDACTED], [REBACTED]; Subject;: McCain Amendment on Detainee Treatment; date: October

6, 2005, at 12:37 PM.
0t According to CIA records, Abu Ja'far al-Iragi was subjected {o nudity, dietary manipulation, insuit slaps,
abdominal siaps, attention grasps, facial holds, walling, stress positions, and water dousing with 44 degree
Fahsenheit water for 18 minutes, He was shackled in the standing position for $4 hours as part of steep deprivation,
and experienced swelling in his lower legs reguiving blood thinner und spiral ace bandages. He was movedto a
sitting position, und his sleep deprivation was extended to 78 hours. After the swelling subsided, he was provided
with more blood thinner and was returned to the standing position. The sleep deprivation was extended to 102
hours. After four hours of sleep, Abu Ja'far al-Iragi was subjected to an additional 52 hours of sieep deprivation,
after which CIA Headquarters informed inferrogators that eight hours was the minimum rest period between sleep
deprivation sessions exceeding 48 houss. In addition to the swelling, Abu Ja’far al-Iragi slso experienced an edema
on his head due to walling, abrasions on his neck, and blisters on his ankles from shackles. See 1810
-DEC 05);*13;_3-1313(: 05);_3319‘3}3(: 05); 1847

DEC 05), 1848 DEC 05), HEADQUARTERS BEC 05). See
additional information on Abu Ja'far al-Iraqi in Volume HL
%2 PDB Draft titled: Dute: December
13, 2005, ALT ID#: -2132586. Director Goss notified the nationa! security udvisor that he had authorized the use of
the CIA's enlianced interrogation techniques on Abu Ja'fur al-Iragi because “CYA believes that Abu Ju'far possesses
considerable operational information ubout Abu Mu’sab al-Zargawi.” See December 1, 2005, Memorandum for the
National Security Advisor, Director of Nutional Intelligence, from Porter Goss, Central Intelligence Agency,
subject, “Counterterrorist Interrogation Techniques.”
803 pDB Praft titied: | Dute: December 16, 2005, ALT
1D: 20051217 PDB on Abu Jufar ab-Iragl. Urging the change to the draft PDB, one of the interrogators involved in
Abu Ja’far al-lraqi’s interrogation wrote, “If we allow the Director to give this PDB, as it is written, to the President,
1 would imugine the President would say, ‘You asked me to risk my presidency on your interrogations, and now yon
give me this that implies the interrogations are not working. Why do we bother?” We think the tone of the PDB
should be tweaked. Some of the conclusions, based on our experts” observations, should be amended. The glass is
half full, pot haif empty, and is getting more full every day.” See emuil from: [REDACTED]
- to; IREDACTEDY, {REDACTED], [REDACTED}, co: [REDACTED], iIREDACTED], [REDACTED],

subject: PDB on [Abu Jo’far al-iraqil; date: December 15, 2005, at 12:25 AM,
04 - 2031 . In June 2007, inaccurate information about the effectiveness of the CIA's

enhuniced interrogation techniques on Abu Ja'far al-fragi was provided to the Committee. See CIA Res.ﬁnse to

Senate Select Comimittee on Inteilizence Questions for the Record, June 18, 2007 (DTS #2007-2564),
32732 OCT 05% ; 32726 NN OCT 05);
32810 OCT 05); .
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(M) In eurly 2005, the CIA again sought an “endgame” policy for its

detainees, citing its unstable relations with host governments and its difficulty in identifying
additional countries to host CIA detention facilities.”™ Talking points prepared for the CIA
director for a meeting with the national security advisor made the following appeal:

“CIA urgently needs [the President of the United States} and Principals
Committce direction to establish a long-tcrm disposition policy for the 12
High-Value detainees {HVD)s we hold in overseas detention sites. Qur liaison
partners who host these sites are decply concerned by [REDACTEDP press
lcaks, and they are increasingly skeptical of the {U.S. government’s)
commitment to keep secret their cooperation. ... A combination of press leaks,
international scrutiny of alleged [U.S. government] detainee ahuse, and the
perception that {U.S. government] policy on detainees lacks direction is
eroding our partners’ trust in .S, resolve to protect their identitics und
supporting roles. If a [UL.S. government] plan for long-term [detainee)
disposition does not emerge soon, the handful of liaison partners who
cooperate may ask us to close down our facilities on their territory. Few
countrics are willing to accept the huge risks associated with hosting a CIA
detention site, so shrinkage of the already small pool of willing candidates
could force us to curtail our highly successful interrogation and detention
program. Fear of public cxposure may also prompt previously cooperative
liaison partners not to accept custody of detainecs we have captured and
interrogatcd. Establishment of a clcar, publicly announced {detainec)
‘endgame’ — one sanctioned by fthe President of the United States} and
supported by Congress — will reduce our partners’ concerns and rekindle their
enthusiasm for helping the US in the War on Terrorism. ™%

(M) In March 2005, talking points prepared for the CIA director for a

discussion with the Nationai Security Council Principals Committee stated that it was:

3 The CIA’s June 2013 Response states that un “important factor™ contributing to the slower pace of CTA detention
operations was 2i-Qa’ida’s relocation to the FATA, which “made it significantly more chalenging [for the Pakistani
government] to mount capture operations resulting in renditions and detentions by the RDI program.” A review of
CIA records by the Committee found that legal, policy, and other operational concerns dominated internal
deliberations about the program, In 2005, CIA officers agsked officials to render two detainees to CIA
custody, one
detainee was transferred to CIA custody. CIA officers noted that obtaining custody of detuinees held by a foreign
overnment during this period wis becoming increasingly difficult, highlighting that

Goss testified to the Committee that lack of space was the limiting factor in tuking custody of additional detainees.
See HEADQUARTERS ‘EADQUARTERS -g . email from:
[REDACTED], ; to: ; oot [REDACTED), {REDACTED],

[REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], {REDACTED}, subject: for ¢oord, pls: D/ICIA
talking points re rendition of
670 s HEADQUARTERS
Committee on Intelligence briefing, March 15, 2006 (DTS #2006-1308).
%6 Text redacted by the CIA prior to provision to Committee members at the U.S. Senute.

%07 See CIA document dated, Janvary 12, 2005, entitted, “DCI Taiking Points for Weekly Meeting with National
Security Advisor.”

; and transcript of Senate Select

")
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“only a matter of time before our remaining handful of current blacksite hosts
concludes that [U.S. government] policy on [detainees] lacks direction and. ..
{the blacksite hosts] ask us to depart from their soil. ... Continuation of status
quo will exaeerbate tensions in these very valuable relationships and cause
them to withdraw their critical support and cooperation with the [U.S.
government],”?%

(M) During this period, the U.S. solicitor general, however, expressed

concern that if CIA detainees were transferred back to Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, they might be
entitled to file a habeas petition and have access to an attorney.*® Meanwhile, the National
Security Council continued to discuss a public roll-out, and as described later in this suammary,
the CIA engaged the media directly 1n order to defend and promote the program.”°

(M) The question of what to do with the remaining detainces in CIA

custody remained unresolved throughout 2005, during which time the CIA pursued agreements
with additional eountries to cstablish clandestine CIA detention faeilities.”! The Detainee
Treatment Act was passed by Congress on December 23, 2005, as part of the National Defense
Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2006. That day, the CIA suspended its interrogation program
again.”'? As described later in this summary, in February 2006, the CIA informed the National
Security Council principals that the CIA would not seek continued use of all of tbe CIA’s

enhanced interrogation techniques.”*?

5. Press Stories and the CIA’s Inability to Provide Emergency Medical Care to Detainees
Result in the Closing of CIA Detention Facilities in Countries P |

(M} In October 2005, the CIA learned that Washington Post rﬂliorter

Dana Priest had information about the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program,

The CIA then conducted a series of
negotiations with the Washingron Post in which it sougbt to prevent the newspaper from
publishing information on the CIA’s Detention and Intcrrogation Program.®** Fearful that

98 Se¢ C1A Taiking Points for Principals Commiliee Meeting on Long-Term Disposition of High-Value Delainees,
8 March 2005,

99 Soe email from: | (o Jobr Rizzo; subject: Meeting this am with WH counset on endgame
planning; date: January 14, 2005,
910 Email from: ; 0.

 cc: [REDACTEDY, IR (REDACTED], Jobn
A. Rizzo, ! \ s subject: Re: Brokaw interview: Take one;
date: April 14, 2005, at 9:22:32 AM. In 2006, Vice President Cheney expressed reservations about any public
release of information regarding the CIA program. See C1A Memorandum for the Record from [REDACTED],
C/CTCYR. subject, “9 March 2006 Principals Committee Meeting on Detainges.”

911 Negotiations with Countries JJ] and [ to host CIA detention facililies are described in this summury, und in
greater dekail in Volume L

12 HEADQUARTERS [ 232040z DEC 05)

13 DDCIA Talking Points for 10 February 2006 Un-DC re Future of the CIA Countertervorist Rendilion, Detention,

and Interrogation Program — Interrogation Techniques.
"-”HEAD UAR s HEADQUAR [N NN 5 ADQUARTERS
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the CIA recommended the

immediate transfcr of CIA detainees to Department of Defense custody.®” When the
Department of Defense rejected the proposal, the National Security Councif directed the CIA to

repare other options.”*® Meanwhile, two U.S. ambassadors, one in || Jf and another in
E, inquired whether Secretary of Statc Rice had been briefed on the impending
Washington Post article and sought to speak to the secretary herself to ensure that the CIA
program was authorized. According to CYA documents, Secretary Rice was not aware of the
specific countries where the CIA detention facilities were located.”’” In lieu of a phone call from
Sectetary Rice, the CIA recommended that the State Department’s Counterterrorism Coordinator
and former CTC DDO, Henry Crumpton, call the ambassadors.’'® The Washington Post
published an article about CIA detention sites on November 2, 2005.9%

*s/EI %) The publication of the Washington Post article resulted in a

demarche to the United States from which also suggested that

contribution could be in jeopardy.”®® The United States also
received a demarche from 92t According to a CIA cable, U S.
representatives to feared that *“if another shoc were to drop,” there would be
considerable ramifications for U.S. relations with on a number of issues that
depended on U.S. credibility in the arca of human rights. The representatives also “questioned
whether the gravity of this potential problem is fully appreciated in Washington, "2

%% The other options put forward by the CIA were transfer of CIA detainees || NGTGcNNR +::ck e CiA
anticipated would release the detainees after a short period. The CIA also proposed its own outright release of the
detainees. See CIA document entitied D/CIA Talking Points for use at& Principals Meeting (2005).

26 HEADQUARTERS [N

?!7 Talking Points for Dr. J.D. Crouch for telephone calls to Ambussudors in [IREDACTED] regurding possibility of
forthcoming Dana Priest press article, email from; s tor [REDACTED), iIREDACTED],
{REDACTED]: cc: {REDACTED], [REDACTED); subjeck; Phone Cull with State/L. re Ambassadors who want to
spesk to the SecState; date: , at 06:45 PM.

918 Brmail from: s to: [REDACTED], {REDACTEDY), [REDACTED], cc: {(REDACTED],
{REDACTED]; subject: Phone Call with State/L re Ambussadors who want to speak to the SecStute; date: October
24, 2005, at 06:45 PM; emai} from: [REDACTED], to: [REDACTEDY; cc; _ {REDACTED],
IREDACTED], [REDACTED), {REDACTED], [REDACTED], IREDACTED}; subject: Phone call from S/CT
Amb, Hank Crumpton to Ambassador in h; date: November 1, 2005, at 6:13:21 PM.

After the subsequent press revelations, the U.8. ambassador in Country l asked again about whether the secretary of
state had been briefed, prompting the CIA Station in Country l ta note in a cable that briefing U.S. officials outside
of the CIA “would be a significant departure from current policy.” See [REDACTED) IREDACTED].

" See “CIA

and HEADQUAR

y uid cable to IREDACTED) at HEADQUAR .
; Memorandum from D/CIA Goss to Hadley, Townsend and Negroponte,
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AT

(SFSA—#N-F) The CIA catalogued how the Washingron Post story created

tensions in its bilatcral countertcrrorism relations with I 2ities and determined that:

“It}he article is prompting our partncrs to rcassess the benefits and costs of
coopcrating with the [U.S. government] and CIA. These services bave
conducted ageressive, high-impact operations with CIA against... targets,
including u We no longer expect the services to he as

aggressive or cooperative.”>

@S/ ~&) 1 April 2006,

informed CIA officers that press stories on the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program led
the - governmcent to prohibit - from providing “information that could lcad to the
rendition or detention of al-Qa’ida or other terrorists to U.S. Government custody for
interrogation, including CIA and the Department of Defcnse.™**

(M) Media leaks also crcated tensions with countries that had hosted or

continued to host CIA detention facilitics. For example, Icaks prompted Country . officials to
convey their intent to communicate directly with the Departments of Justice and State. Thcy
then formally demarched the U.S. government.”?® As late as [ 2009, the [N -
Country | raised with C1A Director Panetta the “problem of the secret detention facility” that
had “tested and straincd” the bilatcral partnership. The - of Country . also stated
that assurances were needed that future cooperation with the CIA would be safeguarded ®®®

( After publication of the Washington Post atticle, —
Country Jf demanded the closurc of DETENTION SITE BLACK within [} hours. ™" The CIA

transferred the JJf remaining CIA detainees out of the facility shortly thereafter 8

93 [REDACTED] .
P24 Bee amail from: s to: [REDACTED] cc: [REDACTED], {REDACTED], [REDACTED],
IREDACTEDY, [REDACTED], | [REDACTEDR], [RERBACTED], {REDACTED]; subject:

sensitive do not forward - draft intel; date: April 7, 2006, at 04:12:39 AM. See also September 2, 20006, Fax from
DB/CTC, to Steve Bradbury, John Bellinger IH, Steve Cambone, forwarding September 1, 2006
Memorandum, ®Anticipated Foreign Reactions to the Public Announcement of the US Secret Terrorist Detention
Center.” had begun raising legal und policy concerns refated to {uny potential] support and assistance to the
CIA in rendition, detention, and interrogation operations in March 2005, fficers indicated that they believed
the Internationat Covenant on Civil and Pofitical Rights and the prohibited

- from ziding or assisting in these CIA operations. For additional background on iegal concerns about
Renditions and Detention, see email from: [REDACTED], COS wlohn A. Rizzo; ce: {REDACTEDY,
Re:

[REDACTED], {REDACTED]; subject: more from visit; date: L at
11:09 AM.

25 “'REDACTED] article faliout.”” According to CIA records, the — of Country Jfwas “very angry”
about press reports, which, he believed, would be “exploited by radical elements™ to “foment increased hostility
toward [Country [} government.” [REDACTED] DIRR i iREDACTED); {REDACTED) [l
IREDACTED! CIA records further state that the press reporting would “put considerable strain on the
refationship.” (See "IREDACTED] article faltout.”) Despite this record, and other records in the full Committee
Study, the CIA’s June 2013 Response states: “[wle found no evidence that the RDI program in any way negatively
affected US refations overall with Country J§."

26 [REDACTED] 2328

2T IREDACTED] 7885 (REDACTED] [REDACTED)

928 IREDACTED] 4895 (JREDACTED] [REDACTED]))

Page 153 of 499

UNCLASSIFIED



UNCLASSIFIED

92 In

Country officers refused to admit CIA detainee Mustafa
Ahmad al-Hawsawi to a local hospital despite carlier discussions with country representatives
about how a detainee’s medical emergency would be handied.”® While the CIA understood the
- officers’ reluctance to place a CIA detainee in a local hospital given media reports, CIA
Headquarters also questioned the “willingness of to participate as originally
agreed/planned with regard to provision of emergency medical care.”* After failing to gain
assistance from the Department of Defense,” the CIA was forced to seck assistance from three
third-party countries in providing medical care to al-Hawsawi and four other CIA detainees with

acute ailments. Ultimately, the CIA million for
the treatment of -yand i approximatel
for the treatment of and made arrangements for H
and |GG  ve created in %% The medical issucs resulted in the closing

of DETENTION SITE VIOLET in Country 2006.7* The CIA tben transferred its
remaining detainees to DETENTION SITE BROWN. At that point, all CIA detainecs were
located in Country JJ 27

(M} Meanwhile, the pressures on the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation

Program brought about by the Washington Post story prompted the CIA to consider new options
among what it called the “{d]windling pool i partners willing to host CIA Blacksites.”%*®
The CIA thus renewed carlicr efforts to establisb a detention facitity in Country | The CIA had
earlier provided $l millior to Country s — in preparation for a potential CIA
detention site, prompting the chief of Station to comment, “Do you realize you can buy [Country
} for 7% On December [l 2005, the chief of Station in Country ] met with the
. who was not concerned about the CIA’s detention of terrorists in his
country, but wanted assurances that the CIA interrogation program did not include the usc of

72 HEADQUARTERS [l ((REDACTED] [REDACTED)). See also HEADQUARTERS IR
({REDACTED] [REDACTEDD.
BOIREDACTED] 5014
STHEADQUARTERS
*32 See CIA Request Letter to DOD for Medical Assistance, dated JJJJJJ]EE 2006, from DCIA Porter Goss. This
letter was written four days after the CIA Headguarters cable noting the emerging difficulties in relying on host-
country medical care. See also CIA document entitied, Summary and Reflections of Chief of Medical Services on
OMS Participation in the RDI Program. While the document is undated, it includes information updated through
2007.

23 See CIA document entitied, “COMPENSATION TO JIlll FOR MEDICAL TREATMENT,” date not listed.
* 7> W s:- «iso CIA document entitled, “COMPENSATION TO LIAISON FOR
MEDICAL TREATMENT,” dute not listed, which indicates that the fotal compensation provided was

%% Sammary and Reflections of Chief of Medical Services on OMS Participation in the RDI Program.

6 See Volume I for additional details.

1| s N A DQUARTERS I

38 See CIA Counterterrorist Rendition, Detainee, and Interrogation Program; dated ebruary 2006, “Un-DC”
Meeting slides.

9 Transcript of Oral History Interview, Interviewee: || NGz (=5 - October 13, 2006, Interviewer:
IREDACTED] and [REDACTED).
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torture.”*® 1n providing his approval, the agreed to a request from the chicf
of Station not to inform the U.S. ambassador in Country §** The CIA also reached an
agrecment with another country, Country ., to estahlish a CIA detention facility in that country

and arranged with the leadership of Country . not to inform the U.S. ambassador there.**? The
CIA ultimately did not detain individuals in either country.

S/~ F) 1n late October 2005, days hefore the publication of the

Washington Post article, the C1A asked a separate country, Country . to temporarily house .
CIA detainees.** The chief of Station briefed the U.S. ambassador in Country [}, who requested
that the National Security Council and the White House be briefed on the plan.®** There are no
CIA records to indicate the hriefing occurred, Country s dmen provided
approval, while seeking assurances that the CIA would develop a conting

cncy plan in case the
detention site was exposed in the press.®*® While the CIA Station and the h
B considered u in Country JJ}, C1A Headquartcrs directed that a
long-term CIA detention facility be established in the countri. Count;i . $ '
approved a plan to build a CIA dctention facility but

noted his ongoing concerns about the lack of a C1A “exit strategy.”*

(m) The lack of emergency medical carc for detainees, the issue that
had forced the closing of DETENTION SITE VICLET in Country B was raised repeatedly in
the context of the construction of the CIA detcntion facility in Country J|. On Mareh ., 2006,
CIA Headquarters requested that the CIA Station in Country l ask Country l to arrange discreet
access to the ncarest hospital and medical staff. The cable stated that the C1A “look(s] forward
to a favorable response, prior to commencing with the construction of our detention facility.”?"’
Construction nonetheless began on the facility without the issuc of emergency medical care
having been resolved. In 2006, after tbe deputy chief of the CIA Station in Country ., the
deputy chief of RDG, and an OMS officer met with T o:ficc:s, the Station reported
that the cstablishment of emergency medical care proximal to the site was “not tenable.”™® In
July 2006, an OMS rcpresentative informed the chief of I -
CIA Headguarters that the facility in Country l “should not be activated without a clear,
committed plan for medical provider coverage.”*

M8 IREDACTED] 1928
* IREDACTED] 1938
MUIREDACTED] 3545
"I HEADQUARTERS
9 IREDACTED] 6481
M IREDACTED] 6481
M6 IREDACTED] 6877
# HEADQUARTERS
HEIREDACTED] 7670
98 See email from: [REDACTEDY; to!

 subject: J CT

- iIREDACTED] 6903 | NG

REDACTED]; ca: -

; dater . at 4:37:20 PM. The Jane
discussion is also referenced in - Memorandum for the Record; to: C/CTCE from:
CCTCIRDG: subject: Site Visit to nd Recommendations. As described, in Tune 2006, the C1A
inspector general issaed an acdit that conchuded that while CIA detention facilities lacked sufficient debriefers, they
“were constructed, equipped, and staffed to securely and safely contain defainees and prompt intelligence
exploitation of detainees.” The audit further determined that the facilities “are not equipped to provide medical

treatment to detainees who have or deveioa serious ihisical or mental disorders, and operable plans are pot in place
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(M) By the time a CIA team visited the Country . detention site in late

2006, the C1A had already invested S|} million in the new facility. Describing the absence of
adequate emergency medical care options as “unacceptable,” the chicf of RDG recommended in
a draft memo that construction efforts be abandoned for this reason.”*® The following day, an
edited version of the same memo described the issuc as a “challenge,” but did not recommend
that the CIA cease construction of the facility.”! The resulting CIA detention facility, which
would cventually cost S| million, was never used by the CIA. Press reports about the CIA’s
Detention and Interrogation Program that appeared in * and - eventually forced the CIA
to pass possession of the unused facility to the Country §§ government.”?

@S/ ) 1o carly January 2006, officials at the Department of Defense
informed CIA officers that Secretary of Defense Rumsfeld had made a formul decision not to
accept any CIA detainees at the U.S, military base at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba.%? At the time, the
CIA wus holding 28 detainees in its two remaining facilities, DETENTION SITE VIOLET, in
Country J} and DETENTION SITE ORANGE, in Country JJ* In preparation for a meeting
with Secretary of Defense Rumsfeld on January 6, 2006, CIA Direcior Goss was provided a
document indicating that the Department of Defense’s position not to allow the transfer of CIA
detainees to U.S. military custody at Guantanamo Bay “would cripple legitimate cnd game
planning” for the CIA**® The talking points for that meeting suggested that Director Goss tell
Sceretary Rumsfeld that the:

“only viable ‘endgame’ for continued US Government custody of these most
dangerous terrorists is a transfer to GTMO. .. {ajbsent the availability of
GTMO and eventual DoD custody, C1A will necessarily have to begin
transferring those detainees no longer producing intelligence to third countries,

to provide inpatient care for detainees,” and concluded that CIA detention facitities were not equipped to provide
emergency medicat care to detainees. The audit team did not visit the facility in Country l, but stated, with regard
to another country, Country ., that “CIA funds have been wasted in constructing and eguipping a medical facility
that was later determined not to be a viable option for providing inpatient care for detuinees” See Report of Audit,
ClA-controlled Detention Facilities Operated Under the 17 September 2001 Memorandum of Notification, Report
No. 2005-0017-AS, June 14, 2006, at DTS # 2006-2793. The CIA’s ||| NG s: v sed the
CIA’s Renditions and Detention Group.

006, Memorandum for the Record, to: C/CTCI from: C/CTCIFRDG, re: Site Visit 1o
and Recommendations.

006, Memorandum for the Record, to: C/CTCE from: C/CTC-/RDG. re: Site Visit
and Recommendations (2).

%2 Congressional Notification: Centrat Intelligence Agency Response to Host Country Government Order to Vacate
an Inactive Blacksite Detention Facility, ﬂ (DTS #2009-3711); SSCI Memorandum for the
Record, ; CIA Document, RDI Program Background Brief for Leon Panetta, 2009,

2 DCIA Tatking Points for 6 January 2006 Breakfast with Secretary of Defense, re: SecDef Refusal to Take CIA
Detainees on GTMO,

%% See CIA Memo, ““As of 01 January 2006, there were 28 HVDs in CIA custody.” As noted above, DETENTION
SITE VIOLET in Country Jf would be closed in JI 2006.

93 DCIA Talking Points for 6 January 2006 BreakFast with Secretary of Defense, re: SecDef Refusal to Take CIA
Detamnees on GTMO,
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which may releasc them, or [the CIA iiself may nced to] outright release
them. 9%

&S/ 22 After Secretary Rumsfeld declined to reconsider his decision not to
allow the transfer of CIA detainces to U.S. military custody at Guantanamo Bay, CIA officers

proposed elevating the issue to the president. CIA officers prepared talking points for Director
Goss to meet with the president on the “Way Forward” on the program on January 12, 2006.%
The talking points recommended that the CIA director “stress that absent a decision on the Jong-
term issue {so called ‘endgame’) we are stymied and the program could collapse of its own
weight.””® There are no records to indicate whether Director Goss made this presentation to the
president.

ES/NTTTN 25 102005 and 2006, the CIA transferred detainees from its custody to

at least ninc couniries, includin

, as well as to the U.S. military in Iraq. Many of these
detainees were subscquently released. ®® By May 2006, the CIA had 11 detainces whom it had
identified as candidates for prosecution by a U.S. military commission. The remaining detainees
were described as having “repatriation options open.”®

6. The CIA Considers Changes to the CIA Detention and Interrogation Program Following
the Detainee Treatment Act, Hamdan v. Rumsfeld

(_M) Following the passage of the Detainee Treatment Act in December

2003, the CIA conducted numerous discussions with the National Security Council principals
about modifications to the program that would be acceptable from a policy and legal standpoint.
In February 2006, talking points prepared for C1A Dircctor Goss noted that National Security
Advisor Stephen Hadley:

“asked to be informed of the criteria CIA will use before accepting a detainee
into its CIA Counterterrorist Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation Program,
stating that he believed CIA had in the past accepted detainces it should not
have,”%!

(U) The CIA director proposed future criteria that would require not

only that CIA detainces meet the standard in the MON, but that they possess information about
threats to the citizens of the United States or other nations, and that detention in a C1A facility

956 DCIA Talking Points for 6 January 2006 Breakfast with Secretary of Defense, re: SecDef Refusal to Tuke CTA
Detainees on GTMO.

7 DCIA Talking Points for 12 January 2006 Meeting with the President, re: Way Forward on Counterterrorist
Rendition, Detention and Interrogation Program.

%% DCIA Talking Points for 12 January 2006 Meeting with the President, re: Way Forward on Counterterrorist
Rendition, Detention and Interrogation Program.

5% See Volume 1 for additional details.

960 May 18, 2006, Deputies Committee (Un-DC) Meeting, Preliminary Detainee End Game Options. For additional
information, see Volume 1.

91 DCIA Talking Points for @ February 2006 Un-DC, re: Future of the CIA Counterterrorist Readition, Detention,
and Interrogation Program — Petainees.
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was aiﬁroiriate for intelligence exploitation.? A few months later, [ JJJJNNEBCTC Lega,

, wrote to Acting Assistant Attorney General Steven Bradbury suggesting a
modified standard for applying the CIA’s enhanced interrogation technigues, The suggested new
standard was that “the specific detainec is believed to possess critical intelligence of high value
to the United States.” While the proposed modification included the requirement that a detainee
have “critical intelligence of high value,” it represented an expansion of CIA authorities, insofar
as it covered the detention and interrogation of an individual with information that “would assist
in locating the most senior leadership of al-Qa’ida of {sic] an associated terrorist organization,”
even if that detainee was not assesscd to have knowledge of, or be dircetly involved in, imminent
terrorist threats %

@S/ ) Discussions with the National Security Council principals also

resulted in a March 2006 CIA proposal for an interrogation program involving only seven of the

CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques: sleep deprivation, nudity, dietary manipulation, facial

grasp, facial slap, abdominal slap, and the attention grab.®®* This proposal was not acted upon at
the time. The proposal for sleep deprivation of up to 180 hours, however, raised concerns among
the National Security Council principals. %

s/ 7 i Aprit 2006, the CIA briefed the president on the “current status”

of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program. According to an internal CIA review, this
was the first time the C1A had hricfed the president on the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques.”®® As previously noted, the president expressed concern at the April 2006 briefing
about the “image of a detaince, chained to the ceiling, clothed in a diaper, and foreed to go to the
bathroom on himself.”%®’

@/ 25 On Fune 29, 2006, the Supreme Court issued its decision in the

case of Hamdan v. Rumsfeld, concluding that the military commission convened to try Salim

%2 DCIA Talking Points for 9 February 2006 Un-DC, re: Future of the CIA Counterterrorist Rendition, Detention,

and Interrogation Program — Detainees.

%63 L etter from iCTC Leg:! [N © Acting Assistant Attorney General Bradbury, May 23, 2006.
(DTS #2009-1809); Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency,
from Steven G. Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 10, 2005, Re:
Application of 18 U.S.C. Sections 2340-2340A to Certain Techniques That May be Used in the Interrogation of a
High Value al Queda Detainee (DTS #2000-1810, Tub 9), citing Fax for Daniel Levin, Acting Assistant Attorney
General, Office of Legal Counsef, from ‘, Assistant General Counsel, CIA {lan. 4, 2005) (‘January 4
i—} Fax’); Memoranduin for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency,
from Steven G. Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 10, 2005, Re:
Application of 18 U.S.C. Sections 2340-2340A to the Combined Use of Certain Techniques in the Interrogation of
High Value al Qaeda Detainees (DTS #2009-1810, Tab 10); Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy
General Connsel, Central Intefligence Agency, from Steven G. Beadbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney
General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 30, 2005, Re: Application of United States Obligations Under Article 16 of
the Convention Agatnst Torture to Certain Techaigues that May be Used in the Interrogation of High Value Al
Queda Detainees (DTS #2009-1810, Tab 11}

%4 DCIA Talking Points for 9 March 2006 Principals Committee Meeting.

%5 Memorandum for the Record from [REDACTED], C/CTCIIE = 9 March 2006 Principals Committee
Meeting on Detainees.

%6 See CIA document entitled, “DCIA Meeting with the President,” dated April 8, 2006.

%7 Email from: Grayson SWIGERT; to: [REDACTED]; cc: ‘; subject: Dr. [SWIGERT s} 7 fune
meeting with DCL; date: Jure 7, 2006.
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Hamdan, a detainec at Guantanamo Bay, was inconsistent with statutory requirements and
Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions. The implication of the decision was that treating
a detainee in a manner inconsistent with the requirements of Common Article 3 would constituic
a violation of federal criminal law. CIA attorneys analyzed the Hamdan decision, noting that it
could have a significant impact on “current C1A interrogation practices.”®® Their mcmorandum
also referenced that Acting Assistant Attorney Gengeral Steven Bradbury had the *preliminary
view ... that the opinion ‘calls into real question” whether CIA could continue its CT
interrogation program involving enhanced interrogation techniques,” as the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques “could be construed as inconsistent with the provisions of Common
Article 3 prohibiting ‘outrages upon personal dignity’ and violence to life and person.”

@S/ >%) The case of Hamdan v. Rumsfeld prompted the OLC to withdraw a

draft memorandum on the impact of the Detainee Treatment Act on the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques.”’® The CIA did not use its enhanced interrogation techniques again
until July 2007, by which time the OLC had interpreted the Military Commissions Act, signed hy
the president on October 17, 2006, in such a way as to allow the CIA to resume the usc of the
techniques.®’!

N. The Final Disposition of CIA Detainees and the End of the CIA’s Detention and
Interrogation Program

1. President Bush Publicly Acknowledges the Existence of the CIA’s Detention and
Interrogation Program

@S/ 25 After significant discussions throughout 2006 among the National

Security Council principals, the Department of Defense ultimately agreed to accept the transfer
of a number of CIA detainees to U.S. military custody,*"?

(1) On September 6, 2006, President George W. Bush delivcred a public speech acknowiedging
that the United States had held al-Qaida operatives in secret detention, stating that thc CIA had
cmployed an “alternative set of procedures” in interrogating thesc detainees, and describing
information obtained from those detainecs while in CIA custody.””® As described later in this
summary, the speech, which was based on CIA information and vetted by the C1A, contained

%68 1A memorandam from the CIA’s Office of General Counsel, cirea June 2006, entitled, “Hamdan v. Rumsfeld.”
67 CTA memorandom from the CIA’s Office of General Counsel, cirey June 20006, entitled, “Hamdan v. Rumsfeld.”
91 £ it from: ||| ©: (REDACTED); cc: |G, ;o Rizzo; subject: FW: Summary
of Hamdan Decision; date: June 30, 2006, st 4:44 PM. Department of Justice Office of Professional Responsibility;
Report, Investigation into the Office of Legal Counsel’s Memoranda Concerning Issues Relating to the Central
Intelligence Agency’s Use of ‘Enhanced Interrogution Techniques’ on Suspected Tervorists, July 29, 2009 (DTS
#2010-1058).

" Memorandurm for John A. Rizzo, Acting General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G.
Bradbury, Prineipal Deputy Acting Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, July 20, 2007, Re: Application of the
War Crimes Act, the Detainee Treatment Act, and Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions to Certain
Techniques thut May Be Used by the CIA in the Interrogation of High Value al Qaeda Detuinees.

972 See Volume 1 for details on these discussions.

973 September 6, 2006, The White House, President Discusses Creation of Military Commissions to Try Suspected
Terrorists.

Al
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significant inaccurate statements, especially regarding the significance of information acquired
from CIA detainces and the effectiveness of the CIA’s interrogation techniques,”™

(U) In the speech, the president announced the transfer of 14 detainees to Department of
Defense custody at Guantanamo Bay and the submission to Congress of proposed legislation on
military commissions.””> As ail other detainces in the CIA’s custody had been transferred to
other nations, the CIA had no detainecs in its custody at the time of the speech 576

2. The International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) Gains Access to CIA Detainees
After Their Transfer to U.S. Military Custody in September 2006

@s/IINN 5) Afier the 14 CIA detainees arrived at the U.S. military base at

Guantanamo Bay, they were housed in a separate building from other U.S. military detainecs and
remained under the operational control of the CIA.*" In October 2006, the 14 detainces were
allowed meetings with the ICRC and described in detail similar stories regarding their detention,
treatment, and interrogation while in CIA custody. The ICRC provided information on these
claims to the CIA %" Acting CIA General Counsel John Rizzo emailed the CIA director and
other CIA senior leaders, following a November 8, 2006, meeting with the ICRC, stating:

“fa]s described to us, albeit in summary form, what the detainces allege
actually docs not sound that far removed from the reality. .. the ICRC, for its
part, secms to find their stories fargely credible, having put much stock in the
fact that the story each detainee has told about his transfer, treatment and
conditions of confinement was basically consistent, cven though th